THE UNIVERSITY OF CHICAGO

THE MEMORY EFFECT, SYMMETRIES AND INFRARED FINITE SCATTERING THEORY IN QUANTUM FIELD THEORY AND QUANTUM GRAVITY

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF THE DIVISION OF THE PHYSICAL SCIENCES IN CANDIDACY FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICS

BY

GAUTAM SATISHCHANDRAN

CHICAGO, ILLINOIS AUGUST 2022

Copyright © 2022 by Gautam Satishchandran All Rights Reserved

To my parents and teachers

nanos gigantum humeris insidentes

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LI	ST O	F FIGU	JRES	viii
A	CKNC	OWLED	OGMENTS	ix
AI	BSTR	ACT		x
1	INT	RODU	CTION	1
		1	The asymptotic behavior of massless fields in all spacetime dimensions	2
		2	The memory effect in all spacetime dimensions	3
		3	Infrared finite scattering theory in quantum field theory and quantum gravity	7
2	THE EFF	E ASYN ECT IN	IPTOTIC BEHAVIOR OF MASSLESS FIELDS AND THE MEMORY N ALL SPACETIME DIMENSIONS	16
	1	Introd	uction \ldots	16
	2	The ge	eneral behavior of fields near null infinity	20
		1	Ansatz for the massless scalar field	21
		2	Solutions to the scalar wave recursion relations	25
		3	Maxwell's equations	29
		4	Linearized Einstein equation	40
		5	Nonlinear Einstein equation	50
	3	The m	emory effect	58
		1	Stationarity conditions at early and late retarded times	58
		2	The memory tensor and its properties at Coulombic order and slower fall-off	61
		3	Evaluation of the memory tensor at Coulombic order and slower fall-off	65
			1 d even, $d > 4$	66
			$2 \qquad d \text{ odd } \ldots \ldots$	73
			$3 d = 4 \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	76

		4	Non-scalar memory	80
		5	Memory as a diffeomorphism	85
		6	Charges and conservation laws	89
			1 Charges and memory	89
			2 Conservation laws	93
		7	Memory and infrared divergences in four and higher dimensions $\ . \ .$	97
3	INF	RARE	D FINITE SCATTERING THEORY IN QUANTUM FIELD THEORY	7
	ANI	D QUA	NTUM GRAVITY	105
	1	Introd	luction	105
	2	Classi	cal phase space: Observables and asymptotic description	125
	3	Algeb of ma	raic viewpoint: Quantization of free fields and asymptotic quantization ssless interacting fields	133
	4	QED	with a massive, charged Klein-Gordon field	140
		1	Asymptotic quantization of QED with a massive Klein-Gordon field .	141
		2	Extension of the asymptotic quantization algebra to include charges and Poincaré generators	148
		3	Fock representations	160
			1 Fock representation of the massive field algebra	161
			2 Fock representations of the Maxwell field algebra	165
		4	Faddeev-Kulish representation	169
	5	QED	with a massless, charged Klein-Gordon field	175
		1	Asymptotic quantization algebra	175
		2	Extension to include charges and Poincaré generators	177
		3	Fock representations	179
		4	Faddeev-Kulish representation	183
		5	Source-free Yang-Mills fields	186
	6	Vacuu	ım general relativity	194
		1	Asymptotic quantization of general relativity	195

		2	Extension of the asymptotic quantization algebra to include BMS charges	5197		
		3	Faddeev-Kulish representations do not exist in quantum gravity	202		
	7	Non-Faddeev-Kulish representations				
	8	Algebr	aic scattering theory	212		
А	REL	ATION	SHIP OF OUR ANSATZ TO SMOOTHNESS AT \mathscr{I}^+ IN $D = 4 \dots$	217		
		1	Electromagnetism	217		
		2	Linearized Gravity	218		
		3	Nonlinear Gravity	219		
В	APP	LYING	THE LORENZ GAUGE WITH A SLOWER FALL-OFF ANSATZ FOR	l		
	D >	4		221		
		1	Electromagnetism	221		
		2	Linearized Gravity	224		

LIST OF FIGURES

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank Bob Wald for his constant guidance and encouragement over the course of my time at the University of Chicago. His physical intuition and his tireless persistence in the face of challenging problems have inspired me to become a much better physicist myself. It has been a pleasure to work with him.

I would also like to particularly thank Kartik Prabhu for his invaluable contributions to this thesis as well as Daine Danielson for his contributions to the further work that this thesis has inspired. Additional special thanks to the relativity group as a whole namely Alexander Tolish, Mark Klehfoth, Robert Weinbaum, Victor Zhang and Daniel Holz for many involved discussions. I would also like to acknowledge my collaborators Christian Ferko and Savdeep Sethi for incredibly stimulating discussions and expanding my breadth of research.

I would also like to thank David Miller for serving on my thesis committee and Beth Ann Nakatsuka for her help in navigating all of the administrative aspects of the University of Chicago,

I have been fortunate to have made many friends here, without whom my time in graduate school would not have been nearly as enjoyable. In particular, I would like to thank Evan Angelico, Lesya Horyn, Robert Morton, Karthik Ramanathan, Todd Seiss, Mark Stone, Linsin Smith and Vishal Soni.

Finally, I would like to thank my family for their constant support and enthusiasm while I pursued my doctoral degree. I am particularly grateful to my father who instilled within me my tireless and inquisitive spirit to understand the world around me.

ABSTRACT

This thesis, based on two papers by Satishchandran and Wald [1, 2], investigates the behavior of classical and quantum fields in scattering theory in asymptotically flat spacetimes. It has been known that the presence of massless fields will give rise to a "memory effect" in four dimensions. At order 1/r a massless field generically will not return to the same value at late retarded times as it had at early retarded times. This memory effect is deeply connected to the asymptotic symmetry group of an asymptotically flat spacetime as well as the infrared divergences encountered in quantum field theory and quantum gravity. The full scope of this thesis is to fully understand the relationship between these seemingly disparate phenomena and develop an infrared finite scattering theory in QFT and quantum gravity. To understand the origin of these relationships we investigate the behavior of massless scalar, electromagnetic, and gravitational perturbations near null infinity in all dimensions greater than or equal to 4 assuming that they admit an expansion in 1/r. We consider the gravitational memory effect and show that in even dimensions, the memory effect is at Coulombic order and can be decomposed into null and ordinary memory. In odd dimensions, the memory effect vanishes. In 4 dimensions, there is a close relationship between memory and the supertranslations charge/flux relations. We then show that the vanishing of memory of at radiative order is responsible for the lack of IR divergences in higher than 4 dimensions but is directly responsible for IR divergences in 4 dimensions. IR divergences are artifacts of trying to represent states with memory in the standard Fock space. For a well-defined S-matrix, it is necessary to define in/out Hilbert spaces with memory. Such a construction was given by Faddeev and Kulish (FK) for QED. Their construction "dresses" momentum states of the charged particles by pairing them with memory states of the electromagnetic field to produce states of vanishing large gauge charges at spatial infinity. However, in massless QED, due to collinear divergences, the "dressing" has an infinite energy flux so these states are unphysical. In Yang-Mills theory the "soft particles" used for dressing also contribute to the current

flux, invalidating the FK procedure. In quantum gravity, the analogous FK construction would attempt to produce a Hilbert space of eigenstates of supertranslation charges at spatial infinity. However, we prove that there are no eigenstates of supertranslation charges except the vacuum. Thus, the FK construction fails in quantum gravity. We investigate some alternatives to FK constructions but find that these also do not work. We believe that to treat scattering at a fundamental level in quantum gravity - as well as in massless QED and YM theory - it is necessary to take an algebraic viewpoint rather than shoehorn the in/out states into some fixed Hilbert space. We outline the framework of such an IR finite scattering theory.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

In both classical and quantum scattering theory one is often interested in the description of the "outgoing" field at large distances from the "source". At asymptotically late times, any radiative degrees of freedom propagate away from sources and the fields are approximately free. In a scattering process such as, for example, the classical merger of black holes or the quantum scattering of charged particles in QED, the outgoing fields encode the details of the scattering event which can be measured by LIGO or the LHC. The prediction of the "outgoing" field at asymptotically late times given "incoming" initial data at asymptotically early times is known as "scattering theory". In the quantum theory, this approach embodies the "S-matrix formalism" of quantum field theory and is widely viewed as a fundamental approach to quantum gravity.

In this thesis, we examine fundamental aspects of classical and quantum scattering theory. In particular, over the past half-century, there are three seemingly disparate insights and issues in scattering theory in four spacetime dimensions that have been argued to be deeply related [3, 4]. (I) The discovery that the group of symmetries of scattering theory is actually an infinite dimensional group of "asymptotic symmetries" [5]. (II) The well-known issue of "infrared divergences" in the standard quantum S-matrix in the presences of massless particles due to the emission of an infinite number of low-frequency massless particles in any generic scattering process [6, 7, 8, 9]. (III) The existence of the memory effect which, in the gravitational case, is the permanent relative displacement of an arrangement of test particles due to the passage of a burst of gravitational radiation [10]. In Maxwell theory, the "electromagnetic memory effect" corresponds to a permanent "momentum kick" of a test charge due to the passage of a burst of electromagnetic radiation [11]. While the gravitational memory effect is expected to be experimentally detected by LIGO or LISA [12, 13, 14], it also plays a fundamental role in both classical and quantum scattering theory. Indeed, as we explain below, the existence of the memory effect in four dimensions implies the enlargement of the asymptotic symmetry group and is the obstruction to defining the standard S-matrix in the quantum theory [3, 15].

This thesis is divided into two parts. In chapter 2, we first analyze the classical memory effect in *all* spacetime dimensions. An important aim of this analysis is to clarify the origin of the relationship between memory, symmetries and infrared divergences. In chapter 3, we then consider the quantum implications of the memory effect where we argue that one must go well beyond the traditional *S*-matrix formulation of scattering theory in order include memory as a quantum observable and have a well-defined, infrared finite scattering theory in quantum field theory and quantum gravity.

We now turn to the description of this work.

1 The asymptotic behavior of massless fields in all spacetime dimensions

The classical memory effect is a radiative effect defined at asymptotically large distances from the source. Therefore an analysis of memory requires a precise analysis of the asymptotic behavior of massless fields. This analysis was first carried out in four dimensions by Bondi and collaborators in the 1960's [16, 17, 18] by assuming a 1/r expansion of the metric near "null infinity" ($r \to \infty$ at fixed retarded time u). The primary aim of sec. 2 of chapter 2 is to extend this analysis to all $d \ge 4$ spacetime dimensions. To achieve this we assume an expansion in powers of 1/r as an ansatz in a similar spirit to the original analysis by Bondi and collaborators. The generality of this ansatz is shown in Appendix A where we shown that, for d even, our ansatz is compatible with smoothness of the metric at \mathscr{I}^+ .

The main results of sec. 2 of chapter 2 are given in Props. 2.1 and 2.2 as well as Theorems 1–

3. These results can be summarized as follows: we show that if one can choose a gauge compatible with our ansatz in which the massless fields satisfy a wave equation near null infinity, then a recursive solution can be straightforwardly obtained order by order in 1/r given "free data", up to constraints, at "radiative order" $O(1/r^{d/2-1})$ or "Coulombic order" $O(1/r^{d-3})$. For electromagnetic fields or linearized gravitational fields the relevant gauge in which these propositions apply is the "Lorentz gauge" whereas in fully nonlinear general relativity the relevant gauge is the Harmonic gauge. We prove in Props. 2.3–2.5 that the only obstruction to putting the fields in these gauges is in d = 4 if there is a non-vanishing flux of charge current to \mathscr{I}^+ in the electromagnetic case or a non-vanishing energy flux in the gravitational case. This is clearly far too restrictive in general relativity and therefore in d = 4 one must use the "Bondi gauge" conditions. However, in higher dimensions this approach yields a simpler and more straightforward method for analyzing the behavior of massless fields near null infinity in higher dimensions.

2 The memory effect in all spacetime dimensions

Given this asymptotic analysis of sec. 2 of sec. 2 we then straightforwardly analyze the gravitational memory effect for any scattering scenario where the metric is stationary at leading order in 1/r at early and late times. The precise stationarity conditions at early and late times are spelled out in sec. 3.1 of chapter 2. We focus particularly on the gravitational memory effect, but exactly similar conclusions shall hold in the electromagnetic case. In four dimensions, it can be shown that the memory effect naturally decomposes into "null memory" and "ordinary memory". "Null memory", which was originally discovered by Christodoulou, is associated with a flux of energy to null infinity [19]. Ordinary memory, which was originally discovered by Zel'dovich and Polnarev [10], can be associated with the metric being non-stationary at one order faster than "Coulombic order" which, in four dimensions, is at order

1/r. This will generically occur if there is a flux of matter stress-energy at past or future timelike infinity. In sec. 3 of chapter 2 we generalize this result to all spacetime dimensions. More precisely, we prove that the memory effect vanishes at all fall-off slower than Coulombic order and is first non-vanishing at Coulombic order $O(1/r^{d-3})$. In even dimensions we prove that the Coulombic order memory admits a decomposition into "ordinary memory" and "null memory" in a manner similar to the decomposition in four dimensions. However in odd spacetime dimensions, we show that the total memory effect at Coulombic order vanishes.

Given this decomposition we then investigate the general relationship between memory and symmetries in sec. 3.4 of chapter 2. In four spacetime dimensions, there are two ways in which memory is related to asymptotic symmetries. The first way is when memory can be expressed as a diffeomorphism. The memory effect is physically the displacement of test masses due to the passage of radiation. In four dimensions, it has been previously noted that this displacement can correspond to a diffeomorphism. This diffeomorphism is an asymptotic symmetry known as a "supertranslation" which is an "angle dependant" time translation and does not lie in the usual Poincaré group. Physically this implies that, due to the flux of radiation, the early and late time frames in the stationary eras are related by (at least) a supertranslation which is not a degeneracy of the symplectic form [20]. Therefore, the existence of memory implies the enlargement of the asymptotic symmetry group to include all supertranslations in four dimensions. The second way memory is related to symmetries is through "charge-flux" relations. Asymptotic supertranslations can be used to generate corresponding "supertranslation charges" whose total flux through all of \mathscr{I}^+ is determined by the memory and the null memory [21]. The change in the supertranslation charge between asymptotically early and late times is equivalent to the ordinary memory effect and so this "charge-flux" relation can be equivalently viewed as a rearrangement of the memory formula expressed in terms of ordinary and null memory. These charge-flux relations can be similarly defined at past null infinity. The matching of supertranslation charges at

spatial infinity [22, 23, 24, 25, 26] relates the incoming charges, memory and null memory to the corresponding outgoing quantities at future infinity and plays an important role in the quantum scattering theory in chapter 3.

While these arguments illustrate the necessity of the enlargement of the asymptotic symmetry group in d = 4 we show that memory is *not* related to any symmetries for d > 4. To see this, we first show that the memory effect can always be decomposed into scalar, vector and tensor parts on the (d-2)-sphere. The null memory is always of scalar type but the ordinary memory can be of scalar, vector or tensor type. Furthermore, we show that all types of memory can be sourced by physically reasonable matter distributions which satisfy the dominant energy condition. We show that memories of vector and tensor type cannot be described by a diffeomorphism. Memories of scalar type can be described by a diffeomorphism but this diffeomorphism is pure gauge for d > 4 and is precisely a supertranslation in d = 4. We give an explicit example in four dimensions of a shell of matter with vector stresses which gives rise to a vector ordinary memory effect. Since vector memory is not related to diffeomorphisms, this shows that even in four dimensions there is no general correspondence between memory and symmetries. We also consider the relationship between the Coulombic memory effect to charges and fluxes in higher dimensions. The ordinary memory effect in higher dimensions can again be interpreted in terms of the difference of "charges" and therefore its "flux" can be expressed in terms of the higher dimensional memory and null memory. However, these "charges" are not generated by any local symmetries on \mathscr{I}^+ .¹ For these reasons, one can consistently reduce the asymptotic symmetry group to the finite dimensional Poincaré group in d > 4 spacetime dimensions whereas one cannot consistently do so in d = 4.

We finally consider, in sec. 3.7 of chapter 2, the relationship between memory and "infrared

^{1.} One could instead attempt to define supertranslation charges following the methods of [21]. However, the charges associated to supertranslations in higher dimensions diverge at null infinity [20, 27]

divergences" in quantum scattering theory. As is well-known, there are no infrared divergences in dimensions d > 4. The main purpose of this subsection was to understand this statement in terms of memory and its relation to the existence of the Weinberg soft graviton theorem which holds in all dimensions and implies the factorization of S-matrix amplitudes into "hard" (high frequency) and "soft" (low frequency) parts [28]. The full algebra of asymptotic observables and its corresponding quantization is given in detail in chapter 3 however, to see the essential differences between four and higher dimensions we considered the simple model of linearized quantum gravity coupled to a classical stress energy. We show that if the classical stress energy produces classical radiation with no memory then the "out" graviton state is in the standard Fock representation. However, if the classical stress tensor produces a classical field with memory then the "out" graviton state has an *infinite* number of low-frequency gravitons and cannot be represented in the standard Fock representation. This state with memory, however, can be expressed as a state in an inequivalent Fock representation. Given an infrared cutoff, we show that one can factor the state into "hard" part (which lies in the standard Fock space) and "soft" part (which lies in an inequivalent "memory Fock representation"). We argue that this factorization should hold more generally and is equivalent to the Weinberg soft graviton theorem. In higher dimensions, we show that "out" states with non-vanishing higher dimensional memory lie in the standard "out" Fock space. This is due to the fact that the memory occurs at "Coulombic order" and not "radiative order" and therefore does not affect the quantization of the radiative gravitons. Additionally, one can do a similar 'hard/soft" splitting of the "out" state but there is no necessity to do so in order to describe the "out" state as a Fock space state. In this regard, the S-matrix as a map on the standard Fock space is perfectly well-defined in d > 4 dimensions but one runs into serious issues in defining the S-matrix d = 4 spacetime dimensions. More precisely, in the full quantum scattering theory one will have non-vanishing amplitudes for the "out" state to lie in different memory Fock representations. Therefore, a well-defined scattering theory in four dimensions

must include all of the uncountably infinite number of memory Fock representations in both the "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces. Whether such a Hilbert space exists in quantum field theory or quantum gravity is considered in chapter 3.

In summary, in four spacetime dimensions, the memory effect is intimately linked to the enlargement of the asymptotic symmetry group to the BMS group as well as the infrared divergences found in the standard S-matrix formulation of scattering theory. In higher dimensions, the memory occurs at Coulombic order $O(1/r^{d-3})$ whereas radiation decays as $O(1/r^{d/2-1})$. Therefore, for d > 4, the memory no longer occurs at radiative order and this is ultimately the reason for the reduction of the asymptotic symmetry group to the Poincaré group as well as the lack of infrared divergences in higher dimensions.

3 Infrared finite scattering theory in quantum field theory and quantum gravity

In chapter 3 we investigate the long-standing problem of defining an "infrared finite" scattering theory in quantum field theory and quantum gravity. As described above, the outgoing state will generically have memory and cannot be represented as a state in the standard Fock representation. The most common way of dealing with such infrared divergences is by introducing an infrared cut-off so that the "out" state is expressible as an ordinary Fock state and then once can calculate "inclusive cross sections" which yields the probability for any "hard" process given the emission of any "soft" quanta [9, 28]. This procedure is extremely successful in obtaining observables relevant for collider physics. However, this infrared cutoff removes the memory effect as a quantum observable. Furthermore the "soft" radiation also results in an enormous amount of decoherence of the "hard" particles [29, 30] and this decoherence is observable in *finite* time interference experiments [31, 2]. Finally, this situation is highly unsatisfactory if one wishes to view the S-matrix as a fundamental quantity in the formulation of quantum field theory and quantum gravity since the S-matrix itself is undefined.

As explained previously, if one starts with an "in" state in the standard Fock space with zero memory then the "out" state will generically have memory and will not lie in the standard Fock space. Therefore, to have a well-defined S-matrix one must include states with memory into a single, separable Hilbert space. However, there are an uncountably infinite number of inequivalent memory Fock representations and the memory is not conserved (i.e. the "in" memory is not generically equivalent to the "out" memory). There is a priori no clear way to assemble these Fock spaces together in a manner which will be preserved under scattering. Furthermore, one will encounter infrared divergences if one chooses the incorrect "out" representation.

In chapter 3 we investigate the existence of any suitably representations for scattering theory in quantum electrodynamics (QED) with a massive or massless charged fields, Yang-Mills theories or in full quantum gravity. To study this problem it is essential to define the theory at asymptotically early and late times prior to a choice of Hilbert space representation. This is achieved by the algebraic approach to quantum field theory which we review in sec. 2 and 3 of chapter 3. In this approach, the asymptotic quantum theory is defined by specifying the algebra of observables and states then correspond to a class of positive linear maps on the algebra to the complex numbers. More concretely, a state is determined by specifying the "*n*-point correlation functions" of the field where we further require all states to have the same singular structure as the vacuum. While this notion of a state is equivalent, by the GNS construction, to the more usual definition as an element of a prescribed Hilbert space, this notion of a state allows one to simultaneously consider states which live in *different* representations. In other words, states with or without memory are treated with equal footing in this approach. In sec. 4.1, 5.1, 5.5 and 6.1 of chapter 3 we take the algebraic approach and define the algebra of asymptotic observables and states for each theory that we consider. We then extend these algebras in sec. 4.2, 5.2 and 6.2 to include "charges" and "fluxes" which correspond to generators of the asymptotic symmetry group in each respective theory.

Given this reformulation of the theory in terms of the algebra of observables and the corresponding scattering states, we then consider the consider the problem of finding a suitable Hilbert space representation for scattering theory which yields an infrared finite S-matrix. Remarkably, this was accomplished in QED with massive charged particles by Faddeev and Kulish in the 1970's [32]. In sec. 4.4 of chapter 3 we recast their construction in terms of the extended algebra of observables (i.e. charges and memory) of QED. In QED, the "incoming" electromagnetic memory effect can also be decomposed into an "ordinary memory effect" and a "null memory effect". The ordinary electromagnetic memory effect is expressible in terms of the difference of "large gauge charges" defined at past timelike infinity and spatial infinity which are charges generated by asymptotic "angle-dependent" gauge transformations. The null electromagnetic memory effect corresponds to the angular distribution of the incoming current-flux through \mathscr{I}^- due to the flux of any incoming massless charged particles. In QED with massive charged particles, the null memory effect vanishes and one only gets a contribution to memory from the ordinary memory effect. Furthermore, the incoming charge at timelike infinity is completely determined by the incoming massive matter and the incoming memory is determined by the incoming electromagnetic radiation. Therefore, the large gauge charge at spatial infinity is uniquely determined from the initial data.

We now summarize the construction of Faddeev-Kulish states. A more detailed overview which contains more of the mathematical details can be found in the introduction of chapter 3 and the full construction can be found in sec. 4.4. The Faddeev-Kulish construction corresponds to constructing a Hilbert space of eigenstates of the charge at spatial infinity. Since charge at spatial infinity satisfies a "matching condition" [33] the Hilbert space of "in" states will evolve into a similarly defined "out" eigenspace of the large gauge charges at future infinity. To construct these eigenstates we note that the eigenstates of the large gauge charge at past timelike infinity are (improper) plane wave states of the incoming electron where the eigenvalue corresponds to the asymptotic Liénard–Wiechert solution of a sum of charged particles and antiparticles with momenta determined by the incoming plane wave. Given a definite value of the large gauge charge at spatial infinity, the required incoming memory is uniquely determined by the incoming charge at timelike infinity and the definite charge at spatial infinity. Therefore, the eigenstates of the large gauge charge correspond to wave packets where each plane wave state of the electron is highly correlated with incoming electromagnetic radiation with memory uniquely determined by the incoming plane wave state. Such states are referred to as "dressed electrons" where the incoming electron is highly correlated with a "cloud of soft photons" (i.e. radiation states with memory).

While the resulting Hilbert space of states of definite charges at spatial infinity should evolve into a corresponding "out" Hilbert space of definite charge, the charges at spatial infinity are not Lorentz invariant unless all of the charges vanish — including the total electric charge. Therefore, the Hilbert spaces of definite charge will not have a continuous action of the Lorentz group unless all of the charges are set to zero. One must then pair an incoming "dressed" electron" with a "dressed" positron in such a way that all of the charges at spatial infinity vanish. This construction provides a Hilbert space of states which has a continuous action of the Poincaré group and yields a well-defined, IR-finite S-matrix. However, there are clearly a number of unpleasant features of this construction. The first is the vanishing of total electric charge. This may seem like a severe restriction since one may, for instance, wish to consider the scattering of two electrons. As was argued by [34], one could still achieve this within the Faddeev and Kulish framework by hiding two positrons "behind the moon" (i.e. incoming states which do not interact strongly with the electrons). Therefore, in principle, this restriction does not fully invalidate the construction. Another unpleasant feature is that the incoming state of the electron and the incoming state of the photons are independent degrees of freedom, however the Faddeev-Kulish construction forces a high degree of entanglement between the photons and the electrons resulting in a complete decoherence of the electrons [30, 35, 29, 2]. One cannot consider, for example, "undressed" incoming electrons and so the Faddeev-Kulish Hilbert space artificially excludes a large class of physical states. Nevertheless, this class of states do yield a genuine, infrared finite S-matrix.

However, we show in sec. 5.4 and 5.5 that a similar construction does *not* work in a satisfactory way for QED with massless charged particles and for Yang-Mills theories. The analog of the "dressing procedure" is to now pair eigenstates of the charge-current flux in massless QED or the gluon color-flux in Yang Mill theories with the appropriate memory. However, the memories obtained in this procedure contain "collinear divergences" in the angular behavior of the photon or gluon fields which implies that the incoming field must have infinite energy. Therefore, one must attempt to pair the incoming massless particles or gluons with radiation states with infinite energy. In the Yang-Mills case the situation is worse because, due to the non-linearities in Yang-Mills theory, the color-flux of the dressing will now further contribute to the charge at spatial infinity and due to the collinear divergences the additional contribution to the color-flux is also infinite. Therefore, while one can do the dressing procedure (with infinite energy dressing) in massless QED, there is no analog of this procedure in Yang-Mills. Nevertheless, one could consider other means of obtaining eigenstates of the charge. We prove that the only eigenstates are states whose correlation functions are Casimirs of the Lie algebra. For example, the one-point function must vanish and the two-point function must be proportional to the Cartan-Killing metric of the Lie algebra. While there exist states which satisfy these conditions, this is clearly far too restrictive to represent all "hard" scattering processes.

The situation in quantum gravity is even worse. First, in order to have a well-defined action of the Lorentz group one needs to set all of the supertranslation charges to vanish —

including the total four-momentum. The only state which satisfies this is the vacuum state and so the Faddeev-Kulish construction fails at this elementary step. One could forgo having a well-defined action of Lorentz and consider eigenstates with non-vanishing supertranslation charges. This is possible in linearized gravity with massive or massless sources by an analog dressing procedure outlined above. Furthermore, due to the lack of "collinear divergences" in quantum gravity [36] there is no fundamental issue in dressing both massive and massless fields. However, there is a serious issue in extending this to full quantum gravity. In this case, the incoming flux of gravitational radiation energy (i.e. the "null memory") contributes to the supertranslation charges at spatial infinity. These nonlinearities, as in the Yang Mills case, imply that any attempt to pair the incoming graviton energy flux with incoming memory will also introduce more incoming energy and spoil the eigenstate condition we wish to achieve. One could hope to obtain these eigenstates by some other procedure besides dressing, however the only eigenstates of the supertranslation charge are those that are invariant under all supertranslations. We prove in Theorem 5 that the only such state is the vacuum state.

In sec. 7 we explore alternative constructions involving direct integrals with respect to Gaussian measures of the memory Fock representations and find that these also do not work. While our analysis does not exhaust all possibilities, we believe that in all cases except for QED with massive charged fields, there is no satisfactory Hilbert space construction for "in" and "out" states which yields a well-defined, infrared finite S-matrix.

We believe that the inherent issue is simply in demanding that all physical states of interest lie in a single Hilbert space representation. As already emphasized, the algebra of observables and the space of correlation functions is perfectly well-defined. However, as we have argued, there is in general no preferred Hilbert space of states which evolves into itself in massless QED, Yang-Mills theories and quantum gravity. Therefore, in sec. 8, we advocate that if one wishes to have a well-defined S-matrix one should take an algebraic point of view on scattering theory. In particular, one can choose any "in" state (defined as a list of correlation functions) that one wishes — without any a priori "dress requirements" — and evolve this state to an "out" state defined as a list of correlation functions. At no stage would we demand that the "in" and "out" states lie in any pre-chosen Hilbert space and we would encounter infrared divergences if we select the wrong one. We believe that one must adopt this manifestly infrared-finite approach to scattering theory if one wishes to treat scattering at a fundamental level.

Notation and conventions

We work in natural units ($G = c = \hbar = 1$) and will use the notation and sign conventions of [37]. In particular, our metric signature is "mostly positive" and our sign convention for curvature is such that the scalar curvature of a round sphere is positive. Greek indices $(\mu, \nu, ...)$ correspond to tensors in the "bulk" of the spacetime.². We now spell out our notational conventions in chapter 2 and chapter 3 which differ slightly. The most important difference between chapter 2 and chapter 3 is that in chapter 2 we work in the physical asymptotically flat spacetime whereas in chapter 3 it will be far more convenient to work in the unphysical, conformally compactified spacetime.

In chapter 2 we will consider the expansion of tensors in terms of powers of 1/r in the physical, d-dimensional, asymptotically flat spacetime. In this chapter, Greek indices are raised and lowered with respect to the "background" Minkowski metric $\eta_{\mu\nu}$. In this chapter, capital Latin indices (A, B, C, ...) will be used to denote tensors on the (d-2)-sphere. We will also use capital Latin indices to denote coordinates, x^A , on the sphere and components in this coordinate basis. (We do not feel that the potential confusion resulting from using the same notation for a tensor on a sphere and its components in a coordinate basis is sufficient to justify introducing another alphabet into our notation.) When we expand a

^{2.} We also will use Greek indices in several places in sec. 2 of chapter 3 to denote tensors on phase space.

scalar field ϕ in powers of 1/r, $\phi^{(n)}$ will denote the coefficient of $1/r^n$. When we expand a tensor field $t_{a_1...a_k}$ in powers of 1/r, the quantity $t_{a_1...a_k}^{(n)}$ will denote the coefficient of $1/r^n$ in a *normalized* basis. In particular, for a co-vector field, t_a , the quantity $t_A^{(n)}$ is such that its action on the normalized basis element $\frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^A}$ falls as $1/r^n$. This differs from a much more common convention [38, 39, 40] where $t_A^{(n)}$ would be such that its action on $\frac{\partial}{\partial x^A}$ falls as $1/r^n$. Our conventions thereby avoid a spurious mixing of orders, and the orders we assign to components do not depend on whether we are using Cartesian or spherical coordinates.

In chapter 3, we will generally use the symbol \mathscr{A} to denote a *-algebra of observables, ω to denote a state on the algebra, \mathscr{H} to denote a Hilbert space and \mathscr{F} to denote a Fock space. Algebras of local field observables in the asymptotic past and future will be denoted as \mathscr{A}_{in} and \mathscr{A}_{out} , respectively. We will append a superscript "in" or "out" on various other quantities to distinguish between quantities defined in the asymptotic past or future, but we will omit this superscript when the context is clear. We will use superscripts "EM", "KG", "KG0", "YM", and "GR" on quantities to distinguish between the particular cases of the electromagnetic, massive Klein-Gordon, massless Klein-Gordon, Yang-Mills, and gravitational fields, respectively. Thus, for example, \mathscr{A}_{in}^{EM} denotes the algebra of local electromagnetic field observables in the asymptotic past. We will append subscripts "Q" and "P" to denote the extensions of algebras of local field observables to include large gauge charges and Poincare generators respectively. Thus, for example $\mathscr{A}_{in,Q}^{KG}$ denotes the extension of the algebra of local field observables of a massive scalar field in the asymptotic past to include large gauge charges.

Quantum observables will be denoted by the boldfaced version of the symbol for the corresponding classical observable; for example, the quantum observable corresponding to a classical scalar field ϕ is denoted by ϕ .

We will work with the Penrose conformal completion (see, e.g., [37, 41]) of flat spacetime

(for QED and Yang-Mills theory) and asymptotically flat spacetimes (for gravity). The conformal boundaries \mathscr{I}^{\pm} denote future/past null infinity, i^{0} denotes spatial infinity and i^{\pm} denotes future/past timelike infinity. The conformal factor will be denoted by Ω and without loss of generality we impose the Bondi condition $\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\Omega = 0$ at null infinity \mathscr{I}^{\pm} . The null normal to \mathscr{I}^{\pm} will be denote $n^{\mu} = \nabla^{\mu}\Omega$.

We will frequently encounter down index tensors on \mathscr{I}^{\pm} that are orthogonal to n^{μ} in each index. We will denote such tensors with capital Latin letters (A, B, ...). Again, we do not believe the potential confusion arising from the conflict with the notation in chapter 2 warrants introducing another alphabet into our notation. For example, the pullback of the electric field $E_{\mu} = F_{\mu\nu}n^{\nu}$ to \mathscr{I}^{\pm} is such a tensor and it will be denoted as E_A . Similarly, the (degenerate) metric on \mathscr{I}^{\pm} (obtained from the pullback of the conformal spacetime metric) will be denoted as q_{AB} . We also will use capital Latin letters to denote equivalence classes of "up" index tensors on \mathscr{I}^{\pm} , where two such tensors are equivalent if they differ by a multiple of n^{μ} in any index. (Such "up" index tensors are dual to the corresponding down index tensors.) The metric q_{AB} acts non-degenerately on such equivalence classes of vectors, so it has an inverse, which we will denote as q^{AB} . We will use q_{AB} and q^{AB} to lower and raise capital Latin indices. Most of our analysis will be done with incoming fields on past null infinity \mathscr{I}^- and we will use coordinates $x = (v, x^A)$ on \mathscr{I}^- , where v is the advanced Bondi time coordinate and x^A are arbitrary coordinates on a 2-sphere. Note that the index on the coordinates x^A should not be confused with a tensor index as described above.

CHAPTER 2

THE ASYMPTOTIC BEHAVIOR OF MASSLESS FIELDS AND THE MEMORY EFFECT IN ALL SPACETIME DIMENSIONS

1 Introduction

In the early 1960's, Bondi and collaborators [16, 17, 18] performed a general analysis of the asymptotic behavior of the metric near "null infinity" ($r \rightarrow \infty$ at fixed retarded time u) for asymptotically flat spacetimes. They assumed an expansion of the metric in powers of 1/r and obtained a recursive algorithm for solving the Einstein equations near null infinity. Several years later, Penrose [42] gave an elegant, geometric reformulation of the Bondi ansatz via conformal compactification. A similar analysis of higher even-dimensional, asymptotically flat spacetimes can be given using conformal compactification [27]. However, such a conformal compactification is not possible for odd dimensional spacetimes with gravitational radiation [43].

In sec. 2 of this chapter, we will analyze the asymptotic behavior of massless scalar, electromagnetic, and linearized gravitational fields near null infinity in Minkowski spacetimes with $d \ge 4$. We will then analyze asymptotically flat, nonlinear general relativity near null infinity. Since we wish to treat odd dimensions as well as even dimensions, we will not use conformal compactification but, instead, will assume an expansion in powers of 1/r as an ansatz. For d even with d > 4, our ansatz is precisely equivalent to smoothness¹ at \mathscr{I}^+ in the conformally compactified spacetime, whereas we will see in Appendix A that for d = 4it is slightly weaker, i.e., we allow a small class of additional solutions that would not be

^{1.} It should be noted that our analysis will be primarily concerned with behavior of fields at $1/r^{d-3}$ and slower fall off, so for our main results, "smoothness" can be replaced by differentiability to the corresponding order.

allowed by smoothness at \mathscr{I}^+ . Our fields will be allowed to have arbitrary interior sources, i.e., only the field equations near null infinity will be used. Near null infinity the fall-off of the sources is required to be rapid enough to ensure that there is a finite flux through spheres near null infinity.

In sec. 3 of this chapter, we will give a thorough analysis of the memory effect in nonlinear general relativity in all dimensions $d \ge 4$. An important aim of our analysis is to extend and clarify the work of Strominger and collaborators [44, 4, 45, 46, 47, 38].

We begin our analysis in sec. 2.1 by considering a massless scalar field, ϕ , in *d*-dimensional Minkowski spacetime. We show that the wave equation gives a recursion relation that relates different coefficients in an expansion of the field in powers of 1/r. This recursion relation motivates an expansion in integer steps, with the slowest fall-off being $1/r^{d/2-1}$ ("radiative order"). In odd dimensions, integer powers starting at $1/r^{d-3}$ ("Coulombic order") must also be allowed. The "free data" needed to specify a solution is characterized in sec. 2.2.

We then consider an electromagnetic field, A_{μ} , in sec. 2.3. It is very convenient to put A_{μ} in Lorenz gauge, $\partial^{\mu}A_{\mu} = 0$, since then many of the results for the scalar field can be directly taken over. In order to put the electromagnetic field in Lorenz gauge, we need to solve the scalar wave equation with a source. We show that when d > 4, this can be done in a manner compatible with our 1/r expansion ansatz. However, when d = 4 we cannot do this if there is a nonvanishing flux of charge to null infinity. In Lorenz gauge, each Cartesian component of A_{μ} satisfies the same recursion relations as the scalar wave equation, but there also are additional conditions ("constraints") arising from the Lorenz gauge condition itself. It is convenient to write the recursion relations and constraints in terms of the components A_{u}, A_{r}, A_{A} in coordinates (u, r, x^{A}) where u is the retarded time and x^{A} denotes coordinates on the (d-2)-sphere. We do this explicitly in sec. 2.3. The "free data" is then characterized.

Gravitational perturbations, $h_{\mu\nu}$, are considered in sec. 2.4. In order to put $h_{\mu\nu}$ in Lorenz

gauge, $\partial^{\mu}\overline{h}_{\mu\nu} = 0$ (with $\overline{h}_{\mu\nu} \equiv h_{\mu\nu} - 1/2\eta_{\mu\nu}h$ and $h \equiv \eta^{\mu\nu}h_{\mu\nu}$), we need to solve the vector wave equation with a source. Again, we find that when d > 4, this can be done in a manner compatible with our 1/r expansion ansatz. However, when d = 4 we cannot do this if there is a nonvanishing flux of matter stress-energy to null infinity. We give the recursion relations and constraints explicitly in terms of the components $h_{uu}, h_{ur}, h_{rr}, h_{uA}, h_{rA}, h_{AB}$ and identify the "free data."

It might be thought that the full, nonlinear Einstein equation would be much more difficult to analyze. However, as we shall see in sec. 2.5, the nonlinear terms first enter Einstein's equation at order $1/r^{d-2}$ and they first affect the behavior of the metric at Coulombic order $1/r^{d-3}$. Similarly, the nonlinear terms in the harmonic gauge condition first affect the metric at Coulombic order. Thus, under our ansatz concerning the expansion of the metric in powers of 1/r, the analysis of the nonlinear Einstein equation coincides with the linearized analysis until Coulombic order, and the differences at Coulombic order can be taken into account in a relatively straightforward manner.

In sec. 3, we turn our attention to the memory effect, i.e., the permanent relative displacement of an arrangement of test particles near null infinity that are initially at rest. We assume that the metric initially is stationary to Coulombic order, goes through a nonstationary epoch, and again becomes stationary to Coulombic order. The precise stationarity assumptions and the motivation for them are spelled out in sec. 3.1. We obtain general properties of the memory tensor in sec. 3.2. In sec. 3.3, we calculate the memory tensor for all $d \ge 4$. We show that the memory tensor vanishes at all fall-off slower than Coulombic, i.e., it vanishes at order $1/r^n$ for all n < d - 3. In even dimensions, the memory tensor at Coulombic order can be nonvanishing [38, 48] and we also show that it naturally decomposes into "null memory" and "ordinary memory," in a manner similar to the known decomposition in 4-dimensions [39]. "Null memory" is associated with a flux of energy to null infinity, whereas we show that "ordinary memory" is associated with the metric being non-stationary at one order faster fall-off than Coulombic, as will generically occur if there is a flux of matter stress-energy moving inertially in from infinity or out to infinity at less than the speed of light. In odd dimensions, we show that the total memory effect vanishes near null infinity at Coulombic order.

As discussed in sec. 3.4, in all dimensions, the memory effect can be decomposed into scalar, vector and tensor parts on the (d-2)-sphere. Null memory is always of scalar type, but ordinary memory can be of any type. We give an explicit example in linearized gravity in d = 4 dimensions involving a shell of matter with vector stresses that gives rise to vector (i.e., "magnetic parity") ordinary memory at order 1/r. In sec. 3.5, we show that scalar memory can be characterized by a diffeomorphism. This diffeomorphism is an asymptotic symmetry in d = 4 dimensions, but it is gauge for d > 4. Vector and tensor memory cannot be described by a diffeomorphism.

We then consider the relationship of memory to charges and conservation laws in eq. (1.9). In d = 4 dimensions, we show in sec. 3.6.1 how the charges and fluxes associated with supertranslations can be used to derive the formula for scalar memory. Although memory cannot be associated with an asymptotic symmetry when d > 4, similar expressions are obtained from our general formulas for memory in sec. 3.3. In sec. 3.6.2 we provide some arguments in favor of "antipodal matching" of solutions between future and past null infinity, and show that under the assumption of antipodal matching, we obtain expressions that can be interpreted as representing conservation laws relating charges and fluxes at past and future null infinity.

Finally, in sec. 3.7 we show that in d = 4 dimensions, the presence of a nontrivial memory effect at future null infinity is intimately related to infrared divergences in the "out" state in quantum field theory. The factorization of the "out" state vector into a product of "hard" and "soft" parts is shown for the case of quantum linearized gravity with a classical source, and is argued to hold generally.

2 The general behavior of fields near null infinity

Consider *d*-dimensional Minkowski spacetime with $d \ge 4$. In terms of global inertial coordinates $(t, x^1, \ldots, x^{d-1})$, the metric takes the form

$$\eta = -dt^2 + \sum_{\mu=1}^{d-1} (dx^{\mu})^2.$$
(2.1)

Let $r = (\sum (x^{\mu})^2)^{1/2}$, let $u \equiv t - r$, and let x^A be arbitrary coordinates on the spheres of constant r and u. In the coordinates (u, r, x^A) , the Minkowski metric η takes the form

$$\eta = -du^2 - 2dudr + r^2 q_{AB} dx^A dx^B \tag{2.2}$$

where q_{AB} is the metric on the round unit (d-2)-sphere. Let

$$K^{\mu} = (\partial/\partial r)^{\mu} \tag{2.3}$$

$$l^{\mu} = (\partial/\partial u)^{\mu} - \frac{1}{2} (\partial/\partial r)^{\mu}$$
(2.4)

so that K^{μ} and l^{μ} are the future-directed, radially outgoing and ingoing null vector fields, which satisfy

$$K^{\mu}l_{\mu} = -1.$$
 (2.5)

Let $q_{\mu\nu}$ denote the spacetime tensor field whose pullback to spheres of constant u and r is q_{AB} and $K^{\mu}q_{\mu\nu} = 0 = l^{\mu}q_{\mu\nu}$. The metric can be written as

$$\eta_{\mu\nu} = -2K_{(\mu}l_{\nu)} + r^2 q_{\mu\nu}.$$
(2.6)

We will be concerned in the following with the behavior of fields near "null infinity" in this spacetime, i.e., the limit as $r \to \infty$ at fixed (u, x^A) .

1 Ansatz for the massless scalar field

Consider a massless Klein-Gordon field ϕ satisfying

$$\Box \phi = 0 \tag{2.7}$$

where $\Box \equiv \eta^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}$. (In the next subsection, we will allow a source term *S*, i.e., we will consider $\Box \phi = S$.) We assume, as a *preliminary ansatz*, that near null infinity, ϕ can be expanded as a series in 1/r as follows:

$$\phi \sim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^{\alpha+j}} \phi^{(j)}(u, x^A)$$
(2.8)

where $\alpha \in (0, 1]$. Here, the meaning of the "~" in eq. (2.8) is as follows: We do *not* require that the series on the right side of this equation converges (even for large r) but require that for any $N \ge 0$ we have

$$\phi - \sum_{j=0}^{N} \frac{1}{r^{\alpha+j}} \phi^{(j)}(u, x^A) = O(1/r^{\alpha+N+1})$$
(2.9)

as $r \to \infty$, i.e., we require this series to be asymptotic. We further require that all partial derivatives of the left side of eq. (2.9) with respect to u and x^A are also $O(1/r^{\alpha+N+1})$, whereas k partial derivatives with respect to r are $O(1/r^{\alpha+N+1+k})$. For convenience, we have taken the upper limit in the sum in eq. (2.8) to be ∞ , but all of our results will require eq. (2.9) to hold only for finite N (with the precise value of N needed depending on the result). We now substitute eq. (2.8) into eq. (2.7) and collect the terms that fall off as $1/r^{\alpha+j+1}$. We thereby obtain the following recursion relations for the coefficients appearing in eq. (2.8)

$$[\mathscr{D}^2 + (\alpha + j - 1)(\alpha + j - d + 2)]\phi^{(j-1)} + (2\alpha + 2j - d + 2)\partial_u\phi^{(j)} = 0$$
(2.10)

Here, $\mathscr{D}^2 = \mathscr{D}_A \mathscr{D}^A$ is the Laplacian on the unit sphere, where \mathscr{D}_A is the derivative operator associated with q_{AB} and sphere indices are lowered and raised with q_{AB} and q^{AB} .

It follows immediately from eq. (2.10) that if, for some $i \ge 0$, $\phi^{(i)}$ has nonpolynomial dependence on u, then for even d, no solution of the form eq. (2.8) exists unless $\alpha = 1$, whereas for odd d, no solution of the form eq. (2.8) exists unless $\alpha = 1/2$. To see this, we note that unless the coefficient of the $\partial_u \phi^{(j)}$ term vanishes for some j, the nonpolynomial dependence of $\phi^{(i)}$ will propagate to $\phi^{(i-1)}$ and thence to $\phi^{(i-2)}$, etc. This will result in an inconsistency in eq. (2.10) at the lowest nontrivial order, j = 0, since the first term in that equation is then absent. Thus, the coefficient of $\partial_u \phi^{(j)}$ in eq. (2.10) must vanish for some j. For d even, this requires $\alpha = 1$, in which case the coefficient vanishes for j = d/2 - 2. For dodd, this requires $\alpha = 1/2$, in which case the coefficient vanishes for j = (d-3)/2.

However, in the odd dimensional case, eq. (2.8) with $\alpha = 1/2$ is not adequate for several reasons. First, eq. (2.8) with $\alpha = 1/2$ does not admit static solutions, since static solutions satisfy Laplace's equation and fall off as integral powers of 1/r, starting at order, $1/r^{d-3}$. Second, when a source term S is considered in eq. (2.7), it is natural to allow S to fall off with integral powers of 1/r. In particular, in order to have a nonvanishing, finite source flux at null infinity, it will be necessary to have S fall off as $1/r^{d-2}$. Such source terms will generate terms in ϕ that fall off as integral powers of 1/r, again starting at order $1/r^{d-3}$. Third, even if one does not consider sources, for nonlinear equations such as Einstein's equation, quadratic and higher order even powers of the field will generate terms that fall off as integral powers of 1/r. This will lead to inconsistencies unless one also includes integral powers of 1/r in the fall-off of the field, again starting at order $1/r^{d-3}$.

Thus, in odd dimensions, we must allow integral powers of 1/r starting at least at order $1/r^{d-3}$. However, in odd dimensions, the coefficient of a term that falls as $1/r^p$ for integer p < d-3 must have polynomial dependence in u of degree < p in order for the recursion relations to terminate. (Source terms and nonlinear terms will not enter the recursion relations at these orders.) Such solutions do not appear to be of any physical interest, and we will exclude them from our ansatz.

Thus, we adopt the following as the final form of our ansatz:

$$\phi \sim \sum_{n=d/2-1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} \phi^{(n)}(u, x^A) \qquad d \text{ even} \qquad (2.11)$$

$$\phi \sim \sum_{n=d/2-1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} \phi^{(n)}(u, x^A) + \sum_{p=d-3}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^p} \tilde{\phi}^{(p)}(u, x^A) \qquad d \text{ odd}$$
(2.12)

where the meaning of "~" is as explained below eq. (2.8). Note that in eq. (2.12), n runs over half-integer values rather than integer values (as in eq. (2.11)). We have done this (rather than insert $\alpha = 1/2$ and keep integer values) so that the superscript "(n)" is always associated with $1/r^n$ fall-off and so that we can write the recursion in the same form

$$[\mathscr{D}^2 + (n-1)(n-d+2)]\phi^{(n-1)} + (2n-d+2)\partial_u\phi^{(n)} = 0$$
(2.13)

in both even and odd dimensions. In both even and odd dimensions, we refer to the leading (slowest fall-off) term n = d/2 - 1 as *radiative order*, and we refer to the term with $1/r^{d-3}$ fall-off as *Coulombic order*. In odd dimensions, the $\tilde{\phi}^{(p)}$ satisfy separate recursion relations of the same form

$$[\mathscr{D}^2 + (p-1)(p-d+2)]\tilde{\phi}^{(p-1)} + (2p-d+2)\partial_u\tilde{\phi}^{(p)} = 0.$$
(2.14)

In the source free case, $\tilde{\phi}^{(p)}$ must have polynomial dependence in u with degree no higher than p-d+3 in order for the expansion to terminate at order d-3. However, this restriction will not apply when source terms or nonlinear terms are present.

Remark 2.1. Note that the lower limit of the sum in (2.11) was taken to be radiative order, n = d/2 - 1. However, the ansatz would not be changed if we allowed the lower limit of the sum to extend to n = 1 for d > 4 because the recursion relation eq. (2.13) at n = d/2 - 1yields

$$[\mathscr{D}^2 - (d/2 - 2)(d/2 - 1)]\phi^{(d/2 - 2)} = 0$$
(2.15)

which implies $\phi^{(d/2-2)} = 0$. The recursion relations at smaller n then successively yield $\phi^{(n)} = 0$ for all n < d/2 - 1. Similarly, the lower limit of the first sum in (2.12) could be taken to be n = 1/2 without affecting the ansatz. The upper limit of the sums appearing in (2.11) and (2.12) were taken to be ∞ for convenience. Most of our analysis will concern the behavior of fields at Coulombic order and slower fall-off and only a small number of derivatives will be taken, so the asymptotic expansion need hold only to the corresponding order.

Finally, we address the issue of the reasonableness of our ansatz, i.e., what classes of solutions to eq. (2.7) satisfy our ansatz. In Minkowski spacetime of both even and odd² dimensions, there is an alternative criterion of smoothness of the conformally rescaled field $\overline{\phi} = \Omega^{-(d/2-1)}\phi$ at future null infinity, \mathscr{I}^+ , in the conformally completed spacetime. Since $\Omega = 1/r$ is a suitable conformal factor for Minkowski spacetime, it is easily seen that smoothness of $\overline{\phi}$ at $\Omega = 0$ is equivalent to our asymptotic expansion eq. (2.11) in even dimensions and our asymptotic expansion eq. (2.12) without the integer power terms in odd dimensions. By the argument³ of Prop. 11.1.1 of [37], smoothness at \mathscr{I}^+ holds for all

^{2.} Future null infinity does not exist for an odd dimensional radiating spacetime [43], but it exists for odd dimensional Minkowski spacetime.

^{3.} Prop. 11.1.1 of [37] is stated for d = 4 but is easily generalized to Minkowski spacetime of arbitrary

solutions to eq. (2.7) with smooth initial data of compact support. Thus, all solutions with initial data of compact support satisfy our ansatz. Furthermore, static, asymptotically flat solutions satisfy the asymptotic expansion eq. (2.11) in even dimensions and the asymptotic expansion eq. (2.12) with only the integer power terms in odd dimensions. It follows that in both even and odd dimensions, all solutions to eq. (2.7) with smooth initial that corresponds to a static asymptotically flat solution outside of a compact region satisfy our ansatz.

2 Solutions to the scalar wave recursion relations

We now consider the scalar wave equation with smooth source S

$$\Box \phi = S. \tag{2.16}$$

We assume that S also has an expansion in powers of 1/r. In order that the flux of S through a sphere near null infinity be finite in the limit as $r \to \infty$, we must have $S = O(1/r^{d-2})$. We take as our ansatz for S

$$S \sim \sum_{n=d-2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} S^{(n)}(u, x^A).$$
(2.17)

In even dimensions, the sum ranges over integer n. In odd dimensions, we could also allow half-integral powers of 1/r in the expansion of S, beginning at order $1/r^{d-5/2}$. Indeed, for nonlinear equations, half-integral powers would appear as an effective source generated by cubic and higher order terms in the field, although these terms would first enter only at order $1/r^{3(d/2-1)}$. However, we will be primarily interested in the behavior of solutions ϕ at fall-off ranging from radiative $(1/r^{d/2-1})$ to Coulombic $(1/r^{d-3})$ orders. In odd dimensions, only the leading order source term $S^{(d-2)}/r^{d-2}$ will enter our analysis. Therefore, for notational simplicity, we will take the sum in eq. (2.17) to range only over integer values of n in both

dimension
even and odd dimensions. Note that our asymptotic expansion takes account only of sources "near null infinity." Sources that go out to infinity along, e.g., timelike inertial trajectories do not contribute at all to the asymptotic expansion of S.

In even dimensions, under the ansatz eq. (2.11), the recursion relations eq. (2.13) are modified by the source term to become

$$[\mathscr{D}^2 + (n-1)(n-d+2)]\phi^{(n-1)} + (2n-d+2)\partial_u\phi^{(n)} = S^{(n+1)}.$$
 (2.18)

In odd dimensions, under the ansatz eq. (2.12), eq. (2.13) is unmodified, but eq. (2.14) is modified to become

$$[\mathscr{D}^2 + (p-1)(p-d+2)]\tilde{\phi}^{(p-1)} + (2p-d+2)\partial_u\tilde{\phi}^{(p)} = S^{(p+1)}.$$
(2.19)

It should be noted that when d = 4, eq. (2.18) for n = 1 yields $S^{(2)} = 0$. Thus, for d = 4 there is an inconsistency with our ansatz eq. (2.11) when $S^{(2)} \neq 0$, i.e., when there is nonvanishing flux of the source through spheres near null infinity. This could be accommodated by modifying the ansatz in d = 4 to allow an additional series of terms that fall as $\ln r/r^n$. This issue will arise in the next subsections when we consider whether the Lorenz gauge condition can be imposed on electromagnetic fields and linearized gravitational perturbations, and we will see that a non-vanishing flux of charge current or stress energy will provide an obstruction to imposing the Lorenz gauge in d = 4 in a manner compatible with our ansatz. Similarly, in full, nonlinear general relativity, we will find that a non-vanishing flux of stress energy or Bondi news will provide an obstruction to imposing the harmonic gauge in d = 4 in a manner compatible with our ansatz. Rather than include any such additional $\ln r$ terms in these cases, we will simply not impose the Lorenz and harmonic gauges in d = 4 when these obstructions exist. For the analysis of this subsection, we will simply restrict consideration to the case that $S^{(2)} = 0$ when d = 4, so that our ansatz can be imposed.

We now consider two procedures for solving the above recursion relations. The first procedure is as follows: Consider, first, the even dimensional case, where we must solve eq. (2.18) with integral n. By our ansatz for ϕ and S, this equation automatically holds for n = d/2 - 1, since $\phi^{(d/2-2)} = S^{(d/2)} = 0$ and the coefficient of $\partial_u \phi^{(d/2-1)}$ vanishes. (Here, when d = 4, we have assumed that $S^{(2)} = 0$.) Thus, we may specify $\phi^{(d/2-1)}(u, x^A)$ arbitrarily. The n = d/2 equation then yields

$$2\partial_u \phi^{(d/2)} = S^{(d/2+1)} - [\mathscr{D}^2 + (n-1)(n-d+2)]\phi^{(d/2-1)}.$$
(2.20)

The right side is "known," so this equation can be straightforwardly integrated to obtain $\phi^{(d/2)}$. The solution is unique up to the arbitrary specification of $\phi_0^{(d/2)}(x^A) = \phi^{(d/2)}(u_0, x^A)$ at the retarded time $u = u_0$. This procedure can then be iterated indefinitely to solve for $\phi^{(n)}$ for all n > d/2 - 1 up to the arbitrary specification of $\phi_0^{(n)}(x^A) = \phi^{(n)}(u_0, x^A)$.

In odd dimensions, we must solve eq. (2.13) with half-integral n as well as eq. (2.19). To solve eq. (2.13), we may again, specify $\phi^{(d/2-1)}(u, x^A)$ arbitrarily. We may then again uniquely solve for $\phi^{(n)}$ for all n > d/2 - 1 up to the arbitrary specification of $\phi_0^{(n)}(x^A) = \phi^{(n)}(u_0, x^A)$. Similarly, we can uniquely solve eq. (2.19) with p = d - 3 for $\tilde{\phi}^{(d-3)}$, up to the arbitrary specification of $\tilde{\phi}_0^{(d-3)}(x^A) = \tilde{\phi}^{(d-3)}(u_0, x^A)$. We can then perform a similar iteration to obtain $\tilde{\phi}^{(p)}$ for all p > d - 3, up to the arbitrary specification of $\tilde{\phi}_0^{(p)}(x^A) = \tilde{\phi}^{(p)}(u_0, x^A)$.

We summarize these results in the following proposition.

Proposition 2.1. Let ϕ be given by the asymptotic expansion eq. (2.11)-(2.12) and let S be given by the asymptotic expansion eq. (2.17). Assume further that for d = 4 we have $S^{(2)} = 0$. Then, in even dimensions, a unique solution to the recursion relations eq. (2.18)

is obtained by arbitrarily specifying $\phi^{(d/2-1)}(u, x^A)$ (i.e., specifying ϕ at "radiative order") and arbitrarily specifying $\phi^{(n)}(u_0, x^A)$ for all n > d/2 - 1 at some initial time u_0 . Similarly, in odd dimensions, a unique solution to the recursion relations eq. (2.13) and eq. (2.19) is obtained by arbitrarily specifying $\phi^{(d/2-1)}(u, x^A)$ (i.e., specifying ϕ at "radiative order") and arbitrarily specifying both $\phi^{(n)}(u_0, x^A)$ for all n > d/2 - 1 and $\tilde{\phi}^{(p)}(u_0, x^A)$ for all $p \ge d - 3$ at some initial time u_0 .

The second procedure involves solving the recursion relations in the reverse order. Suppose that, for some n > d/2-1, we specify $\phi^{(n)}(u, x^A)$ arbitrarily. We can then try to solve eq. (2.18) for $\phi^{(n-1)}$. In order to do so, we must invert the angular operator $\mathscr{D}^2 + (n-1)(n-d+2)$. A unique inverse of this operator exists whenever -(n-1)(n-d+2) is not an eigenvalue of the Laplacian, \mathscr{D}^2 . Since the eigenvalues of \mathscr{D}^2 are $-\ell(\ell+d-3)$ for $\ell = 0, 1, \ldots$, it can be seen that this operator is invertible at every order in odd dimensions, where n is half-integer. On the other hand in even dimensions, this operator is invertible when $n \leq d - 3$, but it is not invertible when n > d - 3. Thus, in even dimensions, we can specify $\phi^{(d-3)}(u, x^A)$ arbitrarily and then uniquely solve for $\phi^{(d-4)}(u, x^A)$ by inverting the angular operator in eq. (2.18). Iterating this process, we uniquely obtain $\phi^{(n)}(u, x^A)$ for all n < d - 3. We then can solve for $\phi^{(n)}(u, x^A)$ for all n > d - 3 as before, with the freedom to arbitrarily specify $\phi^{(n)}(u_0, x^A)$. In odd dimensions, we can similarly arbitrarily specify $\phi^{(n_0)}(u, x^A)$ for any half-integer $n_0 \geq d/2 - 1$. We can then uniquely solve for $\phi^{(n)}(u, x^A)$ for all $n < n_0$ by inversion of the angular operators, and then solve for $\phi^{(n)}(u, x^A)$ for all $n > n_0$ as before, with the freedom to arbitrarily specify $\phi^{(n)}(u_0, x^A)$. This can be summarized as follows:

Proposition 2.2. Let ϕ be given by the asymptotic expansion eq. (2.11)-(2.12) and let S be given by the asymptotic expansion eq. (2.17). Assume further that for d = 4 we have $S^{(2)} = 0$. Then, in even dimensions, a unique solution to the recursion relations eq. (2.18) is obtained by arbitrarily specifying $\phi^{(d-3)}(u, x^A)$ (i.e., specifying ϕ at "Coulombic order") and arbitrarily specifying $\phi^{(n)}(u_0, x^A)$ for all n > d - 3 at some initial time u_0 . Similarly, in odd

dimensions, a unique solution to the recursion relations eq. (2.13) and eq. (2.19) is obtained by arbitrarily specifying $\phi^{(n_0)}(u, x^A)$ for any half-integral n_0 , and, for some initial time u_0 , arbitrarily specifying $\phi^{(n)}(u_0, x^A)$ for all $n > n_0$ and $\tilde{\phi}^{(p)}(u_0, x^A)$ for all $p \ge d-3$.

An important corollary of the argument leading to Proposition 2.2 is the following:

Corollary 2.1. Suppose for d even we have $\partial_u \phi^{(n_0)} = 0$ for some $n_0 < d-3$. Then $\phi^{(n)} = 0$ for all $n < n_0$. Similarly, if $\partial_u \phi^{(d-3)} = 0$ and $S^{(d-2)} = 0$, then $\phi^{(n)} = 0$ for all n < d-3. For d odd, if $\partial_u \phi^{(n_0)} = 0$ for some half-integral n_0 (without restriction), then $\phi^{(n)} = 0$ for all $n < n_0$.

Finally, it is worth noting that for n > d - 3, the spherical harmonic $Y_{n-d+2,m}$ is in the kernel of $\mathscr{D}^2 + (n-1)(n-d+2)$. It follows immediately that in the source-free case, for d even we have that

$$\alpha_{nm}^d \equiv \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ Y_{n-d+2,m} \phi^{(n)} \tag{2.21}$$

is a constant of motion for all n > d - 3 [49, 50], i.e., $\partial_u \alpha_{nm}^d = 0$, where $d\Omega$ is the measure on the (d-2)-sphere. Similarly, in the source free case, for d odd we have that

$$\tilde{\alpha}_{pm}^{d} \equiv \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ Y_{p-d+2,m} \tilde{\phi}^{(p)}$$
(2.22)

is a constant of motion for all p > d - 3.

3 Maxwell's equations

Consider Maxwell's Equations with vector potential A_a and charge-current j_a on d-dimensional Minkowski spacetime

$$\Box A_{\mu} - \partial_{\mu} \partial^{\nu} A_{\nu} = -4\pi j_{\mu} \tag{2.23}$$

where $\partial^{\mu} j_{\mu} = 0$. In analogy with the scalar field ansatz (2.11) and (2.12), we assume as an ansatz that there exists a choice of gauge for A_a such that it admits an asymptotic expansion of the form

$$A_{\mu} \sim \sum_{n=d/2-1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} A_{\mu}^{(n)}(u, x^A) \qquad d \text{ even}$$
 (2.24)

$$A_{\mu} \sim \sum_{n=d/2-1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} A_{\mu}^{(n)}(u, x^A) + \sum_{p=d-3}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^p} \tilde{A}_{\mu}^{(p)}(u, x^A) \qquad d \text{ odd.}$$
(2.25)

We further assume, in analogy with eq. (2.17) that j_a admits an asymptotic expansion of the form

$$j_{\mu} \sim \sum_{n=d-2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} j_{\mu}^{(n)}(u, x^A).$$
 (2.26)

In addition, we require that $j_{\mu}^{(d-2)}(u, x^A) \to 0$ as $u \to -\infty$, i.e. there is no current flux to future null infinity at asymptotically early times. Here, as already mentioned at the end of the Introduction, $A_{\mu}^{(n)}$, $\tilde{A}_{\mu}^{(n)}$, and $j_{\mu}^{(n)}$ are defined so that their normalized basis components are independent of r—in contrast to a more common convention where the orders of the expansion would denote the powers of 1/r occurring in the expansion of coordinate basis components of A_{μ} in the coordinates of eq. (2.2). Thus, in our convention, $A_r^{(n)}$, $A_u^{(n)}$, and $A_A^{(n)}$ all contribute to the physical fall off rate of $1/r^n$, i.e., $A_A^{(n)}$ is the $1/r^n$ part of $1/r(\partial/\partial x^A)^{\mu}A_{\mu}$, not the $1/r^n$ part of $(\partial/\partial x^A)^{\mu}A_{\mu}$. Our convention avoids a spurious "mixing of orders" in equations due to the different behavior of the coordinate basis elements. Again, our assumption that upper limits in the above asymptotic expansions run to ∞ is for convenience, as only finitely many orders will be needed for our main results.

In even⁴ dimensions, we now compare our ansatz eq. (2.24) to what would be obtained

^{4.} We are not aware of any smoothness at \mathscr{I}^+ criterion for A_{μ} that can be formulated in odd dimensions, since A_{μ} itself cannot be smooth at \mathscr{I}^+ for radiating solutions and giving A_{μ} a conformal weight would not appear to be of any use since Maxwell's equations are not conformally invariant when $d \neq 4$.

by requiring that A_{μ} (with no conformal weight) be smooth at \mathscr{I}^+ . Since $\Omega = 1/r$ is a suitable conformal factor for Minkowski spacetime, the necessary and sufficient condition for smoothness of A_{μ} at \mathscr{I}^+ is that its components, (A_u, A_{Ω}, A_A) , defined by

$$A = A_u du + A_\Omega d\Omega + A_A dx^A \tag{2.27}$$

be smooth functions of (u, Ω, x^A) at $\Omega = 0$. For d = 4, it is easily seen that this smoothness criterion differs from the asymptotic expansion eq. (2.24) only in that the smoothness criterion (i) allows a 0th order term, $A_u^{(0)}$, in A_u and (ii) requires $A_r^{(1)} = 0$. It is easily seen that $A_u^{(0)}$ can be set to zero by a gauge transformation, so smoothness at \mathscr{I}^+ implies that our ansatz eq. (2.24) holds. Conversely, we show in Appendix 0.1 that starting from our ansatz eq. (2.24), one can set $A_r^{(1)} = 0$ by a gauge transformation if and only if⁵ $j_r^{(3)} = 0$. Thus, for d = 4 our ansatz eq. (2.24) is slightly weaker than smoothness at \mathscr{I}^+ in that it admits additional solutions with $j_r^{(3)} \neq 0$.

In higher even dimensional spacetimes, eq. (2.24) requires strictly faster fall-off than needed for smoothness of A_a (with no conformal weighting) at \mathscr{I}^+ . Thus, eq. (2.24) is nominally stronger than the condition of smoothness of A_{μ} at \mathscr{I}^+ . However, we show in Appendix 0.1 that the Lorenz gauge condition can be imposed when d > 4 within a slower fall-off ansatz. As explained in Remark 2.2, the slower fall-off solutions excluded by eq. (2.24) are therefore pure gauge. Thus, in even dimensional spacetimes with d > 4, our ansatz is exactly equivalent to smoothness of A_{μ} (in some gauge) at \mathscr{I}^+ .

In the following, we will focus on the even dimensional case, and then indicate how the arguments can be modified to accommodate the odd dimensional case. Just as in the scalar case, Maxwell's equations give rise to recursion relations for the coefficients of the asymptotic

^{5.} $j_r^{(3)}$ must be independent of u by conservation of current. A nonvanishing $j_r^{(3)}$ would correspond to having an *ingoing* null current near \mathscr{I}^+ .

expansions eq. (2.24) and eq. (2.26). In the even dimensional case, these recursion relations are explicitly

$$\left[\mathscr{D}^{2} + (n-1)(n-d+2)\right]A_{u}^{(n-1)} + (2n-d+2)\partial_{u}A_{u}^{(n)} - \partial_{u}\psi^{(n+1)} = -4\pi j_{u}^{(n+1)} \quad (2.28)$$

$$\left[\mathscr{D}^{2}+n(n-d+1)\right]A_{r}^{(n-1)}+(d-2)A_{u}^{(n-1)}+(2n-d+2)\partial_{u}A_{r}^{(n)}-2\mathscr{D}^{A}A_{A}^{(n-1)}+n\psi^{(n)}=-4\pi j_{r}^{(n+1)}$$
(2.29)

$$\left[\mathscr{D}^{2} + (n-1)(n-d+2) - 1\right] A_{A}^{(n-1)} - 2\mathscr{D}_{A} \left(A_{u}^{(n-1)} - A_{r}^{(n-1)} - \frac{\psi^{(n)}}{2}\right) + (2n-d+2)\partial_{u}A_{A}^{(n)} = -4\pi j_{A}^{(n+1)} - (2.30)$$

where n takes integer values. Here, we have defined

$$\psi \equiv \partial^{\mu} A_{\mu} \tag{2.31}$$

 \mathbf{SO}

$$\psi^{(n)} = \mathscr{D}^A A_A^{(n-1)} + (d-n-1)(A_r^{(n-1)} - A_u^{(n-1)}) - \partial_u A_r^{(n)}.$$
(2.32)

It would be very convenient to put A_{μ} in Lorenz gauge, $\psi = 0$. On general grounds, we know that A_{μ} can always be put in the Lorenz gauge, but it is not obvious *a priori* whether it can be put in Lorenz gauge in such a way that the form of the asymptotic expansions, eq. (2.24) is maintained. We now investigate this issue.

Under a gauge transformation, we have

$$A_{\mu} \to A_{\mu} - \partial_{\mu}\phi. \tag{2.33}$$

Thus, in order to put A_{μ} in Lorenz gauge, we must solve

$$\Box \phi = \psi. \tag{2.34}$$

Thus, the equation that we must solve is of the same form as eq. (2.16), which we analyzed in the previous section. However, there are two key differences: (i) From its definition, *a priori*, ψ may fall off as slowly as $1/r^{d/2-1}$ rather than $1/r^{d-2}$. (ii) We do not require that ϕ satisfy the ansatz eq. (2.11) but rather that $\partial_{\mu}\phi$ satisfy the ansatz eq. (2.24). Therefore, we may take the ansatz for ϕ to be

$$\phi \sim \sum_{n=d/2-2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} \phi^{(n)}(u, x^A)$$
(2.35)

where $\partial_u \phi^{(d/2-2)} = 0$. In d = 4 dimensions, we may also add the term $c \ln r$ to the ansatz for ϕ , where c is a constant.

We first note that it follows immediately from $\partial^{\mu} j_{\mu} = 0$ that $\partial_{u} j_{r}^{(d-2)} = 0$. Hence, if $j_{a}^{(d-2)} \to 0$ as $u \to -\infty$ as we have assumed in our ansatz above, we have

$$j_r^{(d-2)} = 0. (2.36)$$

Thus, the *r*-component of j_{μ} falls off at least one power of 1/r faster than required by the ansatz eq. (2.26). Since $d/2 \leq d-2$ for all $d \geq 4$, it follows immediately from eq. (2.29) with n = d/2 - 1 that

$$\psi^{(d/2-1)} = 0, \tag{2.37}$$

i.e., Maxwell's equations require ψ to fall off at least one power of 1/r faster than implied by the ansatz (2.24). To proceed further, we must separately consider the cases d > 4 and d = 4.

When d > 4 all components of j_a vanish at order n = d/2. It follows from eq. (2.28) with n = d/2 - 1 that

$$\partial_u \psi^{(d/2)} = 0. \tag{2.38}$$

We now can solve the scalar recursion relation eq. (2.18) at order n = d/2 - 1 by allowing a

nonvanishing $\phi^{(d/2-2)}$ given by

$$\phi^{(d/2-2)} = [\mathscr{D}^2 - (d/2-2)^2]^{-1} \psi^{(d/2)}.$$
(2.39)

Although $\phi^{(d/2-2)}$ falls off more slowly than allowed by the ansatz eq. (2.11), since $\partial_u \phi^{(d/2-2)} = 0$ the gradient of $\phi^{(d/2-2)}/r^{d/2-2}$ will be compatible with the ansatz eq. (2.24). Furthermore, since $\partial_u \phi^{(d/2-2)} = 0$, the scalar recursion relations imply that all slower fall-off terms vanish. We may now specify $\phi^{(d/2-1)}$ arbitrarily and solve the recursion relations for the faster fall-off terms in the same manner as in Proposition 2.1. Thus, when d > 4, there is no difficulty in putting A_a in the Lorenz gauge in a manner compatible with the ansatz eq. (2.24).

When d = 4, we still have $\psi^{(1)} = 0$ but we now have

$$\partial_u \psi^{(2)} = 4\pi j_u^{(2)}. \tag{2.40}$$

The scalar recursion relation eq. (2.18) at order n = 1 (with the term $c \ln r$ added to the ansatz for ϕ) yields

$$c + \mathscr{D}^2 \phi^{(0)} = \psi^{(2)}. \tag{2.41}$$

However, $\phi^{(0)}$ has to be *u*-independent in order that $\partial_a \phi$ satisfy the ansatz eq. (2.24). This requires $\partial_u \psi^{(2)}$ to vanish and hence $j_u^{(2)} = 0$, i.e., there can be no flux of charge to infinity.⁶ Conversely, if $j_u^{(2)} = 0$, then $\psi^{(2)}$ is *u*-independent. We can choose *c* to cancel the $\ell = 0$ part of $\psi^{(2)}$. We can then invert \mathscr{D}^2 to solve for $\phi^{(0)}$. Thus, for d = 4, we can solve eq. (2.41) if and only if $j_u^{(2)} = 0$. We may then choose $\phi^{(1)}$ arbitrarily and solve the remaining recursion relations for the faster fall-off terms in the same manner as in Proposition 2.1. Thus, for d = 4, A_{μ} can be put in the Lorenz gauge in a manner compatible with the ansatz eq. (2.24) if and only if $j_u^{(2)} = 0$.

^{6.} The Lorenz gauge can be imposed with $j_u^{(2)} \neq 0$ by adding a series with terms of the form $\ln r/r^n$ [51].

We now describe the modifications to the above results for odd dimensions. The recursion relations for $A^{(n)}_{\mu}$ take the form eqs. (2.28)-(2.30) with *n* half-integral and with the current source terms absent, whereas the recursion relations for $\tilde{A}^{(p)}_{\mu}$ take the same form as eqs. (2.28)-(2.30) with *n* replaced by *p*, with *p* an integer. The ansatz for ϕ is taken to be

$$\phi \sim \sum_{n=d/2-2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} \phi^{(n)}(u, x^A) + \sum_{p=d-3}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^p} \tilde{\phi}^{(p)}(u, x^A)$$
(2.42)

with $\partial_u \phi^{(d/2-2)} = 0$. The analysis of imposing the Lorenz gauge then proceeds in close parallel to the even dimensional case for d > 4. We find that the Lorenz gauge can always be imposed in a manner compatible with the ansatz eq. (2.25).

We summarize our above results on the imposition of the Lorenz gauge in the following proposition:

Proposition 2.3. In Minkowski spacetime of dimension $d \ge 4$, suppose that in some gauge the vector potential A_{μ} satisfies our ansatz eq. (2.24) (for d even) or our ansatz eq. (2.25) (for d odd). Suppose further that the charge-current j_{μ} satisfies eq. (2.26) and that $j_{\mu}^{(d-2)}(u, x^A) \rightarrow 0$ as $u \rightarrow -\infty$. Then for all d > 4, A_{μ} can be put in the Lorenz gauge in such a way that it continues to satisfy our ansatz. In d = 4 the Lorenz gauge condition can be imposed within the ansatz eq. (2.24) if and only if $j_{\mu}^{(2)} = 0$, i.e., if and only if the flux of charge to null infinity vanishes.

Remark 2.2. We show in Appendix 0.1 that if, for d > 4, we had allowed the sum in eq. (2.24) to extend to n = 1 and the sum in eq. (2.25) to extend to n = 1/2, our proof that the Lorenz gauge condition can be imposed within the revised ansatz would still go through. Since $\Box A_{\mu} = -4\pi j_{\mu}$ in the Lorenz gauge and $j_{\mu}^{(n)} = 0$ for n < d - 2, it follows from Remark 2.1 that in Lorenz gauge, we have $A_{\mu}^{(n)} = 0$ for all n < d/2 - 1. Thus, the only solutions excluded by starting the sums at n = d/2 - 1 in eqs. (2.24) and (2.25) (rather than at n = 1 and n = 1/2) are pure gauge.

Remark 2.3. Suppose that A_{μ} satisfies the ansatz eq. (2.24) and is stationary at all orders $n \leq m$ where $m \leq d-2$. Suppose further that $j_{\mu}^{(n)} = 0$ for all $n \leq m+1$. By conservation of j_{μ} , we obtain $\partial_{u} j_{r}^{(n)} = 0$ for all $n \leq m+2$. It follows directly from its definition, eq. (2.32), that $\psi^{(n)}$ must be stationary for all $n \leq m$. However, using eq. (2.29) and the stationarity of $j_{r}^{(n)}$ for all $n \leq m+2$, we obtain the stronger result that $\psi^{(n)}$ actually must be stationary for all $n \leq m-1$ by setting

$$\phi^{(n-1)} = [\mathscr{D}^2 + (n-1)(n-d+2)]^{-1}\psi^{(n+1)}.$$
(2.43)

We may then set $\phi^{(m-1)} = 0$ and solve the recursion relations for $\phi^{(n)} = 0$ for $n \ge m$ as in Proposition 2.1. The resulting gauge transformation will put A_{μ} in the Lorenz gauge satisfying the ansatz eq. (2.24) and maintaining stationarity at all orders $n \le m$. In particular, if a solution with $j_{\mu} = 0$ is stationary in some gauge to order $m \le d-2$, then it is stationary in a Lorenz gauge to the same order.

Remark 2.4. Let d = 4 and suppose $j_u^{(2)} = 0$. Suppose, further, that $j_r^{(3)} = 0$ so that, as shown in Appendix 0.1, our ansatz is equivalent to smoothness of A_{μ} at \mathscr{I}^+ in some gauge. Although, by Prop. 2.3, the Lorenz gauge can be imposed within our ansatz eq. (2.24), it need not be the case that $A_r^{(1)} = 0$ in the Lorenz gauge, in which case A_{μ} in the Lorenz gauge will not be smooth at \mathscr{I}^+ . In other words, in d = 4 when $j_u^{(2)} = 0$, the Lorenz gauge is compatible with our ansatz but it need not be compatible with smoothness of A_{μ} at \mathscr{I}^+ .

When A_{μ} is in Lorenz gauge—as, by Proposition 2.3 we may assume for d > 4 and for d = 4 when $j_u^{(2)} = 0$ —it satisfies

$$\Box A_{\mu} = -4\pi j_{\mu} \tag{2.44}$$

$$\partial^{\mu}A_{\mu} = 0. \tag{2.45}$$

The recursion relations arising from $\Box A_{\mu} = -4\pi j_{\mu}$ are just eqs. (2.28)-(2.30) with $\psi = 0$ in

even dimensions. (They are modified as described above in odd dimensions.) The recursion relations arising from $\partial^{\mu}A_{\mu} = 0$ are just $\psi^{(n)} = 0$ where $\psi^{(n)}$ is given by eq. (2.32). However, it is more convenient to work with a linear combination of this equation and the other equations so as to eliminate all *u*-derivatives. This can be achieved by defining

$$\omega = K^{\mu} [\Box A_{\mu} + 4\pi j_{\mu}] - 2K^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \psi - (d-2)\psi/r$$
(2.46)

where $K^{\mu} = (\partial/\partial r)^{\mu}$. When eq. (2.44) holds, the vanishing of ω is equivalent to the vanishing of ψ . The relation $\omega^{(n+2)} = 0$ yields

$$[\mathscr{D}^2 - (n-d+2)(n-d+3)]A_r^{(n)} + (2n-d+2)(n-d+3)A_u^{(n)} + (2n-d+2)\mathscr{D}^A A_A^{(n)} = -4\pi j_r^{(n+2)}$$
(2.47)

which contains no *u*-derivatives (and therefore also does not mix different orders).

We now consider the analogs of Propositions 2.1 and 2.2 for Maxwell's equations in Lorenz gauge. By eq. (2.44) each Cartesian component of A_{μ} satisfies the scalar wave equation. Therefore, we may directly apply Propositions 2.1 and 2.2 to determine the data needed to uniquely determine a solution to eq. (2.44) alone. Thus, the remaining task is to specify this data in such a way that eq. (2.45) holds. However, if eq. (2.44) holds we have

$$\Box \psi = \Box \partial^{\mu} A_{\mu} = \partial^{\mu} \Box A_{\mu} = -4\pi \partial^{\mu} j_{\mu} = 0.$$
(2.48)

Thus, ψ satisfies the homogeneous scalar wave equation, and we can ensure that $\psi = 0$ by choosing data for A_{μ} so as to ensure that the corresponding data for ψ yields the solution $\psi = 0$. Again, we can determine this using Propositions 2.1 and 2.2, and also using the fact that when eq. (2.44) holds, the vanishing of $\psi^{(n)}$ is equivalent to the vanishing of $\omega^{(n+1)}$. Putting all of the above statements together, it follows using Proposition 2.1 that a unique solution to Maxwell's equations in Lorenz gauge can be determined by specifying $A_{\mu}^{(d/2-1)}$ subject to eq. (2.47) for n = d/2 - 1, and then specifying $A_{\mu}^{(n)}(u_0)$ for all n > d/2 - 1 subject to eq. (2.47) holding at $u = u_0$ (see exercise 2 of [47] for the case d = 4 with $j_{\mu} = 0$). In odd dimensions, we also must similarly specify data for $\tilde{A}_{\mu}^{(p)}$ at $u = u_0$ subject to the constraint for all p.

Alternatively, in even dimensions, using Proposition 2.2, a solution can be uniquely determined by specifying data at Coulombic order, $A_{\mu}^{(d-3)}$. However, in this case, the constraint eq. (2.47) at n = d - 3 ensures that $\psi^{(d-2)} = 0$ but this does not quite suffice to ensure that ψ vanishes at all slower fall-off. This is because the recursion relation eq. (2.13) for n = d - 2 yields

$$\mathscr{D}^2 \psi^{(d-3)} = -(d-4)\partial_u \psi^{(d-2)} = 0 \tag{2.49}$$

which does not imply that the $\ell = 0$ part of $\psi^{(d-3)}$ must vanish. Hence, the condition

$$[\psi^{(d-3)}]|_{\ell=0} = 0 \tag{2.50}$$

must be imposed separately. Using eq. (2.44), we may write this condition purely in terms of the Coulombic order data as

$$\partial_u \mathcal{Q}(u) = -\mathcal{A}_d j_u^{(d-2)}|_{\ell=0} \tag{2.51}$$

where

$$Q(u) = \frac{\mathcal{A}_d}{4\pi} [A_r^{(d-3)} + (d-4)A_u^{(d-3)}]|_{\ell=0} \qquad d \text{ even (in Lorenz gauge)}$$
(2.52)

and \mathcal{A}_d is the area of a unit (d-2)-sphere

$$\mathcal{A}_d = \frac{2\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{d-1}{2})}.$$
(2.53)

Using the Lorenz gauge condition, it can be verified that Q(u) is the total electric charge at time u, defined by

$$\mathcal{Q}(u) \equiv \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ F_{ur}^{(d-2)} \tag{2.54}$$

with $F_{\mu\nu} = 2\partial_{[\mu}A_{\nu]}$. Thus, eq. (2.51) expresses conservation of charge. Note that the formula eq. (2.52) for $\mathcal{Q}(u)$ holds only in the Lorenz gauge and thus cannot be used in d = 4 when $j_u^{(2)} \neq 0$. In odd dimensions, we do not obtain a similar additional constraint, but eq. (2.51) follows directly from the recursion relation for $\tilde{A}_a^{(d-3)}$ corresponding to eq. (2.28) with p = d - 3 as well as the Lorenz gauge condition given by eq. (2.32) with p = d - 3, where the charge is now given by

$$\mathcal{Q}(u) = \frac{\mathcal{A}_d}{4\pi} [\tilde{A}_r^{(d-3)} + (d-4)\tilde{A}_u^{(d-3)}]|_{\ell=0} \qquad d \text{ odd (in Lorenz gauge)}.$$
(2.55)

We summarize our results as follows:

Theorem 1. Suppose d > 4 or d = 4 and $j_u^{(2)} = 0$, so that the Lorenz gauge condition can be imposed. Then a unique solution to the recursion relations and constraints for Maxwell's equations in the Lorenz gauge is obtained by specifying data in either of the following two ways:

- (1) Radiative Order Data: Specify $A_{\mu}^{(d/2-1)}(u, x^A)$ subject to the constraint eq. (2.47) at n = d/2 1. Specify $A_{\mu}^{(n)}(u = u_0, x^A)$ for all n > d/2 1 subject to the constraint eq. (2.47) at $u = u_0$. In odd dimensions, also specify $\tilde{A}_{\mu}^{(p)}(u = u_0, x^A)$ for all $p \ge d 3$, subject to the constraint eq. (2.47) at $u = u_0$.
- (2) Coulombic Order Data: In even dimensions, specify A^(d-3)_μ(u, x^A) subject to the constraint eq. (2.47) at n = d − 3 and the additional constraint eq. (2.51); specify A⁽ⁿ⁾_μ(u = u₀, x^A) for all n > d − 3 subject to the constraint eq. (2.47) at u = u₀. In odd dimensions, specify A^(m)_μ(u, x^A) for any half-integer m ≥ d/2 − 1, subject to the

constraint eq. (2.47) at n = m, specify $A_{\mu}^{(n)}(u = u_0, x^A)$ for all n > m subject to the constraint eq. (2.47) at $u = u_0$; specify $\tilde{A}_{\mu}^{(p)}(u = u_0, x^A)$ for all $p \ge d-3$, subject to the constraint eq. (2.47) at $u = u_0$.

4 Linearized Einstein equation

We consider the linearized Einstein equation on d-dimensional Minkowski spacetime for a metric perturbation $h_{\mu\nu}$ with stress-energy source $T_{\mu\nu}$

$$-2\delta G_{\mu\nu} \equiv \Box \overline{h}_{\mu\nu} - 2\partial_{(\mu}\partial^{\rho}\overline{h}_{\nu)\rho} + \eta_{\mu\nu}\partial^{\rho}\partial^{\sigma}\overline{h}_{\rho\sigma} = -16\pi T_{\mu\nu}$$
(2.56)

where $\delta G_{\mu\nu}$ is the linearized Einstein tensor and

$$\overline{h}_{\mu\nu} \equiv h_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}h\eta_{\mu\nu} \tag{2.57}$$

with $h \equiv \eta^{\mu\nu} h_{\mu\nu}$. Our ansatz for $h_{\mu\nu}$ is

$$h_{\mu\nu} \sim \sum_{n=d/2-1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}(u, x^A) \qquad d \text{ even}$$
 (2.58)

$$h_{\mu\nu} \sim \sum_{n=d/2-1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}(u, x^A) + \sum_{p=d-3}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^p} \tilde{h}_{\mu\nu}^{(p)}(u, x^A) \qquad d \text{ odd}$$
(2.59)

where our conventions for labeling the orders in this expansion is as in the electromagnetic case. Our ansatz for $T_{\mu\nu}$ is

$$T_{\mu\nu} \sim \sum_{n=d-2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} T_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}(u, x^A).$$
 (2.60)

In addition, we require that $T_{\mu\nu}$ satisfy the dominant energy condition and that $T^{(d-2)}_{\mu\nu}(u, x^A) \rightarrow 0$ as $u \rightarrow -\infty$, i.e. there is no stress energy flux to future null infinity at asymptotically early

times. In odd dimensions, it would be reasonable to also allow terms in the expansion of $T_{\mu\nu}$ that fall as half-integral powers of 1/r—and when we consider the full Einstein's equation, nonlinearities will effectively generate such terms in the equations. However, our analysis will mainly be concerned with the terms in $h_{\mu\nu}$ with fall-off ranging from radiative $(1/r^{d/2-1})$ to Coulombic $(1/r^{d-3})$ orders, for which only the leading order terms in the expansion of $T_{\mu\nu}$ will contribute, so for simplicity, we do not include half-integral powers of 1/r in the ansatz for $T_{\mu\nu}$ in odd dimensions.

In even dimensions, we can compare our ansatz eq. (2.58) to what would be obtained by requiring that $\Omega^2 h_{\mu\nu}$ with $\Omega = 1/r$ be smooth at \mathscr{I}^+ , i.e., at $\Omega = 0$. For d = 4, if one assumes smoothness at \mathscr{I}^+ in some gauge, then, by a further choice of gauge (see [52] or p.280 of [37]), one can ensure that $h_{\mu\nu}$ satisfies our ansatz eq. (2.58). Conversely, if $h_{\mu\nu}$ satisfies our ansatz, then $\Omega^2 h_{\mu\nu}$ will be smooth at \mathscr{I}^+ if and only if $h_{rr}^{(1)}$ vanishes. In Appendix 0.2, we show that we can set $h_{rr}^{(1)} = 0$ by a gauge transformation provided that⁷ $T_{ur}^{(3)} = T_{rA}^{(3)} = T_{rA}^{(3)} = 0$. Thus, for d = 4, our ansatz is slightly weaker than smoothness of $\Omega^2 h_{\mu\nu}$ at \mathscr{I}^+ in that we allow additional solutions with $T_{ra}^{(3)} \neq 0$.

For even dimensional spacetimes with d > 4, our ansatz eq. (2.58) requires faster fall-off than what is needed for smoothness of $\Omega^2 h_{\mu\nu}$ at \mathscr{I}^+ . However, starting with smoothness at \mathscr{I}^+ and choosing the conformal Gaussian null gauge, it was shown in [52] that the fall-off given by our ansatz holds; we also will show in Appendix 0.2 that, starting with smoothness of $\Omega^2 h_{\mu\nu}$ at \mathscr{I}^+ , the Lorenz gauge condition can be imposed, which also implies the faster fall-off given by our ansatz. Thus, in even dimensional spacetimes with d > 4, our ansatz is precisely equivalent to smoothness of $\Omega^2 h_{\mu\nu}$ at \mathscr{I}^+ in some gauge.

In even dimensions, where n is integer, Einstein's equation gives rise to the following

^{7.} $T_{ur}^{(3)}$, $T_{rr}^{(3)}$, and $T_{rA}^{(3)}$ are independent of u by conservation and the dominant energy condition. These quantities vanish identically if the stress-energy is produced by a scalar or electromagnetic field satisfying our ansatz for those fields.

system of recursion relations:

$$\left[\mathscr{D}^{2} + (n-1)(n-d+2)\right]\overline{h}_{uu}^{(n-1)} + (2n-d+2)\partial_{u}\overline{h}_{uu}^{(n)} - (d-n-2)(\chi_{r}^{(n)} - \chi_{u}^{(n)}) - 2\partial_{u}\chi_{u}^{(n+1)} - \mathscr{D}^{A}\chi_{A}^{(n)} + \partial_{u}\chi_{r}^{(n+1)} = -16\pi T_{uu}^{(n+1)}$$

$$(2.61)$$

$$\left[\mathscr{D}^{2} + n(n-d+1)\right]\overline{h}_{ur}^{(n-1)} + (d-2)\overline{h}_{uu}^{(n-1)} + (2n-d+2)\partial_{u}\overline{h}_{ur}^{(n)} - 2\mathscr{D}^{A}\overline{h}_{uA}^{(n-1)} - \mathscr{D}^{A}\chi_{A}^{(n)} - (d-n-2)\chi_{r}^{(n)} + (d-2)\chi_{u}^{(n)} = -16\pi T_{ur}^{(n+1)}$$

$$(2.62)$$

$$\left[\mathscr{D}^{2} + (n-1)(n-d+2) - 1\right]\overline{h}_{uA}^{(n-1)} - 2\mathscr{D}_{A}(\overline{h}_{uu}^{(n-1)} - \overline{h}_{ur}^{(n-1)}) + (2n-d+2)\partial_{u}\overline{h}_{uA}^{(n)} - \mathscr{D}_{A}\chi_{u}^{(n)} - \partial_{u}\chi_{A}^{(n+1)} = -16\pi T_{uA}^{(n+1)}$$
(2.63)

$$\left[\mathscr{D}^{2} + (n-1)(n-d+2) - 2(d-2)\right]\overline{h}_{rr}^{(n-1)} + 2(d-2)\overline{h}_{ur}^{(n-1)} + (2n-d+2)\partial_{u}\overline{h}_{rr}^{(n)} + 2q^{AB}\overline{h}_{AB}^{(n-1)} - 4\mathscr{D}^{A}\overline{h}_{Ar}^{(n-1)} + 2n\chi_{r}^{(n)} = -16\pi T_{rr}^{(n+1)}$$
(2.64)

$$\left[\mathscr{D}^{2} + (n-1)(n-d+2) - d - 1\right]\overline{h}_{rA}^{(n-1)} + d\overline{h}_{uA}^{(n-1)} - 2\mathscr{D}_{A}\overline{h}_{ur}^{(n-1)} + (2n-d+2)\partial_{u}\overline{h}_{rA}^{(n)} + 2\mathscr{D}_{A}\overline{h}_{rr}^{(n-1)} - 2\mathscr{D}^{B}\overline{h}_{BA}^{(n-1)} - \mathscr{D}_{A}\chi_{r}^{(n)} + (n+1)\chi_{A}^{(n)} = -16\pi T_{rA}^{(n+1)}$$
(2.65)

$$\left[\mathscr{D}^{2} + (n-1)(n-d+2) - 2\right]\overline{h}_{AB}^{(n-1)} + 2\left(\overline{h}_{rr}^{(n-1)} - 2\overline{h}_{ur}^{(n-1)} + \overline{h}_{uu}^{(n-1)}\right)q_{AB} - 4\mathscr{D}_{(A}\left(\overline{h}_{B)u}^{(n-1)} - \overline{h}_{B)r}^{(n-1)}\right) + (2n-d+2)\partial_{u}\overline{h}_{AB}^{(n)} - 2\left(\mathscr{D}_{(A}\chi_{B)}^{(n)} - \frac{q_{AB}}{2}\mathscr{D}^{C}\chi_{C}^{(n)}\right) + (d-n-4)(\chi_{r}^{(n)} - \chi_{u}^{(n)})q_{AB} - q_{AB}\partial_{u}\chi_{r}^{(n+1)} = -16\pi T_{AB}^{(n+1)}.$$
(2.66)

Here we have defined

$$\chi_a = \partial^b \overline{h}_{ab} \tag{2.67}$$

so that

$$\chi_u^{(n)} = \mathscr{D}^A \overline{h}_{Au}^{(n-1)} + (d-n-1) \left(\overline{h}_{ur}^{(n-1)} - \overline{h}_{uu}^{(n-1)} \right) - \partial_u \overline{h}_{ur}^{(n)}$$
(2.68)

$$\chi_r^{(n)} = \mathscr{D}^A \overline{h}_{Ar}^{(n-1)} + (d-n-1) \left(\overline{h}_{rr}^{(n-1)} - \overline{h}_{ur}^{(n-1)} \right) - q^{AB} \overline{h}_{AB}^{(n-1)} - \partial_u \overline{h}_{rr}^{(n)}$$
(2.69)

$$\chi_A^{(n)} = \mathscr{D}^B \overline{h}_{AB}^{(n-1)} + (d-n) \left(\overline{h}_{rA}^{(n-1)} - \overline{h}_{uA}^{(n-1)} \right) - \partial_u \overline{h}_{rA}^{(n)}.$$
(2.70)

In odd dimensions, where n is half-integral, eqs. (2.61)-(2.66) hold with $T_{\mu\nu} = 0$, whereas the recursion relations for $\tilde{h}^{(p)}_{\mu\nu}$ are the same as eqs. (2.61)-(2.66).

In the electromagnetic case, the current j_a is subject only to the conservation law $\partial^{\mu} j_{\mu} = 0$. This gave rise to the condition $K^{\mu} j_{\mu}^{(d-2)} = 0$, where $K^{\mu} = (\partial/\partial r)^{\mu}$. The stress-energy tensor $T_{\mu\nu}$ is also subject to the conservation law $\partial^{\mu} T_{\mu\nu} = 0$. This gives rise to the condition

$$K^{\mu}T^{(d-2)}_{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{2.71}$$

However, in the gravitational case, we have the further requirement that the stress-energy tensor satisfy the dominant energy condition. The only way eq. (2.71) can be compatible with the dominant energy condition is if

$$T^{(d-2)}_{\mu\nu} = \alpha K_{\mu} K_{\nu} \tag{2.72}$$

for some function $\alpha(u, x^A)$. Thus, all components of $T_{\mu\nu}^{(d-2)}$ must vanish except for $T_{uu}^{(d-2)}$.

It is of interest to examine the gauge dependence of the radiative order metric $h_{\mu\nu}^{(d/2-1)}$ and the gauge invariant quantities that can be constructed from $h_{\mu\nu}^{(d/2-1)}$. Under a gauge transformation, we have

$$\begin{aligned} h_{\mu\nu} \to h_{\mu\nu} - \partial_{(\mu}\xi_{\nu)} \\ 43 \end{aligned} \tag{2.73}$$

 \mathbf{SO}

$$h_{\mu\nu}^{(d/2-1)} \to h_{\mu\nu}^{(d/2-1)} - [\partial_{(\mu}\xi_{\nu)}]^{(d/2-1)}$$
 (2.74)

where

$$\begin{aligned} \left[\partial_{(\alpha}\xi_{\beta)}\right]^{(d/2-1)} &= \mathscr{D}_{(A}\xi_{B)}^{(d/2-2)} - \mathscr{D}_{(A}\left(K_{\beta}\xi_{u}^{(d/2-2)} - r_{\beta}\xi_{r}^{(d/2-2)}\right) + \xi_{r}^{(d/2-2)}q_{\alpha\beta} \\ &- \xi_{u}^{(d/2-2)}q_{\alpha\beta} - r_{(\alpha}\xi_{B)}^{(d/2-2)} - \left(\frac{d}{2} - 2\right)r_{(\alpha}\xi_{\beta)}^{(d/2-2)} - K_{(\alpha}\partial_{u}\xi_{\beta)}^{(d/2-1)}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.75)$$

Here $\xi_{\alpha}^{(d/2-2)}$ must be stationary in order to maintain our ansatz eqs.(2.58) and (2.59). It is clear from eq. (2.75) that $\xi_{\alpha}^{(d/2-1)}$ can always be used to set $h_{uu}^{(d/2-1)}$, $h_{ur}^{(d/2-1)}$ and $h_{uA}^{(d/2-1)}$ to zero. It also is clear from eq. (2.75) that the remaining components can be changed only by a stationary transformation. It follows immediately that $\partial_u h_{\mu\nu}^{(d/2-1)}$ is gauge invariant for all $\mu, \nu \neq u$. However, using the linearized Einstein equation, it can be shown⁸ that $\partial_u h_{rr}^{(d/2-1)} = \partial_u h_{rA}^{(d/2-1)} = \partial_u (q^{AB} h_{AB}^{(d/2-1)}) = 0$. Therefore, the only nontrivial gauge invariant quantity that can be constructed from $\partial_u h_{\mu\nu}^{(d/2-1)}$ is

$$N_{\mu\nu} \equiv \left(q_{\mu}{}^{\rho}q_{\nu}{}^{\sigma} - \frac{1}{d-2}q_{\mu\nu}q^{\rho\sigma}\right)\partial_{u}h^{(d/2-1)}_{\rho\sigma}.$$
(2.76)

We may view $N_{\alpha\beta}$ as a tensor on the sphere, denoted N_{AB} . N_{AB} is called the *Bondi news* tensor.

We now seek to put $h_{\mu\nu}$ in Lorenz gauge,

$$\partial^{\mu}\overline{h}_{\mu\nu} = 0 \tag{2.77}$$

^{8.} The vanishing of $\partial_u h_{rr}^{(d/2-1)}$, $\partial_u h_{rA}^{(d/2-1)}$ and $\partial_u (q^{AB} h_{AB}^{(d/2-1)})$ follows from eq. (2.84) below, together with eqs. (2.68)-(2.70) for n = d/2 - 1.

while preserving the form of the ansatz eqs. (2.58) or (2.59). Under a gauge transformation, $h_{\mu\nu}$ changes by eq. (2.73). Thus, we can put $h_{\mu\nu}$ into Lorenz gauge if and only if we can solve

$$\Box \xi_{\mu} = 2\chi_{\mu}.\tag{2.78}$$

Thus, the equations we must solve take the same basic form as the scalar wave equation, and we can analyze them in close parallel to the electromagnetic case. We take our ansatz for ξ_{μ} to be

$$\xi_{\mu} \sim \sum_{n=d/2-2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} \xi_{\mu}^{(n)}(u, x^A) \qquad d \text{ even}$$
 (2.79)

$$\xi_{\mu} \sim \sum_{n=d/2-2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} \xi_{\mu}^{(n)}(u, x^A) + \sum_{p=d-3}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^p} \tilde{\xi}_{\mu}^{(p)}(u, x^A) \qquad d \text{ odd} \qquad (2.80)$$

where it is required in both of these expressions that $\partial_u \xi^{(d/2-2)}_{\mu} = 0$. When d = 4, we may also add a term $c(\partial/\partial u)_{\mu} \ln r$ to ξ_{μ} , where c is a constant.

When d > 4, the stress-energy terms in eqs. (2.61)-(2.66) do not enter at radiative order n = d/2 - 1. The ur, rr and rA components of these equations yield, respectively

$$-(d/2-1)\chi_r^{(d/2-1)} + 2(d/2-1)\chi_u^{(n)} - \mathscr{D}^A\chi_A^{(d/2-1)} = 0$$
(2.81)

$$(d-2)\chi_r^{(d/2-1)} = 0 (2.82)$$

$$(d/2)\chi_A^{(d/2-1)} - \mathscr{D}_A \chi_r^{(d/2-1)} = 0.$$
(2.83)

Thus, we have

$$\chi_{\mu}^{(d/2-1)} = 0. \tag{2.84}$$

The uu, uA and AB components yield, respectively

$$-2\partial_u \chi_u^{(d/2)} + \partial_u \chi_r^{(d/2)} = 0$$
 (2.85)

$$\partial_u \chi_A^{(d/2)} = 0 \tag{2.86}$$

$$q_{AB}\partial_u \chi_r^{(d/2)} = 0 \tag{2.87}$$

which implies

$$\partial_u \chi_a^{(d/2)} = 0. \tag{2.88}$$

As in the electromagnetic case, equations (2.84) and (2.88) ensure that we can solve eq. (2.78) within the ansatz.

However, when d = 4, we still have that $\chi^{(1)}_{\mu}$ vanishes but eq. (2.61) for n = 1 yields

$$\partial_u \chi_u^{(2)} = 8\pi T_{uu}^{(2)}. \tag{2.89}$$

As in the electromagnetic case, this will give rise to an obstruction to solving eq. (2.78) within the ansatz if and only if $T_{uu}^{(2)}$ is nonvanishing. Thus, for d = 4, the necessary and sufficient condition for imposing the Lorenz gauge within our ansatz is that $T_{uu}^{(2)}$ vanish identically.

We summarize these results in the following proposition:

Proposition 2.4. For all d > 4, any $h_{\mu\nu}$ that satisfies our ansatz eq. (2.58) (for d even) or ansatz eq. (2.59) (for d odd) can be put in the Lorenz gauge in such a way that it continues to satisfy our ansatz. In d = 4 the Lorenz gauge condition can be imposed within the ansatz if and only if $T_{uu}^{(2)} = 0$.

Remark 2.5. As in the electromagnetic case, for d > 4 we show in Appendix 0.2 that the Lorenz gauge condition could still be imposed if we weakened the fall-off conditions to 1/r fall-off in even dimensions and $1/\sqrt{r}$ fall-off in odd dimensions. As in Remark 2.2, this justifies our taking the lower limit of the sum in eq. (2.58) and eq. (2.59) to start at n = d/2 - 1. Also, as in the electromagnetic case, it follows that if a solution is stationary in some gauge for all $n \le m$ with $m \le d-2$ and if $T^{(n)}_{\mu\nu} = 0$ for all $n \le m+1$, then it is stationary in a Lorenz gauge for all $n \le m$.

Remark 2.6. Let d = 4 and $T_{uu}^{(2)} = 0$. Suppose further that $T_{r\nu}^{(3)} = 0$ so that our ansatz is equivalent to smoothness of $\Omega^2 h_{\mu\nu}$ at \mathscr{I}^+ in some gauge. Although, by Prop. 2.4, the Lorenz gauge can be imposed within our ansatz eq. (2.58), it need not be the case that $h_{rr}^{(1)} = 0$ in the Lorenz gauge, in which case $\Omega^2 h_{\mu\nu}$ in the Lorenz gauge will not be smooth at \mathscr{I}^+ , i.e., the Lorenz gauge need not be compatible with smoothness at \mathscr{I}^+ .

When $h_{\mu\nu}$ is in Lorenz gauge—as, by Proposition 2.4 we may assume for d > 4 and for d = 4 when $T_{uu}^{(2)} = 0$ —it satisfies

$$\Box \overline{h}_{\mu\nu} = -16\pi T_{\mu\nu} \tag{2.90}$$

$$\partial^{\mu}\overline{h}_{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{2.91}$$

The recursion relations for eq. (2.90) are eqs. (2.61)-(2.66) with $\chi_{\mu} = 0$. The recursion relations arising from eq. (2.91) are just eqs. (2.68)-(2.70) with $\chi_{\mu} = 0$. Again, it is useful to eliminate the terms in eqs. (2.68)-(2.70) with *u*-derivatives using eqs. (2.61)-(2.66). This can be achieved by defining

$$\tau_{\mu} = K^{\nu} [\Box \overline{h}_{\mu\nu} + 16\pi T_{\mu\nu}] - 2K^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} \chi_{\mu} - (d-2)\chi_{\mu}/r.$$
(2.92)

When eq. 2.90 holds, the vanishing of τ_{μ} is equivalent to the vanishing of χ_{μ} . The relation $\tau_{\mu}^{(n+2)} = 0$ yields

$$[\mathscr{D}^2 - (n-d+2)(n-d+3)]\overline{h}_{ru}^{(n)} + (n-d+3)(2n-d+2)\overline{h}_{uu}^{(n)} - (2n-d+2)\mathscr{D}^A\overline{h}_{uA}^{(n)} = -16\pi T_{ru}^{(n+2)}$$
(2.93)

$$[\mathscr{D}^{2} - ((n-d+2)^{2}+n)]\overline{h}_{rr}^{(n)} + (d-2+(n-d+3)(2n-d+2))\overline{h}_{ur}^{(n)} - (2n-d+2)q^{AB}\overline{h}_{AB}^{(n)} + (2n-d)\mathscr{D}^{A}\overline{h}_{Ar}^{(n)} = -16\pi T_{rr}^{(n+2)}$$
(2.94)

$$[\mathscr{D}^{2} - (n - d + 3)(n - d + 2) + (2n - d + 1)]\overline{h}_{rA}^{(n)} + (2n - d + 2)(n - d + 2)\overline{h}_{uA}^{(n)} + 2\mathscr{D}_{A}(\overline{h}_{rr}^{(n)} - \overline{h}_{ur}^{(n)}) + (2n - d + 2)\mathscr{D}^{B}\overline{h}_{AB}^{(n)} = -16\pi T_{rA}^{(n+2)}.$$
(2.95)

Equations (2.93)–(2.95) reduce to the "constraint equations" given by [38] if one applies the additional gauge conditions that they impose.

The analysis of the appropriate data for solutions to eq. (2.90) and (2.91) follows in exact parallel with the electromagnetic case. We solve the wave equation given by eqs. (2.61)-(2.66) with $\chi_{\mu} = 0$, subject to the constraints eqs. (2.93)-(2.95). We can specify data at radiative order subject to the constraints and solve for the faster fall-off terms exactly as in the electromagnetic case. We also can specify data at Coulombic order and solve for slower fall-off terms. In exact parallel with the electromagnetic case, in even dimensions, in addition to the Coulombic order constraints, the Coulombic order data must satisfy

$$\partial_u \mathcal{M} = -\mathcal{A}_d T_{uu}^{(d-2)}|_{\ell=0} \tag{2.96}$$

where

$$\mathcal{M} = \frac{1}{16\pi} \mathcal{A}_d [\overline{h}_{ur}^{(d-3)} + (d-4)\overline{h}_{uu}^{(d-3)}]|_{\ell=0} \qquad d \text{ even (in Lorenz gauge)}$$
(2.97)

with \mathcal{A}_d given by eq. (2.53). Thus, \mathcal{M} satisfies the same flux relation as the linearized Bondi mass in linearized gravity, and thus it can differ from the linearized Bondi mass only by a constant. To show that \mathcal{M} is, indeed, the linearized Bondi mass, it suffices to show that it agrees with the Bondi mass in the stationary case, where $t^{\mu} = (\partial/\partial u)^{\mu}$, is a Killing field. In the stationary case, it can be verified that \mathcal{M} agrees with the Komar mass formula

$$\mathcal{M} = -\frac{1}{16\pi} \frac{(d-2)}{(d-3)} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \nabla^{\mu} t^{\nu}$$
(2.98)

where $\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$ is the volume form and the integral is taken over a sphere near infinity. Since the Komar mass agrees with the Bondi mass in the stationary case [53], it follows that \mathcal{M} is, indeed, the linearized Bondi mass⁹. In odd dimensions, we do not obtain a similar additional constraint, but the recursion relation eq. (2.61) with p = d - 3 as well as the Lorentz gauge constraint eq. (2.68) with p = d - 3 implies that eq. (2.96) holds where the linearized Bondi mass is given by

$$\mathcal{M} = \frac{1}{16\pi} \mathcal{A}_d [\tilde{h}_{ur}^{(d-3)} + (d-4)\tilde{h}_{uu}^{(d-3)}]|_{\ell=0} \qquad d \text{ odd (in Lorenz gauge)}.$$
(2.99)

We summarize our results on solutions to the linearized Einstein equation in Lorenz gauge with the following theorem:

Theorem 2. Suppose d > 4 or d = 4 and $T_{uu}^{(2)} = 0$, so that the Lorenz gauge condition can be imposed. Then a unique solution to the recursion relations and constraints for the linearized Einstein equation in Lorenz gauge is obtained by specifying data in either of the following two ways:

- (1) Radiative Order Data: Specify $h_{\mu\nu}^{(d/2-1)}(u, x^A)$ subject to the constraints eqs. (2.93)-(2.95) at n = d/2 - 1. Specify $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}(u = u_0, x^A)$ for all n > d/2 - 1 subject to the constraints eqs. (2.93)-(2.95) at $u = u_0$. In odd dimensions, also specify $\tilde{h}_{\mu\nu}^{(p)}(u = u_0, x^A)$ for all $p \ge d-3$, subject to the constraint eqs. (2.93)-(2.95) at $u = u_0$.
- (2) Coulombic Order Data: In even dimensions, specify $h_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}(u, x^A)$ subject to the con-

^{9.} We caution the reader that eq. (2.97) holds only in the Lorenz gauge, which cannot be imposed for d = 4 when $T_{uu}^{(2)} \neq 0$.

straints eqs. (2.93)-(2.95) at n = d - 3 and the additional constraint eq. (2.96); specify $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}(u = u_0, x^A)$ for all n > d - 3 subject to the constraints eqs. (2.93)-(2.95) at $u = u_0$. In odd dimensions, specify $h_{\mu\nu}^{(m)}(u, x^A)$ for any $m \ge d/2 - 1$, subject to the constraints eqs. (2.93)-(2.95) at n = m, specify $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}(u = u_0, x^A)$ for all n > m subject to the constraints eqs. (2.93)-(2.95) at $u = u_0$; specify $\tilde{h}_{\mu\nu}^{(p)}(u = u_0, x^A)$ for all $p \ge d - 3$, subject to the constraints eqs. (2.93)-(2.95) at $u = u_0$; specify $\tilde{h}_{\mu\nu}^{(p)}(u = u_0, x^A)$ for all $p \ge d - 3$,

5 Nonlinear Einstein equation

For the nonlinear Einstein equation, we write $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}$ and we assume the same ansatz for $h_{\mu\nu}$ as in linearized gravity (see sec. 2.4). For d even with d > 4, our ansatz eq. (2.58) is equivalent to smoothness of $\Omega^2 h_{\mu\nu}$ (and, therefore, smoothness of $\Omega^2 g_{\mu\nu} = \Omega^2 \eta_{\mu\nu} + \Omega^2 h_{\mu\nu}$) at \mathscr{I}^+ by the same arguments as for the linearized case. For d = 4 our ansatz eq. (2.58) in linearized gravity was slighter weaker than smoothness of $\Omega^2 h_{\mu\nu}$ at \mathscr{I}^+ in that it admitted additional solutions for which $h_{rr}^{(1)}$ cannot be set to zero by a gauge transformation within our ansatz. However, we show in Appendix 0.3 that, if the Bondi news is nonvanishing at all angles at any time, such additional solutions do not exist in the nonlinear theory. Thus, for d = 4 our ansatz eq. (2.58) is also equivalent to smoothness at \mathscr{I}^+ for spacetimes in which N_{AB} is nonvanishing everywhere on some cross-section.

The nonlinear Einstein equation is far more complex than the linearized Einstein equation. However, since the slowest fall-off of $h_{\mu\nu}$ is $1/r^{d/2-1}$, the nonlinear terms first enter at order $(1/r^{d/2-1})^2 = 1/r^{d-2}$. Consequently, for n < d-3, the recursion relations for the full Einstein equation are identical to eqs. (2.61)-(2.66) in the linearized case. For n = d-3, the equations are modified by terms of the form $(\partial_u h_{\mu\nu}^{(d/2-1)})^2$ and $h_{\mu\nu}^{(d/2-1)} \partial_u^2 h_{\rho\sigma}^{(d/2-1)}$, which are the only types of nonlinear terms that can contribute at this order. At higher orders, the nonlinear correction terms are far more complicated, but they always involve adding terms arising from metric components of slower fall-off.

We define the non-linear part of the Einstein tensor $\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}$ as

$$\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu} \equiv G_{\mu\nu} - \delta G_{\mu\nu} \tag{2.100}$$

where $G_{\mu\nu}$ is the Einstein tensor and $\delta G_{\mu\nu}$ is the linearized Einstein tensor defined in eq. (2.56). Our ansatz then implies an asymptotic expansion of $\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}$ in integer powers of 1/rin even dimensions and both integer and half-integer powers in odd dimensions. In both even and odd dimensions, the expansion starts at order $1/r^{d-2}$. In all dimensions, Einstein's equations give rise to the same set of recursion relations as in the linearized case with the replacement

$$8\pi T^{(n)}_{\mu\nu} \to 8\pi T^{(n)}_{\mu\nu} - \mathcal{G}^{(n)}_{\mu\nu} \text{ for } n \ge d-2$$
 (2.101)

where n is an integer in even dimensions and takes on both integer and half integer values in odd dimensions. By a direct calculation, we find that the leading order contribution to $\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}$ is given by

$$\mathcal{G}^{(d-2)}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{1}{4}N^{\rho\sigma}N_{\rho\sigma}K_{\mu}K_{\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{u}\left(q^{\rho\sigma}q^{\kappa\delta}c_{\rho\kappa}N_{\sigma\delta}K_{\mu}K_{\nu} + q^{\rho\sigma}c_{r\rho}N_{\sigma(\mu}K_{\nu)} + c_{rr}N_{\mu\nu}\right)$$
(2.102)

where $c_{\mu\nu} \equiv h_{\mu\nu}^{(d/2-1)}$ and $N_{\mu\nu}$ is the Bondi news tensor as defined in eq. (2.76). In writing eq. (2.102), we have used the fact that, as in the linearized case (see eq. (2.84)), the recursion relations imply that $\chi_{\mu}^{(d/2-1)} = 0$, where $\chi_{\mu} \equiv \partial^{\nu} \overline{h}_{\mu\nu}$.

We wish to determine whether the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ can be put in the harmonic gauge while maintaining our 1/r expansion ansatz. To put the metric in harmonic gauge, we must find coordinate functions x^{μ} such that

$$\Box_q x^\mu = 0 \tag{2.103}$$

where $\Box_g \equiv g^{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu}$ and ∇_{μ} is the derivative operator compatible with $g_{\mu\nu}$. Let

$$x^{\mu} = \mathring{x}^{\mu} + \xi^{\mu} \tag{2.104}$$

where \mathring{x}^{μ} are global inertial coordinates of $\eta_{\mu\nu}$, satisfying $\partial_{\alpha}\mathring{x}^{\mu} = \delta_{\alpha}{}^{\mu}$. Applying \Box_g to eq. (2.104) we obtain

$$\Box\xi^{\mu} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}}\partial_{\alpha}(\sqrt{-g}g^{\alpha\mu}) - H^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\beta}\xi^{\mu} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}}\partial_{\alpha}(\sqrt{-g}g^{\alpha\beta})\partial_{\beta}\xi^{\mu}$$
(2.105)

where, again, $\Box \equiv \eta^{ab} \partial_a \partial_b$, and

$$H^{\alpha\beta} \equiv g^{\alpha\beta} - \eta^{\alpha\beta} \,. \tag{2.106}$$

Here we have used the fact that, for any function f,

$$\Box_g f = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \partial_\alpha (\sqrt{-g} g^{\alpha\beta} \partial_\beta f).$$
(2.107)

In parallel with the analysis of imposition of the Lorenz gauge condition in linearized gravity, we will be able to put the metric in harmonic gauge in nonlinear gravity while maintaining our expansion ansatz if we can solve eq. (2.105) via the ansatz

$$\xi^{\mu} \sim \sum_{n=d/2-2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} \xi^{\mu(n)}(u, x^A), \qquad (2.108)$$

with $\partial_u \xi^{\mu} (d/2-2) = 0$. In odd dimensions, the sum in eq. (2.108) is allowed to run over integer values (starting at d-3) as well as half-integer values. For d = 4, in the case of a stationary spacetime with Killing field $\partial/\partial u$, we may also add a term $c(\partial/\partial u)^{\mu} \ln r$ to ξ^{μ} , where c is a constant.

To analyze existence of solutions to eq. (2.105) of the form eq. (2.108), we note that

eq. (2.105) is of the form

$$\Box \xi^{\mu} = \chi^{\mu} + L^{\mu}(h,\xi) \tag{2.109}$$

where, again, $\chi^{\mu} \equiv \partial_{\alpha} \overline{h}^{\alpha\mu}$, and where L^{μ} is composed of terms that are (i) quadratic and higher order in $h_{\mu\nu}$ or (ii) linear in ξ^{μ} and linear or higher order in $h_{\mu\nu}$. The leading order contribution of L^{μ} to this equation arises at order $1/r^{d-2}$.

Consider, first, the case d > 4. As noted previously, the non-linear contributions to Einstein's equation enter at order $1/r^{d-2}$, so the recursion relations derived for the linearized Einstein's equation given by eqs. (2.61)–(2.66) are equivalent to the recursion relations for the full, non-linear Einstein's equation for $n \le d-3$. As already noted above, these equations imply that $\chi_{\mu}^{(d/2-1)}$ must vanish. It also follows that $\chi_{\mu}^{(d/2)}$ is stationary. It then follows that we can solve eq. (2.109) at order $1/r^{d/2}$ by a choice of $\xi^{\mu}(d/2-2)$ that is stationary. We may then specify $\xi_{\mu}^{(d/2-1)}$ arbitrarily and recursively solve eq. (2.105) with the ansatz eq. (2.108) for all of the faster fall-off terms, in the same manner as in Prop. 2.1. The source L^{μ} plays an innocuous role in this procedure since it is obtained from ξ^{μ} at orders that have already been solved for and thus is a "known" source term.

For the case d = 4, we still have that $\chi_{\mu}^{(1)} = 0$. In addition, since $\partial_u h_{rA}^{(1)} = 0$ (as follows from eqs. (2.84) and (2.70)), we may perform a gauge transformation of the form eq. (2.75) to set $h_{rA}^{(1)} = 0$. We then find that $\chi_r^{(2)}$ and $\chi_A^{(2)}$ are stationary. However, $\chi_u^{(2)}$ now satisfies

$$\partial_u \chi_u^{(2)} = 8\pi T_{uu}^{(2)} - \mathcal{G}_{uu}^{(2)}.$$
(2.110)

Using eq. (2.102) together with $h_{rA}^{(1)} = 0$, we obtain

$$\mathcal{G}_{uu}^{(2)} = -\frac{1}{4} N^{CD} N_{CD} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_u \left(C^{CD} N_{CD} \right)$$
(2.111)

where C_{AB} is the trace free part of the projection of $h_{\alpha\beta}^{(1)}$ onto the sphere. However, eq. (2.109)

implies the *u*-component of the leading order term $\xi^{\mu(0)}$ satisfies

$$\mathscr{D}^2 \xi_u^{(0)} = \chi_u^{(2)} + N_{AB} C^{AB} \tag{2.112}$$

and hence

$$\mathscr{D}^{2}\left(\partial_{u}\xi_{u}^{(0)}\right) = 8\pi T_{uu}^{(2)} + \frac{1}{4}N^{CD}N_{CD} + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{u}\left(N_{AB}C^{AB}\right).$$
(2.113)

Since $T_{uu}^{(2)} \ge 0$, if we assume that N_{AB} vanishes as $u \to \pm \infty$, it is easily seen that we cannot have $\partial_u \xi_u^{(0)} = 0$ at all u as required unless both $T_{uu}^{(2)}$ and N_{AB} vanish identically. Thus, we cannot impose the harmonic gauge condition within our ansatz¹⁰ if $T_{uu}^{(2)} \neq 0$ or $N_{AB} \neq 0$. On the other hand, if the spacetime is stationary—i.e. if it admits a timelike Killing field t^a —then $T_{uu}^{(2)} = 0$ and $N_{AB} = 0$. Using the fact that the equations for $\xi_r^{(0)}$ and $\xi_A^{(0)}$ contain only "source terms" that are stationary—it can be seen that we can solve eq. (2.112) by choosing $\xi^{\mu(0)}$ to be stationary (provided that we again add the term $cg_{\mu\nu}t^{\nu}\ln(r)$ to our ansatz to solve the $\ell = 0$ part of eq. (2.112)). The recursion relations for all faster fall-off can then be solved as in the case d > 4 so the harmonic gauge condition can be imposed¹¹.

We summarize these results in the following proposition:

Proposition 2.5. For all d > 4, any $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}$ that satisfies our ansatz eq. (2.58) (for d even) or our ansatz eq. (2.59) (for d odd) can be put in the harmonic gauge in such a way that it continues to satisfy our ansatz. In d = 4 the harmonic gauge condition cannot be imposed within the ansatz if $T_{uu}^{(2)} \neq 0$ or $N_{AB} \neq 0$.

Remark 2.7. In linearized gravity, the restriction $T_{uu}^{(2)} = 0$ in d = 4 allows all vacuum solutions as well as all solutions with a stress-energy source that has vanishing flux at null

^{10.} We could impose the harmonic gauge condition for nonvanishing $T_{uu}^{(2)}$ or N_{AB} for d = 4 if we modified our ansatz to allow additional series involving terms of the form $(\ln r)^k/r^n$ [54].

^{11.} If the spacetime is non-stationary and $T_{uu}^{(2)} = 0 = N_{AB}$ then we do not believe that the metric can be put in harmonic gauge within our ansatz, but we have not proven this.

infinity. Thus, the Lorenz gauge can be imposed in linearized gravity within our ansatz in a wide variety of circumstances of interest. However, in nonlinear general relativity, the harmonic gauge cannot be imposed within our ansatz in d = 4 if—in addition to $T_{uu}^{(2)} \neq 0$ —the Bondi news is also nonvanishing, i.e., in d = 4 the harmonic gauge cannot be imposed within our ansatz in any spacetime with gravitational radiation. In particular, for d = 4 we cannot use the harmonic gauge when considering the memory effect in the next section, so we will have to treat the case d = 4 separately.

When $g_{\mu\nu}$ is in the harmonic gauge, it satisfies

$$G^H_{\mu\nu} = 8\pi T_{\mu\nu} \tag{2.114}$$

$$H^{\nu} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \partial_{\nu} [\sqrt{-g} g^{\mu\nu}] = 0 \qquad (2.115)$$

where $G^{H}_{\mu\nu}$ is the Einstein tensor in the harmonic gauge

$$G^{H}_{\mu\nu} = G_{\mu\nu} + g_{\rho(\mu}\partial_{\nu)}H^{\rho} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\partial_{\rho}H^{\rho}.$$
(2.116)

We now turn to the issue of whether these equations can be solved recursively within our ansatz. We restrict consideration to d > 4, since, as just remarked above, the harmonic gauge can be imposed only in trivial cases when d = 4.

Taking the divergence of eq. (2.116) with respect to ∇_{μ} and using the Bianchi identity we find that when $G^{H}_{\mu\nu} = 8\pi T_{\mu\nu}$, we have

$$\Box H_{\mu} = W_{\mu}(h, H) \tag{2.117}$$

where W_{μ} is linear in H_{μ} and its first derivative and is quadratic and higher order in $h_{\mu\nu}$ and its first derivative. It follows that if $H_{\mu}^{(d/2-1)} = 0$ for all u and $H_{\mu}^{(n)} = 0$ for n > d/2 - 1 at some $u = u_0$, then $H_{\mu} = 0$. Namely, if we inductively assume that $H_{\mu}^{(n)} = 0$ for all $n \leq k$, then the source term arising from W_{μ} that appears in the recursion equation for $H_{\mu}^{(k+1)}$ will vanish. It then follows from the same arguments as used to prove Prop. 2.1 that $H_{\mu}^{(k+1)} = 0$.

It is convenient to replace H^{μ} by

$$\tau'_{\mu} = K^{b} \left[-2G^{(H)}_{\mu\nu} + 16\pi T_{\mu\nu} \right] + 2K^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} H_{\mu} + (d-2)H_{\mu}/r$$
(2.118)

where the form of τ'_{μ} has been chosen so that, for n < d - 3, ${\tau'}_{\mu}^{(n+2)}$ can be expressed purely in terms of $h^{(n)}_{\mu\nu}$, with no *u*-derivatives of $h_{\mu\nu}$ appearing. When eq. (2.114) holds, the vanishing of ${\tau'}_{\mu}^{(n+1)}$ implies the vanishing of $H^{(n)}_{\mu}$. Thus we obtain a solution to eqs. (2.114) and (2.115) if we can solve eq. (2.114) in such a way that we also obtain $\tau'_{\mu} = 0$.

The recursion relations for eq. (2.114) for n < d-3 are identical to eqs. (2.61)–(2.66) with $\chi_{\mu} = 0$. In addition, we have $\tau'_{\mu}^{(n+2)} = \tau_{\mu}^{(n+2)}$ for n < d-3, where τ_{μ} is the corresponding quantity in linearized gravity given by eq. (2.92). Thus, for n < d-3, the recursion relations and constraints are identical to the linearized case. It follows that if one specifies data at radiative order, one may solve the recursion relations for $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}$ for all n < d-3 exactly as in the linearized case. The recursion relations and constraints needed to solve for $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}$ for $n \ge d-3$ receive nonlinear corrections relative to the linearized equations. However, the nonlinear terms entering the equations will be of the form of products of metric perturbations arising at lower orders. Consequently, the non-linear terms can be effectively treated as source terms in our recursive analysis and they pose no difficulties in solving for $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}$ for $n \ge d-3$. We thereby obtain the following theorem:

Theorem 3. Suppose d > 4 so that, by Prop. 2.5, the harmonic gauge condition can be imposed. Then a unique solution to the recursion relations and constraints for the Einstein's equation in the harmonic gauge is obtained by the following specification of data: Specify $h_{\mu\nu}^{(d/2-1)}(u, x^A)$ subject to the constraints $\tau_{\mu}^{\prime(d/2+1)} = 0$ (which are identical to eqs. (2.93)- (2.95) at n = d/2 - 1). Specify $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}(u = u_0, x^A)$ for all n > d/2 - 1 subject to the constraints $\tau_{\mu}^{\prime(n+2)} = 0$ at $u = u_0$. In odd dimensions, also specify $\tilde{h}_{\mu\nu}^{(p)}(u = u_0, x^A)$ for all $p \ge d - 3$ subject to the constraint $\tau_{\mu}^{\prime(p+2)} = 0$ at $u = u_0$.

Note that there is no analog of the "Coulombic order data specification" method for getting a solution of the recursion relations in nonlinear general relativity, since the Bondi news enters the equations for the metric at Coulombic order. Thus, we need to know the solution at radiative order before we can determine whether $h_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}(u, x^A)$ is a solution to the recursion relations and constraints.

Finally, it is worth noting that the analog of eq. (2.96) in nonlinear general relativity for d > 4 is

$$\partial_u M = -\mathcal{A}_d T_{uu}^{(d-2)}|_{\ell=0} - \frac{1}{32\pi} \mathcal{A}_d N^{AB} N_{AB}|_{\ell=0}$$
(2.119)

where in even dimensions

$$M = \frac{1}{16\pi} \mathcal{A}_d [\bar{h}_{ur}^{(d-3)} + (d-4)\bar{h}_{uu}^{(d-3)} - C^{AB}N_{AB}]|_{\ell=0} \quad d \text{ even (in harmonic gauge), (2.120)}$$

and in odd dimensions

$$M = \frac{1}{16\pi} \mathcal{A}_d [\bar{\tilde{h}}_{ur}^{(d-3)} + (d-4)\bar{\tilde{h}}_{uu}^{(d-3)} - C^{AB} N_{AB}]|_{\ell=0} \quad d \text{ odd (in harmonic gauge) (2.121)}$$

where \mathcal{A}_d is the area of a unit (d-2)-sphere given by eq. (2.53). By the same arguments as given in the linearized case, M is the Bondi mass. Again, the above formulas for M apply only in harmonic gauge and thus cannot be applied when d = 4 if $T_{uu}^{(2)} \neq 0$ or $N_{AB} \neq 0$. A gauge invariant expression for the Bondi mass in all even dimensions $d \geq 4$ was given in [27]. Positivity of the Bondi mass in even dimensions was proven in [52].

3 The memory effect

We now turn our attention to the analysis of the memory effect in nonlinear general relativity in $d \ge 4$ dimensions. In physical terms, the memory effect can be described as the permanent relative displacement resulting from the passage of a "burst of gravitational radiation" of a system of test particles that are initially at rest. The relative displacement of test particles is governed by the geodesic deviation equation

$$(v^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu})^{2}\xi^{\nu} = -R_{\mu\rho\sigma}{}^{\nu}v^{\mu}v^{\sigma}\xi^{\rho}$$
(3.1)

where v^{μ} is the tangent the worldline of the test particle, ξ^{μ} is the deviation vector and $R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$ is the Riemann tensor. In our case, we will be interested in test particles near future null infinity and wish to determine the leading order memory effect in a 1/r expansion.

We note that there are closely analogous "memory effects" for electromagnetic and scalar fields [11, 55, 56]. For the electromagnetic field or the scalar field, the memory effect would correspond to a charged particle with electric or scalar charge, originally at rest, getting a momentum kick after the passage of a burst of electromagnetic or scalar radiation. However, since we now have fully developed the machinery for the gravitational case, we will bypass the analysis of these other cases and go directly to the analysis of the memory effect in general relativity.

1 Stationarity conditions at early and late retarded times

Our first task in analyzing the memory effect is to define more precisely what we mean by a "burst of gravitational radiation," i.e., to specify the stationarity conditions that we will assume hold at early and late retarded times. We wish to consider spacetimes where there is significant gravitational radiation near future null infinity only over some finite range of retarded time. We envision this radiation as arising from "localized event" in the interior of the spacetime involving the interaction of matter and/or black holes and/or gravitational waves—although our entire analysis will be done near future null infinity and will not make any assumptions about the source of the gravitational radiation. Thus, we wish to consider a situation where the metric is (nearly) stationary at early retarded times and again becomes (nearly) stationary at late retarded times.

However, it would be much too strong a condition to demand that the metric becomes stationary at early and late retarded times at all orders in 1/r. This is because we wish to allow for the presence of bodies of matter (or black holes) that move inertially from/towards infinity at early/late retarded times. To see the implications of this, we note that a static multipole of angular order ℓ will decay as $r \to \infty$ at fixed global inertial time t as $1/r^{\ell+d-3}$. However, for inertially moving bodies, the ℓ th multipole moment will grow with time as t^{ℓ} . Thus, near future null infinity, there will be contributions from the ℓ th multipole solution that result in $h_{\mu\nu}$ behaving as¹²

$$h_{\mu\nu} \sim \frac{t^{\ell}}{r^{\ell+d-3}} = \frac{(u+r)^{\ell}}{r^{\ell+d-3}} = \frac{1}{r^{d-3}} + \frac{\ell u}{r^{d-2}} + \dots$$
 (3.2)

Thus, the leading order behavior of $h_{\mu\nu}$ is Coulombic—but note that $h_{\mu\nu}$ is *not* spherically symmetric near null infinity at Coulombic order. Although $h_{\mu\nu}$ is stationary at Coulombic order, it is, in general, non-stationary for $\ell \geq 1$ at order $1/r^{d-2}$. This non-stationarity can be removed for $\ell = 1$ by Lorentz boosting to a frame where the center of mass of the matter is at rest, but $h_{\mu\nu}$ will, in general, be genuinely non-stationary at order $1/r^{d-2}$ for $\ell \geq 2$.

^{12.} The ℓ th multipole solution with leading order time dependence eq. (3.2) will also have terms that behave as $t^{\ell-2k}/r^{\ell-2k+d-3}$ with k integer and $2k \leq \ell$, which also will contribute to the field at future null infinity in the same manner as indicated in eq. (3.2).

The late time behavior near null infinity in curved spacetime with matter (or black holes) inertially moving to infinity along timelike trajectories cannot be expected to satisfy a stronger stationarity condition than would hold for inertially moving bodies in Minkowski spacetime. Indeed, as we shall see in the next subsection, if we were to require stationarity at order $1/r^{d-2}$ at both late and early retarded times, we would entirely exclude the "ordinary memory" effect. On the other hand, we do not believe that we would exclude any interesting phenomena by assuming that the metric becomes stationary at Coulombic order at early and late retarded times.

We will therefore adopt as our stationarity condition that, in some gauge within our ansatz, the metric becomes stationary at Coulombic order and slower fall-off at early and late retarded times. More precisely, in even dimensions we require that there exist a gauge in which

$$\partial_u h^{(n)}_{\mu\nu} \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad u \to \pm \infty \text{ for } n \le d-3,$$
(3.3)

and in odd dimensions we require that there exist a gauge in which

$$\partial_u h^{(n)}_{\mu\nu} \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad u \to \pm \infty \text{ for } n < d - 3$$

$$(3.4)$$

$$\partial_u \tilde{h}^{(d-3)}_{\mu\nu} \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad u \to \pm \infty.$$
 (3.5)

It follows immediately from these conditions that in the stationary eras, the nonlinear terms in Einstein's equation are $O(1/r^{2(d-2)})$ and will not enter the equations to the orders to which we will work. In addition, stationarity at Coulombic order implies that the Bondi mass (which can be defined in any gauge) is time independent, which implies that $T_{uu}^{(d-2)}|_{\ell=0}$ vanish in the stationary eras. However, positivity of $T_{uu}^{(d-2)}$ then implies that $T_{uu}^{(d-2)} = 0$ and the dominant energy condition then implies that $T_{\mu\nu}^{(d-2)} = 0$. We can then apply Remark 2.5 to conclude that, for d > 4, without loss of generality, the fall-off conditions eq. (3.3) or

eq. (3.4) can be assumed to hold in a harmonic gauge, as we shall assume in the following. It then follows from Cor. 2.1 that in even dimensions we have $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} = 0$ for all n < d - 3, and in odd dimensions, $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} = 0$ for all n < d - 2.

Finally, we note that Mädler and Winicour [57] have imposed a "weak stationarity condition" in their treatment of the memory effect in linearized gravity in 4 dimensions. Their condition effectively requires the metric to be stationary at order $1/r^2$, i.e., one order faster fall-off than Coulombic. Thus, their condition is stronger than ours. As we shall see in the next subsection, this stronger condition rules out all "ordinary memory" effects.

2 The memory tensor and its properties at Coulombic order and slower

$\mathit{fall-off}$

As discussed in the previous subsection, we wish to consider a spacetime where the metric near future null infinity is stationary at Coulombic order, $1/r^{d-3}$, at early and late retarded times. We consider an array of test particles near null infinity whose tangents v^{μ} initially point in the $(\partial/\partial u)^{\mu}$ direction. We wish to compute the memory effect for such test particles at all orders $n \leq d-3$. Since the metric differs from the Minkowski metric only at order $1/r^{d/2-1}$, the geodesic determined by v^{μ} will differ from the corresponding integral curve of $(\partial/\partial u)^{\mu}$ beginning only at order $1/r^{d/2-1}$, and u will differ from an affine parametrization also beginning only at this order. Since the curvature also falls off as $r^{d/2-1}$, it can be seen that the deviations of v^{μ} from $(\partial/\partial u)^{\mu}$ in eq. (3.1) can affect ξ^{μ} only at order r^{d-2} and faster fall-off. Since we consider only the memory effect at orders $n \leq d-3$, we may therefore replace v^{μ} in eq. (3.1) with $(\partial/\partial u)^{\mu}$, i.e., we may replace eq. (3.1) with

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial u^2} \xi^\mu = -R_{\mu\nu\mu}{}^\mu \xi^\nu. \tag{3.6}$$
Since, by our ansatz, $T_{\mu\nu} = O(1/r^{d-2})$, it follows immediately from Einstein's equation that the Ricci tensor vanishes at Coulombic order and slower fall off. Consequently, we may replace the Riemann tensor in eq. (3.6) with the Weyl tensor. We also may replace ξ^{ν} on the right side of eq. (3.6) with its initial value, ξ_0^{ν} , since $\xi^{\nu} - \xi_0^{\nu} = O(1/r^{d/2-1})$, so this difference cannot contribute to the right side at Coulombic and slower fall-off. Thus, at Coulombic and slower fall-off, we have

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial u^2} \xi^\mu = -C_{\mu\nu\mu}{}^\mu \xi_0^\nu. \tag{3.7}$$

Now suppose that the metric is stationary at Coulombic order and slower fall-off for $u \to \pm \infty$, as discussed in the previous subsection. Integrating eq. (3.7) twice, we obtain

$$\xi^{(n)\mu}\Big|_{u=-\infty}^{u=\infty} = \Delta^{(n)\mu}{}_{\nu}\,\xi_0^{\nu} \qquad \text{for } n \le d-3 \tag{3.8}$$

where

$$\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} \equiv -\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du' \int_{-\infty}^{u'} du'' C_{u\nu u\mu}^{(n)}.$$
(3.9)

We refer to $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}$ as the *n*-th order *memory tensor*. It characterizes the memory effect at order $1/r^n$. We note that the Weyl tensor at these orders is equivalent to the linearized Weyl tensor and is gauge invariant. Therefore, the memory effect at these orders is manifestly gauge invariant.

It follows immediately from its definition, eq. (3.9), that for all $n \leq d-3$ the memory tensor, $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}$, is symmetric, trace-free, and has vanishing *u*-components,

$$\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} = \Delta_{\nu\mu}^{(n)}, \quad \Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)\mu} = 0, \quad \Delta_{u\nu}^{(n)} = 0 \quad \text{for all } n \le d-3.$$
(3.10)

Obviously, from its definition, $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}$ does not depend on u, so we also have $\partial_u \Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} = 0$.

Additional properties of $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}$ follow from the Bianchi identity. We remind the reader that

the uncontracted Bianchi identity is

$$\nabla_{[\mu}R_{\nu\rho]\sigma\kappa} = 0. \tag{3.11}$$

Contracting over μ and σ yields

$$g^{\mu\sigma}\nabla_{\mu}R_{\nu\rho\sigma\kappa} = 2\nabla_{[\nu}R_{\rho]\kappa}.$$
(3.12)

Applying $g^{\mu\delta}\nabla_{\delta}$ to eq. (3.11) we obtain

$$\Box_g R_{\nu\rho\sigma\kappa} + g^{\lambda\mu} \nabla_\lambda \nabla_\nu R_{\rho\mu\sigma\kappa} + g^{\lambda\mu} \nabla_\lambda \nabla_\rho R_{\mu\nu\sigma\kappa} = 0.$$
(3.13)

Commuting the derivatives in the second and third terms of eq. (3.13) and using eq. (3.12) we obtain

$$\Box_{g}R_{\nu\rho\sigma\kappa} = 4\nabla_{[\nu}\nabla_{|[\sigma}R_{\kappa]|\rho]} - 2g^{\mu\lambda}g^{\delta\pi}R_{\lambda[\nu\rho]\delta}R_{\pi\mu\sigma\kappa} - 2g^{\delta\pi}R_{\delta[\nu}R_{\rho]\pi\sigma\kappa} - 2g^{\mu\lambda}g^{\delta\pi}R_{\sigma\delta\lambda[\nu}R_{\rho]\mu\pi\kappa} - 2g^{\mu\lambda}g^{\delta\pi}R_{\delta\kappa\lambda[\nu}R_{\rho]\mu\sigma\pi}.$$
(3.14)

We also remind the reader that the Riemann tensor is related to the Weyl tensor by

$$R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} = C_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} + \frac{4}{d-2}g_{[\mu|[\rho}R_{\sigma]|\nu]} - \frac{2}{(d-1)(d-2)}Rg_{\mu[\rho}g_{\sigma]\nu}.$$
 (3.15)

In *linearized gravity* with $R_{\mu\nu} = 0$, the above relations imply

$$\partial^{\mu}C_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} = 0$$
 (linearized gravity) (3.16)

and

$$\Box C_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} = 0 \qquad \text{(linearized gravity)}. \tag{3.17}$$

These relations, of course, do not hold in nonlinear general relativity, and they also do not hold in linearized gravity when $R_{\mu\nu} \neq 0$. However, let

$$E_{\mu\nu} \equiv C_{u\nu u\mu} \tag{3.18}$$

so that $E_{\mu\nu}$ is the "electric part" of the Weyl tensor. Define \mathcal{T}_{μ} by

$$\mathcal{T}_{\mu} = K^{\nu} \Box E_{\mu\nu} - 2K^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} \partial^{\alpha} E_{\alpha\mu} - (d-2) \partial^{\alpha} E_{\alpha\mu} / r$$
(3.19)

where $K^{\mu} = (\partial/\partial r)^{\mu}$. In linearized gravity with $R_{\mu\nu} = 0$, we have $\mathcal{T}_{\mu} = 0$. Remarkably, we find¹³ that in nonlinear general relativity with our ansatz for $h_{\mu\nu}$ and $T_{\mu\nu}$, we have $\mathcal{T}_{\mu}^{(n+2)} = 0$ for all $n \leq d-3$. Now, the formula eq. (3.19) defining \mathcal{T}_{μ} is exactly the same as the formula eq. (2.92) defining $\tau_{\mu}^{(n+2)}$ under the substitution $h_{\mu\nu} \to E_{\mu\nu}$ and $T_{\mu\nu} \to 0$. Thus, $E_{\mu\nu}$ satisfies eqs. (2.94) and (2.95) with vanishing right side for all $n \leq d-3$. (Equation (2.93) is trivial since the *u*-components of $E_{\mu\nu}$ vanish.) Integrating this equation twice with respect to *u*, we find that for $n \leq d-3$, $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}$ satisfies

$$[\mathscr{D}^2 - (n-d+1)(n-d+2)]\Delta_{rr}^{(n)} + (2n-d)\mathscr{D}^A\Delta_{Ar}^{(n)} = 0$$
(3.20)

$$[\mathscr{D}^2 - (n-d+3)(n-d+2) + (2n-d+1)]\Delta_{rA}^{(n)} + 2\mathscr{D}_A\Delta_{rr}^{(n)} + (2n-d+2)\mathscr{D}^B\Delta_{AB}^{(n)} = 0$$
(3.21)

where we used the fact that the trace of $\Delta_{\mu\nu}$ vanishes to relate Δ_{rr} to $q^{AB}\Delta_{AB}$. We note that eqs. (3.20) and (3.21) have nothing to do with the harmonic gauge condition and hold for d = 4 as well as d > 4.

^{13.} The peeling properties of the Weyl tensor [58] (which are a consequence of our ansatz) were used to show this.

These relations will be used in sec. 3.4 below. They also have the following important consequence. The spherically symmetric ($\ell = 0$) part of $\Delta_{\mu\nu}$ automatically has $\Delta_{rA} = 0$ and $\Delta_{AB} \propto q_{AB}$, since no vector on the sphere can be spherically symmetric and q_{AB} is the only tensor of this index type that is spherically symmetric. Consequently, eq. (3.20) implies that the spherically symmetric part of $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}$ vanishes for $n \leq d - 3$. Similar arguments also show that eqs. (3.20) and (3.21) imply that the $\ell = 1$ part of $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}$ vanishes for all $n \leq d - 3$. This implies that

$$[\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}]|_{\ell=0,1} = 0 \qquad \text{for all } n \le d-3.$$
(3.22)

In addition, in d = 4 dimensions, eqs. (3.20) and (3.21) imply

$$\Delta_{r\nu}^{(1)} = 0 \tag{3.23}$$

and, similarly, in d = 6 dimensions, we obtain

$$\Delta_{rr}^{(3)} = 0. \tag{3.24}$$

However, in higher dimensions, all components of the Coulombic order memory tensor (other than u components and the trace) may be nonvanishing. These results in d = 4 and d = 6 dimensions also follow directly from the peeling properties of the Weyl tensor in these dimensions [58].

3 Evaluation of the memory tensor at Coulombic order and slower fall-off

We now evaluate $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}$ for all $n \leq d-3$. We separately consider the cases (1) d > 4 and even, (2) d odd, and (3) d = 4. For d > 4, we impose the harmonic gauge condition to greatly simplify the analysis.

1 d even, d > 4

For $n \leq d-3$, the relevant components of the *n*th order Weyl tensor take the form

$$C_{u\alpha u\beta}^{(n)} = \alpha_{\alpha\beta}^{(n)\rho\sigma} h_{\rho\sigma}^{(n-2)} + \beta_{\alpha\beta}^{(n)\rho\sigma} \partial_u h_{\rho\sigma}^{(n-1)} + \gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{(n)\rho\sigma} \partial_u^2 h_{\rho\sigma}^{(n)}$$
(3.25)

Here $\alpha_{\alpha\beta}^{(n)\rho\sigma}, \beta_{\alpha\beta}^{(n)\rho\sigma}, \gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{(n)\rho\sigma}$ are given by

$$\alpha_{\alpha\beta}^{(n)\rho\sigma} = -\frac{1}{2}(n-1)(n-2)r_{\alpha}r_{\beta}n^{\rho}n^{\sigma} + (n-2)n^{\rho}n^{\sigma}r_{(\alpha}\mathscr{D}_{\beta)} - \frac{1}{2}n^{\rho}n^{\sigma}\mathscr{D}_{\alpha}\mathscr{D}_{\beta} + \frac{1}{2}(n-2)q_{\alpha\beta}n^{\rho}n^{\sigma},$$
(3.26)

$$\beta_{\alpha\beta}^{(n)\rho\sigma} = -(n-1)r_{\alpha}r_{\beta}n^{(\rho}K^{\sigma)} + n^{(\rho}K^{\sigma)}r_{(\alpha}\mathscr{D}_{\beta)} - nr_{(\alpha}n^{(\rho}q_{\beta)}{}^{\sigma)} + n^{\rho}q_{(\beta}{}^{\sigma}\mathscr{D}_{\alpha)} + \frac{1}{2}q_{\alpha\beta}(2n^{(\rho}K^{\sigma)} - n^{c\rho}n^{\sigma}), \qquad (3.27)$$

$$\gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{(n)\rho\sigma} = -\frac{1}{2} r_{\alpha} r_{\beta} K^{\rho} K^{\sigma} - r_{(\alpha} K^{(\rho} q_{\beta)}{}^{\sigma)} - \frac{1}{2} q_{\alpha}{}^{\rho} q_{\beta}{}^{\sigma}$$
(3.28)

where $K^{\mu} = (\partial/\partial r)^{\mu}$, $n^{\mu} = (\partial/\partial u)^{\mu}$ and $r_{\mu} = (dr)_{\mu}$.

We now use the recursion relations to eliminate $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n-2)}$ and $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n-1)}$ in favor of $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}$ in eq. (3.25). We consider, first, the case n < d-3; we will treat the case n = d-3 after we have completed the analysis for n < d-3.

For n < d-3, the relevant recursion relations do not contain any nonlinear terms in $h_{\mu\nu}$ and are thus given by eqs. (2.61)-(2.70) with $\chi^{\mu} = 0$. In addition, the stress-energy tensor does not appear in any equations at the orders relevant to this analysis. It is clear from the arguments that led to Theorem 2 that it must be possible to eliminate $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n-2)}$ and $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n-1)}$ in favor of $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}$, but it is useful to have an explicit construction, which we now give.

First, we can directly invert the angular operator appearing in eq. (2.61) to solve for

 $\overline{h}_{uu}^{(n-1)}$ in terms of $\overline{h}_{uu}^{(n)}$. Explicitly, we have

$$\overline{h}_{uu}^{(n-1)} = -(2n-d+2) \Big[\mathscr{D}^2 + (n-1)(n-d+2) \Big]^{-1} \partial_u \overline{h}_{uu}^{(n)}.$$
(3.29)

Note that $\overline{h}_{uu}^{(n)}$ appears in this solution only in the form $\partial_u \overline{h}_{uu}^{(n)}$. We then iterate this procedure to obtain $\overline{h}_{uu}^{(n-2)}$ in terms of $\overline{h}_{uu}^{(n-1)}$ and thence $\overline{h}_{uu}^{(n)}$, thereby expressing $\overline{h}_{uu}^{(n-2)}$ in terms of inverse angular operators applied to $\partial_u^2 \overline{h}_{uu}^{(n)}$. Next, we eliminate $\mathscr{D}^A \overline{h}_{Au}^{(n-1)}$ using eq. (2.68) (with $\chi_u^{(n)} = 0$) and substitute into eq. (2.62). The resulting equation can then be solved for $\overline{h}_{ur}^{(n-1)}$ in terms of $\partial_u \overline{h}_{ur}^{(n)}$ and $\partial_u \overline{h}_{uu}^{(n)}$. Iterating, we obtain $\overline{h}_{ur}^{(n-2)}$ in terms of $\partial_u^2 \overline{h}_{ur}^{(n)}$ and $\partial_u^2 \overline{h}_{uu}^{(n)}$. We then similarly invert eq. (2.63) to solve for $\overline{h}_{uA}^{(n-1)}$ and then $\overline{h}_{uA}^{(n-2)}$.

Thus far, we have shown how to write the uu, ur, and uA components of $\overline{h}_{\mu\nu}$ at orders n-2 and n-1 in terms of these components at *n*-th order. To proceed further, we note that $\overline{h} \equiv \overline{h}^{\mu}{}_{\mu} = -2\overline{h}_{ur} + \overline{h}_{rr} + q^{AB}\overline{h}_{AB}$ satisfies the ordinary scalar wave equation. Hence, we can recursively solve for $\overline{h}^{(n-1)}$ and $\overline{h}^{(n-2)}$ in terms of $\partial_u \overline{h}^{(n)}$ and $\partial_u^2 \overline{h}^{(n)}$ respectively. Then one can use eq. (2.64) and eq. (2.69) to obtain

$$\left[\mathscr{D}^{2} + (n-d+1)(n-2)\right]\overline{h}_{rr}^{(n-1)} = 2(d-2n+2)\overline{h}_{ur}^{(n-1)} + 2\overline{h}^{(n-1)} - (2n-d-2)\partial_{u}\overline{h}_{rr}^{(n)}.$$
 (3.30)

This equation can be used to solve for $\overline{h}_{rr}^{(n-1)}$ and $\overline{h}_{rr}^{(n-2)}$ in terms of *n*th order quantities. We can then use eq. (2.70) and eq. (2.65) to solve for $\overline{h}_{rA}^{(n-1)}$ and $\overline{h}_{rA}^{(n-2)}$ in terms of *n*th order quantities. Finally, we solve (2.66) to obtain $\overline{h}_{AB}^{(n-1)}$ and $\overline{h}_{AB}^{(n-2)}$ in terms of *n*th order quantities.

The above results show explicitly that we can write $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n-2)}$ as an operator (composed of inverses of angular operators and angular derivatives) applied to $\partial_u^2 h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}$. Similarly, we can write $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n-1)}$ as such an operator applied to $\partial_u h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}$. Substituting this result in eq. (3.25), we

see that for all n < d - 3, the *n*th order Weyl tensor takes the form

$$C_{u\alpha u\beta}^{(n)} = O_{\alpha\beta}^{(n)\,\rho\sigma} \partial_u^2 \overline{h}_{\rho\sigma}^{(n)} \tag{3.31}$$

where the operator O is constructed of inverses of angular operators and angular derivatives. It follows immediately from eq. (3.9) that for n < d-3 the memory tensor takes the form

$$\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} = P^{(n)}{}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho\sigma} [\Delta \overline{h}_{\rho\sigma}^{(n)}] \qquad \text{for } n < d-3$$
(3.32)

where

$$\Delta \overline{h}_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} \equiv \overline{h}_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}(u \to \infty) - \overline{h}_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}(u \to -\infty)$$
(3.33)

and $P^{(n)}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho\sigma}$ is a linear operator constructed from inverses of angular operators and angular derivatives. However, as already remarked below eq. (3.5), we have $h^{(n)}_{\mu\nu} = 0$ for all n < d-3when the metric is stationary at Coulombic order. Thus, the memory tensor vanishes at slower than Coulombic fall-off

$$\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} = 0 \qquad \text{for } n < d - 3. \tag{3.34}$$

In particular, for d > 4 the memory tensor vanishes at radiative order [20]. Now consider the case n = d - 3. The calculation $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}$ differs from the above calculation for n < d - 3only in that (i) $\Delta \overline{h}_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}$ need not vanish and (ii) the recursion relations eqs. (2.61)-(2.66) used to solve for $h_{\mu\nu}^{(d-4)}$ will now contain the additional terms $T_{\mu\nu}^{(d-2)}$ and $\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}^{(d-2)}$ (see eq. (2.101)). With regard to these additional terms the only nonvanishing component of $T_{\mu\nu}^{(d-2)}$ is $T_{uu}^{(d-2)}$. Similarly, it can be seen from eq. (2.102) that all of the components of $\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}^{(d-2)}$ except $\mathcal{G}_{uu}^{(d-2)}$ are *u*-derivative terms do not contribute to $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}$ under our stationarity conditions. Thus, the terms involving $T_{\mu\nu}^{(d-2)}$ and $\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}^{(d-2)}$ give rise to additional terms in the memory tensor that are proportional to the integral of the total flux, F, of matter and gravitational energy to null infinity

$$F \equiv T_{uu}^{(d-2)} + \frac{1}{32\pi} N^{AB} N_{AB}.$$
(3.35)

Carrying through the calculation of $\Delta^{(d-3)}_{\mu\nu}$ in the manner described above, we obtain the final formula

$$\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)} = P_{\mu\nu} [\Delta \bar{h}_{\rho\sigma}^{(d-3)}]_{\ell>1} + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du L_{\mu\nu} [F]_{\ell>1}$$
(3.36)

where

$$\begin{split} P_{\mu\nu}[\Delta\bar{h}_{\rho\sigma}^{(d-3)}] &= \frac{1}{2}r_{\mu}r_{\nu}\bigg[(d-3)(d-4)^{2}(d-6)\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2}\Delta\bar{h}_{uu}^{(d-3)} + \Delta\bar{h}_{rr}^{(d-3)} \\ &+ 4\mathscr{D}_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{3}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2} + \frac{(d-4)^{2}}{d-2} \big((d-5)(d-6)D_{5}^{-2} - 2 \big) D_{4}^{-2}\Delta\bar{h}^{(d-3)} \bigg] \\ &- (d-4)^{2}(d-6)r_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2}\Delta\bar{h}_{uu}^{(d-3)} - 2(d-3)(d-4)\mathscr{D}_{3}^{-2}r_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2}\Delta\bar{h}_{uu}^{(d-3)} \\ &- 2(d-3)(d-4)(d-6)\mathscr{D}_{3}^{-2}r_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2}\Delta\bar{h}_{uu}^{(d-3)} - (d-3)(d-4)r_{(\mu}q_{\nu)}^{\rho}\Delta\bar{h}_{\rho u}^{(d-3)} \\ &- \frac{d-4}{d-2}r_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}\big((d-5)(d-6)\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2} - 1\big)\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2}\Delta\bar{h}^{(d-3)} + (d-6)r_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2}\Delta\bar{h}_{ru}^{(d-3)} \\ &+ 2(d-6)(d-3)\mathscr{D}_{3}^{-2}r_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2}\Delta\bar{h}_{ru}^{(d-3)} + \frac{1}{2}(d-4)\big(- (d-6)\mathscr{D}_{\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2} + q_{\mu\nu} \\ &+ 4\mathscr{D}_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{3}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2} - 4(d-6)\mathscr{D}_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{3}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2} + (d-6)(d-7)q_{\mu\nu}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2}\big)\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2}\Delta\bar{h}_{uu}^{(d-3)} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\frac{d-4}{d-2}\Big(- (d-6)\mathscr{D}_{\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2} - q_{\mu\nu} + (d-5)(d-6)q_{\mu\nu}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2}\big)\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2}\Delta\bar{h}_{uu}^{(d-3)} \\ &- \Big(2(d-6)\mathscr{D}_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{3}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2} - (d-6)q_{\mu\nu}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2} - \frac{1}{d-2}q_{\mu\nu}\Big)\Delta\bar{h}_{ru}^{(d-3)} - \frac{q_{\mu\nu}}{d-2}\Delta\bar{h}_{rr}^{(d-3)} \\ &+ (d-4)\mathscr{D}_{(\mu}q_{\nu})^{\rho}\Delta\bar{h}_{\rho u}^{(d-3)} + r_{(\mu}q_{\nu})^{\rho}\Delta\bar{h}_{\rho r}^{(d-3)} + \frac{1}{2}\Big(q_{\mu}^{\rho}q_{\nu}^{\sigma} - \frac{1}{d-2}q_{\mu\nu}q^{\rho\sigma}\Big)\Delta\bar{h}_{\rho\sigma}^{(d-3)} \quad (3.37) \end{split}$$

and

$$L_{\mu\nu} = 8\pi \left[r_{\mu}r_{\nu}(d-3)(d-4)(d-6)\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2} - 2\left((d-4)(d-6)r_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2} - 2(d-3)(d-6)\mathscr{D}_{3}^{-2}r_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2}\right)\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2} + \left(-(d-6)\mathscr{D}_{\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2} - 4(d-6)\mathscr{D}_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{3}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2} + q_{\mu\nu} + (d-6)(d-7)q_{\mu\nu}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2}\right)\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2} + 4\mathscr{D}_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{3}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2} + 4(d-3)\mathscr{D}_{3}^{-2}r_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2}\right]F.$$
(3.38)

Here, in order to write these equations in a more compact form, we have introduced the notation

$$\mathscr{D}_3^2 \equiv [\mathscr{D}^2 - (d-3)] \tag{3.39}$$

$$\mathscr{D}_4^2 \equiv [\mathscr{D}^2 - (d-4)] \tag{3.40}$$

$$\mathscr{D}_{5}^{2} \equiv [\mathscr{D}^{2} - 2(d-5)]. \tag{3.41}$$

The notation $[\cdot]_{\ell>1}$ in eq. (3.36) means that only the $\ell > 1$ part of the quantity is to be taken. The memory tensor $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}$ has only $\ell > 1$ spherical harmonic parts (see eq. (3.22)). However, $\Delta \overline{h}_{\rho\sigma}^{(d-3)}$ and F have $\ell = 0, 1$ parts. The $\ell = 0, 1$ parts of $\Delta \overline{h}_{\rho\sigma}^{(d-3)}$ and F should be excluded from eqs. (3.37) and (3.38) for the computation of ordinary and null memory.

Equation (3.36) naturally splits the memory tensor into a "null memory" piece associated with the flux F of stress-energy and/or Bondi news to null infinity, and an "ordinary memory" piece associated with the change in the metric in harmonic gauge at Coulombic order. The ordinary memory piece can be rewritten in terms of $\Delta E_{\mu\nu}^{(d-1)} = \Delta C_{\mu\mu\nu\mu}^{(d-1)}$ as follows¹⁴:

$$\begin{split} P_{\mu\nu}[\Delta \overline{h}_{\rho\sigma}^{(d-3)}] &= -r_{\mu}r_{\nu}(d-4)(d-6)\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2}\Delta E_{rr}^{(d-1)} \\ &+ 2(d-4)r_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}(\mathscr{D}^{2}-2)\mathscr{D}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2}\Delta E_{rr}^{(d-1)} \\ &+ d(d-2)q_{\mu}{}^{\rho}q_{\nu}{}^{\sigma}(\mathscr{D}^{2}-2){}^{-1}\mathscr{D}_{-4}^{-2}\Delta E_{\rho\sigma}^{(d-1)} + \frac{(d-4)(d-6)}{d-2}q_{\mu\nu}\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2}\Delta E_{rr}^{(d-1)} \\ &+ 2d(d-2)(\mathscr{D}^{2}-2){}^{-1}\mathscr{D}_{-4}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{-3}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}\mathscr{D}^{-2}\mathscr{D}^{\lambda}\mathscr{D}^{\kappa}\Delta E_{\lambda\kappa}^{(d-1)} \\ &- \frac{d(d-2)^{2}}{d-3}(\mathscr{D}^{2}-2){}^{-1}\mathscr{D}_{-4}^{-2}\left(\mathscr{D}_{\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu}-\frac{1}{d-2}q_{\mu\nu}\mathscr{D}^{2}\right)\mathscr{D}_{-2}^{-2}\mathscr{D}^{-2}\mathscr{D}^{\lambda}\mathscr{D}^{\kappa}\Delta E_{\lambda\kappa}^{(d-1)} \\ &+ (\mathscr{D}^{2}-2){}^{-1}\mathscr{D}_{-4}^{-2}\left(2d\mathscr{D}_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{-3}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}+d\left(\mathscr{D}_{\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu}-\frac{1}{d-2}q_{\mu\nu}\mathscr{D}^{2}\right)\mathscr{D}_{-2}^{-2}+dq_{\mu\nu}\right)\Delta E_{rr}^{(d-1)} \\ &+ 2(d-2)\mathscr{D}_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{-3}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{-3}^{-2}(\mathscr{D}^{2}-1){}^{-1}(q_{\nu})^{\lambda}-\mathscr{D}_{\nu})\mathscr{D}^{-2}\mathscr{D}^{\lambda})\Delta E_{r\lambda}^{(d-1)} \\ &+ \frac{1}{d-3}\left(\mathscr{D}_{\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu}-\frac{1}{d-2}q_{\mu\nu}\mathscr{D}^{2}\right)[(d-6)-2(d-4)(\mathscr{D}^{2}-2)\mathscr{D}^{-2}]\mathscr{D}_{5}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{4}^{-2}\Delta E_{rr}^{(d-1)} \\ &- 2(d-2)(d-4)\mathscr{D}_{3}^{-2}(\mathscr{D}^{2}-1){}^{-1}r_{(\mu}(q_{\nu})^{\lambda}-\mathscr{D}_{\nu})\mathscr{D}^{-2}\mathscr{D}^{\lambda})\Delta E_{r\lambda}^{(d-1)} \\ &- 2d(d-2)(\mathscr{D}^{2}-2){}^{-1}\mathscr{D}_{-4}^{-2}\mathscr{D}_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{-3}^{-2}\mathscr{D}^{\lambda}\Delta E_{\nu)\lambda}^{(d-1)} \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\mathscr{D}_{-4}^2 \equiv [\mathscr{D}^2 + (d-4)] \tag{3.43}$$

$$\mathscr{D}_{-5}^2 \equiv [\mathscr{D}^2 + (d-5)] \tag{3.44}$$

$$\mathscr{D}_{-3}^2 \equiv [\mathscr{D}^2 + (d-3)] \tag{3.45}$$

$$\mathscr{D}_{-2}^2 \equiv [\mathscr{D}^2 + (d-2)]. \tag{3.46}$$

Again, the The $\ell = 0, 1$ parts of $\Delta E_{\rho\sigma}^{(d-1)}$ should be excluded from eq. (3.42) for the computation of memory.

^{14.} It should be possible to derive eqs. (3.38) and (3.42) directly from eqs. (3.12) and (3.14), bypassing the need to introduce the harmonic gauge. We have shown that such a derivation can be given in linearized gravity with sources.

Since F is gauge invariant, null memory is manifestly gauge invariant. Since $C_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}^{(d-1)}$ is gauge invariant in stationary eras, ordinary memory is also manifestly gauge invariant when expressed in the form of eq. (3.42). We shall see in sec. 3.3.3 that eqs. (3.38) and (3.42) also hold in d = 4.

We now consider the effects on the memory tensor at Coulombic order of placing stronger stationarity conditions than those imposed by eq. (3.3) on the metric at early and late times in even dimensions. Specifically, suppose we were to require that

$$\partial_u h^{(k)}_{\mu\nu} \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad u \to \pm \infty \text{ for } k \le d-2,$$
(3.47)

i.e., suppose that we require stationarity at one order faster fall-off than Coulombic. Suppose that, in addition, we require

$$T^{(d-1)}_{\mu\nu} \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad u \to \pm \infty \,.$$
 (3.48)

In the stationary eras, the nonlinear terms in Einstein's equation are $O(1/r^{2(d-2)})$ and will not enter our analysis to the orders we consider. It then follows from Remark 2.5 that $\overline{h}_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}$ can be put in harmonic gauge such that in the stationary eras, we have $\partial_u h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} = 0$ for all $n \leq d-2$. It further follows from Cor. 2.1 that, in the stationary eras, $\overline{h}_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} = 0$ for all n < d-3. Furthermore, $h_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}$ satisfies eqs. (2.61)-(2.66) for n = d-2 with all terms involviing χ_{μ} , *u*-derivatives, and stress-energy put to zero. In addition, $h_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}$ satisfies eqs. (2.93)-(2.95) for n = d-3 with vanishing stress-energy terms. It is not difficult to show that the unique solution to these equations is

$$\overline{h}_{uu}^{(d-3)} = \overline{h}_{ur}^{(d-3)} = \overline{h}_{rr}^{(d-3)} = \text{const.}$$

$$(3.49)$$

with all other components vanishing. This corresponds to the Schwarzschild solution in

harmonic gauge at Coulombic order. Thus, with the stronger stationarity conditions eq. (3.47) and eq. (3.48), the solution approaches the Schwarzschild solution (possibly with different masses) at early and late retarded times. Thus, $\Delta h_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}$ has only an $\ell = 0$ part, and cannot contribute to memory by eq. (3.22). Thus, if the stronger stationarity conditions eq. (3.47) and eq. (3.48) hold at early and late retarded times, then ordinary memory vanishes (but a nonvanishing null memory effect may still occur).

$2 \quad d \text{ odd}$

For d odd, the analysis of the memory effect for n < d - 3—where n is now half-integral—follows the even dimensional case exactly, and we find that

$$\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} = 0 \qquad \text{for } n < d - 3. \tag{3.50}$$

Since $\tilde{h}_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}$ is the leading order term in the integer power part of the expansion of $h_{\mu\nu}$ (see eq. (2.59)), the only contribution to $C_{u\mu\nu\nu}^{(d-3)}$ is

$$C_{u\mu u\nu}^{(d-3)} = \gamma_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)\rho\sigma} \partial_u^2 \tilde{h}_{\rho\sigma}^{(d-3)}$$
(3.51)

where the $\gamma_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)\rho\sigma}$ is given by eq. (3.28) with n = d - 3. Einstein's equation in harmonic gauge yields

$$(d-4)\partial_u \bar{\tilde{h}}^{(d-3)}_{\mu\nu} = -16\pi T^{(d-2)}_{\mu\nu} + 2\mathcal{G}^{(d-2)}_{\mu\nu}.$$
(3.52)

However, we have

$$T_{\mu\nu}^{(d-2)} = T_{uu}^{(d-2)} K_{\mu} K_{\nu}$$
(3.53)

and

$$\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}^{(d-2)} = -\frac{1}{4} N^{AB} N_{AB} K_{\mu} K_{\nu} + \partial_u B_{\mu\nu}$$
(3.54)

where $B_{\mu\nu}$ vanishes in stationary eras. From eq. (3.28), it is easily seen that $\gamma_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}\rho\sigma K_{\rho}K_{\sigma} =$ 0. It can also be seen immediately from eq. (3.9) and eq. (3.51) that $B_{\mu\nu}$ cannot contribute to $\Delta_{\mu\nu}$. Thus, we find that for d odd,

$$\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)} = 0 \qquad \text{for } d \text{ odd.} \tag{3.55}$$

and thus the memory effect vanishes at Coulombic order (as well as slower fall-off) in odd dimensions.

At first sight, it may seem paradoxical that there is a major difference between odd and even dimensions in the memory effect at Coulombic order: First, in odd dimensions there is a flux of energy to null infinity at order $1/r^{d-2}$ in exact parallel with the even dimensional case, so why isn't there a null memory contribution at Coulombic order? Second, if one considers, e.g., the scattering of timelike particles, one would expect that the retarded solution at early and late times should behave like eq. (3.2) at late and early times, potentially giving rise to a nonvanishing $\Delta h_{\mu\nu}$ at Coulombic order in odd dimensions. Why doesn't this give rise to an ordinary memory effect?

The answer to the first question is that the key difference that occurs in odd dimensions as compared with even dimensions with d > 4—is that terms with integer power fall-off slower than $1/r^{d-3}$ are not permitted. In even dimensions with d > 4, the possible presence of a nonvanishing $h_{\mu\nu}^{(d-4)}$ and $h_{\mu\nu}^{(d-5)}$ effectively makes the null and ordinary memory independent. In odd dimensions, there can, indeed, be a null memory effect, but it is always exactly canceled by ordinary memory.

The answer to the second question is more subtle and has to do with the manner in which the retarded solution approaches a solution of the form eq. (3.2) at late times for particles moving on inertial trajectories. To see this, it is illuminating to consider the concrete example of the retarded solution, ϕ , to the scalar wave equation eq. (2.16) with source corresponding to the creation of a scalar particle with scalar charge q at time t = 0 at the origin in 5-dimensional Minkowski spacetime

$$S = q\theta(t)\delta^{(4)}(\vec{x}). \tag{3.56}$$

The exact retarded solution for such a source is

$$\phi = q \frac{\theta(u)}{(2\pi r)^2} \frac{r+u}{\sqrt{u(2r+u)}}.$$
(3.57)

For $r \gg u$, eq. (3.57) admits an expansion in half-integer powers of 1/r fully consistent with our ansatz eq. (2.12)

$$\phi = \frac{q}{2\sqrt{\pi}(2\pi r)^{3/2}} \frac{\theta(u)}{\sqrt{u}} + \frac{3\sqrt{\pi}q}{4(2\pi r)^{5/2}} \theta(u)\sqrt{u} + O(1/r^{7/2}).$$
(3.58)

No integer powers of 1/r occur. In particular, at all retarded times, the scalar field vanishes at Coulombic order. In addition, as $u \to \infty$, we have $\phi^{(3/2)} \to 0$, so ϕ vanishes at late retarded time at Coulombic and slower fall-off. On the other hand, if we fix r and take the limit of the exact solution eq. (3.57) as $u \to \infty$, we obtain the Coulomb solution

$$\lim_{u \to \infty} \phi = \frac{q}{4\pi^2 r^2}.\tag{3.59}$$

In other words, ϕ approaches the Coulomb solution at *timelike infinity* $(u \to \infty$ at fixed r), but does *not* approach the Coulomb solution at *null infinity* $(r \to \infty$ at fixed u) even if u is then taken to be arbitrarily large. In other words, the Coulomb solution eq. (3.59) will not be evident to an observer unless he waits a time much longer than the light travel time to the source.

Similarly, in the gravitational case in any odd dimension $d \ge 5$, consider classical particle

scattering wherein the particles move on timelike, inertial trajectories at early and late times. Then at early retarded times, the retarded solution at Coulombic order, $\tilde{h}_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}$, will have the multipolar structure corresponding to the incoming particles, as in eq. (3.2). However, except for h_{uu} , this multipolar structure will not change with u and will remain the same as $u \to \infty$, i.e., $\Delta \tilde{h}_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)} = 0$ except for $\mu = \nu = u$. The ordinary memory effect that may result from a nonvanishing $\Delta \tilde{h}_{uu}^{(d-3)}$ will be exactly canceled by the null memory effect.

Thus, the total memory effect vanishes at Coulombic order in odd dimensions. However, the above considerations suggest that it may be possible to define a notion of a memory effect at timelike infinity that would be nonvanishing.

3 d = 4

In dimension d = 4, radiative and Coulombic order coincide, since d/2 - 1 = d - 3 = 1. Our analysis for d > 4 was based upon the imposition of the harmonic gauge, so it cannot be applied¹⁵ in nonlinear gravity when d = 4 if $T^{(2)}_{\mu\nu} \neq 0$ or $N_{AB} \neq 0$. Thus, we cannot impose the harmonic gauge, i.e., we cannot set $\chi_{\mu} = 0$ in eqs. (2.61)-(2.70), nor can we use the corresponding simplifications in calculating the nonlinear terms in Einstein's equation. Nevertheless, the properties of the metric perturbation at radiative order described in the paragraph below eq. (2.72) still apply. In particular, the Bondi news tensor

$$N_{AB} = \left(q_A{}^C q_B{}^D - \frac{1}{2}q_{AB}q^{CD}\right)\partial_u h_{CD}^{(1)}$$
(3.60)

^{15.} However, our harmonic gauge analysis can be applied in linearized gravity to the case where $T^{(2)}_{\mu\nu} = 0$, in which case ordinary memory is possible.

is gauge invariant. Furthermore, at radiative (= Coulombic) order, the only components of the Weyl tensor that can be nonvanishing are the uAuB components, which are given by

$$C_{uAuB}^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{2}\partial_u N_{AB} = -\frac{1}{2}\partial_u^2 h_{AB}^{(1)}.$$
(3.61)

Integrating this equation twice, we immediately obtain the following extremely simple formula for the memory tensor:

$$\Delta_{AB}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2} \Delta h_{AB}^{(1)} \tag{3.62}$$

where $\Delta h_{AB}^{(1)}$ denotes the difference between $h_{AB}^{(1)}$ in the initial and final stationary eras. Equation (3.62) holds in any gauge compatible with our ansatz.

To proceed further we use Einstein's equations eqs. (2.61)-(2.70) with χ_a not put to zero and with $T_{ab}^{(2)}$ replaced by $T_{ab}^{(2)} - \mathcal{G}_{ab}^{(2)}/8\pi$. These equations can be simplified significantly by restricting consideration to the case $h_{rr}^{(1)} = 0$ (see Appendix 0.3), in which case we can impose the Bondi gauge conditions $h_{rr} = h_{rA} = 0$ and $\partial_r (\det(h_{AB})) = 0$. Einstein's equations do not directly yield an equation for $\partial_u h_{AB}^{(1)}$, but they do yield an equation for $\partial_u \mathscr{D}^B h_{AB}^{(1)}$, which can be integrated to obtain $\mathscr{D}^B \Delta_{AB}^{(1)}$ and thence $\Delta_{AB}^{(1)}$. We will not carry out the analysis here, as it has already been done by many authors¹⁶ [10, 19, 40, 39]. The final result is that the memory tensor in 4 dimensions can be expressed as [19, 40, 39]

$$\Delta_{AB}^{(1)} = [P_{AB}]_{\ell > 1} + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du L_{AB}[F]_{\ell > 1}.$$
(3.63)

^{16.} References [10, 39] worked in the context of linearized gravity whereas [40, 19] analyzed the memory effect in four dimensions in full, nonlinear general relativity. References [39, 40, 19] considered contributions to memory from null sources whereas [10] did not. References [10, 19, 40, 39] all considered ordinary memory effects in which $\Delta Q = 0$ in eq. (3.64).

Here the "ordinary memory" (the first term in eq. (3.63)) is given by

$$P_{AB} = -2\left(\mathscr{D}_A\mathscr{D}_B - \frac{1}{2}q_{AB}\mathscr{D}^2\right)\mathscr{D}^{-2}(\mathscr{D}^2 + 2)^{-1}\Delta P + 2\epsilon_{(A}{}^C\mathscr{D}_{B)}\mathscr{D}_C\mathscr{D}^{-2}(\mathscr{D}^2 + 2)^{-1}\Delta Q$$

$$(3.64)$$

where

$$P \equiv C_{urur}^{(3)},\tag{3.65}$$

$$Q \equiv \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{\mu\nu} C^{(3)}_{\mu\nu ru}, \qquad (3.66)$$

and ΔP and ΔQ correspond to the difference in these quantities at early and late retarded times. Only the $\ell > 1$ parts of ΔP and ΔQ enter the formula for memory. The contributions to ordinary memory of ΔP and ΔQ are usually referred to as its "electric parity" and "magnetic parity" parts¹⁷, respectively. The "null memory" (the second term in eq. (3.63)) is given by [19, 40, 39]

$$L_{AB}[F] = 16\pi \left(\mathscr{D}_A \mathscr{D}_B - \frac{1}{2} q_{AB} \mathscr{D}^2 \right) \mathscr{D}^{-2} (\mathscr{D}^2 + 2)^{-1} F$$
(3.67)

where F is the total flux of matter and gravitational energy to null infinity—given by eq. (3.35) with d = 4—and only the $\ell > 1$ part is taken. Equations (3.64) and (3.67) agree with eqs. (3.38) and (3.42) with d set equal to 4.

Finally, suppose that we were to impose the strong stationarity conditions eq. (3.47) and eq. (3.48) at early and late retarded times. Our analysis for d > 4 used the harmonic gauge, which we cannot assume here. However, the gauge freedom for the metric at order 1/r that preserves strong stationarity is given by eq. (2.75) with d = 4, with the requirement that $\xi_{\mu}^{(0)}$ is stationary and $\xi_{\mu}^{(1)}$ vanishes. We can use up the full gauge freedom of $h_{\mu\nu}^{(1)}$ by setting $\eta^{\mu\nu}h_{\mu\nu}^{(1)} = 0$ and $h_{AB}^{(1)} = 0$. One then can show that Einstein's equations with these gauge

^{17.} As we shall see in the next subsection, the "magnetic parity" part is the same as the "vector part" in a spherical tensor decomposition.

conditions imply that when eq. (3.47) and eq. (3.48) hold the metric at Coulombic order (i.e. order 1/r) must be Schwarzschild. The stronger stationarity conditions together with the field equations also imply that $h_{\mu\nu}^{(2)}$ and $h_{\mu\nu}^{(3)}$ do not contribute to P or Q as defined in eqs. (3.65) and (3.66). Since $h_{\mu\nu}^{(1)}$ is spherically symmetric it follows that Q = 0 and Pis spherically symmetric. Hence, as was the case for d > 4, we find that when d = 4, the ordinary memory vanishes if the stronger stationarity conditions eq. (3.47) and eq. (3.48) are imposed.

We summarize the main results of this subsection in the following theorem:

Theorem 4. Suppose $d \ge 4$ and the metric satisfies the stationarity condition eq. (3.3) (for even dimensions) or eqs. (3.4) and (3.5) (for odd dimensions) at early and late retarded times. Then the memory tensor, defined by eq. (3.9), has the following properties:

- (1) In odd dimensions, $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} = 0$ for all $n \leq d-3$.
- (2) In even dimensions, Δ⁽ⁿ⁾_{µν} = 0 for all n < d 3. For n = d 3, the memory tensor can be decomposed into "ordinary memory" and "null memory" as in eq. (3.36). For d > 4, the ordinary and null memory are given, respectively, by eq. (3.37) and eq. (3.38). For d = 4, the ordinary and null memory are given, respectively, by eq. (3.64) (or eq. (3.42)) and eq. (3.67). If one imposes the stronger stationarity conditions eq. (3.47) and eq. (3.48) at early and late retarded times, then the ordinary memory vanishes at Coulombic order (but null memory may still be nonvanishing at Coulombic order).

4 Non-scalar memory

As proven in [59] (see Propositions 2.1 and 2.2 of that reference), any (co)-vector field, v_A , on a sphere in (d-2)-dimensions can be decomposed into its vector and scalar parts via

$$w_A = W_A + \mathscr{D}_A W \tag{3.68}$$

where $\mathscr{D}^A W_A = 0$. Any symmetric tensor field, x_{AB} on the sphere can be decomposed into its tensor, vector, and scalar parts via

$$x_{AB} = X_{AB} + \mathscr{D}_{(A}X_{B)} + \left(\mathscr{D}_{A}\mathscr{D}_{B} - \frac{1}{d-2}q_{AB}\mathscr{D}^{2}\right)X + \frac{1}{d-2}q_{AB}Y$$
(3.69)

where $\mathscr{D}^A X_{AB} = 0 = q^{AB} X_{AB}$ and $\mathscr{D}^A X_A = 0$. Any rotationally invariant operator (such as \mathscr{D}^2) acting on w_A or x_{AB} maps the scalar, vector, and tensor parts into themselves, i.e., rotationally invariant operations cannot "mix" these different parts.

Thus, the Coulombic order memory tensor $\Delta^{(d-3)}_{\mu\nu}$ may be decomposed into its scalar, vector, and tensor parts via

$$\Delta_{rr}^{(d-3)} = -U \tag{3.70}$$

$$\Delta_{rA}^{(d-3)} = R_A + \mathscr{D}_A R \tag{3.71}$$

$$\Delta_{AB}^{(d-3)} = S_{AB} + \mathscr{D}_{(A}S_{B)} + \left(\mathscr{D}_{A}\mathscr{D}_{B} - \frac{1}{d-2}q_{AB}\mathscr{D}^{2}\right)T + \frac{1}{d-2}q_{AB}U$$
(3.72)

where $\mathscr{D}^A R_A = 0 = \mathscr{D}^A S_A$ and $\mathscr{D}^A S_{AB} = 0 = q^{AB} S_{AB}$. Note that the fact that $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}$ is traceless was used to relate $\Delta_{rr}^{(d-3)}$ to the scalar function U appearing in eq. (3.72). In d = 4dimensions, the tensor part, S_{AB} , in eq. (3.72) vanishes, since there are no divergence-free, trace-free, symmetric, rank-2 tensors on \mathbb{S}^2 . Furthermore, on \mathbb{S}^2 , the vector part S_A can always be written as $S_A = \epsilon_{AB} \mathscr{D}^B S$. Thus, in d = 4 dimensions, the "vector part" can be replaced by a "magnetic parity scalar" part. In addition, since $\Delta_{r\mu}^{(1)} = 0$ in 4 dimensions (see eq. (3.23)), we also have $U = R_A = R = 0$ when d = 4. For d = 6, we have U = 0 (see eq. (3.24)).

We shall refer to U, R, and T as "scalar memory", R_A and S_A as "vector memory," and S_{AB} as "tensor memory". The scalar functions U, R, and T are not independent because $\Delta^{(d-3)}_{\mu\nu}$ must satisfy the "constraint equations" eq. (3.20) and eq. (3.21) with n = d - 3. This yields

$$[\mathscr{D}^2 - 2]U - (d - 6)\mathscr{D}^2 R = 0 \tag{3.73}$$

and

$$[\mathscr{D}^2 + 2(d-4)]R + \frac{1}{2}(d-4)[\mathscr{D}^2 + 2(d-3)]T - \frac{d}{d-2}U = 0.$$
(3.74)

Note that for d = 4, this implies that U = R = 0, so scalar memory takes the form

$$[\Delta_{AB}^{(1)}]_{\text{scalar}} = \left(\mathscr{D}_A \mathscr{D}_B - \frac{1}{2} q_{AB} \mathscr{D}^2\right) T \quad \text{for } d = 4.$$
(3.75)

The vector part of eq. (3.20) vanishes, but eq. (3.21) implies that R_A and S_A must satisfy

$$[\mathscr{D}^2 + (d-5)]R_A + \frac{1}{2}(d-4)[\mathscr{D}^2 + (d-3)]S_A = 0.$$
(3.76)

The constraint equations (3.20) and (3.21) do not give any restrictions on S_{AB} .

We can use eqs. (3.73) and (3.74) to solve for U and R in terms of T and we can use eq. (3.76) to solve for R_A in terms of S_A . Thus, the memory tensor is fully characterized by T, S_A , and S_{AB} , i.e., the trace-free part of the angle-angle components of the memory tensor.

No other obvious restrictions on $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}$ arise from Einstein's equations near null infinity for d even—of course, we have already shown that $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)} = 0$ for d odd. This suggests that—in addition to scalar memory—magnetic parity memory may be possible for d = 4, and vector and tensor memory may be possible for d > 4 (for d even). We now investigate whether this is possible for physically reasonable solutions.

Consider, first, null memory. The null memory part of $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}$ is constructed from a rotationally invariant operator $L_{\mu\nu}$ (see eq. (3.38) and eq. (3.67)) acting on the integrated flux F. Since F is a scalar function on the sphere, it follows immediately that null memory is always of purely scalar type.

The analysis of ordinary memory requires that we know that the Coulombic order solution $h_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}$ at early and late retarded times. This is not feasible in nonlinear general relativity but can be analyzed in linearized gravity. Consider, first, classical particle scattering, as treated in [55]. For classical particle scattering, the solution at early and late retarded times is a sum of boosted linearized Schwarzschild solutions. It is easily checked that for boosted, linearized Schwarzschild solutions, $h_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}$ is of purely scalar type. Since ordinary memory is obtained by applying a rotationally invariant operator to $\Delta h_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}$, it follows that ordinary memory is of purely scalar type for particle scattering in linearized gravity.

However, it is not difficult to show that vector and tensor ordinary memory can occur in linearized gravity for the retarded solution arising from other kinds of ingoing or outgoing matter stress-energy satisfying the dominant energy condition. In particular, magnetic parity (i.e, vector) ordinary memory can be produced in d = 4. To see this, consider a stress-energy tensor (for t = u + r > 0)

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{r^2} [\rho u_{\mu} u_{\nu} + l_{\mu\nu}] \delta(r - vt)$$
(3.77)

where $\rho > 0$ is a constant, u^{μ} corresponds to a radially outward 4-velocity with velocity 1 > v > 0, and the components of $l_{\mu\nu}$ in a Cartesian basis (or normalized spherical basis) are

independent of t and r and, on the unit sphere, are given by

$$l_{\mu\nu} = -\epsilon_{(\mu}{}^{\lambda} [u_{\nu})(\mathscr{D}^2 + 1) - \gamma v \mathscr{D}_{\nu}] \mathscr{D}_{\lambda} \alpha.$$
(3.78)

Here α is a time independent, arbitrary function on the sphere (containing multipoles l > 1) and $\gamma \equiv (1 - v^2)^{-1/2}$. For $\alpha = 0$, eq. (3.77) would correspond to an outgoing spherical dust shell and its stress-energy would be conserved. The $l_{\mu\nu}$ term has been constructed so that it is purely of magnetic parity (i.e., vector) type and is conserved by itself, so its addition to the stress-energy tensor does not affect conservation. By choosing ρ sufficiently large, we can ensure that $T_{\mu\nu}$ satisfies the dominant energy condition. Thus, we see no principle that would imply that a stress-energy tensor of the form eq. (3.77) is not physically possible.

Since we are considering linearized gravity and there is no stress energy flux to null infinity, we may work in the Lorenz gauge. In a Cartesian basis, each component of $\bar{h}_{\mu\nu}$ satisfies the ordinary scalar wave equation with source. At radiative order, the contribution of $l_{\mu\nu}$ to the retarded solution for u > 0 is independent of u and is given by

$$\overline{h}^{(1)}_{\mu\nu}(x^A) = 8\pi \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega' \frac{l_{\mu\nu}(x'^A)}{1 - v\hat{r}(x^A) \cdot \hat{r}(x'^A)}$$
(3.79)

where the integral is taken over a sphere and \hat{r} denotes the unit radial vector (with parallel transport in Euclidean space is understood in taking the dot product of vectors at different points on the sphere). It can be seen that $h_{AB}^{(1)}$ is, in general, nonvanishing. It must be of purely vector type since the source is of purely vector type and the retarded Green's function is rotationally invariant.

Now suppose one starts in the distant past with a static laboratory and no incoming gravitational radiation. At retarded time u = 0, a laboratory assistant launches a shell with stress energy of the form eq. (3.77). This shell then continues to move radially outward with velocity v forever. Then, $h_{AB}^{(1)}$ has no magnetic parity part at early retarded times, but it has a nonvanishing magnetic parity part at late times. By eq. (3.62), this yields a nonvanishing magnetic parity memory tensor.

We note that Mädler and Winicour [57] have shown that under the stronger stationarity condition that they impose, magnetic parity memory cannot occur. This result is consistent with our results because, as we have already shown, their stronger stationarity condition rules out all ordinary memory, and null memory is always of scalar type. Bieri [60] has shown that magnetic parity memory cannot occur for vacuum solutions with "small data" in nonlinear general relativity. This result also is consistent with our results.

Finally, we comment that examples with tensor ordinary memory can be obtained for d > 4 by choosing a shell stress-energy tensor¹⁸

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{r^{d-2}} [\rho u_{\mu} u_{\nu} + S_{\mu\nu}] \delta(r - vt)$$
(3.80)

where $S_{\mu\nu}$ has vanishing u and r components and its angle-angle components are of purely tensor type.

In summary, null memory is always of scalar type in linear and nonlinear general relativity. Ordinary memory also is of scalar type for classical particle scattering in linearized gravity. However, ordinary memory need not be of scalar type in general. In particular, we have constructed explicit examples with outgoing shells of matter in linearized gravity that give rise to magnetic parity (= vector) ordinary memory in 4 dimensions and tensor ordinary memory in higher even dimensions.

^{18.} We can, of course, also construct sources with vector memory for d > 4 in a similar manner to eqs. (3.77) and (3.78).

5 Memory as a diffeomorphism

In this subsection, we consider the issue of whether the memory tensor up to Coulombic order can be written as an infinitesimal diffeomorphism, i.e., whether there exists a vector field ξ^{μ} such that

$$\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} = \left[\nabla_{(\mu}\xi_{\nu)}\right]^{(n)} \tag{3.81}$$

for all $n \leq d-3$. One reason why this question is of some interest can be seen from the following considerations.

We introduce the following new gauge: For d > 4, start in the harmonic gauge in the early time stationary era $u < u_0$. For d = 4, start in an arbitrary gauge compatible with our ansatz and stationarity assumption for $u < u_0$. Then, for $u < u_0$, we have $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} = 0$ for all n < d - 3and $\partial_u h_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)} = 0$. By a further gauge transformation of the form $\psi^a = uf(x^A)/r^{d-3}(\partial/\partial u)^{\mu}$, we may, in addition, set $h_{uu}^{(d-3)} = 0$ for $u < u_0$. Now, define coordinates for $u \ge u_0$ by fixing the (r, x^A) coordinates along each geodesic determined by the initial tangent $\partial/\partial u$ and taking the u coordinate to be given by the affine parameter along each geodesic. This agrees with proper time up to and including order $1/r^{d-3}$. Thus, the new coordinates are essentially Gaussian normal coordinates, except that the initial surface $u = u_0$ is not orthogonal to $(\partial/\partial u)^{\mu}$. By the same argument as for Gaussian normal coordinates, we have $\partial_u g_{u\mu} = 0$ (and, hence $\partial_u h_{u\mu} = 0$) at all times at Coulombic order and slower fall-off. Note that the new coordinates will *not*, in general, be harmonic in the radiative era or the final stationary era.

For $u \ge u_0$, the coordinate vector fields $\partial/\partial r$ and $\partial/\partial x^A$ are deviation vectors for the

timelike geodesic congruence with tangent field $u^{\mu} = (\partial/\partial u)^{\mu}$. We have

$$\frac{\partial^2 h_{\mu\nu}}{\partial u^2} = \frac{\partial^2 g_{\mu\nu}}{\partial u^2} = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial u^2} \left[g_{ab} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \right)^a \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \right)^b \right] \\
= u^d \nabla_d u^c \nabla_c \left[g_{ab} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \right)^a \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \right)^b \right] \\
= g_{ab} u^d \nabla_d u^c \nabla_c \left[\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \right)^a \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\nu}} \right)^b \right].$$
(3.82)

This equation holds to all orders in 1/r in our coordinates. The derivatives of the term in brackets on the right side of eq. (3.82) yield terms where $u^{\rho}\nabla_{\rho}u^{\sigma}\nabla_{\sigma}$ acts on a single coordinate vector field and terms where one derivative each acts on each of the two coordinate vector fields. The terms where two derivatives act on a single coordinate vector field can be evaluated from the geodesic deviation equation. The terms where one derivative acts on each of the coordinate vector fields are $O(1/r^{d-2})$. Thus, we obtain in our gauge

$$\frac{\partial^2 h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}}{\partial u^2} = -2C_{u\mu u\nu}^{(n)} \tag{3.83}$$

for all $n \leq d-3$. It follows immediately from the definition, eq. (3.9), of the memory tensor that in our gauge we have

$$\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} = \frac{1}{2} \Delta h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} \tag{3.84}$$

for all $n \leq d-3$. Note that the right side of eq. (3.84) is the full memory tensor, including null memory. This expression is compatible with our previous expression eq. (3.36) for d > 4because that expression held in harmonic gauge whereas eq. (3.84) is valid only in the gauge we have defined above. Equation (3.84) also is compatible with eq. (3.62) for d = 4.

Now, suppose we start with an array of geodesic test particles that are initially "at rest" at early times and consider their final configuration at late times. If eq. (3.81) holds, then $\Delta h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}$ is "pure gauge" for all $n \leq d-3$. This means that if we displace the test particles by ξ^{μ} at late times, they will go back to their original relative configuration at Coulombic and slower fall-off. In other words, at Coulombic order, the final spacetime *geometry* is the same as the initial geometry. On the other hand, if eq. (3.81) does not hold, then it is impossible to displace the particles so that they go back to their original relative configuration. A genuine change in the geometry at Coulombic order has occurred.

We now turn to the analysis of whether one can find a ξ^{μ} so that eq. (3.81) holds. It is clear that in order for $[\nabla_{(\mu}\xi_{\nu)}]^{(n)}$ to vanish for n < d-3 and be *u*-independent at n = d-3, we must choose ξ^{μ} to be such that $\xi^{(n)}_{\mu} = 0$ for n < d-4 whereas

$$\xi_{\mu}^{(d-4)} = J_{\mu}(x^A), \qquad \xi_{\mu}^{(d-3)} = uB_{\mu}(x^A). \tag{3.85}$$

Decomposing $J_{\mu}(x^A)$ and $B_{\mu}(x^A)$ into their scalar, vector, and tensor parts, we see that we have 6 scalar functions on the sphere, 2 divergence-free vector fields on the sphere, and no transverse, traceless tensors. On the other hand, the decomposition of a general symmetric tensor, $t_{\mu\nu}$, on the sphere yields 7 scalar functions, 3 divergence-free vector fields, and 1 transverse, traceless tensor (for d > 4). Thus, *a priori*, we are one free scalar, one free vector, and one free tensor (for d > 4) short of being able to express a general tensor on the sphere in the form we seek.

However, $\Delta_{\mu\nu}$ is not a general tensor on the sphere. It has vanishing *u*-components, is trace-free, and its scalar and vector parts satisfy the constraint eqs. (3.73), (3.74) and (3.76). The symmetrized derivative of ξ_a at order $1/r^{d-3}$ is

$$[\nabla_{(\mu}\xi_{\nu)}]^{(d-3)} = q_{(\mu}{}^{\sigma}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}J_{\sigma} + (J_r - J_u)q_{\mu\nu} + r_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}J_r - K_{(\mu}\mathscr{D}_{\nu)}J_u - q_{(\mu}{}^{\sigma}r_{\nu)}J_{\sigma} - (d-4)r_{(\mu}J_{\nu)} - K_{(\mu}B_{\nu)}.$$
(3.86)

It is clear from this equation that we may choose B_{ν} such that the *u* components of eq. (3.86)

vanish, so we need only consider whether J_{μ} can be chosen so as to make the non-*u* components of the right side of eq. (3.86) match $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}$. We may separately consider the scalar, vector, and tensor parts. The scalar parts of J_{μ} are J_r , J_u , and J, where J denotes the scalar part of J_A . Equating the scalar part of eq. (3.86) to the scalar part of $\Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}$ (see eqs. (3.70)-)3.72)), we obtain the following equations

$$(d-4)J_r = U (3.87)$$

$$J_r - (d-3)J = 2R (3.88)$$

$$J = T \tag{3.89}$$

$$\mathscr{D}^2 J + (d-2)(J_r - J_u) = U.$$
(3.90)

This is an overdetermined system for J_r , J_u , and J. The necessary and sufficient condition for a solution to exist is that U, R, and T satisfy

$$\frac{U}{(d-4)} - (d-3)T = 2R.$$
(3.91)

However, it can be shown that this equation is implied by the constraint equations eqs. (3.73) and (3.74). Thus, the scalar part of $\Delta_{\mu\nu}$ can always be written in the form eq. (3.81) for a ξ^a of the form eq. (3.85). Thus, scalar memory at Coulombic order is always given by a diffeomorphism [38]. In particular, as is well known, the scalar memory eq. (3.75) for d = 4 is of the form of a supertranslation. However, a similar calculation shows that no such miracles occur for vector memory, and vector memory can *never* be written in the form eq. (3.81). Tensor memory, of course, also can never be written in the form eq. (3.81).

In summary, scalar memory at Coulombic order always can be written as a diffeomorphism, but this never holds for vector and tensor memory.

6 Charges and conservation laws

1 Charges and memory

In d = 4 dimensions, it is well known [21] that all asymptotic symmetries at future null infinity give rise to associated charges and fluxes. In this sub-subsection, we will show that the charges and fluxes associated with supertranslations are intimately related to the memory effect in 4 dimensions, and, indeed, we will derive the formula for scalar memory in d = 4from the supertranslation charges and fluxes. We will then obtain corresponding results for d > 4. Since the derivations and formulas of [21] apply only to the vacuum case, in the following two paragraphs we will restrict to the case where $T_{\mu\nu} = 0$ in a neighborhood of null infinity. We will then restore $T_{\mu\nu}$ in our formulas.

Consider a supertranslation, i.e., a diffeomorphism belonging to the gauge equivalence class of

$$\psi^{\mu} = f(x^{A}) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial u}\right)^{\mu} - f(x^{A}) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial r}\right)^{\mu} - q^{BC} \mathscr{D}_{B} f(x^{A}) \frac{1}{r} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{C}}\right)^{\mu} + \dots$$
(3.92)

where the ... stand for a vector field that vanishes as $r \to \infty$ for fixed u and x^A . From general considerations [21] arising from the Lagrangian formulation of general relativity, a charge \mathcal{Q}_f^+ , and flux, \mathscr{F}_f^+ , can be associated with ψ^{μ} such that for any u_0, u_1 , we have

$$\mathcal{Q}_{f}^{+}(u_{1}) - \mathcal{Q}_{f}^{+}(u_{0}) = \int_{u_{0}}^{u_{1}} du \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} d\Omega \ \mathscr{F}_{f}^{+}.$$
(3.93)

An explicit formula for \mathcal{Q}_{f}^{+} (originally due to Geroch [41]) is given in eq.(98) of [21], and an explicit formula for \mathscr{F}_{f}^{+} is given in eq.(82) of [21]. Here we have inserted a superscript "+" to distinguish these charges and fluxes from similar quantities at past null infinity, which will be considered later. The flux is evaluated to be

$$\mathscr{F}_{f}^{+} = -\frac{1}{32\pi} (f N^{AB} N_{AB} - 2N^{AB} \mathscr{D}_{A} \mathscr{D}_{B} f).$$
(3.94)

The formula for the charge is considerably more complicated, but this formula simplifies considerably in stationary eras, when $N_{AB} = 0$. From eq.(98) of [21], we find that in stationary eras we have

$$\mathcal{Q}_{f}^{+}\big|_{\text{stationary}} = -\frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} d\Omega \ fC_{urur}^{(3)}. \tag{3.95}$$

Thus, if we impose the stationarity conditions of sec. 3.1 and we let $u_0 \to -\infty$ and $u_1 \to +\infty$ in eq. (3.93), we obtain

$$\mathcal{Q}_{f}^{+}(+\infty) - \mathcal{Q}_{f}^{+}(-\infty) = \int_{\mathscr{I}^{+}} du d\Omega \ \mathscr{F}_{f}^{+}.$$
(3.96)

The flux integral can be rewritten as

$$\int_{\mathscr{I}^{+}} dud\Omega \,\mathscr{F}_{f}^{+} = -\int_{\mathscr{I}^{+}} dud\Omega \, fF + \frac{1}{16\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} d\Omega \mathscr{D}^{A} \mathscr{D}^{B} f \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \, N_{AB}$$

$$= -\int_{\mathscr{I}^{+}} dud\Omega \, fF + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} d\Omega \, \left(\mathscr{D}^{A} \mathscr{D}^{B} f \right) \Delta_{AB}^{(1)}$$

$$= -\int_{\mathscr{I}^{+}} dud\Omega \, fF + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} d\Omega f \mathscr{D}^{A} \mathscr{D}^{B} \Delta_{AB}^{(1)} \qquad (3.97)$$

where $F = \frac{1}{32\pi} N^{AB} N_{AB}$ is the Bondi flux, and we used eq. (3.62) in the second line. The contribution to $\int_{\mathscr{I}^+} dud\Omega \,\mathscr{F}_f^+$ arising from the term fF is often referred to as the "hard" integrated flux (or "hard charge") whereas the term involving $\Delta_{AB}^{(1)}$ is called the "soft" integrated flux (or "soft charge"). The terms $\mathcal{Q}_f^+(-\infty)$ and $\mathcal{Q}_f^+(+\infty)$ can be viewed as the contributions to "hard charge" coming from the asymptotic past (spatial infinity) and future

(timelike infinity). From eqs. (3.95) - (3.97), we obtain,

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \, fC_{urur}^{(3)} \Big|_{+\infty} - \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \, fC_{urur}^{(3)} \Big|_{-\infty} - 8\pi \int_{\mathscr{I}^+} du d\Omega \, fF = -\int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \, f\mathscr{D}^A \mathscr{D}^B \Delta_{AB}^{(1)} \quad (3.98)$$

which relates the hard charges to the soft charge. Note that if f is an $\ell = 0$ or $\ell = 1$ spherical harmonic (in which case ψ^a is a translation), the term in $\Delta_{AB}^{(1)}$ does not contribute, and this equation corresponds to the integrated conservation law for Bondi 4-momentum.

Since eq. (3.98) holds for all f, this equation must hold pointwise on the sphere. Therefore, we obtain

$$-\mathscr{D}^{A}\mathscr{D}^{B}\Delta_{AB}^{(1)} = C_{urur}^{(3)}\Big|_{+\infty} - C_{urur}^{(3)}\Big|_{-\infty} - 8\pi \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \ F.$$
(3.99)

It is easily seen that vector memory makes no contribution to $\mathscr{D}^A \mathscr{D}^B \Delta^{(1)}_{AB}$. On the other hand, substituting the form eq. (3.75) of scalar memory, we obtain

$$-\frac{1}{2}\mathscr{D}^{2}(\mathscr{D}^{2}+2)T = C_{urur}^{(3)}\Big|_{+\infty} - C_{urur}^{(3)}\Big|_{-\infty} - 8\pi \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} duF.$$
(3.100)

Solving for T and substituting back in eq. (3.75), we obtain a formula for scalar memory that agrees with the scalar part of eq. (3.63).

In the above two paragraphs, we have restricted to the case where $T_{\mu\nu} = 0$ in a neighborhood of null infinity in order to use the formulas given in [21]. However, eq. (3.63) holds when $T_{\mu\nu} \neq 0$. This shows that when $T_{\mu\nu} \neq 0$, eq. (3.98) is modified merely by the simple substitution $F = \frac{1}{32\pi} N^{AB} N_{AB} \rightarrow \frac{1}{32\pi} N^{AB} N_{AB} + T_{uu}^{(2)}$.

We now consider the case d > 4. As we have seen in the previous subsection, in d > 4 dimensions, scalar memory is still given by a diffeomorphism. However, this diffeomorphism is now pure gauge, i.e., it has vanishing symplectic product with all asymptotically flat perturbations. Thus, nontrivial charges and fluxes cannot be associated with these diffeomorphisms

via the Lagrangian formalism. Nevertheless, our general memory formula eq. (3.36) can be interpreted as a charge/flux formula. Namely, we may write this formula in the form

$$P_{\mu\nu}[\bar{h}_{\rho\sigma}^{(d-3)}]\Big|_{\infty} - P_{\mu\nu}[\bar{h}_{\rho\sigma}^{(d-3)}]\Big|_{-\infty} + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \ L_{\mu\nu}[F] = \Delta_{\mu\nu}^{(d-3)}.$$
 (3.101)

Now for arbitrary scalar field f on the sphere, *define* the scalar charge, Q_f^+ during a stationary era, by¹⁹

$$\mathcal{Q}_{f}^{+} = \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} d\Omega P_{AB}[\overline{h}_{\rho\sigma}^{(d-3)}] \left(\mathscr{D}^{A} \mathscr{D}^{B} - \frac{1}{d-2} q^{AB} \mathscr{D}^{2} \right) f.$$
(3.102)

Using eq. (3.42), we can rewrite the right side of eq. (3.101) in terms of $\Delta E_{rr}^{(d-1)}$. It then can be seen that eq. (3.102) corresponds to eq.(5.21) of [38], but with different angular weights, i.e. our f is related to their f by angular operators. Multiplying eq. (3.101) by $(\mathscr{D}^A \mathscr{D}^B - \frac{1}{d-2} q^{AB} \mathscr{D}^2) f$ and integrating over a sphere, we obtain

$$\mathcal{Q}_{f}^{+}\big|_{\infty} - \mathcal{Q}_{f}^{+}\big|_{-\infty} + \int_{\mathscr{I}^{+}} f\left(\mathscr{D}^{A}\mathscr{D}^{B} - \frac{q^{AB}}{d-2}\mathscr{D}^{2}\right) L_{AB}[F] = \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} d\Omega f\left(\mathscr{D}^{A}\mathscr{D}^{B} - \frac{q^{AB}}{d-2}\mathscr{D}^{2}\right) \Delta_{AB}^{(d-3)}$$

$$(3.103)$$

which is closely analogous to eq. (3.98) and can be given an interpretation in terms of "hard" and "soft" charges.

Similarly, during stationary eras we can define the vector charge, $\mathcal{Q}^+_{\beta_A}$, associated with a

^{19.} An important difference between d > 4 and d = 4 is that the scalar charge for d > 4 is defined only during stationary eras, whereas in d = 4 a local, gauge invariant scalar charge can be defined at all times (even though we gave the formula eq. (3.95) for scalar charge in d = 4 only during a stationary era). The existence of local, gauge invariant charge during radiative eras in d = 4 traces back, by the considerations of [21], to its association with an asymptotic symmetry. Since there is no such association in d > 4, we see no reason to believe that a local, gauge invariant scalar charge corresponding to eq. (3.102) can be defined during radiative eras for d > 4.

divergence free vector field β_A on the sphere by the formula

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\beta_A}^+ = \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \beta^B \mathscr{D}^A P_{AB}[\overline{h}_{\rho\sigma}^{(d-3)}].$$
(3.104)

We then obtain

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\beta_A}^+\Big|_{\infty} - \mathcal{Q}_{\beta_A}^+\Big|_{-\infty} = \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \beta^B \mathscr{D}^A \Delta_{AB}^{(d-3)}.$$
(3.105)

No contribution from F appears in this equation since $L_{AB}[F]$ cannot have a vector part. Finally, for any divergence-free, trace-free tensor field γ_{AB} on the sphere, we can define the tensor charge $\mathcal{Q}^+_{\gamma_{AB}}$ during a stationary era by

$$\mathcal{Q}^{+}_{\gamma_{AB}} = \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \gamma^{AB} P_{AB}[\overline{h}^{(d-3)}_{\rho\sigma}]$$
(3.106)

and obtain

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\gamma_{AB}}^{+}\Big|_{\infty} - \mathcal{Q}_{\gamma_{AB}}^{+}\Big|_{-\infty} = \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \gamma^{AB} \Delta_{AB}^{(d-3)}.$$
(3.107)

Of course, there is no information contained in eq. (3.103), eq. (3.105), and eq. (3.107) than that which already appeared in eq. (3.36).

2 Conservation laws

Thus far, the analysis of this chapter has been concerned solely with the behavior of fields near future null infinity. Of course, the same analysis could be applied to past null infinity. In this sub-subsection, we wish to consider the relationship between quantities at past and future null infinity. Under the assumptions specified below, we will obtain a conservation law relating past and future null infinity.

Consider, first, the case of a scalar field ϕ in Minkowski spacetime with d even and $d \ge 4$,

with source S = 0 in a neighborhood of future null infinity. We restrict attention to solutions, $\phi_{\ell m}$, whose angular dependence is given by a single spherical harmonic, $Y_{\ell m}$. (A general solution, of course, can be expressed as a superposition of such solutions.) Suppose that at Coulombic order, $\phi_{\ell m}$ is stationary at early retarded times, $\partial_u \phi_{\ell m}^{(d-3)} = 0$, so that at early times,

$$\phi_{\ell m}^{(d-3)} = c Y_{\ell m}(x^A) \tag{3.108}$$

where c is a constant. In the recursion relations eq. (2.13), we may replace \mathscr{D}^2 by $-\ell(\ell+d-3)$, so we have

$$(2n-d+2)\partial_u \phi_{\ell m}^{(n)} = [\ell(\ell+d-3) - (n-1)(n-d+2)]\phi_{\ell m}^{(n-1)}.$$
(3.109)

Thus, as usual, we obtain $\phi_{\ell m}^{(n)} = 0$ for n < d-3. For $d-3 \le n < \ell + d - 2$, we see that $\phi_{\ell m}^{(n)}$ is a polynomial, $\mathcal{P}_n(u)$, in u of degree n - d + 3, with the coefficients of the polynomials at the different orders related by eq. (3.109). For $n = \ell + d - 2$, we obtain $\partial_u \phi_{\ell m}^{(\ell+d-2)} = 0$, so we may terminate the series by setting $\phi_{\ell m}^{(n)} = 0$ for $n \ge \ell + d - 2$. We thereby obtain an *exact solution* of the form

$$\phi_{\ell m} = \sum_{n=\ell+d-3}^{d-3} \frac{\mathcal{P}_n(u)}{r^n} Y_{\ell m}(x^A).$$
(3.110)

This solution is of direct physical interest, since it corresponds to the $Y_{\ell m}$ part of the retarded solution with source corresponding to matter in inertial motion (e.g., classical incoming particles on inertial timelike trajectories). The general solution with $Y_{\ell m}$ angular dependence that is stationary at Coulomb order is eq. (3.110) plus a solution with an asymptotic expansion whose slowest fall-off term is at order $1/r^{\ell+d-2}$, and with the coefficients of the higher powers of $1/r^n$ being polynomials in u of degree $n - (\ell + d - 2)$. This series cannot terminate.

We consider, now, the exact solution eq. (3.110). The highest power of u in eq. (3.110)

appears as the term $Cu^{\ell}/r^{\ell+d-3}$, where C is related to the coefficient of the Coulombic order coefficient c by an ℓ fold product of the numerical factors arising from successively solving eq. (3.109). Now, consider the behavior of the solution eq. (3.110) near past null infinity. We can determine this behavior by writing u = v - 2r and re-expanding in 1/r. It is immediately clear that the highest power of v occurring in this solution will be the term $C'v^{\ell}/r^{\ell+d-3}$. The coefficient C is related to the Coulombic order coefficient C' at past null infinity by a set of recursion relations. The recursion relations at past null infinity are the same as the recursion relations at future null infinity except for the following important difference: $\partial/\partial r$ is now past directed, which gives rise to a change in the sign of the $\partial/\partial u$ term in each of the recursion relations. Thus, we end up with ℓ sign flips by the time we reach Coulombic order. We thereby obtain $C' = (-1)^{\ell}C$, i.e., we have

$$\phi_{\ell m}^{(d-3)}\Big|_{\mathscr{J}^{-}} = (-1)^{\ell} C Y_{\ell m}(x^{A}).$$
(3.111)

Since $(-1)^{\ell} Y_{\ell m}(x^A) = Y_{\ell m}(-x^A)$, this means that the solution eq. (3.110) at Coulombic order has an "antipodal matching" between \mathscr{I}^+ and \mathscr{I}^- [47].

The antipodal matching eq. (3.111) has been shown only for the exact solutions eq. (3.110) that terminate at order $1/r^{\ell+d-3}$. However, since the additional terms in the asymptotic series of more general solutions behave no worse than $u^k/r^{k+\ell+d-2}$ for $k \ge 0$, these individual terms would not contribute at Coulombic order at \mathscr{I}^- . Of course, the series composed of these terms is merely an asymptotic series near \mathscr{I}^+ , and we clearly cannot determine the behavior of solutions near \mathscr{I}^- from an asymptotic expansion near \mathscr{I}^+ . Nevertheless, it seems not implausible that the antipodal matching may hold for a much more general class of solutions than the exact solutions eq. (3.110). In any case, since the antipodal matching holds for eq. (3.110) for all ℓ, m and the retarded solution corresponding to incoming inertial particles is a sum of such solutions, the antipodal matching holds for the retarded solution for

incoming inertial particles—as can be verified directly from the explicit form of the solution [47].

Similar antipodal matching results hold for Maxwell's equations and for linearized gravity [44, 4, 47, 33]. The situation in nonlinear general relativity is less clear. Even for a solution that is stationary at Coulombic order, nonlinear terms will enter Einstein's equation at order 2(d-2). However, even in the linear case above, the behavior at \mathscr{I}^- at Coulombic order depends on the form of the solution at order $n = \ell + d - 3$ near \mathscr{I}^+ . Thus, for large l, the nonlinear terms in Einstein's equation cannot be ignored. Nevertheless, it remains not implausible that the antipodal matching may continue to hold in quite general circumstances. Indeed, the matching of supertranslation charges was shown under the Ashtekar-Hansen [61] asymptotic flatness conditions at spatial infinity together with an additional null regularity condition at spatial infinity [26, 62]. However, a full proof of the matching conditions would require an extension of the Christodoulou and Klainerman analysis [63] for initial data with non-vanishing supertranslation charges at spatial infinity.

In any case, we will now assume that we have a solution to Einstein's equation for which the antipodal matching holds at Coulombic order and consider the consequences. The key point is that the matching of the Coulombic order metrics implies a corresponding matching of the charges of the previous subsection, since the charges are constructed out of the Coulombic order metric. In particular, in d = 4 dimensions, we have

$$\mathcal{Q}_{f}^{+}|_{u=-\infty} = \mathcal{Q}_{\tilde{f}}^{-}|_{v=+\infty}$$
(3.112)

where $\mathcal{Q}_{\tilde{f}}^-$ denotes the charge at \mathscr{I}^- associated to the supertranslation $\tilde{\psi}^a$ with \tilde{f} antipodally matched to f. Since, in analogy to eq. (3.96), we have

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\tilde{f}}^{-}|_{v=+\infty} - \mathcal{Q}_{\tilde{f}}^{-}|_{v=-\infty} = \int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} dv d\Omega \ \mathcal{F}_{\tilde{f}}^{-}$$
(3.113)

where

$$\mathcal{F}_{\tilde{f}}^{-} = \frac{1}{32\pi} (\tilde{f} N^{AB} N_{AB} + 2N^{AB} \mathscr{D}_{A} \mathscr{D}_{B} \tilde{f})$$
(3.114)

we obtain the conservation law [44, 4, 47]

$$\mathcal{Q}_{f}^{+}|_{u=+\infty} + \int_{\mathscr{I}^{+}} fF - \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} d\Omega \ f\mathscr{D}^{A} \mathscr{D}^{B} \Delta_{AB}^{(1)}|_{\mathscr{I}^{+}}$$
$$= \mathcal{Q}_{\tilde{f}}^{-}|_{v=-\infty} + \int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} \tilde{f}F + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} d\Omega \ \tilde{f} \mathscr{D}^{A} \mathscr{D}^{B} \Delta_{AB}^{(1)}|_{\mathscr{I}^{-}}.$$
(3.115)

This may be interpreted as saying that the ingoing hard charge plus the integrated hard and soft fluxes at \mathscr{I}^- are equal to the corresponding quantities at \mathscr{I}^+ .

Similarly, in d > 4 dimensions, we get a similar antipodal matching of the scalar, vector, and tensor charges defined by eq. (3.102), eq. (3.104), and eq. (3.106), which leads to similar conservation laws.

7 Memory and infrared divergences in four and higher dimensions

In d = 4 dimensions, there is a very close relationship between the memory effect and infrared divergences that occur in quantum field theory. This follows directly from the fact that, by eq. (3.62), the memory tensor is just the change in $h_{AB}^{(1)}$ between late and early retarded times. Thus, if $\Delta_{AB}^{(1)} \neq 0$, then $h_{AB}^{(1)}(u, x^A)$ cannot vanish at future null infinity at both $u \to -\infty$ and $u \to +\infty$. It follows that the Fourier transform of $h_{AB}^{(1)}$ with respect to u will diverge at small ω as $1/\omega$. As we shall now explain, this behavior gives rise to infrared divergences in quantum field theory. Exactly similar behavior occurs in the scalar and electromagnetic cases, but we will restrict our discussion here to the gravitational case.

Let $d \ge 4$, with d allowed to be odd as well as even. The Lagrangian formulation of general relativity gives rise to a conserved symplectic current density w^{μ} constructed out of a
background solution $g_{\mu\nu}$ and two perturbations $h_{\mu\nu}$ and $h'_{\mu\nu}$. Consider the symplectic flux $(\partial/\partial u)^{\mu}w_{\mu} = w_u$ near future null infinity. Only the leading order term $w_u^{(d-2)}$ can contribute to this flux. However, only the radiative order parts of $h_{\mu\nu}$ and $h'_{\mu\nu}$ can contribute to $w_u^{(d-2)}$, and the deviation of $g_{\mu\nu}$ from the flat metric $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ cannot contribute at all. We obtain

$$w_u^{(d-2)}(h'_{AB}, h_{CD}) = \frac{1}{32\pi} (C^{AB} N'_{AB} - C'^{AB} N_{AB})$$
(3.116)

where N_{AB} is the Bondi news tensor, eq. (2.76) and C_{AB} is the trace free part of the projection of $h_{AB}^{(d/2-1)}$ onto the sphere. In writing eq. (3.116), we have imposed the gauge conditions $h_{rA}^{(1)} = h_{uu}^{(1)} = \eta^{\mu\nu}h_{\mu\nu}^{(1)} = 0$ in d = 4 and we have imposed the harmonic gauge for d > 4. The integrated symplectic flux can be used to define a symplectic form $\Omega(h'_{AB}, h_{CD})$ at future null infinity

$$\Omega(h'_{AB}, h_{CD}) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ w_u^{(d-2)}(h'_{AB}, h_{CD}).$$
(3.117)

Equation (3.117) gives us the necessary structure to define a Fock space of "outgoing graviton" states. We define the "one-particle outgoing Hilbert space" \mathscr{H}_{out} as the space of radiative order trace-free ψ_{AB} that are purely positive frequency with respect to u, with inner product given by

$$\langle \psi'_{AB} | \psi_{CD} \rangle = -i\Omega(\psi'^*_{AB}, \psi_{CD}) \tag{3.118}$$

where "*" denotes complex conjugation. More precisely, we define \mathscr{H}_{out} by starting with smooth positive frequency ψ_{AB} with fast fall-off in u, defining the inner product eq. (3.118) on such ψ_{AB} , and taking the Cauchy completion. The inner product eq. (3.118) is positive definite, as can be seen from the fact that in Fourier transform space, it is given by

$$\langle \psi'_{AB} | \psi_{CD} \rangle = \frac{1}{16\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \int_0^\infty \omega d\omega \ \hat{\psi}'^*_{AB} \hat{\psi}^{AB}$$
(3.119)

where the "hat" denotes the Fourier transform. A classical solution $h_{\mu\nu}$ can be associated with a state in \mathscr{H}_{out} via $h_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow h_{+AB}^{(1)}$ —where the subscript "+" denotes the positive frequency part—provided, of course, that $h_{+AB}^{(1)} \in \mathscr{H}_{out}$. Given \mathscr{H}_{out} , one may then define the corresponding Fock space $\mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out})$. A free field operator, $\mathbf{h}_{\mu\nu}^{out}$, on $\mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out})$ can then be defined in the usual manner in terms of annihilation and creation operators. Note that this construction is well defined even if the quantum gravity theory has not been defined in the interior spacetime [64].

However, this space, $\mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out})$, of outgoing graviton states need not be adequate to describe all physically relevant outgoing states. This is most easily seen by considering the theory of *linearized* quantum gravity (i.e., a massless, spin-2 field) with a *classical* stress energy source, i.e., the stress-energy operator is taken to be $T_{ab}\mathbf{I}$ where T_{ab} is a classical stress energy and \mathbf{I} is the identity operator. This is a well defined, mathematically consistent theory that can be solved exactly. After analyzing this theory, we will discuss the implications for a full theory in which the stress-energy is fully quantum and the nonlinear effects of gravity are taken into account.

The Heisenberg equations of motion for the field operator $\mathbf{h}_{\mu\nu}$ for linearized gravity with a classical stress-energy source are easily solved to yield

$$\mathbf{h}_{\mu\nu} = \mathbf{h}_{\mu\nu}^{\mathrm{in}} + h_{\mu\nu}^{\mathrm{ret}}\mathbf{I} \tag{3.120}$$

where $\mathbf{h}_{\mu\nu}^{\text{in}}$ is the free field operator corresponding to the "in" field and $h_{\mu\nu}^{\text{ret}}$ is the classical retarded solution with classical source T_{ab} . Suppose we consider the state $|0_{\text{in}}\rangle$, corresponding to the vacuum state of $\mathbf{h}_{\mu\nu}^{\text{in}}$. If we assume that this state corresponds to some state $\Psi \in \mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{\text{out}})$, then it follows from eq. (3.120) that for any one particle state ψ_{AB} , we have

$$\mathbf{a}_{\text{out}}(\psi_{AB})\Psi = -\langle \psi_{AB} | h_{+AB}^{\text{ret}} \rangle \Psi.$$
(3.121)

The solution to this equation is the coherent state associated with h_{+AB}^{ret} , namely

$$\Psi \propto \exp\left[-\mathbf{a}_{\text{out}}^{\dagger}(h_{+AB}^{\text{ret}})\right] |0_{\text{out}}\rangle$$
(3.122)

Equation (3.122) was derived under the assumption that $\Psi \in \mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out})$. If h_{+AB}^{ret} has finite norm in the inner product eq. (3.118), then the right side of eq. (3.122) defines a state in $\mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out})$, and this state corresponds to $|0_{in}\rangle$. However, if h_{+AB}^{ret} does not have finite norm in the inner product eq. (3.118), then the right side of eq. (3.122) does not define a state in $\mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out})$. It follows that $|0_{in}\rangle$ cannot correspond to a state in $\mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out})$. This should not be a cause of any distress. The Heisenberg state $|0_{in}\rangle$ is well defined everywhere as a state on the algebra of local field observables. It is similarly well defined on the algebra of asymptotic field observables near future null infinity. All of its correlation functions are well defined at future null infinity. If we wish to represent this state as a vector in a Hilbert space, \mathscr{H}_{out} , carrying a representation of the "out" field observables, we may always do so via the GNS construction. However, if h_{+AB}^{ret} does not have finite Klein-Gordon norm, the representation of the field observables on \mathscr{H}_{out} cannot be unitarily equivalent to its representation on $\mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out})$ (see [64], Section V.A of [65]).

Now let d = 4 and consider the case where the classical source T_{ab} is such that the corresponding retarded solution h_{ab}^{ret} has a nonvanishing memory tensor $\Delta_{AB}^{(1)} \neq 0$. Then, as already noted in the first paragraph of this subsection, the Fourier transform of $h_{AB}^{\text{ret}(1)}$ with respect to u will diverge at small ω as $1/\omega$. But by eq. (3.119), we then have

$$\left\|\hat{h}_{+AB}^{\text{ret}\,(1)}\right\|^{2} = \frac{1}{16\pi} \int d\Omega \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \omega |\hat{h}_{+AB}^{\text{ret}\,(1)}|^{2} = \infty$$
(3.123)

on account of the "infrared divergence" as $\omega \to 0$. Thus, the "out" state corresponding to $|0_{in}\rangle$ —or, for than matter, any other state in $\mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{in})$ —does not live in $\mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out})$, and one

would have to work with a different representation to represent this state as a vector in a Hilbert space. Exactly analogous results hold in the scalar and electromagnetic cases for d = 4.

We have just shown that in linearized gravity with a classical source for which a nontrivial memory effect is present in the classical retarded solution—as would occur generically in classical particle scattering—the "out" state Ψ is not a state in $\mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out})$. However, the infrared divergence described in the previous paragraph is sufficiently innocuous that one can, in effect, proceed as though one were dealing with a state in $\mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out})$. To see this, consider, first, the case where no infrared divergences occur and h_{+AB}^{ret} has finite Klein-Gordon norm, so eq. (3.122) defines a state in $\mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out})$. Choose a frequency $\omega_0 > 0$ and decompose \mathscr{H}_{out} into the direct sum of its "hard" and "soft" graviton spaces

$$\mathscr{H}_{\text{out}} = \mathscr{H}_{\text{out}}^H \oplus \mathscr{H}_{\text{out}}^S \tag{3.124}$$

where \mathscr{H}_{out}^{H} is spanned by trace-free ψ_{AB} composed of frequencies $\omega \geq \omega_0$ and \mathscr{H}_{out}^{S} is spanned by trace-free ψ_{AB} composed of frequencies $\omega_0 > \omega \geq 0$. The Fock space $\mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out})$ then factorizes as

$$\mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{\text{out}}) = \mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{\text{out}}^H) \otimes \mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{\text{out}}^S).$$
(3.125)

Now decompose h_{+AB}^{ret} into its "hard" and "soft" parts,

$$h_{+AB}^{\text{ret}} = [h_{+AB}^{\text{ret}}]^H + [h_{+AB}^{\text{ret}}]^S.$$
(3.126)

The creation operator $\mathbf{a}_{\text{out}}^{\dagger}(h_{+AB}^{\text{ret}})$ appearing in eq. (3.122) and be written as the sum of creation operators for the hard and soft parts of h_{+AB}^{ret} . Since these operators commute, Ψ factorizes as

$$\Psi = \Psi^H \otimes \Psi^S \tag{3.127}$$

where $\Psi^{H} \in \mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out}^{H})$ is the coherent state associated with $[h_{+AB}^{ret}]^{H}$ and $\Psi^{S} \in \mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out}^{S})$ is the coherent state associated with $[h_{+AB}^{ret}]^{S}$. The factorization in eq. (3.127) implies that if we are interested solely in the "hard part" of the outgoing state, we may effectively put in an "infrared cutoff" at $\omega = \omega_0$ and work with the state Ψ^{H} in the Fock space $\mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out}^{H})$. In particular, the probability that $\Psi^{H} \in \mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out}^{H})$ contains a specified number of "hard gravitons" in specified modes is the same as the sum of the probabilities that $\Psi \in \mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out})$ contains these "hard gravitons" and any number of "soft gravitons." This is the essential content of the "soft theorems" [28]. In perturbation theory, the fact that inclusion of the effects of "soft gravitons" does not affect the calculation of "hard graviton" probabilities manifests itself in a cancelation of the contributions of "real soft gravitons" and "virtual soft gravitons."

The above discussion assumed that $h_{AB}^{\text{ret}(1)}$ does not have infrared divergences, in which case there is no need to decompose the "out" state into "hard" and "soft" parts. Now consider the case where a memory effect is present and $h_{AB}^{\text{ret}(1)}$ does have an infrared divergence. Then, as discussed above, $\Psi \notin \mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{\text{out}})$. Nevertheless, we may still write

$$\Psi = \Psi^H \otimes \tilde{\Psi}^S \tag{3.128}$$

where $\Psi^{H} \in \mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out}^{H})$ is the coherent state associated with $[h_{+AB}^{\text{ret}}]^{H}$ and $\tilde{\Psi}^{S} \in \tilde{\mathscr{F}}_{out}^{S}$ is the "soft graviton" state written as a vector in the Hilbert space $\tilde{\mathscr{F}}_{out}^{S}$ in the representation to which it belongs. Although the "soft graviton" content of Ψ near future null infinity is ill defined (since $\Psi^{S} \notin \mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out}^{S})$), the "hard graviton" content of Ψ is well defined (since $\Psi^{H} \in \mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out}^{H})$). Thus, if we are interested only in the "hard particle" content of Ψ near future null infinity, we may, in effect, put in an infrared cutoff and treat Ψ as an ordinary Fock space state $\Psi^{H} \in \mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_{out}^{H})$ [9].

All of the above discussion beginning with eq. (3.120) holds for the rather trivial theory

of linearized gravity with a classical stress-energy source. It is quite a leap to go from this theory to the case of quantum, interacting matter and quantum, nonlinear general relativity, especially since a quantum theory of nonlinear general relativity is not in hand. Nevertheless, let us consider a scattering situation where, by assumption, we have non-interacting ingoing "hard" particles at early times and non-interacting outgoing "hard" particles late times. Consider the "soft" content of the outgoing state, associated with $\omega < \omega_0$, where ω_0 is much less than any inverse length or time scale associated with the interaction. Then, it seems plausible that the dominant contributions to this "soft" content will come from asymptotically early and late times, where the "hard" particles are non-interacting and effectively can be treated classically. If so, then a factorization similar to eq. (3.128) should occur, but with the following important difference: If we fix an "in" state consisting of "hard" particles in momentum eigenstates, then the hard content of the "out" state should have a nonvanishing amplitude for "hard" particles in many different momentum eigenstates. (Of course, total energy-momentum is conserved.)

But this means that there also should be nonvanishing amplitudes for different memory tensors. However, there are an uncountably infinite set of inequivalent memory Fock representations. How should these representations be put together into a single separable Hilbert space such that the S-matrix is well-defined (i.e. infrared finite) and has a continuous action of the asymptotic symmetry group? This question shall be directly addressed in chapter 3.

Finally, we note that essentially all of our discussion above also applies to d > 4. For d even, the memory tensor is first nonvanishing only at Coulombic order. However, since $C_{u\mu u\nu}^{(d/2-1)}$ can be expressed as inverse angular operators acting on $\partial^{d/2-2}C_{u\mu u\nu}^{(d-3)}/\partial u^{d/2-2}$, it can be seen that the Fourier transform of $h_{AB}^{(d/2-1)}(u, x^A)$ behaves as $\omega^{d/2-3}$ as $\omega \to 0$. Thus, there are no infrared divergences for d > 4. This result holds in odd dimensions as well. Thus, although one can still factorize states into "hard" and "soft" parts, there is no

necessity to do so in order to describe the "out" state as a Fock space state. $^{\rm 20}$

^{20.} However, there may be other considerations that indicate the utility of factorization of the out state into "hard" and "soft" parts (see [66, 67]).

CHAPTER 3

INFRARED FINITE SCATTERING THEORY IN QUANTUM FIELD THEORY AND QUANTUM GRAVITY

1 Introduction

In this chapter, we consider the problem of infrared divergences in quantum scattering theory. The seminal work of Lehmann, Symanzik and Zimmerman (LSZ) [68], Haag and Ruelle [69, 70], and others established that conventional scattering theory should be well-defined in the case of massive quantum fields. In particular, for massive fields, it should be possible to obtain a unitary S-matrix relating the standard "in" and "out" Fock spaces of asymptotic states. However, in four spacetime dimensions, when one has massless quantum fields, one encounters severe difficulties in carrying out this program [6, 7, 8, 9]. Classical massless fields that interact with massive fields or undergo suitable self-interactions will generically undergo a memory effect wherein, at order 1/r in null directions, the field at late retarded times will not return to the value it had at early retarded times.¹ Thus, at order 1/r, the Fourier transform of a solution with memory will diverge as $1/\omega$ at low frequencies. In the quantum theory, the one-particle norm of the positive frequency part of such a solution is infinite. Consequently, if one tries to express a quantum state corresponding to a classical solution with memory as a vector in the standard Fock representation, it will have an infinite number of "soft" (i.e. arbitrarily low frequency) massless quanta and its norm will be "infrared divergent." In other words, although states with memory are entirely legitimate quantum field states that necessarily arise in scattering processes, they cannot be accommodated in

^{1.} In spacetime dimension d, the memory effect occurs at Coulombic order, $1/r^{d-3}$, whereas radiation decays as $1/r^{d/2-1}$ [1]. For d = 4, both occur at order 1/r, so memory directly affects the quantization of the "in" and "out" radiation. For d > 4, the memory effect does not lead to infrared divergences in the quantized radiation. The discussion of this chapter is restricted to d = 4.

the standard Fock space. Consequently, the *S*-matrix cannot be defined as a map taking "in" states in the standard Fock representation to "out" states in the standard Fock representation, and infrared (IR) divergences will arise if one attempts to do so.

The most common way of dealing with such infrared divergences is to initially impose an infrared cutoff (so that the "out" state can be expressed as an ordinary Fock space vector), calculate inclusive processes that sum over all possible states of the low frequency massless quanta in the cutoff state, and then remove the cutoff [9, 28, 71]. As a practical matter, this procedure works quite successfully if one is interested in obtaining typical quantities of direct relevance for accelerator experiments, such as (inclusive) cross-sections for the scattering of "hard" particles. However, the infrared cutoff removes the memory effect, so one cannot even ask questions about memory as a quantum observable, as has been of particular recent interest (see e.g. [72, 15, 65] and references therein). Furthermore, even if one is interested only in "hard" particles, this approach cannot properly deal with issues such as the entanglement of "hard" and "soft" particles, which should result in decoherence of the "hard" particles [29, 30]. More significantly, this approach is highly unsatisfactory if one wishes to view the S-matrix as a fundamental quantity in the formulation of quantum field theory and quantum gravity, since the S-matrix itself is undefined.²

In order have a well-defined S-matrix, it clearly is necessary to construct Hilbert spaces of "in" and "out" states such that the "in" states evolve to the "out" states. As we have just indicated, this is not the case if one takes the "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces to be the standard Fock spaces, since a generic state "in" Fock space state will evolve to an "out"

^{2.} We note that there are at least two notions of an "infrared finite" S-matrix in the literature. The notion that we are concerned with in this chapter is to construct appropriate Hilbert spaces of "in" and "out" states and to obtain the S-matrix as a well-defined map between these Hilbert spaces. An alternative notion is to develop a procedure for rendering the standard (infrared divergent) S-matrix amplitude finite (see e.g. [73, 74]). While such a procedure then can be used to calculate "inclusive quantities" or determine formal properties of the S-matrix amplitudes [66, 75], there is no actual "out" state (with memory) constructed by this procedure.

state with a nonvanishing probability for nonzero memory, which cannot be accommodated in the "out" Fock space. Thus, if we wish to have a well-defined *S*-matrix, we must make alternative choices of the "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces that contain states with nonvanishing memory. In order to have a satisfactory scattering theory, these "in" and "out" Hilbert space constructions should satisfy the following properties:

- (1) The "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces are obtained by the "same construction." More precisely, if we identify the algebra of "out" field observables with the algebra of "in" field observables via a change of the time orientation of the bulk spacetime, we require that the "in" and "out" Hilbert space representations of these algebras be unitarily equivalent.
- (2) Dynamical evolution maps all "in" states to "out" states and vice-versa, so that one has a unitary S-matrix.
- (3) The "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces should admit a natural, continuous action of the Poincaré group.³
- (4) The "in" Hilbert space should be large enough to contain incoming states representing all "hard" scattering processes.
- (5) The "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces should be separable, so that they are not "too large".⁴

For the case of quantum electrodynamics (QED) with a massive charged field, a satisfactory construction of "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces was given many years ago by Faddeev and Kulish [32] based on the earlier work of [80, 81, 82]. However, the main purpose of this

^{3.} In the gravitational case we require that the "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces should admit a natural, continuous action of the BMS group.

^{4.} A nonseparable Hilbert space was previously studied in [76, 77, 78, 79] which considered the direct sum over all memory representations. We discuss the deficiencies of this direct sum in sec. 7.

chapter is to show that a similar construction does *not* work in a satisfactory way for QED with massless charged particles and for Yang-Mills theory. Furthermore, we will show that such a construction does not work at all in quantum gravity. We argue that in these cases, at a fundamental level, scattering theory should be formulated at the level of algebraic states, without attempting to "shoehorn" all the states into a single, separable Hilbert space.

Since many of our arguments and constructions require a considerable amount of technical machinery, we now provide a sketch of all of the key results of the chapter, so that a reader can obtain the gist of our arguments without having to delve into the details that we will provide in due course in the body of the chapter. This overview will be more detailed than the brief overview given in sec. 0.3 of chapter 1 and a more quantitative emphasis will placed on the construction of the Faddeev-Kulish Hilbert space.

We begin by describing the Faddeev-Kulish construction for QED with a massive charged field. In order to understand the relevant ingredients of their construction, it is necessary to reformulate it in the language of the memory effect and the related symmetries and charges. In this section, for ease of explanation, we will work in the bulk spacetime — introducing "null coordinates" (u, r, x^A) , where u = t - r and x^A denotes angular coordinates on the sphere — and work to appropriate orders in 1/r. However, in the remainder of this chapter it will be more convenient and conceptually clearer to express both the classical and quantum theory in terms of the conformal completion of Minkowski spacetime.

The classical memory effect at future null infinity for an electromagnetic field corresponds to having the angular components, $A_A^{(1)}(u, x^A)$, of the vector potential at order 1/r asymptote to different values at early and late retarded times, $u \to \pm \infty$. Since the electric field at order 1/r is given by

$$E_A^{(1)} = -\partial_u A_A^{(1)} \tag{1.1}$$

it follows that there will be a nontrivial memory effect if and only if at order 1/r the electric

field satisfies $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \ E_A^{(1)} \neq 0$. Since $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \ E_A^{(1)}$ is proportional to the integrated force on a test particle placed at a large distance from the source of radiation, this fact allows one to give a physical interpretation of the memory effect in terms of a charged test particle receiving a net momentum kick at order 1/r due to the passage of the radiation [83, 11]. Since we assume that $E_A^{(1)} \to 0$ at early and late retarded times, $A_A^{(1)}$ is "pure gauge" at early and late retarded times, but the electromagnetic memory

$$\Delta_A^{\text{out}} := -\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \ E_A^{(1)} = A_A^{(1)}|_{u=+\infty} - A_A^{(1)}|_{u=-\infty}$$
(1.2)

is gauge invariant, as is obvious from the fact that it is given by an integral of the electric field. In eq. (1.2), we have appended the superscript "out" to Δ_A^{out} to distinguish the electromagnetic memory of the outgoing radiation from the electromagnetic memory, Δ_A^{in} , of incoming radiation.

The gauge transformations relevant for changing the angular components of the vector potential at order 1/r are the so-called "large gauge transformations"

$$A_{\mu} \to A_{\mu} + \nabla_{\mu}\lambda \tag{1.3}$$

where $\lambda = \lambda(x^A)$ is a function of purely the angular coordinates x^A . Under such a gauge transformation, we have

$$A_A^{(1)} \to A_A^{(1)} + \mathscr{D}_A \lambda \tag{1.4}$$

where \mathscr{D}_A is the derivative operator on the unit sphere. In fact, the "gauge transformations" eq. (1.3) are actually "symmetries" in the sense that they have nonvanishing symplectic product with other solutions, i.e., they are not degeneracies of the symplectic form. There are charges and fluxes associated with these symmetries. The charge $\mathcal{Q}_u(\lambda)$ associated with the symmetry λ at retarded time u is given by

$$\mathcal{Q}_u(\lambda) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{S(u)} d\Omega \ \lambda(x^A) F_{ur}^{(2)}(u, x^A)$$
(1.5)

where $S(u) \cong \mathbb{S}^2$ is an asymptotic sphere at fixed retarded time $u, F_{\mu\nu}$ is the electromagnetic field tensor, and the superscript "(2)" denotes the order $1/r^2$ part of the field as $r \to \infty$ at the given value of u. The difference of the charge $\mathcal{Q}_u(\lambda)$ at two retarded times u_1 and u_2 is determined by a corresponding flux between these retarded times associated with the symmetry λ

$$\mathcal{Q}_{u_2}(\lambda) - \mathcal{Q}_{u_1}(\lambda) = \int_{u_1}^{u_2} du \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \lambda(x^A) \left(J_u^{(2)}(u, x^A) - \frac{1}{4\pi} \mathscr{D}^A E_A^{(1)}(u, x^A) \right)$$
(1.6)

where $J^{(2)}_{\mu}$ is the charge-current at order $1/r^2$, which can be nonvanishing only if there are massless charged fields. In the limit as $u_1 \to -\infty$ and $u_2 \to +\infty$, this first term corresponds to the total flux of charge-current, which we denote as

$$\mathcal{J}^{\text{out}}(\lambda) := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \lambda(x^A) J_u^{(2)}(u, x^A)$$
(1.7)

where, again, the "out" corresponds to the "outgoing" flux of massless charge-current. The second term on the right-hand-side of eq. (1.6) in this limit is proportional to the divergence of memory $\mathscr{D}^A \Delta_A^{\text{out}}(x^A)$ smeared with $\lambda(x^A)$ on the sphere. Finally, in this limit, the charges $\mathcal{Q}_{u_2}(\lambda)$ and $\mathcal{Q}_{u_1}(\lambda)$ approach future time-like infinity i^+ and spatial infinity i^0 , respectively. Therefore, in the case where $u_1 = -\infty$ and $u_2 = +\infty$, eq. (1.6) yields that the charges given by eq. (1.5) and the flux of null charge-current given by eq. (1.7) are related to the electromagnetic memory by⁵

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \Delta_A^{\text{out}}(x^A) \mathscr{D}^A \lambda = \mathcal{Q}_{i^+}(\lambda) - \mathcal{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda) + \mathcal{J}^{\text{out}}(\lambda)$$
(1.8)

where the charges are defined as limits as $u \to \pm \infty$. The difference of charges on the right hand side of eq. (1.8) is known as the "ordinary memory effect" and the contribution due to the total charge-current flux of massless charged fields is known as the "null memory effect" [11].

Similar charges and fluxes associated with the symmetry λ can be defined at past null infinity, wherein we replace retarded time u in the above formulas by advanced time v = t + r. In a scattering situation, there is, in general, no direct relation between the memory Δ_A^{out} of the electromagnetic field at future null infinity and the memory Δ_A^{in} at past null infinity. Indeed, as we have already indicated, if the incoming electromagnetic field has vanishing memory, the outgoing electromagnetic field will generically have nonvanishing memory. However, there is a matching of the incoming and outgoing charges as one approaches spatial infinity [22, 23, 24, 33, 25]. Specifically, we have

$$\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{\text{out}}(\lambda) = \mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{\text{in}}(\lambda \circ \Upsilon) \tag{1.9}$$

where we have used "in/out" to denote that the limit is taken from past/future null infinity to spatial infinity and Υ is the antipodal map on a sphere, so that $(\lambda \circ \Upsilon)(\theta, \varphi) = \lambda(\pi - \theta, \varphi + \pi)$.

The "conservation law" eq. (1.9) is the key to enabling one to define "in" and "out" Hilbert

^{5.} Memory can be decomposed into electric and magnetic parity parts via $\Delta_A = \mathscr{D}_A \alpha + \epsilon_A{}^B \mathscr{D}_B \beta$. Equation (1.8) only involves the electric part, α . Magnetic parity charges similar to eq. (1.5) can be defined (although they are not associated with large gauge transformations) and an analog of eq. (1.8) (without the current term) then holds. The constructions of this chapter of the thesis could be straightforwardly extended to include magnetic parity memory. However, magnetic parity memory does not arise in usual scattering processes starting with states of vanishing memory — although it can occur in certain processes (see [1] for an example in the gravitational case). We will focus entirely on electric parity memory in this chapter.

spaces satisfying conditions (1)-(5) in the case of QED with massive charged fields. If we restrict all of the incoming states to have fixed, definite large gauge charges at spatial infinity for all λ , then the outgoing states will have the corresponding charges given by eq. (1.9). Hence, if we can construct "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces of definite values of all charges at spatial infinity, it should be possible to satisfy properties (1) and (2) above. However, since these charges are not invariant under Lorentz transformations, it will not be possible to have the Poincaré group have a continuous action on a space of incoming or outgoing states of definite charges except in the case where all charges (including the ordinary total electric charge) vanish⁶ at spatial infinity [85, 84, 86, 34]. Thus, in order to satisfy property (3), we restrict the incoming states — and, therefore, the outgoing states by eq. (1.9) — to have vanishing charges at spatial infinity. It may appear that the requirement of vanishing total electric charge will violate condition (4) of our above requirements on the "in" Hilbert space, since it will allow us to consider only scattering processes with an equal number of charged particles and antiparticles. However, if we wish to consider the scattering of, say, two electrons, we can simply add two positrons "behind the moon", i.e., incoming states where they don't interact significantly with the electrons or with each other [34]. Thus, arguably, the restriction to states of vanishing charges does not preclude having representatives of all "hard" scattering processes.

As discussed in more technical detail in sec. 4, a separable Hilbert space of "in" and "out" states of vanishing charges for QED with massive charged particles can be constructed as follows. For the construction of the "in" Hilbert space, we note that the charges at past timelike infinity, $Q_{i^-}(\lambda)$, are determined by the incoming state of the massive charged particles. The (improper) incoming Fock space state $|p_1 \dots p_n; q_1 \dots q_n\rangle$ consisting of n

^{6.} One could start with a Hilbert space with nonvanishing charges and obtain a new space that admits an action of the Poincaré group by taking the direct sum of the continuous family of Hilbert spaces with charges equal to the action of the Lorentz group on the original charges. However, this direct sum Hilbert space would be non-separable. Furthermore, there would be no infinitesimal action of the Lorentz group on the direct sum Hilbert space, so, in particular, the angular momentum operator would not be defined [84, 85].

incoming charged particles and n incoming antiparticles with definite momenta p_1, \ldots, p_n and q_1, \ldots, q_n , respectively, has vanishing total ordinary electric charge and can be seen to be an eigenstate of the charge operator $\mathbf{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda)$ for all λ . We denote its eigenvalue as $\mathbf{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda; p_1 \ldots q_n)$. By the corresponding version of eq. (1.8) for past null infinity with $\mathcal{J}^{\text{in}} = 0$ (since we are considering only massive charged particles) we can obtain an (improper) state for which all large gauge charges vanish at spatial infinity $(v \to +\infty)$ by pairing $|p_1 \ldots p_n; q_1 \ldots q_n\rangle$ with any incoming electromagnetic field state that lies in the representation with memory Δ_A^{in} determined by⁷

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \Delta_A^{\text{in}} \mathscr{D}^A \lambda = -\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda; p_1, \dots, q_n)$$
(1.10)

for all $\lambda(x^A)$. In other words, we can take the tensor product of the one-dimensional Hilbert space spanned by the improper state $|p_1 \dots p_n; q_1 \dots q_n\rangle$ with the Fock space representation of the electromagnetic field with memory Δ_A^{in} given by eq. (1.10). The pairing of the charged particle state $|p_1 \dots p_n; q_1 \dots q_n\rangle$ with electromagnetic states in the representation Δ_A^{in} is usually referred to as "dressing" the charged particles with a corresponding "cloud of soft photons."⁸ We can then obtain a Hilbert space with arbitrary proper Fock space states of n charged particles, n antiparticles and arbitrary "hard" photon states by taking a direct integral over $p_1, \dots, p_n, q_1, \dots, q_n$. We then take the direct sum over n. This yields a separable Hilbert space that has representatives of all incoming states of the massive charged particles with vanishing total electric charge and all incoming "hard" photon states. This construction is equivalent to the one given by Faddeev and Kulish. All states in this "in" Hilbert space are eigenstates with eigenvalue 0 of all of the large gauge charges at spatial

^{7.} This relation uniquely determines the electric parity memory (see footnote 5).

^{8.} Note that one does not have to "dress" the charged particles with a specific state , i.e., *any* electromagnetic state with the required memory is allowed. The "cloud of soft photons" refers to any state in the representation with the required memory. A charged particle "dressed" with an infrared "cloud of soft photons" is sometimes referred to as an "infraparticle" [87, 84].

infinity.⁹ By conservation of charges at spatial infinity, these states should evolve to states in the similarly constructed "out" Hilbert space. Indeed, finiteness of the Faddeev-Kulish "S-matrix amplitudes" has been verified to all orders in perturbation theory [89]. These results are also supported by recent, rigorous analyses of perturbative QED [90] as well as non-perturbative studies of nonrelativistic QED [91, 92].¹⁰ Consequently, all of the above properties (1)–(5) should be satisfied.

Thus, the Faddeev-Kulish construction provides definitions of "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces that enable one to have a well-defined S-matrix. However, it should be noted that this construction has a number of unpleasant features. First, it allows only states of vanishing total ordinary electric charge. As already mentioned above, this can be dealt with by putting any excess charges "behind the moon." A more unpleasant feature is that it requires the incoming massive charged particles to be "dressed" with incoming electromagnetic states with the corresponding memory. This dressing is quite unnatural, since — although the incoming massive charged field and incoming electromagnetic radiative field are completely independent degrees of freedom — it requires the incoming electromagnetic radiative state to "know" the exact state of the incoming charged field. Furthermore, since each state in the Faddeev-Kulish Hilbert space has an extremely high degree of entanglement between the state of the massive charged field and the state of the electromagnetic field, one cannot have a coherent superposition of incoming charged particle states of different momenta [29]. Thus, the Faddeev-Kulish Hilbert space appears to artificially exclude many states that one might wish to consider. Nevertheless, by restricting consideration to the states in the Faddeev-Kulish Hilbert space, one should obtain a genuine S-matrix, with no infrared divergences.

^{9.} The relationship between the Faddeev and Kulish "dressed states" and eigenstates of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda)$ has been previously discussed in [66, 88].

^{10.} Similar analyses have also been done in the case of infrared divergences arising from the scattering of a massless scalar field coupled to a massive scalar field (sometimes referred to as the "Nelson model") [93, 94, 95].

We turn now to differences that occur if we consider QED with a massless charged field, as will be discussed in detail in sec. 5. Since there are no incoming massive particles, the charges $Q_{i^-}(\lambda)$ at timelike infinity vanish in the massless case. However, since there are incoming massless particles, the charge-current flux $\mathcal{J}^{in}(\lambda)$ at null infinity will not vanish. One can perform a construction of "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces that is completely analogous to the Faddeev-Kulish construction as follows: In the massless case, the (improper) incoming Fock space states $|p_1 \dots p_n; q_1 \dots q_n\rangle$ of the charged field are eigenstates of the charge-current operator $\mathcal{J}^{in}(\lambda)$ for all λ . Therefore, one can again pair $|p_1 \dots p_n; q_1 \dots q_n\rangle$ with the incoming electromagnetic field states that lie in the representation with memory Δ_A^{in} chosen so as to give vanishing charges at spatial infinity. In this case, by eq. (1.8), the required Δ_A^{in} is determined by

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \Delta_A^{\rm in} \mathscr{D}^A \lambda = -\mathcal{J}^{\rm in}(\lambda; p_1, \dots, q_n) \,. \tag{1.11}$$

where $\mathcal{J}^{\text{in}}(\lambda; p_1, \ldots, q_n)$ denotes the eigenvalue of $\mathcal{J}^{\text{in}}(\lambda)$ in the state $|p_1 \ldots p_n; q_1 \ldots q_n\rangle$. By taking a direct integral over $p_1, \ldots, p_n, q_1, \ldots, q_n$ and a direct sum over n, we will again get a separable Hilbert space of states with vanishing charges at spatial infinity, so the "in" Hilbert space should unitarily map to the similarly constructed "out" Hilbert space under dynamical evolution. This yields a direct analog for massless charged fields of the Faddeev-Kulish construction for massive charged fields.

However, although the Faddeev-Kulish construction can be carried out in close analogy with the massive case, a truly significant difference arises in the nature of the resulting states. For massive charged fields, the charges $\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda; p_1 \dots q_n)$ for the state $|p_1 \dots p_n; q_1 \dots q_n\rangle$ correspond to a smooth function on the sphere. Consequently, the corresponding memory Δ_A^{in} determined by eq. (1.10) is smooth, and the corresponding memory representation of the electromagnetic field has a dense set of nonsingular states. By contrast, in the massless case, the flux $\mathcal{J}^{\text{in}}(\lambda; p_1, \dots, q_n)$ for the state $|p_1 \dots p_n; q_1 \dots q_n\rangle$ has δ -function angular singularities in each of the directions x_i^A of the momenta $p_1, \ldots, p_n, q_1, \ldots, q_n$. It follows that the memory $\Delta_A^{\text{in}}(x^B)$ determined by eq. (1.11) will have angular singularities of the form $1/|x^B - x_i^B|$ in the vicinity of x_i^B . These additional angular singularities occurring in the massless case correspond to what are referred to as *collinear divergences*. If one is interested in calculating inclusive cross-sections, they merely give rise to an additional nuisance in that one must introduce a further angular cutoff in addition to the usual infrared cutoff when performing calculations [96, 97]. But they give rise to a fatal difficulty for the usefulness of the "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces constructed above. The angular singularities in the memory are such that the memory is not square integrable over a sphere. This implies that the expected electric field $\langle E_A^{\text{in}} \rangle$ in any state in the memory representation paired with $|p_1 \dots p_n; q_1 \dots q_n \rangle$ cannot be square integrable over null infinity. By further arguments, it can be seen that the total energy flux of the electromagnetic field in any state in this memory representation is infinite. In other words, in the massless case, the required "soft photon dressing" of the charged particles always carries infinite energy. Thus, all of the allowed states of the electromagnetic field in this construction are physically unacceptable. Although we should be able to obtain a well-defined scattering theory between states in the "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces, none of the scattering states are of any physical relevance.

We now turn to Yang-Mills theory with a compact, semi-simple Lie group, which will be discussed in more detail in sec. 5.5. The Yang-Mills fields occurring in nature are strongly coupled to other fields and do not behave as free fields at asymptotically early and late times. However, we can consider the scattering theory of "pure" Yang-Mills theory (with no coupling to other fields) as a toy model that has features similar to both electromagnetism and gravity. Collinear divergences similar to massless QED occur in Yang-Mills theory. Consequently, as in massless QED, the "dressing" required by the Faddeev-Kulish construction will be singular. However, an additional — and, in some respects, even more serious — difficulty arises in the Yang-Mills case, due to the fact that the Yang-Mills field acts as its own source. The analog of eq. (1.8) in the Yang-Mills case is

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \Delta_{A,j}^{\text{YM,out}} \mathscr{D}^A \lambda^j = \mathcal{Q}_{i^+}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda) - \mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda) + \mathcal{J}^{\text{YM,out}}(\lambda)$$
(1.12)

where j denotes a Lie algebra index, such indices are lowered and raised with the Cartan-Killing metric, and the charges are defined by a natural generalization of eq. (1.5) where the Lie algebra valued field strength is now integrated with $\lambda^i(x^A)$. Since there are no massive sources, the charges at timelike infinity vanish, $\mathcal{Q}_{i^+}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda) = 0$. The charge-current flux in the Yang-Mills case is

$$\mathcal{J}^{\text{YM,out}}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ c^i{}_{jk} q^{AB} \lambda_i A_A^{(1)j} E_B^{(1)k}$$
(1.13)

where c^{i}_{jk} denote the structure constants of the Lie algebra. Similar charges and fluxes associated to the symmetry λ can be defined at past null infinity. The analog of eq. (1.11) for obtaining eigenstates of vanishing charge¹¹ at spatial infinity for the Yang-Mills field is

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \Delta_{A,j}^{\text{YM,in}} \mathscr{D}^A \lambda^j = -\mathcal{J}^{\text{YM,in}}(\lambda) \,. \tag{1.14}$$

The key difference with massless QED is that the "hard" and "soft" quanta now correspond to the same field. Thus, we must use "soft" Yang-Mills quanta to "dress" (via the memory, $\Delta_{A,j}^{\text{YM,in}}$) the "hard" Yang-Mills quanta. But these "soft" quanta will then make additional contributions to the current flux, so we will not get an eigenstate of charges at spatial infinity by choosing the memory to satisfy eq. (1.14), with $\mathcal{J}^{\text{YM,in}}(\lambda)$ the flux of the "hard" Yang-Mills quanta. Thus—in addition to the fact that, as in the case of massless QED, this soft "dressing" is singular and therefore the corresponding Yang-Mills current flux is

^{11.} The charges at spatial infinity satisfy the commutation relations $\left[\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda_1), \mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda_2)\right] = \mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}([\lambda_1, \lambda_2])$ where $[\lambda_1, \lambda_2]^i = c^i{}_{jk}\lambda_1^j\lambda_2^k$. For a semisimple Lie group it is impossible to have an eigenstate of all charges unless all of the charge eigenvalues vanish.

infinite—one cannot get states of vanishing charges at spatial infinity by attempting to pair flux eigenstates with corresponding memory representations.

Thus, in order to obtain an analog of the Faddeev-Kulish Hilbert space in the Yang-Mills case, one must find some other means to obtain a suitable Hilbert space of eigenstates of vanishing charges at spatial infinity. However, there are insufficiently many such states, as can be seen from the fact that the charge $Q_{i0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ at spatial infinity acts on the "in" and "out" states as an infinitesimal generator of the large gauge transformation associated with λ^{j} . Thus, an "in" state with vanishing charges at spatial must be gauge invariant with respect to all large gauge transformations, which is a strong constraint on the *n*-point functions of the Yang-Mills electric field. In particular this implies that the 1-point function must vanish, the 2-point function must be proportional to the Cartan-Killing metric and, more generally, all *n*-point functions must be proportional to Casimirs of the Lie algebra. Although there exist states that satisfy these conditions, these conditions are far too restrictive to allow one to satisfy condition (4) of our requirements on the "in" Hilbert space.

We now turn to general relativity, which will be considered in detail in sec. 6. We introduce Bondi coordinates (u, r, x^A) , and let $C_{\mu\nu}(u, x^A)$ denote the deviation of the spacetime metric from the asymptotic Minkowski metric $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ at leading order in 1/r in these coordinates.¹² The classical memory effect at future null infinity in the gravitational case corresponds to having the angular components, C_{AB} , at order 1/r asymptote to different values at early and late retarded times, $u \to \pm \infty$. This will occur if and only if at order 1/r the Bondi News $N_{AB} = -\partial_u C_{AB}$ satisfies $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \ N_{AB} \neq 0$. In the gravitational case, the presence of memory physically corresponds to an array of test particles initially at rest receiving a permanent relative displacement at order 1/r due to the passage of gravitational radiation [10].

If the Bondi News goes to zero at early and late retarded times, C_{AB} will be "pure gauge"

^{12.} Again, we state our main results in this section in Bondi coordinates in the bulk spacetime, but in sec. 6 we will work at null infinity in the conformally completed spacetime.

at early and late retarded times, but the gravitational memory

$$\Delta_{AB}^{\text{GR,out}} := \frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \ N_{AB} = -\frac{1}{2} \Big(C_{AB} |_{u=+\infty} - C_{AB} |_{u=-\infty} \Big)$$
(1.15)

is gauge invariant. The relevant gauge transformations in the gravitational case are the supertranslations whose infinitesimal action is given by

$$C_{AB} \to C_{AB} - fN_{AB} - 2\left(\mathscr{D}_A \mathscr{D}_B f - \frac{1}{2}q_{AB} \mathscr{D}^C \mathscr{D}_C f\right)$$
(1.16)

where $f = f(x^A)$ is an arbitrary function on the sphere and q_{AB} is the metric on the unit sphere. The supertranslations are, in fact, "symmetries," i.e., they are not degeneracies of the symplectic form. Again, there are charges and fluxes associated with these symmetries. The charge $\mathcal{Q}_u^{\text{GR}}(f)$ associated with the supertranslation f at retarded time u is given by

$$\mathcal{Q}_{u}^{\text{GR}}(f) = -\frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{S(u)} d\Omega \ f(x^{A}) \left[C_{urur}^{(3)}(u, x^{A}) - \frac{1}{4} N^{AB} C_{AB} \right]$$
(1.17)

where $S(u) \cong \mathbb{S}^2$ is an asymptotic sphere at fixed retarded time $u, C_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$ is the Weyl tensor and the superscript "(3)" denotes the order $1/r^3$ part as $r \to \infty$ at fixed u. The difference of the charge $\mathcal{Q}_u^{\text{GR}}(f)$ at two retarded times u_1 and u_2 is determined by a corresponding flux between these retarded times associated with the symmetry f

$$\mathcal{Q}_{u_2}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f) - \mathcal{Q}_{u_1}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f) = -\frac{1}{32\pi} \int_{u_1}^{u_2} du \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ f\Big(N^{AB}N_{AB} + 2\mathscr{D}^A \mathscr{D}^B N_{AB}\Big).$$
(1.18)

If other massless fields are present and if their stress energy $T_{\mu\nu}$ satisfies the dominant energy condition then eq. (1.18) is modified by the substitution $N^{AB}N_{AB} \rightarrow N^{AB}N_{AB} + 32\pi T_{uu}^{(2)}$ where the "(2)" denotes the order $1/r^2$ part as $r \rightarrow \infty$ at fixed u. In the gravitational case, eq. (1.18) with $u_1 \rightarrow -\infty$ and $u_2 \rightarrow +\infty$ directly yields an analogous formula to eq. (1.8) relating charges, fluxes and memory¹³

$$-\frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \Delta_{AB}^{\mathrm{GR,out}} \mathscr{D}^A \mathscr{D}^B f = \mathcal{Q}_{i^+}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f) - \mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f) + \mathcal{J}^{\mathrm{GR,out}}(f).$$
(1.19)

The terms on the right hand side of eq. (1.19) involving the difference of charges is referred to as "ordinary memory" [10] and the term involving the flux is usually referred to as "null memory" or "nonlinear memory" [39, 19] given by

$$\mathcal{J}^{\text{GR,out}}(f) = \frac{1}{32\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ f N^{AB} N_{AB}.$$
(1.20)

Similar formulas hold for the "in" memory in terms of difference of charges at past timelike infinity and spatial infinity as well as incoming null memory. As in the electromagnetic case, there is a matching of the incoming and outgoing charges as one approaches spatial infinity as originally conjectured by Strominger [22]

$$\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{GR,out}}(f) = \mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{GR,in}}(f \circ \Upsilon).$$
(1.21)

As is well known, significant difficulties arise in the formulation of a quantum theory of gravity in the bulk spacetime. However, as Ashtekar has emphasized, no such difficulties arise in the asymptotic quantization of the radiative degrees of freedom of the gravitational field at null infinity [64, 3, 65]. Thus, the notion of asymptotic states of the quantum gravitational field in asymptotically flat spacetimes is well-defined, irrespective of the details of the bulk theory of gravity. In view of the classical memory effect, it is not possible that "in" states

^{13.} This equation determines the electric parity part of the memory. The "magnetic parity" part of the memory is determined by $\epsilon^{CA} \mathscr{D}_C \mathscr{D}^B \Delta_{AB}^{GR}$, which can be expressed in terms of the difference of magnetic parity charges [1] with no null memory contribution. All of the analysis of this chapter could be straightforwardly generalized to include magnetic parity memory. However, as in the electromagnetic case (see footnote 5), we shall focus entirely on electric parity memory in this chapter.

with vanishing memory (i.e., states in the standard "in" Fock representation) will generically evolve to "out" states with vanishing memory. Thus, infrared divergences similar to those occurring in QED must arise if one attempts to define an *S*-matrix with the conventional choices of "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces. One may ask whether there exist alternative choices satisfying conditions (1)–(5) above.

In linearized gravity with matter sources, massive fields will contribute to ordinary memory and massless fields will contribute to null memory, in close analogy with QED. In the case of QED, the vanishing of the charges $Q_{i0}(\lambda)$ at spatial infinity – including the ordinary electric charge – was required to have a Lorentz group action. As discussed above, in QED, it can be argued that the requirement of vanishing total electric charge is not a problem for obtaining representatives of all "hard" scattering processes because one can always put additional charges "behind the moon". However, in linearized gravity with massive/massless sources, the analogous requirement of vanishing total 4-momentum is a serious problem, since the ordinary vacuum state is the only state that satisfies this requirement — there is no way to "cancel" the 4-momentum if a state by adding particles. Therefore the Faddeev-Kulish construction fails for this elementary reason at this initial stage.

Nevertheless, one could give up on having a well-defined action of the Lorentz transformations and attempt to construct states of definite, non-vanishing charges $Q_{i0}^{\text{GR}}(f)$ at spatial infinity [98]. For linearized gravity with a massive field source, one can straightforwardly carry out an analog of the construction of sec. 4.4 for massive QED. For linearized gravity with a massless field source, one can carry out an analog of the construction of sec. 5.4 for massless QED. Indeed, the situation for linearized gravity with a massless field source is somewhat better than massless QED in that the singularities of the memory are less severe [36]. In linearized gravity, for incoming momentum eigenstates of massless particles, the corresponding flux in eq. (1.19) will again have δ -function angular singularities. However, on account of the presence of two derivatives on the left side of eq. (1.19) (as compared to the one derivative in eq. (1.11)), the corresponding collinear divergence singularities of Δ_{AB}^{GR} will be of the form $\log |x^A - x_i^A|$. Although still singular, this is square integrable and does not imply an infinite energy flux of soft gravitons. Thus, arguably, in linearized gravity, the "dressed states" in the analogously constructed Faddeev-Kulish Hilbert space are physically acceptable, although since there is no a well-defined action of the Lorentz group, the states obtained in this construction do not have a well-defined angular momentum.

However, we show in sec. 6.3 that the Faddeev-Kulish type of construction fails catastrophically in nonlinear gravity. The fundamental problem is that, as in the Yang-Mills case, the "soft gravitons" that must be used to dress the "hard gravitons" will contribute their own flux, thereby invalidating any attempt to pair flux eigenstates of hard gravitons with corresponding memory representations. Thus, as in the Yang-Mills case, in order to obtain an analog of the Faddeev-Kulish Hilbert space, one must find some other means to obtain eigenstates of the supertranslation charges. In the Yang-Mills case, charge eigenstates must have vanishing charges and thus the *n*-point functions of any eigenstate of all large gauge charges must be invariant under all large gauge transformations. Although this is a highly restrictive condition, there do exist some invariant states besides the vacuum state. However, as we show in Theorem 5 of sec. 6.3, the corresponding condition in quantum gravity is that the *n*-point functions of the news must be invariant under supertranslations. However, this requirement is incompatible with the fall-off requirements on states. Thus, apart from the vacuum state, there are no eigenstates whatsoever of the supertranslation charges. Thus there is no analog of the Faddeev-Kulish Hilbert space in nonlinear gravity.

Thus, if one is to obtain "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces in quantum gravity that satisfy properties (1)-(5), one will have to do so by a very different means than by the Faddeev-Kulish construction. We explore some possibilities in sec. 7 involving direct integrals with respect to Gaussian measures of Fock representations with memory. We find that these also do not work. Of course, our analysis does not exhaust all possibilities, but we do not see any further avenues of approach that appear promising. Thus, we believe that for gravity (as well as for Yang-Mills theory and massless QED), no satisfactory Hilbert space construction of "in" and "out" states can be given.

What does this mean for scattering theory? There is no problem defining "in" and "out" states that should accommodate all scattering processes, allowing arbitrary incoming and outgoing "hard" particle states and arbitrary memory. The difficulties arise entirely from the attempt to "shoehorn" all states relevant to scattering theory into a single, separable Hilbert space. It is our view that there is no need to try to do this. An "in" state can be defined in the algebraic viewpoint as a positive linear function on the algebra of "in" observables. In this viewpoint one would specify an "in" state by giving the complete list of the correlation functions of the "in" fields — where this list must satisfy positivity requirements. Any state in any Hilbert space construction gives rise to a state in this sense, since one can compute all the correlation functions and they will automatically satisfy the positivity requirement. Conversely, the Gel'fand-Naimark-Segal (GNS) construction shows that any state in the algebraic sense can be realized as a vector in some Hilbert space, so one does not get entirely new objects by considering states in the algebraic sense. But by considering states in the algebraic sense, one is freed from the necessity of choosing in advance a particular Hilbert space in which it lies. Thus, one may consider any "in" state that one wishes, without placing any "dress requirements" on the state. If one evolves the chosen "in" state through the bulk, one will get some "out" state, defined, again, as a list of correlation functions of the "out" fields. There is no reason to impose an a priori restriction as to which Hilbert space this "out" state will lie in — and one will get infrared divergences if one selects the wrong one. As discussed in sec. 8, we see no difficulty of principle in describing scattering theory in this framework. Of course, if one is interested in calculating quantities relevant to collider physics, we are not suggesting that there would be any advantage to taking such an approach over the usual approach of working in the standard Fock space and imposing infrared cutoffs.

However, if one wishes to treat scattering at a fundamental level, we believe it is necessary to approach it from such an algebraic viewpoint on "in" and "out" states.

The structure of the remainder of the chapter is as follows. In sec. 2 we briefly review the classical phase space of a free scalar field in an asymptotically flat spacetime and give a precise notion of "observable" on this phase space. We also define local field observables at null infinity and determine their Poisson brackets. In sec. 3, we review the algebraic viewpoint on quantization and the formulation of free field theory in this framework. We briefly review the notion of Hadamard states in the bulk and consider their limit to null infinity in the case of massless fields. Although we are, of course, interested in the scattering theory of interacting fields, these interacting fields are assumed to behave like free fields in the asymptotic past and future, so the results of this section provide the tools needed to define the asymptotic quantization of interacting fields. In sec. 4 we consider QED with a massive, charged Klein-Gordon field. In sec. 4.1 we construct the asymptotic algebra and Hadamard states of the massive scalar field at timelike infinity and the electromagnetic field at null infinity. In sec. 4.2 we consider the extension of the field algebras to include charges and Poincaré generators. In sec. 4.3 we obtain Fock representations of the field algebras. The standard Fock representation of the massive Klein-Gordon field provides all of the necessary asymptotic states of that field, but we need all of the memory representations of the electromagnetic field to have an adequate supply of asymptotic electromagnetic states for scattering theory. In sec. 4.4 we use these representations to construct the Faddeev-Kulish representation in massive QED by pairing momentum eigenstates of the Klein-Gordon field with corresponding memory representations of the electromagnetic field, thereby "dressing" the charged particles. In sec. 5 we consider massless scalar QED. In sec. 5.1 we construct the asymptotic algebra of field observables at null infinity for a massless, charged Klein-Gordon field, and we extend this algebra to include charges and Poincaré generators in sec. 5.2. In sec. 5.3 we obtain the Fock representations of the massless scalar field. In sec. 5.4 we construct

the analog of the Faddeev-Kulish representations for massless QED and point out the serious problems arising from the singular nature of the required memory representations. In sec. 5.5 we consider source-free Yang-Mills theory and discuss the new serious difficulty that arises from the fact that the Faddeev-Kulish "dressing" also contributes to the charge-current flux. In sec. 6 we consider general relativity. In sec. 6.1 we provide the asymptotic algebra of observables in vacuum gravity. This algebra is extended in sec. 6.2 to include the BMS charges. In sec. 6.3 we prove the non-existence of Faddeev-Kulish representations in quantum gravity. Some alternatives to Faddeev-Kulish representations are explored in sec. 7 but none are found to be satisfactory. Finally, in sec. 8 we advocate for the development of an "algebraic scattering theory," wherein one does not attempt to "shoehorn" all of the asymptotic states of scattering theory into pre-chosen "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces. Such a formulation of scattering theory would be manifestly infrared finite.

2 Classical phase space: Observables and asymptotic description

Our interest in this chapter of the thesis is in interacting quantum field theories, specifically, QED, Yang-Mills theory, and quantum gravity. However, we will be concerned only with the description of states at asymptotically early and late times, where it will be assumed that the states correspond to states of "in" and "out" free field theories. Thus, in essence, for the considerations of this chapter, we need only be concerned with the structure of free field theory. The quantum theory of a free field is based on the phase space structure of the classical theory. In this section, we will review the phase space structure relevant for our considerations and explain the notion of "observable" that we shall use. For the case of a massless field, we will relate the "bulk" description of the field to its asymptotic description at null infinity.

Since the phase space of a field theory is infinite dimensional, it would take some effort to

define a mathematically precise Fréchet space or other structure of phase space (see [99]) that would properly incorporate the smoothness and fall-off conditions of the fields and provide a suitable topology on these fields. We believe that this could be done but we shall not attempt to do so here. Thus, we will freely use terms like "smooth vector field on phase space" in our discussion below without attempting to give a mathematically precise meaning to such terms.

The basic structure of the classical phase space of a linear field theory is well illustrated by the case of a real scalar field ϕ . Since we want to apply our constructions to the asymptotic behavior of the gravitational field in general relativity, it would not be reasonable to assume more structure than would be present on a globally hyperbolic, asymptotically flat, curved spacetime. Thus, we will take as our model system a real scalar field ϕ on a globally hyperbolic spacetime (\mathcal{M}, g), with Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2} \left[\nabla^{\mu} \phi \nabla_{\mu} \phi + m^2 \phi^2 + \xi R \phi^2 \right]$$
(2.1)

where *m* denotes the mass, ξ is an arbitrary constant, and *R* is the Ricci scalar. Then ϕ satisfies

$$\left(\Box - m^2 - \xi R\right)\phi = 0. \tag{2.2}$$

As discussed in detail in [100, 101] and many other references, the Lagrangian eq. (2.1) endows the theory with a symplectic form, which thereby provides the space of initial data for solutions with a phase space structure. For the scalar field eq. (2.1), the points of phase space \mathcal{P} can be taken to be the quantities $(\phi, n^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} \phi)$ on a spacelike Cauchy surface Σ , where n^{μ} denotes the unit normal to Σ . In general, the symplectic form, Ω , is a 2-form on \mathcal{P} , i.e., at each point of \mathcal{P} it maps a pair of tangent vectors into a number. However, in the case of a linear theory as considered here, \mathcal{P} has a vector space (or, more generally, an affine space¹⁴)

^{14.} As we shall see, in electromagnetism and gravity, the presence of large gauge transformations implies that there are many points of phase space that have vanishing gauge invariant field strengths. Any of these

structure, and we can identify tangent vectors with points of \mathcal{P} . Consequently, we can view Ω as a bilinear map on \mathcal{P} . The symplectic product of two solutions ϕ_1, ϕ_2 is given by

$$\Omega_{\Sigma}^{\mathrm{KG}}(\phi_1, \phi_2) = \int_{\Sigma} \sqrt{h} d^3 x \left[\phi_1 n^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} \phi_2 - \phi_2 n^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} \phi_1 \right]$$
(2.3)

where $\sqrt{h}d^3x$ is the proper volume element on Σ . This symplectic product is conserved, i.e., it is independent of the choice of Cauchy surface Σ .

If \mathcal{P} were finite dimensional, the nondegeneracy of the symplectic form $\Omega_{\alpha\beta}$ would imply that it has an inverse $\Omega^{\alpha\beta}$, where the Greek indices here represent tensor indices on phase space. A classical observable F on \mathcal{P} could then be taken to be an arbitrary smooth map $F: \mathcal{P} \to \mathbb{R}$. The inverse symplectic form would then allow us to define the Poisson bracket of any two such observables F_1, F_2 to be the observable on phase space given by

$$\left\{F_1, F_2\right\} = \Omega^{\alpha\beta} \nabla_\alpha F_1 \nabla_\beta F_2. \tag{2.4}$$

However, on an infinite dimensional phase space, the symplectic form is only weakly nondegenerate and its inverse will not be defined on all one-forms on the phase space. Thus, we cannot use eq. (2.4) to define the Poisson bracket of arbitrary smooth functions on phase space.

Nevertheless, on a general phase space, we can define the Poisson bracket on a particular class of smooth functions F. Namely, suppose F is such that there is a smooth vector field X^{α} on \mathcal{P} with the property that for all smooth curves $z(\alpha)$ on phase space, we have

$$\delta F = \Omega(\delta z, X) \tag{2.5}$$

points could serve as an "origin".

where

$$\delta z := \left. \frac{d}{d\alpha} z(\alpha) \right|_{\alpha=0} , \quad \delta F := \left. \frac{d}{d\alpha} F(z(\alpha)) \right|_{\alpha=0} .$$
(2.6)

Formally, eq. (2.5) corresponds to $X^{\alpha} = \Omega^{\alpha\beta} \nabla_{\beta} F$, but eq. (2.5) is expressed in a way that avoids the introduction of the inverse symplectic form. If eq. (2.5) holds, we say that the function F generates the vector field X^{α} . Given two functions F_1 and F_2 on phase space that generate vector fields X_1^{α} and X_2^{α} , respectively, we can define the Poisson bracket of F_1 and F_2 by

$$\{F_1, F_2\} := -\Omega(X_1, X_2).$$
 (2.7)

Formally, this corresponds to eq. (2.4) because, formally, $\Omega(X_1, X_2) = \Omega_{\alpha\beta} X_1^{\alpha} X_2^{\beta} = \Omega_{\alpha\beta} \Omega^{\alpha\gamma} \nabla_{\gamma} F_1 \Omega^{\beta\eta} \nabla_{\eta} F_2 = \Omega^{\eta\gamma} \nabla_{\gamma} F_1 \nabla_{\eta} F_2$. However, eq. (2.7) avoids introducing the inverse symplectic form and is well-defined. For the case of an infinite dimensional phase space, we define an *observable* to be a smooth function F on phase space that satisfies eq. (2.5). By construction, the Poisson bracket of any two observables is well-defined. It is only for classical observables in this sense that we can hope/expect to have quantum representatives.

The situation with regard to obtaining observables simplifies considerably in the case of a phase space \mathcal{P} with vector space structure, as considered here. Consider a vector field X corresponding to an infinitesimal displacement at each ϕ of the form of an affine transformation

$$\phi \mapsto \phi + \epsilon (L\phi + \chi_0) \tag{2.8}$$

where χ_0 is a constant (ϕ -independent) displacement and L is a linear map on phase space. Suppose that L satisfies

$$\Omega(\psi, L\phi) = -\Omega(L\psi, \phi) \tag{2.9}$$

for all $\phi, \psi \in \mathcal{P}$. Then it is straightforward to verify that the function $F : \mathcal{P} \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$F(\phi) = \Omega(\phi, \chi_0) + \frac{1}{2}\Omega(\phi, L\phi)$$
(2.10)

satisfies eq. (2.5). Thus, any function F on phase space of the form eq. (2.10) with L satisfying eq. (2.9) is an observable on phase space.

An important class of observables on \mathcal{P} are the local field observables. Let $f : \mathcal{M} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a test function on spacetime, i.e., a smooth function of compact support. Let F_f be the linear function on phase space given by

$$F_f(\phi) = \phi(f) := \int \sqrt{-g} d^4 y \ \phi(y) f(y).$$
 (2.11)

where y denotes arbitrary coordinates on \mathcal{M} . Then F_f can be shown to be an observable as follows. Let

$$Ef = Af - Rf \tag{2.12}$$

where Af denotes the advanced solution to eq. (2.2) with source f and Rf denotes the retarded solution with source f. Then Ef a smooth, source-free solution to eq. (2.2) with initial data of compact support, so it corresponds to a point in \mathcal{P} . By lemma 3.2.1 of [102], for any solution ϕ we have¹⁵

$$\phi(f) = \Omega_{\Sigma}^{\text{KG}}(\phi, Ef). \tag{2.13}$$

Thus, F_f is of the form eq. (2.10) with $\chi_0 = Ef$ and L = 0. Thus, the "smeared fields" $\phi(f)$ are observables.¹⁶ It is not difficult to see that the Poisson bracket of smeared fields is given

^{15.} Note that our convention for the symplectic form in eq. (2.3) has the opposite sign compared to the one used in [102].

^{16.} Note that the field evaluated at a point, $\phi(x)$, is too singular to be considered to be an observable. The associated vector field X^{α} would correspond to an infinitesimal displacement in the direction of the singular solution given by the advanced minus retarded solution with delta function source at x, which does not lie in the phase space.

by

$$\left\{\phi(f_1), \phi(f_2)\right\} = E(f_1, f_2)$$
 (2.14)

where "1" denotes the constant function on \mathcal{P} that maps all points to 1, and

$$E(f_1, f_2) = \int \sqrt{-g} d^4 y \ f_1(y) E f_2(y) \,. \tag{2.15}$$

For any Cauchy surface Σ and any test function s on Σ , we may define the linear function $F_{\Sigma,s}$ on phase space by

$$F_{\Sigma,s}(\phi) = \phi_{\Sigma}(s) := \int_{\Sigma} \sqrt{h} d^3 x \ \phi(x) s(x).$$
(2.16)

We may similarly define $(n^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\phi)_{\Sigma}(s)$. These "3-smeared" fields are also observables, which can be seen from eq. (2.13) to be equivalent to the "4-smeared" observables eq. (2.11). Namely, we have

$$\phi_{\Sigma}(s) = \phi(f) \tag{2.17}$$

where f is a test function on spacetime such that the initial data for Ef on Σ is $[Ef]_{\Sigma} = 0$ and $[n^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}(Ef)]_{\Sigma} = s$. A similar formula holds for $(n^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\phi)_{\Sigma}(s)$.

Our main interest in this chapter is to characterize the states of quantum fields in asymptotically flat spacetimes at asymptotically early and late times. It therefore will be important to have a description of the phase space and observables that characterizes the behavior of the field at asymptotically early and late times. We shall now explain how this can be done for massless fields. The corresponding asymptotic quantization will be described in the next section. The classical and quantum asymptotic description of massive fields will be given in sec. 4.

For massless fields, we assume that past null infinity, \mathscr{I}^- , and future null infinity, \mathscr{I}^+ ,

can be treated as Cauchy surfaces, so that initial data at \mathscr{I}^- or \mathscr{I}^+ uniquely determines a solution.¹⁷ For a massless field with the Cauchy surface taken to be \mathscr{I}^- , initial data for solutions consists of the specification of the conformally weighted scalar field, Φ , on \mathscr{I}^-

$$\Phi := \lim_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} \Omega^{-1} \phi \tag{2.18}$$

where Ω is a conformal factor, which, in Bondi coordinates, can be chosen to be $\Omega = 1/r$. We assume that the solutions in \mathcal{P} are such that $\partial \Phi/\partial v = O(1/|v|^{1+\epsilon})$ for some $\epsilon > 0$ as $v \to \pm \infty$. This will ensure that all integrals below will converge. Note, however, that we do not assume that $\Phi \to 0$ as $v \to \pm \infty$, as this would exclude the memory effect. Although we could, of course, restrict consideration to initial data at \mathscr{I}^- satisfying $\Phi \to 0$ as $v \to \pm \infty$, if interactions occur in the bulk, such initial data will generically evolve to fields at \mathscr{I}^+ that do not satisfy $\Phi \to 0$ as $u \to \infty$. Since we wish to treat \mathscr{I}^- and \mathscr{I}^+ on an equal footing in scattering theory, we do not require $\Phi \to 0$ as $v \to \pm \infty$ at \mathscr{I}^- .

In terms of the initial data eq. (2.18), the symplectic product eq. (2.3) is given by

$$\Omega_{\Sigma}^{\text{KG0}}(\phi_1, \phi_2) = \int_{\mathscr{I}^-} dv d\Omega \left[\Phi_1 \frac{\partial \Phi_2}{\partial v} - \Phi_2 \frac{\partial \Phi_1}{\partial v} \right]$$
(2.19)

where we have inserted an extra "0" in the superscript "KG0" on Ω to indicate that this formula holds only for the case of a massless scalar field. It is convenient to define

$$\Pi := \partial_v \Phi \tag{2.20}$$

on \mathscr{I}^- , since this quantity will arise in many formulas below. It follows from eq. (2.19) that

^{17.} This is true in Minkowski spacetime but is an assumption in a general asymptotically flat spacetime. It would not hold in spacetimes with a black hole or white hole, but one could presumably then supplement the asymptotic description of states at null infinity by including states on the horizon of the black hole or white hole.

for any test function s on \mathscr{I}^- , we have

$$\Pi(s) := \int_{\mathscr{I}^-} dv d\Omega \ \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial v}(v, x^A) s(v, x^A) = \frac{1}{2} \Omega_{\Sigma}^{\mathrm{KG0}}(Ef, \Phi) = -\frac{1}{2} \phi(f)$$
(2.21)

where f is a function on spacetime such that on \mathscr{I}^- we have $\lim_{\mathscr{I}^-} \Omega^{-1} E f = s$. Thus, the smeared field quantities $\Pi(s)$ on \mathscr{I}^- are observables on phase space that are essentially equivalent¹⁸ to the bulk field observables $\phi(f)$. The Poisson brackets of these observables at \mathscr{I}^- are given by

$$\left\{ \Pi(s_1), \Pi(s_2) \right\} = \frac{1}{4} \left\{ \phi(f_1), \phi(f_2) \right\}$$

$$= \frac{1}{4} E(f_1, f_2) 1$$

$$= \frac{1}{4} \Omega_{\Sigma}^{\text{KG0}}(Ef_1, Ef_2) 1$$

$$= \frac{1}{4} \int_{\mathscr{I}} dv d\Omega \left(s_2 \frac{\partial s_1}{\partial v} - s_1 \frac{\partial s_2}{\partial v} \right) 1.$$

$$(2.22)$$

Here, the third line was obtained by writing

$$E(f_1, f_2) = \int \sqrt{-g} d^4 y \ f_1(y) Ef_2(y) = -\Omega_{\Sigma}^{\text{KG0}}(Ef_2, Ef_1)$$
(2.23)

where eq. (2.13) with $f = f_1$ and $\phi = E f_2$ was used.

Finally, note that if w is a test function of the form $w = \partial s / \partial v$ for some test function s,

^{18.} We say "essentially equivalent" because if f is of compact support on spacetime, then in a curved spacetime — where Huygens' principle does not hold for the wave equation (2.2) - Ef will not be of compact support on \mathscr{I}^- and vice-versa, so the test function spaces do not align precisely. We will ignore this issue here. Except for the case of nonlinear gravity, our applications are to Minkowski spacetime, where Huygens' principle does hold and the correspondence is exact.

then

$$\Phi(w) := \int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} dv d\Omega \ \Phi(v, x^{A}) w(v, x^{A}) = \int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} dv d\Omega \ \Phi \frac{\partial s}{\partial v}$$
$$= -\int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} dv d\Omega \ \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial v} s = -\Pi(s).$$
(2.24)

Thus, $\Phi(w)$ for $w = \partial s/\partial v$ is equal to $-\Pi(s)$ and hence is well-defined and corresponds to a local observable in the bulk. However, if w is not of this form — i.e., if $\int dv \ w(v, x^A) \neq 0$ for some x^A — then $\Phi(w)$ does not correspond to a local observable in the bulk.

3 Algebraic viewpoint: Quantization of free fields and asymptotic quantization of massless interacting fields

Since we are concerned in this chapter with the possible choices of a Hilbert space of "in" and "out" states in scattering theory, it is essential to have a notion of the structure of the theory prior to a choice of Hilbert space. The algebraic approach provides such a notion. The purpose of this section is to review the key ideas ideas in the algebraic approach and describe the asymptotic quantization of massless fields corresponding to the asymptotic characterization of phase space given at the end of the previous section. For further discussion of the algebraic viewpoint we refer the reader to [102, 103, 104].

In the algebraic approach, one assumes that the quantum field observables have the structure of a *-algebra \mathscr{A} . States are then defined as positive linear functions on the algebra, i.e., a state, ω , is simply a linear map $\omega : \mathscr{A} \to \mathbb{C}$ such that $\omega(a^*a) \geq 0$ for all $a \in \mathscr{A}$. If we take \mathscr{A} to be generated by local (smeared) field observables, then an arbitrary element $a \in \mathscr{A}$ would be a sum of products of local field observables, so a specification of ω would be equivalent to providing the complete list of the correlation functions of the field observables.
Our interest in this chapter is in interacting quantum field theories, specifically, QED, Yang-Mills theory, and quantum gravity. There are many nontrivial and still unanswered questions about the formulation of interacting quantum field theories. However, in this chapter, we will be concerned only with the behavior of these fields at asymptotically early and late times. As is normally done in scattering theory, we will simply *assume* that states of the theory behave at asymptotically early and late times like states of the corresponding "in" and "out" free field theories, i.e., that the interactions can be neglected at asymptotically early and late times. Of course, the determination of the relationship between the "in" and "out" states requires knowledge of the interacting quantum field theory, but our analysis in this chapter will be exclusively concerned with the nature of "in" and "out" states and whether suitable Hilbert spaces of such states can be defined. Thus, as previously stated at the beginning of sec. 2, for the considerations of this chapter, we need only be concerned with the structure of free field theory.

The structure of the quantum theory of a free field is well illustrated by the case of a real scalar field ϕ , eq. (2.1). The classical phase space structure of the real scalar field was described in sec. 2. The quantum theory of ϕ is defined by specifying an algebra, \mathscr{A} , of quantum observables. We obtain \mathscr{A} by starting with the free algebra of the smeared fields $\phi(f)$, their formal adjoints $\phi(f)^*$ and an identity 1 where f is a real-valued, smooth function on \mathcal{M} with compact support. The algebra \mathscr{A} is then obtained by factoring this free algebra by the following relations:

- (A.I) $\phi(c_1f_1 + c_2f_2) = c_1\phi(f_1) + c_2\phi(f_2)$ for any f_1, f_2 and any $c_1, c_2 \in \mathbb{R}$, i.e., the smeared field is linear in the test function
- (A.II) $\phi((\Box m^2 \xi R)f) = 0$ for all f, i.e., ϕ satisfies the field equation in the distributional sense
- (A.III) $\phi(f)^* = \phi(f)$ for all f, i.e., the field is Hermitian

(A.IV) $[\phi(f_1), \phi(f_2)] = iE(f_1, f_2)\mathbf{1}$, i.e., the field satisfies canonical commutation relations (see eq. (2.14))

As already mentioned above, a state is a linear map $\omega : \mathscr{A} \to \mathbb{C}$ that satisfies $\omega(a^*a) \geq 0$ for all algebra elements $a \in \mathscr{A}(\mathcal{M},g)$. We further require the normalization condition $\omega(1) = 1$. A state is thus determined by specifying its smeared "n-point correlation functions" $\omega(\phi(f_1)\dots\phi(f_n))$. If we have a Hilbert space \mathscr{H} on which the smeared fields are represented as operators satisfying (A.I)–(A.IV), then any normalized vector $|\Psi\rangle \in \mathscr{H}$ gives rise to a state via $\omega(a) = \langle \Psi | \pi(a) | \Psi \rangle$ for all $a \in \mathscr{A}$, where $\pi(a)$ is the operator representative of a. More generally, any normalized density matrix ρ on \mathscr{H} gives rise to a state via $\omega(a) = \operatorname{tr}(\rho \pi(a))$. Conversely, by a remarkably simple construction due to Gel'fand, Naimark and Segal (GNS). given an algebraic state $\omega : \mathscr{A} \to \mathbb{C}$, one can obtain a representation, π , of \mathscr{A} on a Hilbert space \mathscr{H} and a vector $|\Psi\rangle \in \mathscr{H}$ such that $\omega(a) = \langle \Psi | \pi(a) | \Psi \rangle$ for all $a \in \mathscr{A}$. The GNS construction consists of starting with the vector space \mathscr{A} and using ω to define an inner product on \mathscr{A} . One then completes \mathscr{A} in this inner product and factors out any degenerate elements to get a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . By construction, \mathcal{H} contains a dense set of vectors $|a\rangle$ corresponding to elements $a \in \mathscr{A}$. We obtain a representation, π , of \mathscr{A} on \mathscr{H} by the formula $\pi(a) |b\rangle = |ab\rangle$ for all $a, b \in \mathscr{A}$. The vector $|\Psi\rangle \in \mathscr{H}$ corresponding to ω is simply $|\mathbf{1}\rangle$. Note that $|\mathbf{1}\rangle$ is cyclic, i.e., the action of $\pi(a)$ on $|\mathbf{1}\rangle$ for all $a \in \mathscr{A}$ generates a dense subspace of states. Note further that this construction uses only the *-algebra structure of \mathscr{A} .

A state is called pure if it cannot be written as a sum of two other states with positive coefficients; otherwise the state is referred to as mixed. The GNS construction will represent a mixed state as a vector (rather than density matrix) in \mathscr{H} , but for a mixed state the GNS representation will be reducible. In particular, for a state that corresponds to a density matrix on a Hilbert space \mathscr{H} that carries an irreducible representation of \mathscr{A} , the GNS construction will suitably enlarge $\tilde{\mathscr{H}}$ to a Hilbert space \mathscr{H} on which the state is represented as a vector.¹⁹

An important class of states are known as "Gaussian states" (also referred to as "quasi-free states" or "vacuum states"). By definition, for Gaussian states, the *n*-point functions for n > 2 are given by formulas in terms of the 1- and 2-point functions that are analogous to the formulas for the *n*-th moments of a Gaussian probability distribution. This can be described by saying that the "connected *n*-point functions" (also known as "truncated *n*-point functions") vanish for all n > 2 (see e.g. [103]). For example, for a Gaussian state of the Klein-Gordon field the 3-point function is given by

$$\omega(\phi(y_1)\phi(y_2)\phi(y_3)) = \omega(\phi(y_1)) \cdot \omega(\phi(y_2)\phi(y_3)) + \omega(\phi(y_2)) \cdot \omega(\phi(y_3)\phi(y_1))$$

+ $\omega(\phi(y_3)) \cdot \omega(\phi(y_1)\phi(y_3)) - 2\omega(\phi(y_1)) \cdot \omega(\phi(y_2)) \cdot \omega(\phi(y_3))$
(3.1)

where all "unsmeared" formulas here and below should be interpreted as holding distributionally. The GNS Hilbert space of a Gaussian state ω has a natural Fock space structure

$$\mathscr{F}(\mathscr{H}_1) = \mathbb{C} \oplus \left[\bigoplus_{n \ge 1} \underbrace{\left(\mathscr{H}_1 \otimes_S \cdots \otimes_S \mathscr{H}_1 \right)}_{n \text{ times}} \right].$$
(3.2)

where \otimes_S is the symmetrized tensor product, and the inner product on the "one-particle Hilbert space" \mathscr{H}_1 is determined²⁰ by the 2-point function $\omega(\phi(y_1)\phi(y_2))$. In Minkowski spacetime, the Poincaré invariant vacuum state $|0\rangle$ is a Gaussian state and the Fock space eq. (3.2) is the standard choice of Hilbert space for free field theory.

The general definition of a state given above admits many states with singular ultraviolet behavior — too singular for nonlinear field observables to be defined. It is therefore necessary

^{19.} For example, the GNS construction represents a thermal state as a vector in its "thermofield double".

^{20.} More precisely on the space of smooth functions f of compact support we define the inner product $\langle f_1 | f_2 \rangle = \omega(\phi(f_1)^* \phi(f_2))$ (see [105] for details).

to impose an additional restriction on the short distance behavior of states. In most treatments of quantum field theory in Minkowski spacetime, this issue is not highlighted because the vacuum state $|0\rangle$ has the required ultraviolet behavior, as do all states in the corresponding Fock space eq. (3.2) with smooth *n*-particle "mode functions". Thus, the states that are normally considered in usual treatments satisfy the required condition on ultraviolet behavior. However, in this chapter, we seek alternative choices of Hilbert spaces — since, as explained in sec. 1, the standard Fock space of "in" and "out" states cannot accommodate the states that arise in scattering processes — so it is essential that we explicitly impose the condition that states have the required ultraviolet behavior. This additional restriction on states is given by the Hadamard condition, which requires that the short distance behavior of the 2-point function of any allowed state be of the form

$$\omega(\phi(y_1)\phi(y_2)) = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \frac{U(y_1, y_2)}{\sigma + i0^+ T} + V(y_1, y_2) \log(\sigma + i0^+ T) + W(y_1, y_2).$$
(3.3)

Here σ is the squared geodesic distance between y_1 and y_2 , $T = t(y_1) - t(y_2)$ with t a global time function on spacetime, U and V are smooth, symmetric functions that are locally constructed via the Hadamard recursion relations [106], and W is also smooth and symmetric. The Hadamard condition can be very usefully reformulated in terms of microlocal spectral conditions on the distribution $\omega(\phi(y_1)\phi(y_2))$ [107], but we shall not need this reformulation here. The Hadamard condition eq. (3.3) together with the positivity condition on states implies that the connected *n*-point functions for $n \neq 2$ of a Hadamard state are smooth and symmetric [108].

We conclude this section by giving the asymptotic quantization of ϕ in the massless case. Again, we assume that past null infinity, \mathscr{I}^- , and future null infinity, \mathscr{I}^+ , can be treated as Cauchy surfaces. We cannot proceed by starting with the bulk theory and taking limits of correlation functions to \mathscr{I}^- or \mathscr{I}^+ , since the quantum fields are distributional on spacetime and cannot straightforwardly be restricted to a lower dimensional surfaces such as \mathscr{I}^- or \mathscr{I}^+ . However, we can proceed by working with the asymptotic description of the classical phase space given at the end of the previous section.

For the asymptotic quantization on \mathscr{I}^- , we take the observables on phase space to be $\Pi(s)$ (eq. (2.21)), where s is an arbitrary test function on \mathscr{I}^- with conformal weight -1. We define the algebra \mathscr{A}_{in} by starting with the free algebra generated by $\Pi(s)$, $\Pi(s)^*$ and 1 and factoring it by relations corresponding to (A.I)–(A.IV). Conditions (A.I) and (A.III) translate straightforwardly to \mathscr{A}_{in} . There is no condition corresponding to condition (A.II) since we are now smearing Π with free data for solutions. The commutation relation (A.IV) translates to

$$[\mathbf{\Pi}(x_1), \mathbf{\Pi}(x_2)] = \frac{i}{2} \delta'(v_1, v_2) \delta_{\mathbb{S}^2}(x_1^A, x_2^A) \mathbf{1}$$
(3.4)

(see eq. (2.22)) where $x = (v, x^A)$ are coordinates on \mathscr{I}^- and this equation is to be understood as a distributional relation on \mathscr{I}^- . This completes our specification of the algebra \mathscr{A}_{in} . The algebra \mathscr{A}_{out} is defined similarly.

The algebra \mathscr{A}_{in} constructed in this manner is essentially equivalent²¹ to the bulk free field algebra \mathscr{A} . For an interacting theory, the bulk algebra, of course, is no longer a free field algebra, but the central assumption of scattering theory is that states on the bulk algebra asymptote to states on the free field algebras \mathscr{A}_{in} and \mathscr{A}_{out} at early and late times, respectively.

We now impose regularity conditions on states on \mathscr{A}_{in} . For the bulk theory, we imposed the Hadamard condition eq. (3.3) on states on \mathscr{A} , and we wish to express this condition as a corresponding condition on states on \mathscr{A}_{in} . For the conformally invariant case ($\xi = 1/6$) in a spacetime with a regular timelike infinity, it has been shown [109] that Hadamard states on

^{21.} We say "essentially equivalent" for the reason stated in footnote 18.

 ${\mathscr A}$ correspond to states on ${\mathscr A}_{\rm in}$ whose 2-point function is of the form^{22}

$$\omega\left(\mathbf{\Pi}(x_1)\mathbf{\Pi}(x_2)\right) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \frac{\delta_{\mathbb{S}^2}(x_1^A, x_2^A)}{(v_1 - v_2 - i0^+)^2} + S(x_1, x_2)$$
(3.5)

where $S(x_1, x_2)$ is a smooth function on $\mathscr{I}^- \times \mathscr{I}^-$. In particular, this result holds in Minkowski spacetime (for an arbitrary ξ , since ξ does not enter the equations of motion in that case). We assume that this form holds generally for massless fields, i.e., with no restriction to $\xi = 1/6$ or to spacetimes with a regular timelike infinity. Thus, we impose eq. (3.5) as the ultraviolet regularity condition on states on \mathscr{A}_{in} . Note that in Minkowski spacetime, the 2-point function of the Poincaré invariant vacuum state ω_0 takes the form eq. (3.5) with S = 0, i.e.,

$$\omega_0\left(\mathbf{\Pi}(x_1)\mathbf{\Pi}(x_2)\right) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \frac{\delta_{\mathbb{S}^2}(x_1^A, x_2^A)}{(v_1 - v_2 - i0^+)^2}.$$
(3.6)

In addition to the ultraviolet regularity condition on states, we impose the following decay conditions on states, analogous to the classical decay conditions mentioned below eq. (2.18): We require that S and all connected n-point functions for $n \neq 2$ decay for any set of $|v_i| \to \infty$ as $O((\sum_i v_i^2)^{-1/2-\epsilon})$ for some $\epsilon > 0$.

In the subsequent sections, we will assume that the quantization of the "in" and "out" electromagnetic and gravitational fields are given by a direct analog of our construction of \mathscr{A}_{in} above, and we will impose ultraviolet regularity (Hadamard) conditions on states given by the direct analog of eq. (3.5), as well as the analogous decay conditions.

Finally, we note that we have included only observables that are linear in the field ϕ in our algebras, \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{A}_{in} , of local field observables. For the case of the bulk theory, \mathscr{A} can be extended to include smeared polynomial quantities ("Wick polynomials") in the field by a

^{22.} A similar result holds for any field (including massive fields) on a Killing horizon [105].

"Hadamard normal ordering" procedure (see [103]). However, an analogous procedure does *not* work for \mathscr{A}_{in} , as Hadamard normal ordering produces quantities that are too singular in the angular directions. Thus, we cannot extend \mathscr{A}_{in} to include polynomial local field observables. Nevertheless, quantities that are quadratic in the fields can be defined as quadratic forms by Hadamard subtraction, using eq. (3.6) for the subtraction. In particular, for any Hadamard state ω , we may define the expected value of Π^2 by

$$\omega\left(\mathbf{\Pi}^{2}(x)\right) = \lim_{x' \to x} \left[\omega\left(\mathbf{\Pi}(x)\mathbf{\Pi}(x')\right) - \omega_{0}\left(\mathbf{\Pi}(x)\mathbf{\Pi}(x')\right)\right]$$

= $S(x, x).$ (3.7)

We can use this notion to define expected values of observables that are quadratic in the fields. However, higher powers of $\Pi(x)$ cannot even be defined as quadratic forms. In particular, since the stress-energy flux through \mathscr{I}^- is $T_{vv} = \Pi^2$ this implies that the local energy flux cannot be defined as an operator and is only well-defined as a quadratic form (i.e. only its expected value is well-defined). This result is in accord with arguments given in [110].

4 QED with a massive, charged Klein-Gordon field

In this section we consider massive scalar QED, i.e., the theory of a Maxwell field A_{μ} , coupled to a charged massive complex Klein-Gordon scalar field φ in Minkowski spacetime. The Lagrangian for this theory is

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4}F^{\mu\nu}F_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}D^{\mu}\overline{\varphi}D_{\mu}\varphi - \frac{1}{2}m^{2}\overline{\varphi}\varphi \qquad (4.1)$$

where $F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}$ and D_{μ} is the gauge covariant derivative operator

$$D_{\mu}\varphi := \partial_{\mu}\varphi - iqA_{\mu}\varphi, \quad D_{\mu}\overline{\varphi} := \overline{D_{\mu}\varphi}.$$
(4.2)

The theory is invariant under the action of gauge transformations

$$A_{\mu} \mapsto A_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\lambda, \quad \varphi \mapsto e^{iq\lambda}\varphi.$$
 (4.3)

In sec. 4.1, we give the asymptotic quantization of the massive Klein-Gordon and electromagnetic fields. In sec. 4.2, we extend the algebra of asymptotic observables to include large gauge charges and Poincaré generators. In sec. 4.3, we construct Fock representations of the extended algebra of asymptotic observables with arbitrary choices of memory. Finally, in sec. 4.4 we construct the Faddeev-Kulish Hilbert space.

1 Asymptotic quantization of QED with a massive Klein-Gordon field

We wish to provide a characterization of the states in QED in terms of free field states in the asymptotic past and asymptotic future. For definiteness, we will focus upon the asymptotic past; exactly the same procedure is used for the asymptotic future. We assume that in the asymptotic past, classical solutions approach solutions to the free Klein-Gordon and Maxwell equations.²³ Correspondingly, in the asymptotic past, states in QED should approach "free field 'in' states," i.e., states on the tensor product

$$\mathscr{A}_{\rm in} = \mathscr{A}_{\rm in}^{\rm EM} \otimes \mathscr{A}_{\rm in}^{\rm KG} \,. \tag{4.4}$$

of the asymptotic algebra, $\mathscr{A}_{in}^{\text{EM}}$, of the free electromagnetic field with the asymptotic algebra, $\mathscr{A}_{in}^{\text{KG}}$, of the free massive Klein-Gordon field. Thus, our task in this subsection is to obtain the free field algebras $\mathscr{A}_{in}^{\text{EM}}$ and $\mathscr{A}_{in}^{\text{KG}}$.

The strategy for obtaining $\mathscr{A}_{in}^{\text{EM}}$ was presented in the previous section. The electromag-

^{23.} This assumption is supported by rigorous studies of the classical behavior of the QED fields [111, 112, 113, 114].

netic field is conformally invariant, so, classically, for solutions with appropriate fall-off at spatial infinity, one can choose a gauge²⁴ so that the vector potential A_{μ} extends smoothly to \mathscr{I}^- . We may further choose a gauge for which $n^{\mu}A_{\mu}|_{\mathscr{I}^-} = 0$ where $n^{\mu} := \partial_v$ is the null normal. In this gauge, the pullback of A_{μ} to \mathscr{I}^- is a down index tensor on \mathscr{I}^- that is orthogonal to n^{μ} , so in accord with the notational conventions stated at the end of sec. 0.3, we denote it as A_A .

The points of the classical phase space are given by the specification of A_A on \mathscr{I}^- . This is the analog of the specification of Φ on \mathscr{I}^- in the scalar field case. The analog of the observable $\Pi = \partial_v \Phi$ on \mathscr{I}^- is the *electric field*

$$E_A = -\pounds_n A_A = -\partial_v A_A \tag{4.5}$$

which is the pullback to \mathscr{I}^- of $F_{\mu\nu}n^{\nu}$. Note that E_A is gauge invariant. The symplectic form is given by

$$\Omega_{\mathscr{I}}^{\mathrm{EM}}(A_1, A_2) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathscr{I}^-} d^3 x \left[E_{1A} A_2^A - E_{2A} A_1^A \right].$$
(4.6)

The local field observables for the Maxwell field on \mathscr{I}^- are

$$E(s) = \int_{\mathscr{I}^-} d^3x \ E_A(x) s^A(x) \tag{4.7}$$

where s^A is test vector field on \mathscr{I}^- , with no conformal weight, and the capital Latin index is in accord with the notational conventions stated at the end of sec. 0.3 because eq. (4.7) depends only on the equivalence class of the vector field. Note that the observable E(s)generates the infinitesimal affine transformation $A_A \to A_A - 2\pi\epsilon s_A$. The Poisson brackets

^{24.} Note that the vector potential A_{μ} is *not* smooth at null infinity in the Lorenz gauge when there is a non-vanishing total charge (see Remark 4 and eq. (52) of [1]). Nevertheless one make other gauge choices that yield a smooth A_{μ} .

are

$$\{E(s_1), E(s_2)\} = -4\pi^2 \Omega_{\mathscr{I}}^{\text{EM}}(s_1, s_2)$$
(4.8)

where, for test functions s_1^A, s_2^A we have that

$$\Omega^{\rm EM}_{\mathscr{I}}(s_1, s_2) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathscr{I}} d\Omega dv \left[s_1^A \partial_v s_{2A} - s_2^A \partial_v s_{1A} \right] = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathscr{I}^-} d\Omega dv \ s_1^A \partial_v s_{2A}. \tag{4.9}$$

In exact parallel with the asymptotic quantization of the massless scalar field given in sec. 3, the algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in}^{\text{EM}}$ is defined to be the free algebra generated by the smeared fields $\boldsymbol{E}(s)$, their formal adjoints $\boldsymbol{E}(s)^*$, and an identity $\mathbf{1}$ — where $s^A(x)$ are real test vector fields on \mathscr{I}^- — factored by the following relations:

(B.I)
$$\boldsymbol{E}(c_1s_1 + c_2s_2) = c_1\boldsymbol{E}(s_1) + c_2\boldsymbol{E}(s_2)$$
 for any s_1^A, s_2^A and any $c_1, c_2 \in \mathbb{R}$

(B.II)
$$\boldsymbol{E}(s)^* = \boldsymbol{E}(s)$$
 for all s^A

(B.III)
$$[\boldsymbol{E}(s_1), \boldsymbol{E}(s_2)] = -i4\pi^2 \Omega_{\mathscr{I}}^{\text{EM}}(s_1, s_2) \mathbf{1}$$
 for any s_1^A, s_2^A

We shall denote states on the algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in}^{\text{EM}}$ as ω^{EM} . The Hadamard regularity condition on asymptotic states of the electromagnetic field analogous to eq. (3.5) is that the 2-point function has the form

$$\omega^{\text{EM}}(\boldsymbol{E}_A(x_1)\boldsymbol{E}_B(x_2)) = -\frac{q_{AB}\delta_{\mathbb{S}^2}(x_1^A, x_2^A)}{(v_1 - v_2 - i0^+)^2} + S_{AB}(x_1, x_2)$$
(4.10)

where S_{AB} is a (state-dependent) smooth bi-tensor on \mathscr{I}^- that is symmetric under the simultaneous interchange of x_1, x_2 and the indices A, B. Furthermore, we require that the connected *n*-point functions for $n \neq 2$ of a Hadamard state on \mathscr{I}^- are smooth.²⁵ The 2-point function of the Poincaré invariant vacuum state ω_0^{EM} is given by eq. (4.10) with $S_{AB} = 0$.

^{25.} It is possible that, in analogy with the bulk theory [108], this requirement actually a consequence of eq. (4.10). However, we have not investigated whether this is the case.

Finally, we impose a decay condition on states to ensure that all fluxes are well-defined. We require states to be such that S_{AB} and all connected *n*-point functions for $n \neq 2$ decay for any set of $|v_i| \to \infty$ as $O((\sum_i v_i^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}-\epsilon})$ for some $\epsilon > 0$. This completes the specification of $\mathscr{A}_{in}^{\text{EM}}$ and the allowed states on $\mathscr{A}_{in}^{\text{EM}}$.

We turn now to the asymptotic quantization of a massive complex scalar field φ in Minkowski spacetime. We follow the same basic strategy of finding an appropriate asymptotic surface that can be treated as a Cauchy surface. We then obtain the asymptotic description of the classical phase space by finding appropriate initial data on the asymptotic surface and we express the symplectic form in terms of this initial data. We then use eq. (2.13) to obtain observables involving this initial data that correspond to local observables in the bulk, and we obtain the Poisson brackets of these observables. This enables us to define \mathscr{A}_{in}^{KG} .

For massive fields, the appropriate asymptotic surface is an asymptotic hyperboloid $\mathcal{H}^$ rather than \mathscr{I}^- . To see this, we introduce a coordinate system as follows [115] (see also [116, 117]). Let

$$\tau^2 := t^2 - r^2, \quad \rho := \tanh^{-1} r/t.$$
 (4.11)

where t, r are the standard Minkowski time and radial coordinates. These coordinates foliate the interiors of the future/past light cone of an arbitrary choice of origin in Minkowski spacetime by a family of Riemannian hyperboloids with $\tau = \text{constant}$ (see fig. 3.1). The induced metric on the 3-dimensional unit-hyperboloid \mathcal{H} (with $\tau^2 = 1$) is given by

$$ds_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} = \frac{d\rho^{2}}{1+\rho^{2}} + \rho^{2} s_{AB} dx^{A} dx^{B}$$
(4.12)

where s_{AB} is the metric on the unit 2-sphere and x^A are coordinates on the sphere. The metric on a hyperboloid with $\tau^2 \neq 1$ is just $\tau^2 ds_{\mathcal{H}}^2$. Note that any point on \mathcal{H} can also be thought of as a unit-normalized timelike vector p in Minkowski spacetime, and we will use

the notation $p = (\rho, x_p^A)$ to denote points on \mathcal{H} . The induced volume element on \mathcal{H} is then

$$d^3p := \frac{\rho^2}{\sqrt{1+\rho^2}} d\rho d\Omega. \tag{4.13}$$

The stationary phase method suggests that as $\tau \to -\infty$ at fixed p, there exists a gauge²⁶ such that (up to a constant phase factor) the leading order asymptotic behaviour of φ is given by [115] (see also [116])

$$\varphi \sim \frac{\sqrt{m}}{2(2\pi\tau)^{3/2}} \left[c(p)e^{-im\tau} + i\overline{b}(p)e^{im\tau} \right]$$
(4.14)

where p denotes a future-directed unit-normalized momentum and thus, a point $p = (\rho, x_p^A)$ on the unit-hyperboloid \mathcal{H}^- in the tangent space at past timelike infinity. Note that although each hyperboloid of constant τ extends to past null infinity, the hyperboloid \mathcal{H}^- corresponds to taking the limit $\tau \to -\infty$ at fixed $p = (\rho, x_p^A)$ and thus gives a representation of unittimelike directions at past timelike infinity closely analogous to the description of spatial infinity given by Ashtekar and Hansen [61].²⁷ We will assume that the asymptotic behavior of φ is given by eq. (4.14) and that \mathcal{H}^- can be treated as a Cauchy surface.

The initial data on \mathcal{H}^- of a solution consists of the complex functions b(p) and c(p) appearing in eq. (4.14). The symplectic form on this initial data can be written as $[115]^{28}$

$$\Omega_{i^{-}}^{\mathrm{KG}}(\varphi_{1},\varphi_{2}) = -\frac{im^{2}}{4(2\pi)^{3}} \int_{\mathcal{H}^{-}} d^{3}p \left[b_{1}(p)\overline{b}_{2}(p) + c_{1}(p)\overline{c}_{2}(p) - (1\leftrightarrow2) \right].$$
(4.15)

^{26.} In the Lorenz gauge for the electromagnetic vector potential, the scalar field in eq. (4.14) would have an additional overall phase $e^{iq \log \tau}$ in its asymptotic behavior (see e.g. [115] or Ch. IV of [118]). However this logarithmic "Coulomb phase" can be eliminated by a different choice of gauge. The vector potential in the Lorenz gauge is also badly behaved at null infinity (see footnote 24).

^{27.} A similar analysis at timelike infinity can be found in [116, 117].

^{28.} Our convention for the symplectic form differs from that in [115] by a factor of $-\frac{1}{2}$.



Figure 3.1: A schematic picture (with angular dimensions suppressed) of the family of hyperboloids \mathcal{H}_{τ} used to take the limits to timelike infinity i^- . The vertical line labeled r = 0 is the axis of rotational symmetry, Ois an arbitrary choice of origin in Minkowski spacetime with past light cone depicted by a dotted line, and \mathscr{I}^- denotes past null infinity. The \mathcal{H}_{τ} are 3-dimensional hyperboloids of $\tau = \text{constant}$ with $\tau \to -\infty$ corresponding to the limiting hyperboloid \mathcal{H}^- at i^- . The Γ_p denote curves of constant $p = (\rho, x_p^A)$ along which the limit to past timelike infinity is taken.

The symplectic form is a real-bilinear map on the real and imaginary parts of b and c, but it is not complex-bilinear (or complex-bi-antilinear) in b and c. On the complex plane, it is often convenient to treat z = x + iy and $\overline{z} = x - iy$ as though they were independent quantities, imposing that they are conjugates only at the end of any calculation. For similar reasons, it is convenient to treat \overline{b} and \overline{c} as though they are quantities independent of b and c on phase space, imposing that they be conjugates of b and c at the end of any calculation. Thus, we will take a point in the asymptotic description of the classical phase space to be represented as the quadruple $(b(p), \overline{b}(p), c(p), \overline{c}(p))$. The symplectic form is then a complex-bilinear function of its variables.

Local observables are obtained by smearing the fields with a *complex* test function w(p)on \mathcal{H}^- . The smeared fields b(w) and $\overline{b}(w)$ are defined by

$$b(w) := \int_{\mathcal{H}^-} d^3 p \ b(p)\overline{w}(p) , \qquad \overline{b}(w) := \int_{\mathcal{H}^-} d^3 p \ \overline{b}(p)w(p). \tag{4.16}$$

Note that we take b(w) to be anti-linear in w whereas $\overline{b}(w)$ is linear in w, so $\overline{b(w)} = \overline{b}(w)$. Note also that the Hamiltonian vector fields corresponding to these observables are given by $-\frac{4(2\pi)^3}{im^2}(0,\overline{w}(p),0,0)$ and $\frac{4(2\pi)^3}{im^2}(w(p),0,0,0)$ respectively. We similarly define the smeared local observables

$$c(w) := \int_{\mathcal{H}^{-}} d^3 p \ c(p) w(p) , \qquad \overline{c}(w) := \int_{\mathcal{H}^{-}} d^3 p \ \overline{c}(p) \overline{w}(p)$$
(4.17)

where we now take c(w) to be linear and $\overline{c}(w)$ to be anti-linear in w. The nontrivial Poisson brackets are

$$\left\{b(w_1), \bar{b}(w_2)\right\} = -i\frac{4(2\pi)^3}{m^2} \langle w_1, w_2 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^-} 1, \quad \left\{c(w_1), \bar{c}(w_2)\right\} = -i\frac{4(2\pi)^3}{m^2} \langle w_2, w_1 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^-} 1.$$
(4.18)

Here, the inner product $\langle w_1, w_2 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^-}$ is the ordinary L^2 inner product on \mathcal{H}^- with the volume element eq. (4.13), which is antilinear in its first argument and is linear in its second argument.

The asymptotic quantization algebra, \mathscr{A}_{in}^{KG} , for the massive complex scalar field is then defined by starting with the free algebra generated by the smeared fields $\boldsymbol{b}(w)$, $\boldsymbol{c}(w)$, their formal adjoints $\boldsymbol{b}(w)^*, \boldsymbol{c}(w)^*$ and an identity **1**. We note that the adjoint operators $\boldsymbol{b}(w)^*$ and $\boldsymbol{c}(w)^*$ correspond to the complex conjugate observables $\overline{b}(w)$ and $\overline{c}(w)$ respectively. We then factor this algebra by the analog of the linearity condition (B.I), the commutation relations

$$[\boldsymbol{b}(w_1), \boldsymbol{b}(w_2)^*] = \frac{4(2\pi)^3}{m^2} \langle w_1, w_2 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^-} \mathbf{1}, \quad [\boldsymbol{c}(w_1), \boldsymbol{c}(w_2)^*] = \frac{4(2\pi)^3}{m^2} \langle w_2, w_1 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^-} \mathbf{1} \quad (4.19)$$

and vanishing commutators for all other fields. This completes the specification of the algebra \mathscr{A}_{in}^{KG} of local observables of the massive, charged Klein-Gordon field.

The Hadamard condition for states ω^{KG} on $\mathscr{A}_{\text{in}}^{\text{KG}}$, is that the 2-point functions given by $\omega^{\text{KG}}(\boldsymbol{b}(p_1)\boldsymbol{b}(p_2)), \, \omega^{\text{KG}}(\boldsymbol{c}(q_1)\boldsymbol{c}(q_2)), \, \omega^{\text{KG}}(\boldsymbol{b}(p_1)\boldsymbol{c}(q_2))$, and $\omega^{\text{KG}}(\boldsymbol{b}(p_1)^*\boldsymbol{c}(q_1))$ are smooth, whereas the remaining 2-point functions have the form

$$\omega^{\text{KG}}(\boldsymbol{b}(p_1)\boldsymbol{b}(p_2)^*) = \frac{4(2\pi)^3}{m^2}\delta_{\mathcal{H}}(p_1, p_2) + B(p_1, p_2)$$
(4.20a)

$$\omega^{\text{KG}}(\boldsymbol{c}(q_1)\boldsymbol{c}(q_2)^*) = \frac{4(2\pi)^3}{m^2}\delta_{\mathcal{H}}(q_2,q_1) + C(q_2,q_1)$$
(4.20b)

where it is understood that $\delta_{\mathcal{H}}$ is to be smeared with a complex conjugate test function \overline{w} in its first argument and a test function w in its second argument, and the functions B and C are (state-dependent) smooth functions on $\mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{H}$. Furthermore, the connected *n*-point functions for $n \neq 2$ of ω^{KG} are required to be smooth. Note that the 2-point function of the Poincaré invariant vacuum state ω_0^{KG} is given by eq. (4.20) with B = C = 0.

In addition, we impose the following decay condition on states: We require that B, Cand all the connected *n*-point functions for $n \neq 2$ of ω^{KG} decay for any set of $|p_i| \to \infty$ as $O((\sum_i p_i^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}-\epsilon})$ for some $\epsilon > 0$. This completes our specification of the regularity conditions on states.

2 Extension of the asymptotic quantization algebra to include charges and Poincaré generators

The algebra \mathscr{A}_{in} that we have defined in the previous subsection was generated by the local field observables of the asymptotic "in" fields. Thus, the only observables represented in \mathscr{A}_{in} are the local fields. However, there are additional observables of interest, where, here and elsewhere in this chapter, we use the term "observables" in the precise sense explained in sec. 2. In this section, we will extend \mathscr{A}_{in} to the algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in,Q}$ by the addition of generators of large gauge transformations (i.e. "charges"). We will then further extend this algebra to an algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in,QP}$ that includes the generators of Poincaré symmetries. We will construct these algebras by obtaining observables on the classical phase space that generate large gauge transformations and Poincaré symmetries. These observables automatically have well-defined Poisson brackets with themselves and with the local fields. We then will obtain $\mathscr{A}_{in,Q}$ by starting with the free algebra generated by \mathscr{A}_{in} together with the observables that generate large gauge transformations and then factoring by the commutation relations obtained from the Poisson brackets. We will then further enlarge this algebra to $\mathscr{A}_{in,QP}$ by including the observables that generate Poincaré symmetries.

We first consider the large gauge charges. As stated above, QED has an invariance under eq. (4.3). The transformations eq. (4.3) with λ vanishing at infinity are genuine gauge transformations in the sense that the infinitesimal versions of these transformations are degeneracies of the symplectic form. In order to construct a phase space with a nondegenerate symplectic form, one must pass to the space of gauge orbits [100], so fields that differ by a gauge transformation correspond to the same point of phase space. However, as previously noted in sec. 1, the transformations eq. (4.3) with $\lambda = \lambda(x^A)$ are not degeneracies of the symplectic form. Such "large gauge transformations" must be treated as symmetries and they act nontrivially on the classical phase space. The infinitesimal version of these symmetries defines a vector field on phase space. We will show that this vector field on phase space is generated by a classical observable, which will be referred to as a "charge." Consequently, we can expect that the quantum algebra \mathscr{A}_{in} can be extended to include quantum representatives of the charges.

Since the asymptotic description of phase space is the Cartesian product of the Klein-Gordon and Maxwell phase spaces, we can separately consider the action of large gauge transformations on the Klein-Gordon and Maxwell fields separately. We will thereby obtain two "charges": (i) a charge Q_{i^-} that generates large gauge transformations on the Klein-Gordon field and (ii) a "memory" quantity that generates large gauge transformations on the Maxwell field. The sum of these two, denoted Q_{i^0} , generates large gauge transformations on the full phase space. The reason for the use of " i^0 " in the notation for the total charge will

be explained below.

We first consider the action of the large gauge transformations on the classical Klein-Gordon phase space, i.e., on the asymptotic fields on \mathcal{H}^- . The large gauge transformations are parametrized by a smooth function $\lambda(x^A)$ on \mathbb{S}^2 , which describes the asymptotic behavior of the transformation eq. (4.3) on the scalar field as $\rho \to \infty$. It is useful to pick a unique representative of this transformation throughout \mathcal{H}^- as follows. Let $\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p)$ be the unique function on \mathcal{H}^- which satisfies

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{H}}\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p) = 0, \quad \lim_{\rho \to \infty} \lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p) = \lambda(x^A)$$
(4.21)

where $\Delta_{\mathcal{H}}$ is the Laplace operator on \mathcal{H}^- . The solution $\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p)$ can be expressed in terms of the boundary value $\lambda(x^A)$ using a Green's function as [119]

$$\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ G_{\mathcal{H}}(p, x^A) \lambda(x^A), \quad G_{\mathcal{H}}(p, x^A) = \frac{1}{4\pi(\sqrt{1+\rho^2} - \rho\hat{p} \cdot \hat{r})^2}.$$
 (4.22)

Here, \hat{r} is the unit vector in \mathbb{R}^3 corresponding to the point x^A on the unit 2-sphere, and \hat{p} denotes the projection of the point $p \in \mathcal{H}^-$ onto the unit 2-sphere, also represented as a unit vector in \mathbb{R}^3 . The Euclidean dot product $\hat{p} \cdot \hat{r}$ of these unit vectors is the cosine of the geodesic distance between two points on \mathbb{S}^2 with respect to the unit 2-sphere metric. Note that this Green's function satisfies

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ G_{\mathcal{H}}(p, x^A) = 1.$$
(4.23)

In terms of $\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}$, the action of the large gauge transformations on the asymptotic scalar field

is given by

$$b(p) \mapsto b(p)e^{-iq\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p)}, \quad \overline{b}(p) \mapsto \overline{b}(p)e^{iq\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p)}$$
$$c(p) \mapsto c(p)e^{iq\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p)}, \quad \overline{c}(p) \mapsto \overline{c}(p)e^{-iq\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p)}.$$
(4.24)

The infinitesimal action of large gauge transformations on phase space is given by

$$(b(p), \overline{b}(p), c(p), \overline{c}(p)) \to (b(p), \overline{b}(p), c(p), \overline{c}(p)) + iq\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p)\epsilon \ (-b(p), \overline{b}(p), c(p), -\overline{c}(p)).$$
(4.25)

This transformation is of the form eq. (2.8) with $\chi_0 = 0$ and

$$L(b, \overline{b}, c, \overline{c}) = (b', \overline{b'}, c', \overline{c'})$$

$$(4.26)$$

with $b'(p) = -iq\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p)b(p)$, $c'(p) = iq\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p)c(p)$. The linear map L satisfies eq. (2.9) so we obtain the observable

$$\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda) := \frac{1}{2} \Omega_{i^-}^{\mathrm{KG}}((b, \overline{b}, c, \overline{c}), L(b, \overline{b}, c, \overline{c})) = \frac{qm^2}{4(2\pi)^3} \int_{\mathcal{H}^-} d^3p \ \lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p) \left[b(p)\overline{b}(p) - c(p)\overline{c}(p) \right].$$

$$(4.27)$$

Note that the integrand on the right-hand-side of eq. (4.27) corresponds to the asymptotic limit to \mathcal{H}^- of $J_{\mu}\tau^{\mu}$, where τ^{μ} is the unit normal to the surfaces of constant τ and the charge-current vector J^{μ} of the scalar field is given by

$$J^{\mu} = -\frac{iq}{2} [\overline{\varphi} D^{\mu} \varphi - \varphi D^{\mu} \overline{\varphi}]. \qquad (4.28)$$

Thus, for $\lambda(x^A) = \text{constant}$, \mathcal{Q}_{i^-} is the total ordinary electric charge of the massive scalar field [115].

Since the observables $Q_{i^-}(\lambda)$ generate the large gauge transformations eq. (4.25), it is

straightforward to compute their Poisson brackets. The Poisson brackets of the charges with themselves vanish

$$\left\{\mathcal{Q}_{i^{-}}(\lambda_{1}), \mathcal{Q}_{i^{-}}(\lambda_{2})\right\} = 0 \tag{4.29}$$

The Poisson brackets of the charges with the smeared fields are

$$\left\{ \mathcal{Q}_{i^{-}}(\lambda), b(w) \right\} = -iqb(\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}w), \quad \left\{ \mathcal{Q}_{i^{-}}(\lambda), \overline{b}(w) \right\} = iq\overline{b}(\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}w)$$

$$\left\{ \mathcal{Q}_{i^{-}}(\lambda), c(w) \right\} = iqc(\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}w), \quad \left\{ \mathcal{Q}_{i^{-}}(\lambda), \overline{c}(w) \right\} = -iq\overline{c}(\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}w).$$

$$(4.30)$$

Since $\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda)$ is an observable on the Klein-Gordon phase space, it has vanishing Poisson bracket with all electromagnetic observables.

We now consider the action of large gauge transformations on the Maxwell phase space. The large gauge transformation $\lambda = \lambda(x^A)$ acts on the Maxwell phase space by

$$A_A \mapsto A_A + \mathscr{D}_A \lambda, \quad E_A \mapsto E_A. \tag{4.31}$$

This affine transformation is generated by $\frac{1}{4\pi}\Delta(\lambda)$ where $\Delta(\lambda)$ is defined by

$$\Delta(\lambda) := -\int_{\mathscr{I}^-} dv d\Omega \ E_A(v, x^B) \mathscr{D}^A \lambda(x^B).$$
(4.32)

Thus, $\Delta(\lambda)$ is an observable on the Maxwell phase space. We refer to $\Delta(\lambda)$ as the memory of the Maxwell field associated with the large gauge transformation λ . Since the local electromagnetic field observables E(s) (see eq. (4.7)) are invariant under eq. (4.31), $\Delta(\lambda)$ has vanishing Poisson bracket with all local electromagnetic field observables. Since $\Delta(\lambda)$ is an observable on the Maxwell phase space, it also has vanishing Poisson bracket with all Klein-Gordon observables.

The generator of gauge transformations on the full phase space of the Klein-Gordon and

Maxwell fields is given by the sum of eq. (4.27) and eq. (4.32)

$$\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda) := \mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda) + \frac{1}{4\pi} \Delta(\lambda) \,. \tag{4.33}$$

The Poisson brackets of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda)$ with all local field observables are the same as those of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda)$. The subscript " i^0 " has been placed on $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda)$ because its value can be computed by taking limits of surface integrals of the electric field as one approaches spatial infinity, i^0 , along \mathscr{I}^- . This can be shown by the following lengthy argument.

First, we show that the charge $Q_{i^-}(\lambda)$ can be computed as a bulk limit of the electric field. In the bulk spacetime, the massive scalar is coupled to the electromagnetic field via the Maxwell equation

$$\frac{1}{4\pi}\nabla_{\nu}F^{\nu\mu} = J^{\mu} \tag{4.34}$$

with J^{μ} given by eq. (4.28). We assume that the limit to \mathcal{H}^{-} of the "electric field"

$$\mathcal{E}_{\mu}(p) = \lim_{\tau \to -\infty} \tau^2 h_{\mu}{}^{\nu} F_{\nu\sigma} \tau^{\sigma}$$
(4.35)

exists and defines a smooth tensor field \mathcal{E}_a on \mathcal{H}^- , where $h_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu} + \tau_{\mu}\tau_{\nu}$ is the induced metric on the hyperboloids of constant τ . From the Maxwell equation (4.34) and the falloff of the scalar field, it follows that there exists an electric potential V(p) on \mathcal{H}^- so that $\mathcal{E}_a(p) = \mathcal{D}_a V(p)$, which satisfies

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \triangle_{\mathcal{H}} V(p) = \frac{qm^2}{4(2\pi)^3} \left[b(p)\overline{b}(p) - c(p)\overline{c}(p) \right]$$
(4.36)

where \mathscr{D}_a denotes the derivative operator on \mathcal{H}^- and $\triangle_{\mathcal{H}}$ again denotes the Laplacian on

 \mathcal{H}^- . By Green's identity, for any large gauge transformation λ , we have

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \mathscr{D}^{a} \left(\lambda_{\mathcal{H}} \mathscr{D}_{a} V - V \mathscr{D}_{a} \lambda_{\mathcal{H}} \right) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \left(\lambda_{\mathcal{H}} \Delta_{\mathcal{H}} V - V \Delta_{\mathcal{H}} \lambda_{\mathcal{H}} \right) \\
= \frac{q m^{2}}{4(2\pi)^{3}} \left[b(p) \overline{b}(p) - c(p) \overline{c}(p) \right]$$
(4.37)

Integrating this equation over \mathcal{H}^- and applying Gauss' theorem to the left side, we obtain

$$\lim_{\rho \to \infty} \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \lambda(x^A) (\cosh \rho)^2 \rho^a \mathcal{E}_a = \frac{qm^2}{4(2\pi)^3} \int_{\mathcal{H}^-} d^3 p \ \lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p) \left[b(p)\overline{b}(p) - c(p)\overline{c}(p) \right]$$

$$= \mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda)$$
(4.38)

where ρ^a is the unit-spacelike-normal to the ρ = constant cross-sections of \mathcal{H}^- . Thus, as we desired to show, the charge $\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda)$ can be obtained as an asymptotic surface integral as $\rho \to \infty$ of the electric field \mathcal{E}_a on \mathcal{H}^- , which itself is obtained as the bulk limit eq. (4.35) as $\tau \to -\infty$. For $\lambda(x^A) = \text{constant}$, eq. (4.38) corresponds to the usual Gauss law formula for charge.

Next, we assume that the analogue of the "null regularity" condition imposed at spatial infinity in [33] holds at timelike infinity. This yields

$$\lim_{\rho \to \infty} (\cosh \rho)^2 \rho^a \mathcal{E}_a \quad (\text{along } \mathcal{H}^-) = \lim_{\nu \to -\infty} F_{\mu\nu} l^\mu n^\nu \quad (\text{along } \mathscr{I}^-) \tag{4.39}$$

where l^{μ} is a vector field at \mathscr{I} satisfying $l_{\mu}l^{\mu} = 0$ and $l^{\mu}n_{\mu} = -1$. This quantity is not a function on the electromagnetic phase space, i.e., it depends on non-radiative (Coulombic) information at \mathscr{I}^- that is obtained from bulk limits. It follows that

$$\mathcal{Q}_{i^{-}}(\lambda) = \lim_{\nu \to -\infty} \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \lambda(x^A) F_{\mu\nu} l^{\mu} n^{\nu}.$$
(4.40)

Now, Maxwell's equations imply that on \mathscr{I}^- we have

$$\pounds_n(F_{\mu\nu}l^\mu n^\nu) = \mathscr{D}^A E_A. \tag{4.41}$$

It follows immediately that

$$\Delta(\lambda) = \frac{1}{4} \int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} dv d\Omega \ \lambda(x^{A}) \frac{\partial (F_{\mu\nu}l^{\mu}n^{\nu})}{\partial v}$$

$$= \lim_{\nu \to +\infty} \frac{1}{4} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} d\Omega \ \lambda(x^{A}) F_{\mu\nu}l^{\mu}n^{\nu} - \lim_{\nu \to -\infty} \frac{1}{4} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} d\Omega \ \lambda(x^{A}) F_{\mu\nu}l^{\mu}n^{\nu}.$$

$$(4.42)$$

Thus, we obtain our desired result

$$\mathcal{Q}_{i0}(\lambda) = \lim_{\nu \to +\infty} \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \lambda(x^A) F_{\mu\nu} l^{\mu} n^{\nu}$$
(4.43)

which shows that $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda)$ can be computed in terms of a limit of $F_{\mu\nu}l^{\mu}n^{\nu}$ as one approaches i^0 along \mathscr{I}^- . However, it should be kept in mind that $F_{\mu\nu}l^{\mu}n^{\nu}$ is not an observable on the Klein-Gordon and Maxwell phase spaces. The definition of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda)$ as an observable is given by eqs. (4.27), (4.32) and (4.33).

It is worth noting that on any cross-section $S \cong \mathbb{S}^2$ of \mathscr{I} , we can define the Maxwell charge associated with the large gauge transformation λ by

$$\mathcal{Q}_S(\lambda) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_S d\Omega \ \lambda(x^A) F_{\mu\nu} l^{\mu} n^{\nu}.$$
(4.44)

This notion of "large gauge charge at a finite advanced time" may be useful for a number of purposes. However, unlike $\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda)$ and $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda)$, the quantity $\mathcal{Q}_S(\lambda)$ does *not* correspond to an observable on phase space. Thus, $\mathcal{Q}_S(\lambda)$ does not have well-defined Poisson brackets with local field observables and we cannot expect $\mathcal{Q}_S(\lambda)$ to have a well-defined counterpart in quantum field theory.²⁹

We now turn to the extension of the algebra, \mathscr{A}_{in} , of local quantum observables to an algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in,Q}$ that includes the large gauge charges $\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda)$ and $\Delta(\lambda)$ (and thereby, $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda)$). We start with the free algebra generated by the smeared local field observables together with observables labeled as $\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda)$ and $\Delta(\lambda)$ and their adjoints for all large gauge transformations $\lambda(x^A)$. We then factor this algebra by linearity in the test functions and λ as well as Hermitian conditions for E, \mathcal{Q}_{i^-} , and Δ . Finally, we factor the algebra by the commutation relations corresponding to all of the Poisson bracket relations we have obtained above. This defines the desired extended algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in,Q}$.

However, since $\Delta(\lambda)$ commutes with all observables³⁰ in $\mathscr{A}_{in,Q}$, it follows that in any representation of $\mathscr{A}_{in,Q}$, a shift of $\Delta(\lambda)$ by a multiple of the identity — with no corresponding shift of \boldsymbol{E} — would also yield a representation of the algebra. This implies that there are many states on the extended algebra where the value of the memory observable is not related to value of the electric field by eq. (4.32). In order to exclude such states, we require as a further condition on states ω (in addition to the Hadamard condition and the fall-off conditions of sec. 4.1) that³¹

$$\omega(\mathbf{\Delta}(\lambda)) = -\int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} dv d\Omega \ \omega(\mathbf{E}_A(v, x^B)) \mathscr{D}^A \lambda(x^B).$$
(4.45)

We have a similar multiple of the identity ambiguity for operator representatives of

^{29.} The nonexistence of operators corresponding to $Q_S(\lambda)$ in quantum field theory is in agreement with the arguments given in [110].

^{30.} Note, however, that this will not be the case after we further extend the algebra to $\mathscr{A}_{in,QP}$ by including Poincaré generators, as we shall do below.

^{31.} We could also impose conditions on higher n-point functions of memory, but we will not need these, so we shall not impose them here.

 $\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda)$. We could similarly impose the additional requirement on states that

$$\omega(\boldsymbol{Q}_{i^{-}}(\lambda)) = \frac{m^2}{4(2\pi)^3} q \int_{\mathcal{H}^{-}} d^3 p \ \lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p) \ \omega(\boldsymbol{b}(p)^* \boldsymbol{b}(p) - \boldsymbol{c}(p)^* \boldsymbol{c}(p))$$
(4.46)

where the expected value of quadratic quantities was defined at the end of sec. 3. However, for the massive scalar field, we will only be interested in states in the standard Fock space (see sec. 4.3.1). For such states, instead of demanding eq. (4.46), we can more simply demand that the charge $\mathbf{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda)$ annihilates the Fock vacuum state, since this removes the multiple of the identity ambiguity in this representation and implies that eq. (4.46) holds for all states in this representation.

We now follow the same strategy to further extend the algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in,Q}$ to an algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in,QP}$ that also includes observables corresponding to the generators of Poincaré transformations. The first step is to write down the action of the Poincaré group on the classical phase space and show that its infinitesimal action is generated by an observable on the classical phase space. Again, we may consider the Poincaré action on the Maxwell phase space and the Klein-Gordon phase space separately.

Poincaré transformations correspond to a particular class of diffeomorphisms of \mathscr{I}^- , and these act naturally on the fields A_A and E_A , so it is straightforward to determine their action on the Maxwell phase space. Lorentz transformations (with origin taken to be that used to define the hyperboloids of eq. (4.11)) similarly correspond to isometries of \mathcal{H}^- and thus have a natural action on the asymptotic Klein-Gordon fields. Thus, we only need to explain the action of translations. In terms of the asymptotic coordinates used above, it can be shown that, at leading order, a translation corresponds to the transformation $\tau \mapsto \tau + f_{\mathcal{H}}(p)$ where the function $f_{\mathcal{H}}(p)$ satisfies³²

$$(\Delta_{\mathcal{H}} - 3)f_{\mathcal{H}}(p) = 0, \quad \lim_{\rho \to \infty} \rho^{-1} f_{\mathcal{H}}(p) = f(x^A)$$
(4.47)

with $f(x^A)$ is a smooth function on \mathbb{S}^2 supported only on the $\ell = 0, 1$ spherical harmonics. The solution can again be written in terms of a Green's function as [119]

$$f_{\mathcal{H}}(p) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \tilde{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(p, x^A) f(x^A), \quad \tilde{G}_{\mathcal{H}}(p, x^A) = \frac{1}{4\pi(\sqrt{1+\rho^2} - \rho\hat{p} \cdot \hat{r})^3}$$
(4.48)

where the notation \hat{p} and \hat{r} is as explained below eq. (4.22). The action of these translations on the asymptotic fields is given by

$$b(p) \mapsto b(p)e^{-imf_{\mathcal{H}}(p)}, \quad \overline{b}(p) \mapsto \overline{b}(p)e^{imf_{\mathcal{H}}(p)}, \quad c(p) \mapsto c(p)e^{-imf_{\mathcal{H}}(p)}, \quad \overline{c}(p) \mapsto \overline{c}(p)e^{imf_{\mathcal{H}}(p)}, \quad (4.49)$$

The infinitesimal action of an arbitrary Poincaré transformation on both the Maxwell and Klein-Gordon phase spaces is thus given by a linear transformation, P. It can be verified that P satisfies eq. (2.9). We thereby obtain an observable, F_P , on phase space corresponding to an arbitrary infinitesimal Poincaré transformation P by the formula,

$$F_P(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}\Omega(\phi, P\phi) \tag{4.50}$$

where " ϕ " stands for a point in the Cartesian product of the Maxwell and Klein-Gordon phase spaces. For a given choice of origin in the bulk spacetime, we can write an arbitrary infinitesimal Poincaré transformation as P = T + X where T is a translation and X is a Lorentz transformation. We denote the corresponding observables as F_T and F_X . The

^{32.} One can also represent BMS supertranslations at timelike infinity by considering solutions $f_{\mathcal{H}}(p)$ to eq. (4.47) on \mathcal{H}^- with the boundary value $f(x^A)$ now being allowed to be any smooth function on \mathbb{S}^2 .

Poisson bracket of these observables with the local asymptotic massive scalar field observables are given by

$$\{F_T, b(w)\} = ib(f_{\mathcal{H}}w), \quad \{F_X, b(w)\} = b(\pounds_X w)$$
(4.51)

where $\pounds_X w$ is the Lie derivative of the complex test function w(p) with respect to the Killing vector field on \mathcal{H} representing the Lorentz transformation X. Analogous formulae also hold for the observable c(w). The Poisson bracket of the Poincaré obervables with the local electromagnetic field observables on \mathscr{I}^- are given by

$$\{F_T, E(s)\} = E(\pounds_T s), \quad \{F_X, E(s)\} = E(\pounds_X s)$$
(4.52)

where, now, the Poincaré translation T is represented by the vector field fn^{μ} on \mathscr{I}^{-} with f supported on the $\ell = 0, 1$ spherical harmonics and the Lorentz transformation is a conformal Killing vector field X^A on \mathbb{S}^2 . Further, the Poisson brackets of the Poincaré observables with memory and charges are given by

$$\{F_T, \Delta(\lambda)\} = 0, \quad \{F_T, \mathcal{Q}_{i^-/i^0}(\lambda)\} = 0$$
 (4.53a)

$$\{F_X, \Delta(\lambda)\} = \Delta(\pounds_X \lambda), \quad \{F_X, \mathcal{Q}_{i^-/i^0}(\lambda)\} = \mathcal{Q}_{i^-/i^0}(\pounds_X \lambda). \tag{4.53b}$$

Finally the brackets of the Poincaré generators with themselves are

$$\{F_{T_1}, F_{T_2}\} = 0, \quad \{F_{X_1}, F_{X_2}\} = F_{[X_1, X_2]}$$
 (4.54a)

$$\{F_X, F_T\} = F_{T'} \tag{4.54b}$$

where in the above, if T is represented by a function $f(x^A)$ then T' is represented by $f' = \pounds_X f - \frac{1}{2}(\mathscr{D}_A X^A)f$. It should be noted that eq. (4.53b) shows that memory is not Lorentz invariant unless it vanishes. Similarly, the charges at timelike and spatial infinity are not Lorentz invariant unless all of the charges (including the ordinary total electric charge)

vanish. In addition, the nonvanishing of the Poisson brackets of F_X with Q_{i0} shows that the observables F_X are not gauge invariant unless all of the charges vanish, as expected from the considerations given in [120].

The extended algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in,QP}$ is now obtained by adding Hermitian elements F_P for each Poincaré generator P to $\mathscr{A}_{in,Q}$ and factoring by commutation relations corresponding to all of the above Poisson bracket relations.

3 Fock representations

In the previous sections, we have constructed the asymptotic local field algebra \mathscr{A}_{in} and we have extended it to the algebras $\mathscr{A}_{in,Q}$ and $\mathscr{A}_{in,QP}$ that include large gauge charges and Poincaré generators. The ordinary Minkowski vacuum state, $\omega_0 := \omega_0^{KG} \otimes \omega_0^{EM}$, is the Gaussian state on \mathscr{A}_{in} with vanishing 1-point function and with 2-point function given by eqs. (4.10) and (4.20) with $S_{AB} = B = C = 0$. We can extend its action to $\mathscr{A}_{in,QP}$ such that for all $a \in \mathscr{A}_{in,QP}$ we have $\omega_0(a\Delta) = \omega_0(\Delta a) = \omega_0(a\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}) = \omega_0(\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}a) = \omega_0(aF_P) = \omega_0(F_Pa) = 0$, i.e., such that ω_0 is an eigenstate with eigenvalue zero of all the charges and Poincaré generators. The GNS representation of ω_0 will yield the usual Fock space of incoming particle states. However, all states in this Fock space will be eigenstates of memory with vanishing eigenvalue. The corresponding construction of an "out" Hilbert space will similarly contain only states with vanishing memory. Consequently, as discussed at length in sec. 1, this choice of Hilbert space is not adequate for scattering theory, since it does not contain the states with memory that arise from the scattering processes.

The purpose of this subsection is to construct a large supply of states — including states with memory — that later can be reassembled into a Hilbert space satisfying properties (1)-(5) of sec. 1. We will do so by constructing the ordinary Fock representation of the asymptotic Klein-Gordon scalar field and the asymptotic electromagnetic field. We will then construct corresponding "memory representations" of the electromagnetic field by shifting the electromagnetic field by the identity multiplied by a classical electromagnetic field with the desired memory. We will thereby obtain states of the electromagnetic field with arbitrary memory.

1 Fock representation of the massive field algebra

In this subsection, we construct the standard Fock representation of the asymptotic Klein-Gordon scalar field. This will give us an ample supply of incoming states of the Klein-Gordon field.

The vacuum state on the extended asymptotic Klein-Gordon algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in,QP}^{KG}$ is the Gaussian algebraic state ω_0^{KG} with vanishing 1-point function and 2-point function given by (see eq. (4.20))

$$\omega_0^{\mathrm{KG}}(\boldsymbol{b}(w_1)\boldsymbol{b}(w_2)^*) = \frac{4(2\pi)^3}{m^2} \langle w_1, w_2 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} , \quad \omega_0^{\mathrm{KG}}(\boldsymbol{c}(w_1)\boldsymbol{c}(w_2)^*) = \frac{4(2\pi)^3}{m^2} \langle w_2, w_1 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$$
(4.55)

for all test functions $w_1(p), w_2(p)$, where $\langle , \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$ is the L^2 inner product on \mathcal{H}^- . Furthermore, ω_0^{KG} is an eigenstate of eigenvalue zero of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda)$ and all of the Poincaré generators.

The GNS construction for ω_0^{KG} yields a Hilbert space \mathscr{F}^{KG} with a natural Fock space structure. Concretely this construction is obtained as follows. On the space of complex test functions on \mathcal{H}^- we define the inner product

$$\langle w_1 | w_2 \rangle := \omega_0^{\mathrm{KG}}(\boldsymbol{b}(w_1)\boldsymbol{b}(w_2)^*) = \frac{4(2\pi)^3}{m^2} \langle w_1, w_2 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$$
(4.56)

using the 2-point function in eq. (4.55). This is a non-degenerate, positive, Hermitian inner product. Let $\mathscr{H}^{\mathrm{KG}}$ be the completion of the space of test functions in this inner product, i.e.,

 $\mathscr{H}^{\mathrm{KG}}$ is the Hilbert space of square-integrable functions (i.e. wave packets) of the timelike momentum p represented as points on \mathcal{H}^- . This Hilbert space serves as the "one particle" Hilbert space for particles in the Fock space. The Fock space of particles is given by

$$\mathscr{F}_{\text{particles}}^{\text{KG}} = \mathbb{C} \oplus \bigoplus_{n \ge 1} \underbrace{\left(\mathscr{H}^{\text{KG}} \otimes_S \cdots \otimes_S \mathscr{H}^{\text{KG}} \right)}_{n \text{ times}}.$$
(4.57)

where \otimes_S is the symmetrized tensor product. On this Fock space the $b(w)^*$ acts as a creation operator and b(w) acts as the annihilation operator for a particle wave packet w(p). An identical construction with the inner product

$$\omega_0^{\mathrm{KG}}(\boldsymbol{c}(w_1)\boldsymbol{c}(w_2)^*) = \frac{4(2\pi)^3}{m^2} \langle w_2, w_1 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$$
(4.58)

gives the "one antiparticle" Hilbert space $\overline{\mathscr{H}}^{\text{KG}}$, and the corresponding Fock space $\mathscr{F}^{\text{KG}}_{\text{antiparticles}}$ on which $\boldsymbol{c}(w)^*$ acts as a creation operator and $\boldsymbol{c}(w)$ acts as the annihilation operator for an antiparticle wave packet $\overline{w}(p)$. Since the operators $\boldsymbol{b}(w)$ and $\boldsymbol{b}(w)^*$ commute with $\boldsymbol{c}(w)$ and $\boldsymbol{c}(w)^*$, the full Fock space representation is given by the tensor product of the particle and antiparticle Fock spaces

$$\mathscr{F}^{\mathrm{KG}} = \mathscr{F}^{\mathrm{KG}}_{\mathrm{particles}} \otimes \mathscr{F}^{\mathrm{KG}}_{\mathrm{antiparticles}} \,. \tag{4.59}$$

The algebraic state ω_0^{KG} corresponds to the vacuum state of the Fock space, which we denote as $|\omega_0^{\text{KG}}\rangle \in \mathscr{F}^{\text{KG}}$. We have

$$\boldsymbol{b}(w) |\omega_0^{\mathrm{KG}}\rangle = \boldsymbol{c}(w) |\omega_0^{\mathrm{KG}}\rangle = \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}_{i^-}(\lambda) |\omega_0^{\mathrm{KG}}\rangle = 0, \quad \text{for all } w(p), \lambda(x^A).$$
(4.60)

A dense set of Hadamard states in this Fock space is generated by the linear span of the vacuum $|\omega_0^{\text{KG}}\rangle$ and symmetric tensor products of the particle and antiparticle wave packet states with test functions w(p).

The large gauge transformations and Poincaré transformations have a strongly continuous unitary action on \mathscr{F}^{KG} . The vacuum state $|\omega_0^{\text{KG}}\rangle$ is invariant under these transformations. The large gauge transformations and translations act on the one-particle/antiparticle spaces as multiplication by a phase. The Lorentz group acts on the one-particle/antiparticle spaces by its natural action on $L^2(\mathcal{H}^-)$. The action on the full Fock space is immediately obtained by extending the action to symmetric tensor products of the one-particle/antiparticle spaces [121].

In the construction of the Faddeev-Kulish representations (see sec. 4.4) it will be useful to work with "improper states" of definite particle/antiparticle momenta. Formally, these states correspond to applying the point-wise creation operators $\boldsymbol{b}(p)^*$ and $\boldsymbol{c}(q)^*$ to the vacuum

$$|p_1, \dots, p_n\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{n!}} \boldsymbol{b}(p_1)^* \dots \boldsymbol{b}(p_n)^* |\omega_0^{\mathrm{KG}}\rangle \text{ and } |q_1, \dots, q_m\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{m!}} \boldsymbol{c}(q_1)^* \dots \boldsymbol{c}(q_m)^* |\omega_0^{\mathrm{KG}}\rangle$$

$$(4.61)$$

where $p, q \in \mathcal{H}^-$ correspond to the momenta of particles and antiparticles respectively. Although eq. (4.61) is well-defined if we smear with test functions in all variables, the definite momentum states $|p_1, \ldots, p_n\rangle$ and $|q_1, \ldots, q_m\rangle$ themselves have infinite norm and are not genuine states in $\mathscr{F}^{\mathrm{KG}}$. However, we can make mathematical sense of these improper states and their relationship to $\mathscr{F}^{\mathrm{KG}}$ in a precise way as follows. Let $\mathscr{H}_p^{\mathrm{KG}} \cong \mathbb{C}$, be the one-dimensional complex Hilbert spaces spanned by the symbol $|p\rangle$. Thus, $|p\rangle$ is a genuine state in $\mathscr{H}_p^{\mathrm{KG}}$. Similarly, for all p_1, \ldots, p_n we define the one-dimensional complex Hilbert space $\mathscr{H}_{p_1...p_n}^{\mathrm{KG}}$ by

$$\mathscr{H}_{p_1\dots p_n}^{\mathrm{KG}} = \mathscr{H}_{p_1}^{\mathrm{KG}} \otimes_S \dots \otimes_S \mathscr{H}_{p_n}^{\mathrm{KG}}$$

$$(4.62)$$

where the symmetric tensor product symbol indicates here that we identify the Hilbert spaces that differ by a permutation of p_1, \ldots, p_n . Then $\mathscr{H}_{p_1\ldots p_n}^{\mathrm{KG}}$ is spanned by $|p_1, \ldots, p_n\rangle :=$ $|p_1\rangle \otimes_S \cdots \otimes_S |p_n\rangle$. We similarly define the *n*-antiparticle Hilbert spaces of definite momenta. The Fock space $\mathscr{F}^{\mathrm{KG}}$ is then given by the direct sum of the direct integral of these Hilbert spaces

$$\mathscr{F}^{\mathrm{KG}} \cong \bigoplus_{n,m \ge 0} \int_{\mathcal{H}^{n+m}} d^3 p_1 \dots d^3 p_n d^3 q_1 \dots d^3 q_m \, \mathscr{H}^{\mathrm{KG}}_{p_1 \dots p_n} \otimes \overline{\mathscr{H}}^{\mathrm{KG}}_{q_1 \dots q_m} \tag{4.63}$$

where d^3p and d^3q denote the Lorentz invariant measure eq. (4.13) on the hyperboloid. States in the Fock space are thus given by expressions of the form

$$|\Psi\rangle = \sum_{n,m} \int_{\mathcal{H}^{n+m}} d^3 p_1 \dots d^3 p_n d^3 q_1 \dots d^3 q_m \ \psi(p_1, \dots, p_n, q_1, \dots, q_m) \ |p_1 \dots, p_n\rangle \otimes |q_1 \dots q_m\rangle$$

$$(4.64)$$

where ψ is a complex L^2 -function of p_i and q_i that is invariant under permutations of the p_i and permutations of the q_i . The quantities $|p_1 \dots p_n\rangle$ and $|q_1 \dots q_m\rangle$ appearing in this equation are the mathematically well-defined basis elements of $\mathscr{H}_{p_1 \dots p_n}^{\mathrm{KG}}$ and $\overline{\mathscr{H}}_{q_1 \dots q_m}^{\mathrm{KG}}$.

The action of the charge operator $\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda)$ on $\mathscr{F}^{\mathrm{KG}}$ can be expressed very conveniently in this representation of the Fock space, since the direct integral decomposition eq. (4.63) corresponds to the spectral decomposition of the operator $\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda)$. Formally, the states $|p_1, \ldots, p_n\rangle$ and $|q_1, \ldots, q_m\rangle$ are eigenstates of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda)$ with eigenvalues given by

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}_{i^{-}}(\lambda) |p_{1}, \dots, p_{n}\rangle = q \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p_{i})\right) |p_{1}, \dots, p_{n}\rangle$$

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}_{i^{-}}(\lambda) |q_{1}, \dots, q_{n}\rangle = -q \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(q_{i})\right) |q_{1}, \dots, q_{n}\rangle$$
(4.65)

where $\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}$ is given by eq. (4.22). Note that the unsmeared version of eq. (4.65) is

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}_{i^{-}}(x^{A}) |p_{1}, \dots, p_{n}\rangle = q \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} G_{\mathcal{H}}(p_{i}, x^{A})\right) |p_{1}, \dots, p_{n}\rangle$$

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}_{i^{-}}(x^{A}) |q_{1}, \dots, q_{n}\rangle = -q \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} G_{\mathcal{H}}(q_{i}, x^{A})\right) |q_{1}, \dots, q_{n}\rangle.$$
(4.66)

where $G_{\mathcal{H}}(p, x^A) = (4\pi)^{-1}(\sqrt{1+\rho^2} - \rho \hat{p} \cdot \hat{r})^{-2}$ (see eq. (4.22)). For a state $|\Psi\rangle$ in the Fock space lying in the subspace of *n* particles and *m* antiparticles, the action of the charge

operator is given by

$$\mathcal{Q}_{i^{-}}(\lambda) |\Psi\rangle = q \int_{\mathcal{H}^{n+m}} d^{3}p_{1} \dots d^{3}p_{n} d^{3}q_{1} \dots d^{3}q_{m} \psi(p_{1}, \dots, p_{n}, q_{1}, \dots, q_{m}) \times \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p_{i}) - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(q_{i}) \right) |p_{1} \dots p_{n}\rangle \otimes |q_{1} \dots q_{m}\rangle.$$

$$(4.67)$$

All states in this subspace are eigenstates of the total charge operator $\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(1)$

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}_{i^{-}}(1) \left| \Psi \right\rangle = q(n-m) \left| \Psi \right\rangle \,. \tag{4.68}$$

However, for non-constant λ , there are no proper eigenstates of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda)$ apart from the vacuum state.

2 Fock representations of the Maxwell field algebra

The vacuum state on the extended asymptotic algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in,QP}^{EM}$ of the electromagnetic field is the Gaussian algebraic state ω_0^{EM} with vanishing 1-point function and 2-point function given by (see eq. (4.10))

$$\omega_0^{\text{EM}}(\boldsymbol{E}(s_1)\boldsymbol{E}(s_2)) = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2} dv_1 dv_2 d\Omega \; \frac{q_{AB} s_1^A(v_1, x^A) s_2^B(v_2, x^A)}{(v_1 - v_2 - i0^+)^2}.$$
 (4.69)

Furthermore, ω_0^{EM} is an eigenstate of eigenvalue zero of memory, $\Delta(\lambda)$, and all of the Poincaré generators.

The GNS construction for ω_0^{EM} yields a Hilbert space $\mathscr{F}_0^{\text{EM}}$ with a natural Fock space structure. Concretely this construction is obtained as follows. On the space of positive

frequency Schwartz test functions on \mathscr{I}^- we define the inner product

$$\langle s_1 | s_2 \rangle_0 \coloneqq \omega_0^{\text{EM}}(\boldsymbol{E}(s_1)^* \boldsymbol{E}(s_2)) = 2\pi \int_0^\infty \omega d\omega \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \overline{\hat{s}_1^A(\omega, x^A)} \hat{s}_{A,2}(\omega, x^A) \tag{4.70}$$

where the "hat" denotes the Fourier transform, and the final equality above is the Fourier space representation of eq. (4.69). We define the one-particle Hilbert space, $\mathscr{H}_0^{\text{EM}}$, to be the completion of the space of positive frequency test functions in this inner product. The GNS Fock space associated with the vacuum state is then given by

$$\mathscr{F}_{0}^{\mathrm{EM}} = \mathbb{C} \oplus \bigoplus_{n \ge 1} \underbrace{\left(\mathscr{H}_{0}^{\mathrm{EM}} \otimes_{S} \cdots \otimes_{S} \mathscr{H}_{0}^{\mathrm{EM}}\right)}_{n \text{ times}}.$$
(4.71)

For real s^A , the smeared electric field operator $\boldsymbol{E}_0(s) := \pi_0^{\text{EM}}[\boldsymbol{E}(s)]$ in this representation is given by

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{0}(s) = \boldsymbol{a}_{0}(s^{-}) + \boldsymbol{a}_{0}^{\dagger}(s^{+})$$
(4.72)

where $\boldsymbol{a}_0, \boldsymbol{a}_0^{\dagger}$ are the usual annihilation and creation operators on the Fock space and superscripts "±" denote the positive/negative frequency parts, respectively. There is a dense subspace of Hadamard states given by the span of the vacuum $|\omega_0^{\text{EM}}\rangle$ and any finite products of $\boldsymbol{a}_0^{\dagger}(s_i^+)$ applied to the vacuum, with s_i an arbitrary test function. The Poincaré transformations act on $\mathscr{H}_0^{\text{EM}}$ by their natural action on \mathscr{I}^- , which gives rise to a strongly continuous action on $\mathscr{F}_0^{\text{EM}}$. The vacuum state, $|\omega_0^{\text{EM}}\rangle$, is invariant under these transformations.

The Fock space $\mathscr{F}_0^{\text{EM}}$ constructed above is the usual choice of Hilbert space for the "in" radiative states of the Maxwell fields. However, all states in this Hilbert space are eigenstates of memory, $\Delta(\lambda)$, with eigenvalue zero — as follows immediately from the fact that the vacuum is an eigenstate of $\Delta(\lambda)$ with eigenvalue zero, and $\Delta(\lambda)$ commutes with $\boldsymbol{E}(s)$ and hence with $\boldsymbol{a}_0^{\dagger}(s^+)$. However, even in the classical theory, memory is not conserved between "in" and "out" states in generic scattering processes. Thus, even if we restrict to the

zero-memory Fock space $\mathscr{F}_0^{\text{EM}}$ for the Maxwell in-states, the out states obtained will not have zero memory and hence will not live in the zero memory out-Fock space $\mathscr{F}_0^{\text{EM}}$. One is thus forced to consider states which have non-vanishing memory to describe scattering. Thus, the states in $\mathscr{F}_0^{\text{EM}}$ do *not* give us an ample supply of states to use in scattering theory.

However, we can construct different Fock representations containing states with nonvanishing memory as follows (see [3]). Choose a smooth classical electric field $e_A(x)$ on \mathscr{I}^- that satisfies our decay conditions but is such that the corresponding classical memory

$$\Delta(e,\lambda) = -\int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} dv d\Omega \ e_A(v,x^B) \mathscr{D}^A \lambda(x^B)$$
(4.73)

is non-vanishing. Consider the algebra automorphism $\mathfrak{a}_e:\mathscr{A}_{\mathrm{in},\mathrm{Q}}^{\mathrm{EM}}\to\mathscr{A}_{\mathrm{in},\mathrm{Q}}^{\mathrm{EM}}$ determined by

$$\mathfrak{a}_{e}[\boldsymbol{E}(s)] = \boldsymbol{E}(s) + e(s)\mathbf{1}, \quad \mathfrak{a}_{e}[\boldsymbol{\Delta}(\lambda)] = \boldsymbol{\Delta}(\lambda) + \boldsymbol{\Delta}(e,\lambda)\mathbf{1}.$$
(4.74)

This is easily seen to define an automorphism, since the commutation relations are unaffected by shifting the operators by a multiple of **1**. Using this automorphism we define a new algebraic state ω_e^{EM} by

$$\omega_e^{\text{EM}}(\boldsymbol{O}) := \omega_0^{\text{EM}}(\mathfrak{a}_e[\boldsymbol{O}]) \quad \text{for all } \boldsymbol{O} \in \mathscr{A}_{\text{in,Q}}^{\text{EM}}.$$
(4.75)

Then ω_e^{EM} is a Gaussian, Hadamard state on $\mathscr{A}_{\text{in},\text{Q}}^{\text{EM}}$ that satisfies eq. (4.45) and, for each λ , is an eigenstate of $\Delta(\lambda)$ with eigenvalue $\Delta(e,\lambda)$. The GNS construction for ω_e^{EM} yields a Hilbert space $\mathscr{F}_e^{\text{EM}}$ with a Fock space structure and a vacuum state $|\omega_e^{\text{EM}}\rangle$ corresponding to ω_e^{EM} . Every state in $\mathscr{F}_e^{\text{EM}}$ is an eigenstate of $\Delta(\lambda)$ with eigenvalue $\Delta(e,\lambda)$. Thus, this construction — for the various different choices of classical electric field e_A — gives an ample supply of states with any desired memory.

It should be noted that if e_A and e'_A are smooth and satisfy our decay conditions, then the

Fock representations obtained by the above GNS construction will be unitarily equivalent³³ if and only if $\Delta(e, \lambda) = \Delta(e', \lambda)$ for all λ . Thus, there are as many unitarily inequivalent constructions as there are choices of memory one-form $\Delta_A(x^A)$ on \mathbb{S}^2 . In particular, there are uncountably many such constructions. If e_A and e'_A are such that $\Delta(e, \lambda) = \Delta(e', \lambda)$ (so that they give rise to unitarily equivalent representations), then the state $\omega_{e'}^{\text{EM}}$ — which corresponds the the vacuum state in $\mathscr{F}_{e'}^{\text{EM}}$ — corresponds in $\mathscr{F}_e^{\text{EM}}$ to the coherent state associated with the classical solution $e'_A - e_A$. Thus, the representations with nonvanishing memory do not have a "preferred" vacuum state, i.e., the vacuum state of the Fock representation depends on the choice of representations $\mathscr{F}_e^{\text{EM}}$ correspond to all smooth e_A with memory Δ_A . Thus, the "memory representations" can be labeled by the memory of the representative — i.e., as $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{\text{EM}}$ rather than $\mathscr{F}_e^{\text{EM}}$ — and we shall do so in the following.

It also should be noted that for any given choice of memory $\Delta_A(x^A)$ on \mathbb{S}^2 and any given choice of frequency $\omega_0 > 0$ one can find a representative classical electric field $e_A(v, x^B)$ with memory equal to $\Delta_A(x^A)$ such that the Fourier transform of e_A is nonvanishing only for frequencies $\omega < \omega_0$. Thus, the states in $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{\text{EM}}$ can be viewed as differing from the states in $\mathscr{F}_0^{\text{EM}}$ only in the (arbitrarily) far infrared. However, for $\Delta_A(x^A) \neq 0$, if one tries to formally express a normalized state in $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{\text{EM}}$ as a state in $\mathscr{F}_0^{\text{EM}}$, one will find that it has infinitely many "soft photons" and cannot be normalized. Thus, the states in $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{\text{EM}}$ are genuinely different from states in $\mathscr{F}_0^{\text{EM}}$.

The above construction yields representations of $\mathscr{A}_{in,Q}^{EM}$ with any desired memory. We now consider whether these representations can be extended to representations of $\mathscr{A}_{in,QP}^{EM}$, i.e., whether one can define an action of Poincaré generators on $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{EM}$ such that the commutation

^{33.} However, if e_A and e'_A are not smooth, the norm (defined in eq. (4.70)) of the positive frequency part of $e_A - e'_A$ need not be finite even when they have the same memory. In that case, the Fock space constructions will not be unitarily equivalent. This point will be relevant to the considerations of sec. 5.4.

relations corresponding to eqs. (4.51)–(4.54b) hold. Consider, first, a translation. The natural action of a finite translation on the classical electric field e_A maps it into an electric field e'_A with the same memory. As noted above, the representation obtained from e'_A is therefore unitarily equivalent to the representation obtained from e_A . It follows that the natural action of finite translations can be represented by a unitary map on $\mathscr{F}^{\text{EM}}_{\Delta}$. This map is strongly continuous in the translation parameter, so we get a self-adjoint operator on $\mathscr{F}^{\text{EM}}_{\Delta}$ representing an arbitrary translation generator T, which satisfies all of the required commutation relations.³⁴ Thus, the above Fock representations of $\mathscr{A}^{\text{EM}}_{\text{in,Q}}$ with nonvanishing memory can be extended to include Poincaré translations.

However, the Fock representations $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{\text{EM}}$ with nonvanishing memory *cannot* be extended to include the action of the Lorentz generators [122, 3]. As noted above, for all λ all states in $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{\text{EM}}$ are eigenstates of $\Delta(\lambda)$ with eigenvalue $\Delta(e, \lambda)$. Thus, for all λ , the memory operator commutes with all operators on $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{\text{EM}}$. However, if $\Delta(e, \lambda)$ is nonvanishing for some λ , then by eq. (4.53b) some Lorentz generator X must have a nonvanishing commutator with $\Delta(\lambda)$. Thus, the above Fock representations of $\mathscr{A}_{\text{in,QP}}^{\text{EM}}$ with nonvanishing memory *cannot* be extended to representations of $\mathscr{A}_{\text{in,QP}}^{\text{EM}}$.

4 Faddeev-Kulish representation

We turn now to the issue of whether we can find Hilbert spaces of incoming and outgoing states that satisfy properties (1)–(5) listed in sec. 1. The standard choice of "in" Hilbert space $\mathscr{F}_{in} = \mathscr{F}^{KG} \otimes \mathscr{F}_0^{EM}$ and correspondingly constructed standard "out" Hilbert space \mathscr{F}_{out} of the "out" algebra does not work, since all states in \mathscr{F}_{in} and \mathscr{F}_{out} have vanishing memory, but scattering takes states with vanishing memory to states with nonvanishing memory. As

^{34.} We emphasize that the spectrum of the energy operator corresponding to time translations is bounded below by zero but does not achieve the value zero for *any* state with memory.
we shall discuss further in sec. 7, one could attempt to allow memory by replacing $\mathscr{F}_0^{\text{EM}}$ with a direct sum, $\bigoplus_{\Delta} \mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{\text{EM}}$, over all unitarily inequivalent memory Fock spaces. However, since there are uncountably many such memory Fock spaces, this would give a non-separable Hilbert space, in violation of property (5). Furthermore, each state in such a direct sum would have a nonvanishing probability for only a countable number of discrete values of memory. However, scattering with an "in" state of this sort surely does not produce an "out" state of this sort, so property (4) also will not be satisfied by this choice of the "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces. Finally, by eq. (4.53b), since the memory is not Lorentz invariant there cannot be continuous action of Lorentz on the direct sum — in violation of property (3) — so the angular momentum cannot be defined. A more promising possibility would be to take some sort of direct integral of memory representation Hilbert spaces. However, as we shall discuss further in sec. 7, the natural Lorentz invariant Gaussian measure on memory has support on memories that are too singular to be admissible, and there does not appear to any other choices of measure for a direct integral construction that have the prospect of satisfying properties (3) or (4).

Nevertheless, it is possible to give a construction, due to Faddeev and Kulish [32], of "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces that satisfy (1)–(5). The construction involves taking a direct integral over the memory Fock spaces of the electromagnetic field but correlating these Fock spaces with (improper) momentum eigenstates of the massive Klein-Gordon field so as to produce states with vanishing charges $Q_{i0}(\lambda)$ at spatial infinity. This is a useful construction because of the fact that, as shown in [23, 24, 33, 25], for solutions to the Maxwell equations that are suitably regular at spatial infinity, the charges $Q_{i0}^{in}(\lambda)$ obtained from the limit along past null infinity are matched antipodally to the similarly defined charges $Q_{i0}^{out}(\lambda)$ obtained from the limit along future null infinity,

$$\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{\text{in}}(\lambda) = \mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{\text{out}}(\lambda \circ \Upsilon) \tag{4.76}$$

where Υ is the antipodal map on \mathbb{S}^2 . Thus, any "in" state that is an eigenstate of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{in}}(\lambda)$ for all λ should evolve to an "out" state that is an eigenstate of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{out}}(\lambda \circ \Upsilon)$ of the same eigenvalue. However, since by eq. (4.53b) the Lorentz group generators have nontrivial commutators with the charges at spatial infinity, the Lorentz group generators cannot act on a Hilbert space of states of definite charges *except* in the case where all of the charges vanish, $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda) = 0$ for all λ [85, 84, 86, 34]. Therefore, we seek to construct "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces composed of states that are eigenstates of eigenvalue zero of all of the large gauge charges (including the total electric charge) at spatial infinity.

To construct an "in" Hilbert space with $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda) = 0$ for all λ , we make use of the relation

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}_{i^0}(\lambda) = \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}_{i^-}(\lambda) + \frac{1}{4\pi} \boldsymbol{\Delta}(\lambda) \tag{4.77}$$

(see eq. (4.33)). We start with the one-dimensional Hilbert space $\mathscr{H}_{p_1...p_n}^{\mathrm{KG}} \otimes \overline{\mathscr{H}}_{q_1...q_n}^{\mathrm{KG}}$ of n incoming particles and n incoming antiparticles in momentum states p_1, \ldots, p_n and q_1, \ldots, q_n , respectively (see eq. (4.62)). This state has vanishing total electric charge and large gauge charges

$$\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda) = q \sum_{i=1}^n \left(\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p_i) - \lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(q_i)\right)$$
(4.78)

(see eq. (4.65)), with $\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p)$ given by eq. (4.22). Therefore, we can obtain a state with $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda) = 0$ for all λ if we can find a memory representation $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{\text{EM}}$ such that for all λ we have

$$\Delta(\lambda; p_1, \dots, q_n) = -4\pi q \sum_{i=1}^n \left(\lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(p_i) - \lambda_{\mathcal{H}}(q_i)\right).$$
(4.79)

This will be the case if for any p we can solve

$$\mathscr{D}^A \Delta_A(x^A; p) = 4\pi q (G_{\mathcal{H}}(p, x^A) - 1)$$
(4.80)

with $G_{\mathcal{H}}$ given by eq. (4.22). If we can solve eq. (4.80), then the memory representation

 $\mathscr{F}^{\mathrm{EM}}_\Delta$ obtained from any e_A such that

$$-\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dv \ e_A(v, x^A) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\Delta_A(x^A; p_i) - \Delta_A(x^A; q_i) \right)$$
(4.81)

will have memory satisfying eq. (4.79).

We can decompose any one-form on \mathbb{S}^2 such as Δ_A into its electric and magnetic parts as

$$\Delta_A = \mathscr{D}_A \alpha + \epsilon_A{}^B \mathscr{D}_B \beta \tag{4.82}$$

The magnetic part³⁵ will not contribute to $\mathscr{D}^A \Delta_A$, so eq. (4.80) becomes

$$\mathscr{D}^2 \alpha = 4\pi q (G_{\mathcal{H}}(p, x^A) - 1) \tag{4.83}$$

By eq. (4.23), the right side is orthogonal to the $\ell = 0$ spherical harmonic, so this equation can be uniquely solved. Since $G_{\mathcal{H}}(p, x^A)$ is smooth, it follows that $\Delta_A(x^A; p)$ is smooth and, hence, $e_A(v, x^A)$ can be chosen to be smooth.

We now have all of the ingredients needed for the Faddeev-Kulish construction. As described in the previous subsection, the standard Fock space $\mathscr{F}^{\mathrm{KG}}$ for the Klein-Gordon field can be obtained by taking a direct sum of direct integrals of the one-dimensional Hilbert spaces $\mathscr{H}_{p_1...p_n}^{\mathrm{KG}} \otimes \widetilde{\mathscr{H}}_{q_1...q_m}^{\mathrm{KG}}$ of momentum eigenstates (see eq. (4.63)). As stated above, the standard "in" Hilbert space is then obtained by taking the tensor product of this Klein-Gordon Fock space with the standard (zero memory) Fock space $\mathscr{F}_0^{\mathrm{EM}}$ for the electromagnetic field. The Faddeev-Kulish construction modifies this procedure as follows. Prior to taking the direct integral, we pair the state $|p_1 \dots p_n\rangle \otimes |q_1 \dots q_n\rangle$ with the Fock representation $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta(p_1,...,q_n)}^{\mathrm{EM}}$ obtained from an electric field e_A on \mathscr{I}^- satisfying eq. (4.81).

^{35.} As previously explained (see footnote 5), we restrict consideration in any case to purely electric parity memory.

All electromagnetic states in this representation have memory given by eq. (4.79), so the states in $\mathscr{H}_{p_1...p_n}^{\mathrm{KG}} \otimes \widetilde{\mathscr{H}}_{q_1...q_n}^{\mathrm{KG}} \otimes \mathscr{F}_{\Delta(p_1,...,q_n)}^{\mathrm{EM}}$ have $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda) = 0$ for all λ . We now take the direct integral of these Hilbert spaces over p_1, \ldots, q_n and the direct sum over n to obtain the Faddeev-Kulish "in" Hilbert space

$$\mathscr{H}_{\mathrm{in}}^{\mathrm{FK}} := \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathcal{H}^{2n}} d^3 p_1 \dots d^3 p_n d^3 q_1 \dots d^3 q_n \, \mathscr{H}_{p_1 \dots p_n}^{\mathrm{KG}} \otimes \overline{\mathscr{H}}_{q_1 \dots q_n}^{\mathrm{KG}} \otimes \mathscr{F}_{\Delta(p_1, \dots, q_n)}^{\mathrm{EM}}$$
(4.84)

All states in $\mathscr{H}_{in}^{\text{FK}}$ are eigenstates of $\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{\text{in}}(\lambda)$ with eigenvalue zero for all λ . The "out" Hilbert space $\mathscr{H}_{\text{out}}^{\text{FK}}$ is constructed similarly.

It should be noted that \mathscr{H}_{in}^{FK} does not carry a representation of the algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in,QP}$ or even of the unextended algebra \mathscr{A}_{in} . The massive field operators $\boldsymbol{b}(w)$, $\boldsymbol{c}(w)$ have nontrivial commutators with with $\boldsymbol{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda)$ (see eq. (4.30)) and cannot be made to act on \mathscr{H}_{in}^{FK} . However, all gauge invariant observables in $\mathscr{A}_{in,QP}$ commute with $\boldsymbol{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda)$, and therefore \mathscr{H}_{in}^{FK} carries a representation of the subalgebra of gauge invariant observables.

The Faddeev-Kulish "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces can be seen to satisfy requirements (1)–(5) of sec. 1 as follows. Requirement (1) is automatically satisfied, since \mathscr{H}_{out}^{FK} is obtained by the same construction as \mathscr{H}_{in}^{FK} . Satisfaction of requirement (2) follows from conservation of the large gauge charges, eq. (4.76), which implies that any state in \mathscr{H}_{in}^{FK} must evolve to an eigenstate of eigenvalue zero of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{out}(\lambda)$ for all λ , which, presumably, must lie in \mathscr{H}_{out}^{FK} . With regard to requirement (3), the translation group acts naturally on both $\mathscr{H}_{p_1...p_n}^{KG} \otimes \widetilde{\mathscr{H}}_{q_1...q_n}^{KG}$ and $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{EM}$ so there is no problem obtaining its action on \mathscr{H}_{in}^{FK} [86]. A Lorentz transformation Λ maps $\mathscr{H}_{p_1...p_n}^{KG} \otimes \widetilde{\mathscr{H}}_{q_1...q_n}^{KG}$ to $\mathscr{H}_{\Delta p_1...\Delta p_n}^{KG} \otimes \widetilde{\mathscr{H}}_{\Delta q_1...\Delta q_n}^{KG}$ and maps $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{EM}$ to $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta \Delta}^{EM}$. However, since $\Lambda[e_A(p_1 \ldots q_n)]$ defines the same memory Fock space as $e_A(\Lambda p_1 \ldots \Lambda q_n)$, there is no problem obtaining an action of the Lorentz group on \mathscr{H}_{in}^{FK} , so requirement (3) is satisfied [86]. Note that there would be a problem with obtaining Lorentz group action if we had similarly constructed a Hilbert space of eigenstates of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda)$ with nonvanishing eigenvalues

[85, 84]. With regard to requirement (4) since, as discussed above, e_A can be chosen to be of arbitrarily low frequency, each $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{\text{EM}}$ contains representatives of any desired "hard" photon state. It is clear that $\mathscr{K}_{\text{in}}^{\text{FK}}$ contains states of arbitrary momenta of the charged particles and antiparticles provided that the number of particles and antiparticles are equal. As discussed in sec. 1, although this equality of particle and antiparticle number yields a genuine restriction on the allowed states, one can deal with this in the consideration of scattering by putting any extra/unwanted particles "behind the moon." Thus, arguably, requirement (4) is satisfied. Finally, it is straightforward to show that requirement (5) is satisfied.

The states in \mathscr{H}_{in}^{FK} correspond to incoming particles/antiparticles together with incoming photons in states whose memory is highly correlated with the momenta of the particles and antiparticles. As mentioned above, we may view the states in any memory Fock space $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{EM}$ as corresponding to a state in \mathscr{F}_{0}^{EM} together with infinitely many "soft photons." Thus, we may view the memory associated with $e_A(p_1 \dots q_n)$ as "dressing" the incoming charged particle state $|p_1 \dots p_n\rangle \otimes |q_1 \dots q_n\rangle$ with a "soft photon cloud." In \mathscr{H}_{in}^{FK} , all charged particle states must be "dressed" in this manner.

The "dress requirements" imposed by \mathscr{H}_{in}^{FK} have a number of unpleasant consequences. Most notably, one cannot consider a coherent superposition of charged particle states of different momenta, since charged particle states with different momenta are required to be dressed with soft photon clouds corresponding to different representations of the electromagnetic field. These orthogonal soft photon clouds will preclude any interference effects arising from superposing charged particle states of different momenta. Nevertheless, as we have argued above, \mathscr{H}_{in}^{FK} contains a supply of states that is adequate for analyzing many scattering processes of interest.

5 QED with a massless, charged Klein-Gordon field

In this section, we consider QED with the massive charged Klein-Gordon field of sec. 4 replaced by a massless charged Klein-Gordon field. Thus, we consider the theory defined by the Lagrangian eq. (4.1) with m = 0. Most of the analysis carries through in close parallel with the massive case. However, as we shall see, a significant difference arises in the construction of the Faddeev-Kulish Hilbert space due to the fact that the memory representations of the electromagnetic field needed in the construction are singular. In sec. 5.5, we shall consider the source-free Yang-Mills case. In addition to the problems of massless QED, a new problem arises from the fact that the "soft dressing" contributes to the Yang-Mills charge-current flux, thereby invalidating the construction of eigenstates of large gauge charges via "dressing." Although one can obtain charge eigenstates by other means, there are insufficiently many eigenstates to obtain Hilbert spaces for scattering.

1 Asymptotic quantization algebra

The asymptotic quantization of the electromagnetic field was already given in sec. 4.1, so we need only give the asymptotic quantization of the massless charged Klein-Gordon field. As discussed in sec. 2, the asymptotic behavior of a massless scalar field in the asymptotic past is described by

$$\Phi(x) := \lim_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} \Omega^{-1} \varphi \tag{5.1}$$

(see eq. (2.18)). The symplectic form is given by

$$\Omega^{\mathrm{KG0}}_{\mathscr{I}}((\Phi_1, \overline{\Phi}_1), (\Phi_2, \overline{\Phi}_2)) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathscr{I}^-} d^3x \left[\Phi_1 \partial_v \overline{\Phi}_2 + \overline{\Phi}_1 \partial_v \Phi_2 - (1 \leftrightarrow 2) \right], \qquad (5.2)$$

where the superscript "KG0" denotes that this is the symplectic form of a massless scalar field. The above symplectic form differs from eq. (2.19) only in that we are now considering a complex, rather than real, scalar field. For the same reasons as indicated below eq. (4.15), it is convenient to treat Φ and $\overline{\Phi}$ as though they were independent quantities and to take the asymptotic phase space to consist of the pairs $(\Phi, \overline{\Phi})$. Then $\Omega_{\mathscr{I}}^{\text{KG0}}$ is a complex-bilinear function of its variables. It is convenient, as in eq. (2.21) of sec. 2, to write $\Pi = \partial_v \Phi$ and $\overline{\Pi} = \partial_v \overline{\Phi}$.

In parallel with eq. (2.21), the local scalar field observables on \mathscr{I}^- are

$$\Pi(s) := \int_{\mathscr{I}} d^3x \ \Pi(x)s(x) , \quad \overline{\Pi}(s) := \int_{\mathscr{I}} d^3x \ \overline{\Pi}(x)\overline{s}(x)$$
(5.3)

where s(x) is a smooth complex function on \mathscr{I}^- with conformal weight -1. Note that we take $\Pi(s)$ to be linear in s while $\overline{\Pi}(s)$ is antilinear in the test function s(x). The Hamiltonian vector fields for these observables are given by the pairs (0, s) and $(\overline{s}, 0)$, respectively. The only nonvanishing Poisson brackets are

$$\left\{\overline{\Pi}(s_1), \Pi(s_2)\right\} = -\Omega_{\mathscr{I}}^{\mathrm{KG0}}((\overline{s}_1, 0), (0, s_2)) 1 = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathscr{I}^-} d^3 x \left[\overline{s}_1 \partial_v s_2 - s_2 \partial_v \overline{s}_1\right].$$
(5.4)

The additional factor of 2 in the above formula relative to eq. (2.22) arises because we are now working with a complex scalar field.

The asymptotic quantization algebra, \mathscr{A}_{in}^{KG0} , for the massless charged Klein-Gordon field is defined by starting with the free, unital *-algebra generated by $\Pi(s)$, its formal adjoint $\Pi(s)^*$, and the identity **1**. We then factor this algebra by the linearity condition³⁶ (A.I) and

^{36.} Since $\Pi(s)$ is a complex scalar field, the scalar multiplication in the linearity condition (A.I) must be extended to \mathbb{C} .

the commutation relation

$$[\mathbf{\Pi}(s_1)^*, \mathbf{\Pi}(s_2)] = -i\Omega_{\mathscr{I}}^{\mathrm{KG0}}((\bar{s}_1, 0), (0, s_2))\mathbf{1}$$
(5.5)

together with vanishing commutators for $\Pi(s_1)$ and $\Pi(s_2)$.

The Hadamard condition on states ω^{KG0} on $\mathscr{A}_{\text{in}}^{\text{KG0}}$ is that the 2-point function $\omega^{\text{KG0}}(\mathbf{\Pi}(x_1)\mathbf{\Pi}(x_2))$ is smooth, whereas

$$\omega^{\text{KG0}}(\mathbf{\Pi}(x_1)^*\mathbf{\Pi}(x_2)) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \frac{\delta_{\mathbb{S}^2}(x_1^A, x_2^A)}{(v_1 - v_2 - i0^+)^2} + P(x_1, x_2)$$
(5.6)

where P is a (state dependent) smooth function on $\mathscr{I}^- \times \mathscr{I}^-$ with $P(x_1, x_2) = \overline{P}(x_2, x_1)$. In addition, the connected *n*-point functions for $n \neq 2$ of ω^{KG0} are required to be smooth. The 2-point function of the Poincaré invariant vacuum state ω_0^{KG0} is given by eq. (5.6) with P = 0.

Finally, we require that P and all connected n-point functions of ω^{KG0} for $n \neq 2$ decay for any set of $|v_i| \to \infty$ as $O((\sum_i v_i^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}-\epsilon})$ for some $\epsilon > 0$.

2 Extension to include charges and Poincaré generators

We have already given the extension of $\mathscr{A}_{in}^{\text{EM}}$ to $\mathscr{A}_{in,Q}^{\text{EM}}$ and $\mathscr{A}_{in,QP}^{\text{EM}}$ in sec. 4.2, so we need only obtain the charge and Poincaré observables for the massless Klein-Gordon field to obtain the desired extensions of the algebra of observables for massless QED.

Classically, the action of the large gauge transformations parametrized by the smooth function $\lambda(x^A)$ on \mathbb{S}^2 is given by

$$\Phi(x) \to e^{iq\lambda} \Phi(x) \tag{5.7}$$

where q is the charge of the Klein-Gordon field. The observables Π and $\overline{\Pi}$ transform as

$$\Pi(s) \mapsto \Pi(e^{iq\lambda}s), \quad \overline{\Pi}(s) \mapsto \overline{\Pi}(e^{iq\lambda}s).$$
(5.8)

The vector field field on the asymptotic Klein-Gordon phase space associated with infinitesimal gauge transformation is thus $iq\lambda(-\Phi,\overline{\Phi})$. This is the Hamiltonian vector field of the observable

$$\mathcal{J}(\lambda) = -\frac{iq}{2} \int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} d^3x \ \lambda(x^A) \left[\Phi(x)\overline{\Pi}(x) - \overline{\Phi}(x)\Pi(x) \right].$$
(5.9)

Thus, $\mathcal{J}(\lambda)$ is the infinitesimal generator of the gauge transformations eq. (5.7), i.e., it is the contribution of the KG field to the "charge". (However, we use the letter " \mathcal{J} " rather than " \mathcal{Q} " since the right side of eq. (5.9) corresponds to the integrated Klein-Gordon charge-current flux $J_{\mu}n^{\mu}$ through \mathscr{I}^{-} .) The Poisson brackets $\mathcal{J}(\lambda)$ with $\Pi(s)$ and $\overline{\Pi}(s)$ are

$$\left\{\mathcal{J}(\lambda), \Pi(s)\right\} = q\Pi(i\lambda s), \quad \left\{\mathcal{J}(\lambda), \overline{\Pi}(s)\right\} = q\overline{\Pi}(i\lambda s) \tag{5.10}$$

whereas $\{\mathcal{J}(\lambda), \mathcal{J}(\lambda')\} = 0$. Of course, $\mathcal{J}(\lambda)$ has vanishing Poisson brackets with the electromagnetic field observables.

As previously found in sec. 4.2, the generator of large gauge transformations on the asymptotic Maxwell phase space is the memory, eq. (4.32). Thus, the observable that generates large gauge transformations on the full Klein-Gordon-Maxwell phase space is³⁷

$$\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda) = \mathcal{J}(\lambda) + \frac{1}{4\pi} \Delta(\lambda).$$
(5.11)

By arguments similar to those given in the massive case in sec. 4.2, it can be seen that $Q_{i^0}(\lambda)$ can be obtained by taking limits of surface integrals of the electric field as one approaches i^0

^{37.} If a massive charged Klein-Gordon also is present, then the additional term $\mathcal{Q}_{i^-}(\lambda)$ would also be present on the right side of eq. (5.11).

along \mathscr{I}^- , so the subscript " i^0 " is appropriate.

In parallel with the massive case, the algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in}^{0} := \mathscr{A}_{in}^{KG0} \otimes \mathscr{A}_{in}^{EM}$ can now be extended to an algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in,Q}^{0}$ by including the algebra elements $\mathcal{J}(\lambda)$ and $\Delta(\lambda)$ (and, hence, $\mathcal{Q}_{i^{0}}(\lambda)$) satisfying commutation relations corresponding to the above Poisson bracket relations.

The Poincaré transformations act naturally on \mathscr{I}^- . As in the massive case, each infinitesimal Poincaré transformation P is generated by an observable F_P on phase space. Writing P = T + X where T is a translation and X is a Lorentz transformation, the Poisson brackets of the Poincaré generators with the Klein-Gordon observables are

$$\{F_T, \Pi(s)\} = \Pi(\pounds_T s), \quad \{F_X, \Pi(s)\} = \Pi(\pounds_X s + \frac{1}{2}s\mathscr{D}_A X^A)$$
(5.12a)

$$\{F_T, \mathcal{J}(\lambda)\} = 0, \quad \{F_X, \mathcal{J}(\lambda)\} = \mathcal{J}(\pounds_X \lambda)$$
 (5.12b)

and the Poisson brackets of the Poincaré generators with memory, charges at spatial infinity and themselves are given by eqs. (4.53a)-(4.54b).

As in the massive case, the algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in,Q}^0$ can be further extended to an algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in,QP}^0$ by including algebra elements associated with these observables satisfying commutation relations corresponding to these Poisson bracket relations.

3 Fock representations

In analogy with the massive case, we now construct the Fock representation of \mathscr{A}_{in}^{KG0} based upon the Poincaré invariant vacuum state.³⁸ The Fock representations of \mathscr{A}_{in}^{EM} of interest

^{38.} In a similar manner to the electromagnetic case, there exists a memory effect for the massless Klein-Gordon field as well as a "scalar charge" at spatial infinity relating the "in" and "out" memories (see e.g. [123] and sec. F.2 of [1]). In the absence of a "source" for the massless scalar field, the scalar memory is conserved in scattering. Therefore in massless QED, we may restrict attention to "in" states with zero "scalar memory" for simplicity.

were already constructed in sec. 4.3.2.

The Poincaré invariant vacuum state is the Gaussian state determined by a vanishing 1-point function and 2-point function given by (see eq. (5.6))

$$\omega_0^{\text{KG0}}(\mathbf{\Pi}(s_1)^*\mathbf{\Pi}(s_2)) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2} dv_1 dv_2 d\Omega \ \frac{s_1(v_1, x^A)s_2(v_2, x^A)}{(v_1 - v_2 - i0^+)^2}$$
(5.13)

for all test functions $s_1(x)$ and $s_2(x)$. The 2-point function gives rise to the inner product

$$\langle s_1 | s_2 \rangle := \omega_0^{\text{KG0}}(\mathbf{\Pi}(s_1)^* \mathbf{\Pi}(s_2)) = 2 \int_0^\infty \omega d\omega \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \overline{\hat{s}_1(\omega, x^A)} \hat{s}_2(\omega, x^A).$$
(5.14)

on complex-valued test functions on \mathscr{I}^- , where in the last equality we have rewritten eq. (5.13) in terms of the positive frequency parts of the Fourier transform of the test functions. The completion of the space of test functions yields the "one-particle" Hilbert space \mathscr{H}^{KG0} . The corresponding Fock space for particles is

$$\mathscr{F}_{\text{particles}}^{\text{KG0}} = \mathbb{C} \oplus \bigoplus_{n \ge 1} \underbrace{\left(\mathscr{H}^{\text{KG0}} \otimes_{S} \cdots \otimes_{S} \mathscr{H}^{\text{KG0}}\right)}_{n \text{ times}}.$$
(5.15)

An identical construction with the inner product $\overline{\langle s_1 | s_2 \rangle}$ yields the "one antiparticle" Hilbert space $\overline{\mathscr{H}}^{\text{KG0}}$ and corresponding Fock space $\mathscr{F}^{\text{KG0}}_{\text{antiparticles}}$. One can decompose $\Pi(s)$ and $\Pi(s)^*$ into creation and annihilation operators for particles and antiparticles as in eq. (4.72) but we shall not need to do so here. The full Fock space of particles and antiparticles is then

$$\mathscr{F}^{\mathrm{KG0}} = \mathscr{F}^{\mathrm{KG0}}_{\mathrm{particles}} \otimes \mathscr{F}^{\mathrm{KG0}}_{\mathrm{antiparticles}}.$$
(5.16)

The algebraic state ω_0^{KG0} is the vacuum state of the Fock space which we denote as $|\omega_0^{\text{KG0}}\rangle \in \mathscr{F}^{\text{KG0}}$. A dense set of Hadamard states in this Fock space is generated by the linear span of the vacuum $|\omega_0^{\text{KG0}}\rangle$ and symmetric tensor products of particle and antiparticle wave packet

states.

As in the massive case, the large gauge transformations and Poincaré transformations have a strongly continuous unitary action on \mathscr{F}^{KG0} , so \mathscr{F}^{KG0} carries a representation of $\mathscr{A}_{\text{in,QP}}^{\text{KG0}}$. The vacuum state $|\omega_0^{\text{KG0}}\rangle$ is invariant under these transformations. The large gauge transformations act on the one-particle/antiparticle spaces as multiplication by a phase. The Poincaré group acts on the one-particle/antiparticle spaces by its natural action on \mathscr{I}^- .

As in the massive case, it will be useful to express $\mathscr{F}^{\mathrm{KG0}}$ as a direct integral over improper momentum eigenstates. It is useful to parametrize the plane wave solution of 4-momentum p by $p = (\omega, x_p^A)$, where ω is the frequency of the wave and $x_p^A \in \mathbb{S}^2$ is the direction of the plane wave. As in the massive case, we define $\mathscr{H}_p^{\mathrm{KG0}}$ to be the one-complex-dimensional Hilbert space for particles spanned by $|p\rangle$ and we define

$$\mathscr{H}_{p_1\dots p_n}^{\mathrm{KG0}} = \mathscr{H}_{p_1}^{\mathrm{KG0}} \otimes_S \dots \otimes_S \mathscr{H}_{p_n}^{\mathrm{KG0}}, \tag{5.17}$$

which is spanned by $|p_1, \ldots, p_n\rangle$. We similarly define $\overline{\mathscr{H}}_q^{\mathrm{KG0}}$ and $\overline{\mathscr{H}}_{q_1\ldots q_n}^{\mathrm{KG0}}$ for antiparticles. The Fock space can then be written as

$$\mathscr{F}^{\mathrm{KG0}} \cong \bigoplus_{n,m \ge 0} \int_{(C^+)^{n+m}} d^3 p_1 \dots d^3 p_n d^3 q_1 \dots d^3 q_m \, \mathscr{H}^{\mathrm{KG0}}_{p_1 \dots p_n} \otimes \overline{\mathscr{H}}^{\mathrm{KG0}}_{q_1 \dots q_m} \tag{5.18}$$

where d^3p denotes the Lorentz invariant measure $d^3p = \omega d\omega d\Omega$ on the positive frequency "cone" $C^+ := \{(\omega, x_p^A) \mid \omega > 0\}$. An arbitrary state $|\Psi\rangle \in \mathscr{F}^{\mathrm{KG0}}$ can be expressed as

$$|\Psi\rangle = \sum_{n,m} \int_{(C^+)^{n+m}} d^3 p_1 \dots d^3 p_n d^3 q_1 \dots d^3 q_m \ \psi_{nm}(p_1, \dots, q_m) \ |p_1 \dots p_n\rangle \otimes |q_1 \dots q_m\rangle$$
(5.19)

where ψ_{nm} is a complex, square-integrable function invariant under permutations of p_i and permutations of q_i and supported on non-negative frequencies. Again, the Fock space decomposition eq. (5.18) corresponds to the spectral decomposition of the charge-current flux operator $\mathcal{J}(\lambda)$. Formally, we have

$$\mathcal{J}(\lambda) |p_1 \dots p_n\rangle \otimes |q_1 \dots q_m\rangle = q \left(\sum_{i=1}^n \lambda(x_{p_i}^A) - \sum_{i=1}^m \lambda(x_{q_i}^A)\right) |p_1 \dots p_n\rangle \otimes |q_1 \dots q_m\rangle .$$
(5.20)

The formal "unsmeared" action of $\mathcal{J}(x^A)$ on plane wave states is the sum of δ -functions on \mathbb{S}^2 whose support is determined by the momenta of the plane waves

$$\mathcal{J}(x^A) |p_1 \dots p_n\rangle = q \left(\sum_{i=1}^n \delta_{\mathbb{S}^2}(x_{p_i}^A, x^A)\right) |p_1 \dots p_n\rangle$$
(5.21)

$$\mathcal{J}(x^A) |q_1 \dots q_n\rangle = -q \left(\sum_{i=1}^n \delta_{\mathbb{S}^2}(x^A_{q_i}, x^A)\right) |q_1 \dots q_n\rangle.$$
(5.22)

The action of $\mathcal{J}(\lambda)$ on a proper state $|\Psi\rangle \in \mathscr{F}^{\mathrm{KG0}}$ lying in the subspace of *n* particles and *m* antiparticles is given by

$$\mathcal{J}(\lambda) |\Psi\rangle = \int d^3 p_1 \dots d^3 p_n d^3 q_1 \dots d^3 q_m \psi(p_1, \dots, p_n, q_1, \dots, q_m) \times$$
(5.23)

$$q\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n}\lambda(x_{p_i}^A)-\sum_{i=1}^{m}\lambda(x_{q_i}^A)\right)|p_1\dots p_n\rangle\otimes|q_1\dots q_m\rangle.$$
(5.24)

All states in this subspace are eigenstates of the total charge operator $\mathcal{J}(1)$

$$\mathcal{J}(1) |\Psi\rangle = q(n-m) |\Psi\rangle.$$
(5.25)

However, for non-constant λ , there are no proper eigenstates of $\mathcal{J}(\lambda)$ apart from the vacuum state.

4 Faddeev-Kulish representation

We now turn to the construction of the analog for massless QED of the Faddeev-Kulish Hilbert space for massive QED given in sec. 4.4. Again, the key idea is to make use of conservation of large gauge charge at spatial infinity, eq. (4.76), and construct "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces composed of states that are eigenstates of all the large gauge charges at spatial infinity (including total electric charge).

The large gauge charges at spatial infinity are now given by

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}_{i^0}(\lambda) = \boldsymbol{\mathcal{J}}(\lambda) + \frac{1}{4\pi} \boldsymbol{\Delta}(\lambda). \tag{5.26}$$

In parallel with the massive case, to obtain states with vanishing charge, we start with the one-dimensional Hilbert space $\mathscr{H}_{p_1...p_n}^{\mathrm{KG0}} \otimes \overline{\mathscr{H}}_{q_1...q_n}^{\mathrm{KG0}}$, which has vanishing total electric charge and charge-current flux given by

$$\mathcal{J}(\lambda) = q \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\lambda(x_{p_i}^A) - \lambda(x_{q_i}^A) \right).$$
(5.27)

We wish to pair this state with the memory Fock space of the electromagnetic field, with memory given by

$$\Delta(\lambda; p_1, \dots, q_n) = -4\pi q \sum_{i=1}^n \left(\lambda(x_{p_i}^A) - \lambda(x_{q_i}^A)\right)$$
(5.28)

for all λ . If, for all p_1, \ldots, q_n we can find a classical, smooth electromagnetic field $e_A(p_1, \ldots, q_n)$ that has this memory satisfying eq. (5.28), then the Faddeev-Kulish Hilbert space

$$\mathscr{H}_{\text{in}}^{\text{FK0}} := \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \int d^3 p_1 \dots d^3 p_n d^3 q_1 \dots d^3 q_n \, \mathscr{H}_{p_1 \dots p_n}^{\text{KG0}} \otimes \overline{\mathscr{H}}_{q_1 \dots q_n}^{\text{KG0}} \otimes \mathscr{F}_{\Delta(p_1, \dots, q_n)}^{\text{EM}}$$
(5.29)

should satisfy the desired conditions (1)–(5) of sec. 1. Thus, the key issue is whether we can obtain an acceptable solution to eq. (5.28).

In parallel with the massive case (see eq. (4.83)), we will be able to solve eq. (5.28) if and only if we can solve

$$\mathscr{D}^A \Delta_A = \mathscr{D}^2 \alpha = q[4\pi \delta_{\mathbb{S}^2}(x^A, x^A_{p_i}) - 1].$$
(5.30)

In contrast to eq. (4.83), the right side of eq. (5.30) is not smooth. The general solution to eq. (5.30) is

$$\alpha = q \log(1 - \hat{r} \cdot \hat{p}_i) + \text{const.}$$
(5.31)

where the dot product is defined by viewing $x^A, x^A_{p_i} \in \mathbb{S}^2$ as unit vectors \hat{r}, \hat{p}_i in \mathbb{R}^3 , respectively, and taking their Euclidean inner product. Thus,

$$\Delta_A(x^A; p) = q \mathscr{D}_A \log(1 - \hat{r} \cdot \hat{p}_i)$$
(5.32)

is the unique solution to eq. (5.30), and

$$\Delta_A(x^A; p_1, \dots, p_n, q_1, \dots, q_n) = \sum_{i=1}^n \left(\Delta_A(x^A, p_i) - \Delta_A(x^A, q_i) \right)$$
(5.33)

will yield a solution to eq. (5.28) via

$$\Delta(\lambda; p_1, \dots, p_n, q_1, \dots, q_n) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega \ \mathscr{D}^A \lambda \ \Delta_A(x^A; p_1, \dots, p_n, q_1, \dots, q_n).$$
(5.34)

Thus, for massless QED we can solve eq. (5.28) and perform the Faddeev-Kulish Hilbert space construction eq. (5.29). However, there is now a very significant difference from the massive case. As can be seen from eq. (5.32), the required memory diverges as $1/|x^A - x_{p_i}^A|$ at each particle and antiparticle momentum and, hence, is not square integrable on \mathbb{S}^2 . Consequently, any classical electric field $e_A(v, x^A; p_1, \ldots, q_n)$ that gives rise to the required memory and satisfies our required fall-off conditions in v cannot be smooth and, indeed, cannot be square integrable on all spheres. It follows that the states in $\mathscr{F}_{e(p_1,\ldots,q_n)}^{\mathrm{EM}}$ cannot be Hadamard.³⁹ Furthermore, the failure of $e_A(v, x^A; p_1, \ldots, q_n)$ to be square integrable on spheres implies that its classical energy flux through \mathscr{I}^- diverges

$$\int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} d^3x \ T_{vv} = \infty \,. \tag{5.35}$$

It follows that all states in $\mathscr{F}_{e(p_1,\ldots,q_n)}^{\mathrm{EM}}$ have infinite expected energy flux through \mathscr{I}^- .

Thus, although each charged particle and antiparticle can be "dressed with soft photons" in a manner similar to the massive case, we find that in massless QED this "dressing" has nontrivial angular singularities. These angular singularities correspond to the "collinear divergences" that arise in perturbative scattering calculations in massless QED when working with momentum eigenstates. If one chooses to ignore the physical effects of the soft photons and calculate only probabilities for inclusive "hard" processes, the collinear divergences can be dealt with by imposing an angular cutoff. Indeed the "Kinoshita-Lee-Nauenberg (KLN) theorem" states that, in addition to imposing a frequency cutoff, if one imposes an angular cut-off one can again obtain (inclusive) cross-sections by summing over all low frequency and small angle quanta in the cutoff state and then removing the cutoffs [96, 97]. However, the whole point of the Faddeev-Kulish construction is to take the states in the Faddeev-Kulish Hilbert space eq. (5.29) seriously as exact "in" and "out" states of the quantum field, so that one gets a genuine S-matrix relating them. The angular singularities represent genuine singularities in the physical properties of these states. Thus, although a Faddeev-Kulish Hilbert space construction can be carried out in massless QED in close parallel with massive QED, all of the states in the resulting Hilbert space in massless QED are singular and are not of physical relevance.

^{39.} The failure of $e_A(v, x^A; p_1, \ldots, q_n)$ to be square integrable implies that two different choices of "dressing" e and e' with memory eq. (5.33) will, in general, yield unitarily *inequivalent* Fock representations (see footnote 33). Therefore we must label these singular representations by the choice of dressing, e, rather than the memory, Δ .

5 Source-free Yang-Mills fields

In this subsection, we consider the scattering of a source-free Yang-Mills field. As we shall see, this provides a simple model that has features similar to both massless QED as well as the gravitational case to be considered in sec. 6.

A Yang-Mills gauge field A^j_{μ} is a one-form field valued in a Lie-algebra \mathfrak{g} of a compact, semi-simple group G. The Lagrangian for this theory is

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4} F^{\mu\nu,i} F_{\mu\nu,i} \tag{5.36}$$

where the Yang-Mills field strength tensor is defined by

$$F^{i}_{\mu\nu} := \partial_{\mu}A^{i}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A^{i}_{\mu} + c^{i}{}_{jk}A^{j}_{\mu}A^{k}_{\nu}$$
(5.37)

where c^{i}_{jk} is the structure tensor of the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} and Lie algebra indices are raised and lowered with the (positive-definite) Cartan-Killing metric

$$k_{ij} := -c^l{}_{ik} c^k{}_{jl} \,. \tag{5.38}$$

This theory is invariant under the action of the Yang-Mills gauge transformations

$$A^i_{\mu} \mapsto A^i_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\lambda^i + c^i{}_{jk}A^j_{\mu}\lambda^k.$$
(5.39)

We assume that in the asymptotic past and future, the nonlinear interactions of the Yang-Mills field with itself become negligible, and the Yang-Mills field behaves as a free field.⁴⁰ In that case, the Yang-Mills field behaves asymptotically at \mathscr{I}^- like a collection of

^{40.} Of course, this property does not hold for the Yang-Mills fields occurring in nature on account of their interactions with other fields, which do not become negligible in the asymptotic past and future.

decoupled electromagnetic fields. The points of the incoming classical phase space are again given by the specification of the pullback of A^i_{μ} to \mathscr{I}^- . We again choose a gauge where $n^{\mu}A^i_{\mu}|_{\mathscr{I}^-} = 0$ and denote the pullback of A^i_{μ} to \mathscr{I}^- in our chosen gauge as A^i_A .

The local field observables on phase space are again the smeared electric fields

$$E(s) = \int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} d^3x \ E^i_A(x) s^A_i(x)$$
(5.40)

where s^A_i is a Lie-algebra valued test vector field on \mathscr{I}^- and

$$E_A^i = -\pounds_n A_A^i = -\partial_v A_A^i \tag{5.41}$$

is the pullback of $F^i_{\mu\nu}n^{\nu}$ to \mathscr{I}^- . Note that E(s) generates the infinitesimal affine transformation $A^i_A \to A^i_A - 2\pi\epsilon s^i_A$ on phase space.

In exact parallel to the electromagnetic case, the algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in}^{\rm YM}$ is defined to be the free algebra generated by the smeared field $\boldsymbol{E}(s)$ satisfying (B.I)–(B.III) in sec. 4.1 where the symplectic form of the Yang-Mills field on \mathscr{I}^- is

$$\Omega_{\mathscr{I}}^{\rm YM}(A_1, A_2) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathscr{I}^-} dv d\Omega \left[E_1^{A,i} A_{2A,i} - E_2^{A,i} A_{1A,i} \right].$$
(5.42)

The corresponding Hadamard regularity condition on the asymptotic states of the Yang-Mills field is that the 2-point function has the form

$$\omega(\boldsymbol{E}_{A}^{i}(x_{1})\boldsymbol{E}_{A}^{j}(x_{2})) = -\frac{k^{ij}q_{AB}\delta_{\mathbb{S}^{2}}(x_{1}^{A}, x_{2}^{A})}{(v_{1} - v_{2} - i0^{+})^{2}} + S_{AB}^{ij}(x_{1}, x_{2})$$
(5.43)

where S_{AB}^{ij} is a (state-dependent) smooth bi-tensor on \mathscr{I}^- that is symmetric under the simultaneous interchange of x_1, x_2 and the indices A, B and i, j. Additionally, the connected n-point functions for $n \neq 2$ are smooth. We also impose the same decay requirements of S_{AB}^{ij}

and all connected *n*-point functions for $n \neq 2$ as in the electromagnetic case in sec. 4.1. The 2-point function of the vacuum state ω_0 takes the form of eq. (5.43) with $S_{AB}^{ij} = 0$.

Apart from the extra Lie algebra index, there is no difference between Yang-Mills theory and electromagnetism in the above construction of the algebra of asymptotic local field observables and the regularity conditions on states. However, a significant difference with electromagnetism arises when we consider the extension of the algebra to include large gauge charges. In the Yang-Mills case, the infinitesimal action of a large gauge transformation is given by

$$A^{i}_{A} \mapsto A^{i}_{A} + \epsilon \left[\mathscr{D}_{A} \lambda^{i} + c^{i}_{jk} A^{j}_{A} \lambda^{k} \right], \qquad E^{i}_{A} \mapsto E^{i}_{A} + \epsilon c^{i}_{jk} E^{j}_{A} \lambda^{k}.$$
(5.44)

In particular, the electric field E_A^i is no longer gauge invariant. The "charge" that generates this infinitesimal gauge transformation is

$$\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda) \coloneqq -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} d^3x \left(2c^i{}_{jk}\lambda_i A^{A,j} E^k_A + \lambda^i \mathscr{D}^A E_{A,i} \right)$$
(5.45)

where the subscript " i^0 " again has been inserted to indicate that — assuming that no additional fields with Yang-Mills charge are present — $Q_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ can be obtained by taking limits of surface integrals of the Yang-Mills electric field as one approaches i^0 along \mathscr{I}^- , as can be shown by arguments similar to the massive and massless QED cases.

It is useful to separate the contributions to $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ into their linear and nonlinear parts. The linear part is the *memory* of the Yang-Mills field associated with large gauge transformation λ :

$$\Delta^{\rm YM}(\lambda) := -\int_{\mathscr{I}^-} dv d\Omega \ E^i_A(v, x^B) \mathscr{D}^A \lambda_i(x^B).$$
(5.46)

Although the memory is no longer the generator of large gauge transformations, it is still an

observable on the asymptotic phase space, since $\frac{1}{4\pi}\Delta^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ generates the affine transformation

$$A_A^i \mapsto A_A^i + \epsilon \mathscr{D}_A \lambda^i, \qquad E_A^i \mapsto E_A^i.$$
 (5.47)

The nonlinear part of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ is the Yang-Mills charge-current flux observable

$$\mathcal{J}^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda) := \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} dv d\Omega \ c^{i}{}_{jk} \lambda_{i} A^{A,j} E^{k}_{A} \,. \tag{5.48}$$

By definition, we have

$$\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda) = \mathcal{J}^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda) + \frac{1}{4\pi} \Delta^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda).$$
 (5.49)

This is closely analogous to eq. (5.11) except that now, the "null memory" $\mathcal{J}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ arises from the Yang-Mills field itself, not some additional massless charged field.

The Poisson brackets of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ and $\Delta^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ with themselves and with the local fields E(s) can be computed using eq. (2.7) from the above phase space transformations that they generate. We obtain

$$\{\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda), E(s)\} = E([\lambda, s]), \quad \{\Delta^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda), E(s)\} = 0$$
(5.50a)

$$\{\Delta^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda_1), \Delta^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda_2)\} = 0, \quad \{\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda_1), \Delta^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda_2)\} = \Delta^{\mathrm{YM}}([\lambda_1, \lambda_2]) \tag{5.50b}$$

$$\{\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda_1), \mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda_2)\} = \mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{YM}}([\lambda_1, \lambda_2])$$
(5.50c)

where the bracket denotes the Lie bracket $[X, Y]^i = c^i{}_{jk}X^jY^k$ between any two elements X, Y of the Lie-algebra \mathfrak{g} . Finally, the action of the infinitesimal Poincaré transformations F_P with $E(s), \Delta^{\text{YM}}(\lambda), \mathcal{Q}_{i^0}(\lambda)$ and themselves are again given by eqs. (4.52)–(4.54b).

In exact parallel with sec. 4.2 and 5.2, the algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in}^{\text{YM}}$ can be extended to $\mathscr{A}_{in,\text{QP}}^{\text{YM}}$ by including $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$, $\Delta^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ and the Poincaré generators F_P in the algebra, with commutation relations corresponding to the above Poisson bracket relations. In addition, as before, we

impose the further condition on states

$$\omega(\mathbf{\Delta}^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda)) = -\int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} dv d\Omega \ \omega(\mathbf{E}^{i}_{A}(v, x^{B})) \mathscr{D}^{A} \lambda_{i}(x^{B}), \qquad (5.51)$$

which ensures that the expectation value of the memory observable corresponds to eq. (5.46).

The Fock representations $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{\rm YM}$ of $\mathscr{A}_{\rm in}^{\rm YM}$ can be constructed in direct analogy to electromagnetic case. The GNS construction based upon the vacuum state ω_0 again yields the standard Fock space $\mathscr{F}_0^{\rm YM}$, for which every state is an eigenstate of $\Delta^{\rm YM}(\lambda)$ with vanishing eigenvalue. Representations of nonvanishing memory can be constructed in the same manner as discussed in sec. 4.3.2. The representation of $\mathscr{A}_{\rm in}^{\rm YM}$ on zero-memory Fock space $\mathscr{F}_0^{\rm YM}$ can be extended to a representation of $\mathscr{A}_{\rm in,QP}^{\rm YM}$. However, this is not possible for the representations of nonvanishing memory on account of the nontrivial commutation relations of $\Delta^{\rm YM}(\lambda)$ with both $\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{\rm YM}(\lambda)$ and with Lorentz generators.

As in electromagnetism, the zero-memory Fock space $\mathscr{F}_0^{\text{YM}}$ can be represented as a direct integral of "improper" plane wave states. As before, an arbitrary state $|\Psi\rangle \in \mathscr{F}_0^{\text{YM}}$ can be expressed as

$$|\Psi\rangle = \sum_{n} \int_{(C^{+})^{n}} d^{3}p_{1} \dots d^{3}p_{n} \ \psi^{A_{1}\dots A_{n}}_{(n)i_{1},\dots,i_{n}}(p_{1},\dots,p_{n})\varepsilon^{i_{1}}_{A_{1}}\dots\varepsilon^{i_{n}}_{A_{n}}|p_{1},\dots,p_{n}\rangle$$
(5.52)

where $\psi_{(n)}$ is a complex L^2 tensor-field and ε_A^i denotes Lie-algebra valued "polarization vectors" which satisfy

$$k_{ij}\varepsilon^{i}_{A}\varepsilon^{j}_{B} = \frac{1}{2}q_{AB}, \quad q^{AB}\varepsilon^{i}_{A}\varepsilon^{j}_{B} = \frac{1}{n}k^{ij}$$
(5.53)

where n is the dimension of the group G. The corresponding Fock space decomposition corresponds to the spectral decomposition the "null memory operator" $\mathcal{J}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$. Formally we have,

$$\mathcal{J}^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda)\varepsilon_{A_{1}}^{i_{1}}\ldots\varepsilon_{A_{n}}^{i_{n}}|p_{1},\ldots,p_{n}\rangle =$$

$$\left(c^{i_{1}}{}_{jk}\lambda^{j}(x_{p_{1}}^{A})\varepsilon_{A_{1}}^{k}\ldots\varepsilon_{A_{n}}^{i_{n}}+\cdots+c^{i_{n}}{}_{jk}\lambda^{j}(x_{p_{n}}^{A})\varepsilon_{A_{1}}^{i_{1}}\ldots\varepsilon_{A_{n}}^{k}\right)|p_{1},\ldots,p_{n}\rangle$$

$$(5.54)$$

In the "unsmeared" form, the formal action of $\mathcal{J}^{\mathrm{YM}}(x^A)$ on plane wave states is given by

$$\mathcal{J}_{j}^{\mathrm{YM}}(x^{A})\varepsilon_{A_{1}}^{i_{1}}\ldots\varepsilon_{A_{n}}^{i_{n}}|p_{1},\ldots,p_{n}\rangle = \left(\delta_{\mathbb{S}^{2}}(x^{A},x_{p_{1}}^{A})c^{i_{1}}{}_{jk}\varepsilon_{A_{1}}^{k}\ldots\varepsilon_{A_{n}}^{i_{n}}+\cdots+\delta_{\mathbb{S}^{2}}(x^{A},x_{p_{n}}^{A})c^{i_{n}}{}_{jk}\varepsilon_{A_{1}}^{i_{1}}\ldots\varepsilon_{A_{n}}^{k}\right)|p_{1},\ldots,p_{n}\rangle.$$
(5.55)

We turn now to the issue of whether analogs of the Faddeev-Kulish "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces can be constructed.⁴¹ As the in the case of Maxwell fields, for solutions to the Yang-Mills equations which are suitably regular at spatial infinity, the charges obtained from the limit along past and future null infinity to spatial infinity match by

$$\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{YM,in}}(\lambda) = \mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{YM,out}}(\lambda \circ \Upsilon)$$
(5.56)

where Υ is the antipodal map on \mathbb{S}^2 . Therefore, we are again led to seek "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces composed of eigenstates of the charge observable

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}_{i^{0}}^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda) = \boldsymbol{\mathcal{J}}^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda) + \frac{1}{4\pi} \boldsymbol{\Delta}^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda).$$
 (5.57)

It should be noted first, that, in contrast to the abelian case, the charge operator now satisfies the nontrivial commutation relation $[\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda_1), \mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda_2)] = \mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}([\lambda_1, \lambda_2])$. For a semisimple Lie group as considered here, it follows that there cannot exist any eigenstate of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ for all λ^i unless the eigenvalues vanish for all λ^i . (In massive and massless

^{41.} Dressed states in non-abelian gauge theories have been previously considered in, e.g. [124, 125, 126].

QED, eigenstates of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ of nonzero eigenvalue exist, although we restricted to vanishing eigenvalue in order to have an infinitesimal action of the Lorentz group.) In the case of massive and massless QED in sec. 4.4 and 5.4, the analog of $\mathcal{J}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ was played by the charge or current flux of an additional scalar field. In those cases, we can choose an (improper) eigenstate of this scalar field observable and then "dress" it with electromagnetic field states belonging to a corresponding memory representation. However, in the present case, $\mathcal{J}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ and $\Delta^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ arise from the same Yang-Mills field, so we cannot independently choose the eigenstate of $\mathcal{J}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ and the memory representation to which it belongs.

To gain insight into the nature of the difficulty caused by the fact that $\mathcal{J}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ and $\Delta^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ arise from the same field, let us attempt to construct eigenstates of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ with vanishing eigenvalue by following a similar procedure to that used in massless QED. As in massless QED, we can start with an improper plane wave momentum eigenstate $\varepsilon_{A_1}^{i_1} \dots \varepsilon_{A_n}^{i_n} | p_1 \dots p_n \rangle$ in the zero memory incoming Fock space $\mathscr{F}_0^{\text{YM}}$. This state is an eigenstate of $\mathcal{J}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ with eigenvalue given by eq. (5.55). We now wish to "dress" this state with "soft YM particles" belonging to the memory representation with $-\Delta^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)/4\pi$ equal to this eigenvalue, so as to produce an eigenstate of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ with vanishing eigenvalue. As in massless QED, on account of the δ -functions on \mathbb{S}^2 appearing in eq. (5.55), the required memory will be singular, and the dressed states will have infinite expected total energy flux. Thus, as in massless QED, the states constructed in this manner will be unphysical. However, a further major difficulty occurs in the Yang-Mills case because the "dressing" now also contributes to the Yang-Mills charge-current flux. Since the dressing is singular the Yang-Mills charge-current flux of the "dressing" is infinite and so the resulting "dressed state" cannot be defined. Furthermore, even if the dressing could be defined, the resulting state would no longer be an eigenstate of $\mathcal{J}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ and, hence, is not an eigenstate of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$. Thus, the states produced by the Faddeev-Kulish "dressing" procedure are not only unphysical but they do even yield the desired eigenstate property that motivated their construction.

Thus, in order to implement the strategy for constructing "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces based upon the conservation law eq. (5.56), we must seek eigenstates of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ of vanishing eigenvalue by some procedure other than "dressing." To see the nature of the restrictions on states imposed by the eigenstate condition, we note that, by definition, for any eigenstate ω of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ with vanishing eigenvalue, we have

$$\omega(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda)\boldsymbol{E}(s)) = \omega(\boldsymbol{E}(s)\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{YM}}(\lambda)) = 0.$$
(5.58)

However, the commutation relation eq. (5.50a) then implies

$$c^{i}_{jk}\omega(\boldsymbol{E}^{j}_{A}(x))\lambda^{k} = 0 \text{ for all } \lambda^{k}(x^{A}).$$
(5.59)

which, for a semi-simple Lie algebra, implies, in turn, that

$$\omega(\boldsymbol{E}_{\boldsymbol{A}}^{\boldsymbol{j}}(\boldsymbol{x})) = 0. \tag{5.60}$$

Thus, the 1-point function of any eigenstate must vanish. Note that it then follows from eq. (5.51) that — in contrast with massless QED — the expected memory must vanish. It also then follows that the expected Yang-Mills charge-current flux must vanish. By similar arguments, the 2-point must satisfy

$$c^{i_1}{}_{jk}\omega(\boldsymbol{E}^k_{A_1}(x_1)\boldsymbol{E}^{i_2}_{A_2}(x_2)) + c^{i_2}{}_{jk}\omega(\boldsymbol{E}^{i_1}_{A_1}(x_1)\boldsymbol{E}^k_{A_2}(x_2)) = 0.$$
(5.61)

This implies that $\omega(\mathbf{E}_{A_1}^{i_1}(x_1)\mathbf{E}_{A_2}^{i_2}(x_2))$ must be proportional to $k^{i_1i_2}$. This condition is satisfied by choices of $S_{AB}^{ij}(x_1, x_2)$ in eq. (5.43) of the form $S_{AB}^{ij}(x_1, x_2) = S'_{AB}(x_1, x_2)k^{ij}$. Nevertheless, this is an extremely restrictive condition on the 2-point function. More generally, the *n*-point correlation functions of ω must be proportional to Casimirs⁴² of the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} .

^{42.} For a semi-simple Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , the number of independent Casimirs is finite and is equal to the rank

Thus, although there exist nontrivial algebraic eigenstates of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$, it is clear that there are insufficiently many states to obtain a Hilbert large enough to carry representatives of all "hard" scattering processes.

In summary, in Yang-Mills theory, the Faddeev-Kulish "dressing" procedure fails to produce eigenstates of $\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$. Although eigenstates of $\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{\text{YM}}(\lambda)$ do exist, there are insufficiently many of them for scattering theory. Thus, the attempt to construct "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces composed of eigenstates of charges fails. In the next section, we will see that in the gravitational case, this failure is even more dramatic, since there are no eigenstates of the large gauge (i.e., supertranslation) charges at all except for the vacuum state.

6 Vacuum general relativity

In this section we turn our attention to the asymptotic quantum theory of full nonlinear general relativity at null infinity. There are many nontrivial, unresolved issues concerning the formulation of quantum gravity in the bulk. However, as has been emphasized by Ashtekar [64, 3], in asymptotically flat spacetimes the asymptotic phase space of general relativity at null infinity is an affine manifold similar to that of electromagnetism. Consequently, one can quantize the asymptotic degrees of freedom in exact parallel with the electromagnetic case. The asymptotic symmetries of general relativity are the BMS transformations, which enlarge the Poincaré group by the inclusion of supertranslations. The supertranslations play a role in the asymptotic quantization of general relativity that is closely analogous to the role played by large gauge transformations in electromagnetism.

We present the asymptotic quantization algebra of local field observables for general relativity in sec. 6.1. The extension of this algebra to include the charges that generate BMS

of \mathfrak{g} . For $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{su}(n)$, the number of independent Casimirs is n-1.

transformations is given in sec. 6.2. We then show in sec. 6.3 that an analog of Faddeev-Kulish "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces does not exist in quantum gravity.

1 Asymptotic quantization of general relativity

As discussed in [99], the points in the asymptotic phase space of general relativity at past null infinity can be specified by an equivalence class of derivative operators intrinsic to \mathscr{I}^- . For our purposes, it is convenient to instead adopt the following equivalent formulation. Choose a Bondi advanced time coordinate v and consider the foliation of \mathscr{I}^- by the cross-sections with v = constant. This foliation determines a unique null vector l^{μ} at \mathscr{I}^- which is normal to the cross-sections and at \mathscr{I}^- satisfies

$$l^{\mu}n_{\mu} = -1, \quad l^{\mu}l_{\mu} = 0. \tag{6.1}$$

Then, the points of the asymptotic phase space are specified by the *shear* of l^{μ} which is defined by⁴³

$$\sigma_{\mu\nu} = (q_{\mu}{}^{\alpha}q_{\nu}{}^{\beta} - \frac{1}{2}q_{\mu\nu}q^{\alpha\beta})\nabla_{\alpha}l_{\beta}$$
(6.2)

where $q_{\mu\nu}$ is the metric on the cross-sections. Since $\sigma_{\mu\nu}$ is orthogonal to l^{μ} and n^{μ} , we can write it as σ_{AB} . In general relativity, σ_{AB} is the analogue of the vector potential \mathcal{A}_A in the electromagnetic case. The analogue of the electric field E_A is given by the News tensor N_{AB} defined as

$$N_{AB} := 2\pounds_n \sigma_{AB} = 2\partial_v \sigma_{AB}. \tag{6.3}$$

^{43.} Alternatively, one can define a symmetric trace free tensor, C_{AB} , as defined below eq. (2.111), which correspond to the angular components of the physical metric at order 1/r in Bondi coordinates in the bulk spacetime. This is related to the shear that we have defined by $C_{AB} = -2\sigma_{AB}$; see [127].

The asymptotic symplectic form is then given by

$$\Omega_{\mathscr{I}}^{\mathrm{GR}}(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) = \frac{1}{16\pi} \int_{\mathscr{I}^-} d^3x \left[N_1^{AB} \sigma_{2AB} - N_2^{AB} \sigma_{1AB} \right].$$
(6.4)

The local field observables are the smeared News

$$N(s) := \int_{\mathscr{I}^-} d^3x \ N_{AB}(x) s^{AB}(x) \,. \tag{6.5}$$

where s^{AB} is a real test tensor field. The smeared News generates the affine transformation $\sigma_{AB} \mapsto \sigma_{AB} + \epsilon 8\pi s_{AB}$ on phase space. The Poisson brackets of the smeared News are computed to be

$$\left\{N(s_1), N(s_2)\right\} = -64\pi^2 \Omega_{\mathscr{I}}^{\mathrm{GR}}(s_1, s_2) 1 = 8\pi \int_{\mathscr{I}^-} d^3x \left[s_{1AB} \partial_v s_2^{AB} - s_{2AB} \partial_v s_1^{AB}\right].$$
(6.6)

In exact parallel with electromagnetism, the asymptotic quantization algebra of local field observables, \mathscr{A}_{in}^{GR} , is defined to be the unital *-algebra generated by the elements N(s), $N(s)^*$ and 1, factored by the following relations:

(C.I)
$$\mathbf{N}(c_1s_1 + c_2s_2) = c_1\mathbf{N}(s_1) + c_2\mathbf{N}(s_2)$$
 for any s_1^{AB}, s_2^{AB} and any $c_1, c_2 \in \mathbb{R}$
(C.II) $\mathbf{N}(s)^* = \mathbf{N}(s)$ for all s^{AB}

(C.III)
$$[N(s_1), N(s_2)] = -64\pi^2 i \Omega_{\mathscr{I}}^{GR}(s_1, s_2) \mathbf{1}$$

The Hadamard regularity condition on asymptotic states ω on the News algebra \mathscr{A}_{in}^{GR} analogous to eq. (3.5) is that the 2-point function has the form

$$\omega(\mathbf{N}_{AB}(x_1)\mathbf{N}_{CD}(x_2)) = -8 \frac{\left(q_{A(C}q_{D)B} - \frac{1}{2}q_{AB}q_{CD}\right)\delta_{\mathbb{S}^2}(x_1^A, x_2^A)}{(v_1 - v_2 - i0^+)^2} + S_{ABCD}(x_1, x_2)$$
(6.7)

where S_{ABCD} is a (state-dependent) bi-tensor on \mathscr{I}^- that is symmetric in A, B and in C, D, satisfies $q^{AB}S_{ABCD} = q^{CD}S_{ABCD} = 0$ and is symmetric under the simulataneous interchange of x_1 with x_2 and the pair of indices A, B with the pair C, D. As before, we also require that S_{ABCD} and the connected *n*-point functions for $n \neq 2$ of a Hadamard state on \mathscr{I}^- are smooth and decay as $O((\sum_i v_i^2)^{-1/2-\epsilon})$ for some $\epsilon > 0$.

2 Extension of the asymptotic quantization algebra to include BMS charges

The gauge symmetries of general relativity are the diffeomorphisms on spacetime. However, the transformations induced by diffeomorphisms that preserve the asymptotic structure of spacetime but do not vanish at null infinity are not degeneracies of the symplectic form and must be treated as symmetries. The group of such diffeomorphisms is known as the Bondi-Metzner-Sachs (BMS) group. For a given choice of Bondi advanced time coordinate v on \mathscr{I}^- , the vector field ξ^{μ} that generates an arbitrary infinitesimal BMS transformation takes the form

$$\xi^{\mu} = (f + \frac{1}{2}v\mathscr{D}_{A}X^{A})n^{\mu} + X^{\mu}.$$
(6.8)

Here $f(x^A)$ is an arbitrary smooth function on \mathbb{S}^2 with conformal weight +1, and X^{μ} is a vector field tangent to the cross-sections of \mathscr{I} that is a conformal Killing vector field on the 2-sphere. By a slight abuse of the notational conventions⁴⁴ stated at the end of sec. 0.3, we will denote this vector field as X^A . The transformations with $X^A = 0$ are referred to as *supertranslations* and the supertranslations with f given by a linear combination of $\ell = 0, 1$ spherical harmonics are the ordinary *translations*. The transformations generated by X^A are Lorentz transformations. However, it should be noted that the decomposition of ξ^{μ} into a supertranslation and a Lorentz transformation depends on the choice of Bondi advanced

^{44.} By the conventions of sec. 0.3, X^A would denote an equivalence class of vector fields X^{μ} modulo multiples of n^{μ} . Here, since we have made a choice of Bondi advanced time coordinate v, we use X^A to denote the particular representative that is tangent to the cross-sections of constant v.

time coordinate v, i.e., if ξ^{μ} is a "pure Lorentz transformation" (f = 0) for one choice of v, it would correspond to a Lorentz transformation (with the same X^A) plus a supertranslation for other choices of v.

The action of an infinitesimal BMS transformation of the form eq. (6.8) on phase space is given by the following affine transformation

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{AB} &\mapsto \sigma_{AB} + \epsilon \Big[\frac{1}{2} (f + \frac{1}{2} v \mathscr{D}_C X^C) N_{AB} + (\mathscr{D}_A \mathscr{D}_B - \frac{1}{2} q_{AB} \mathscr{D}^2) f + \pounds_X \sigma_{AB} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} (\mathscr{D}_C X^C) \sigma_{AB} \Big] \\ N_{AB} &\mapsto N_{AB} + \epsilon \left[(f + \frac{1}{2} v \mathscr{D}_C X^C) \partial_v N_{AB} + \pounds_X N_{AB} \right]. \end{split}$$

Note that N_{AB} is *not* invariant under BMS symmetries. The charge observable that generates this infinitesimal BMS transformation is given by (see [127])

$$\mathcal{Q}_{i^{0}}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f,X) = \frac{1}{16\pi} \int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} dv d\Omega \ N^{AB} \bigg[\frac{1}{2} (f + \frac{1}{2} v \mathscr{D}_{C} X^{C}) N_{AB} + \mathscr{D}_{A} \mathscr{D}_{B} f + \pounds_{X} \sigma_{AB} - \frac{1}{2} (\mathscr{D}_{C} X^{C}) \sigma_{AB} \bigg].$$

$$(6.9)$$

As we shall now explain, we have inserted the subscript " i^0 " on $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{GR}(f, X)$ for reasons analogous our use of this notation in massive and massless QED. As shown in [21, 127], the right-hand-side of eq. (6.9) can be written as⁴⁵

$$\frac{1}{16\pi} \int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} dv d\Omega \ N^{AB} \left[\frac{1}{2} (f + \frac{1}{2} v \mathscr{D}_{C} X^{C}) N_{AB} + \mathscr{D}_{A} \mathscr{D}_{B} f + \pounds_{X} \sigma_{AB} - \frac{1}{2} (\mathscr{D}_{C} X^{C}) \sigma_{AB} \right]$$

$$= \lim_{v \to \infty} \mathcal{Q}_{v}^{\text{GR}}(f, X) - \lim_{v \to -\infty} \mathcal{Q}_{v}^{\text{GR}}(f, X)$$
(6.10)

^{45.} Note that eq. (6.10) has a relative overall sign compared to eq. (1.18) in sec. 1 due to the fact that we are now working at \mathscr{I}^- rather than \mathscr{I}^+ .

with

$$\mathcal{Q}_{v}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f,X) = \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{S(v)} d\Omega \left[\frac{1}{2} (f + \frac{1}{2} v \mathscr{D}_{A} X^{A}) \sigma^{AB} N_{AB} + X^{A} \sigma_{AB} \mathscr{D}_{C} \sigma^{BC} - \frac{1}{4} \sigma^{2} \mathscr{D}_{C} X^{C} + \Omega^{-1} C_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \xi^{\mu} l^{\nu} n^{\lambda} l^{\rho} \right]$$

$$(6.11)$$

where $\sigma^2 := \sigma_{AB} \sigma^{AB}$, the integral on the right side is taken over the cross-section, $S(v) \cong \mathbb{S}^2$, of advanced time v on \mathscr{I}^- , and $C_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ is the Weyl tensor of the conformally-completed spacetime. If massive fields (or black/white holes) are present, they would, in general, contribute to $\lim_{v \to -\infty} \mathcal{Q}_v^{\text{GR}}(f, X)$ in a manner similar to massive QED. We will assume, for simplicity, that this is not the case and thus that⁴⁶ $\lim_{v \to -\infty} \mathcal{Q}_v^{\text{GR}}(f, X) = 0$. In that case, eq. (6.10) shows that $\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{\text{GR}}(f, X)$ can be obtained as a limit of a surface integral of local quantities as one approaches spatial infinity, i^0 , along \mathscr{I}^- . Thus, the subscript " i^0 " is appropriate in eq. (6.9).

As in the Yang-Mills case, it is useful to separate the contributions to $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{GR}(f, X)$ into their linear and nonlinear parts. The linear term arises only for supertranslations and defines the gravitational memory observable

$$\Delta^{\mathrm{GR}}(f) := \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathscr{I}^-} dv d\Omega \ N_{AB}(v, x^C) \mathscr{D}^A \mathscr{D}^B f(x^C)$$
(6.12)

which, we note, vanishes if f is a linear combination of $\ell = 0, 1$ spherical harmonics. On the asymptotic phase space, $\frac{1}{8\pi}\Delta^{\text{GR}}(f)$ generates the affine transformation

$$\sigma_{AB} \mapsto \sigma_{AB} + \epsilon (\mathscr{D}_A \mathscr{D}_B - \frac{1}{2} q_{AB} \mathscr{D}^2) f$$

$$N_{AB} \mapsto N_{AB}.$$
(6.13)

^{46.} We emphasize that the conclusions of sec. 6.3 and, in particular, Theorem 5 do not depend upon this assumption.

For $X^A = 0$, the supertranslation charge $\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{\text{GR}}(f)$, which generates supertranslations by eq. (6.9) with $X^A = 0$, is given by

$$\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f) = \mathcal{J}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f) + \frac{1}{8\pi} \Delta^{\mathrm{GR}}(f)$$
(6.14)

where

$$\mathcal{J}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f) := \frac{1}{32\pi} \int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} dv d\Omega \ f N^{AB} N_{AB}$$
(6.15)

is called the *null memory*. If massless fields with stress energy $T_{\mu\nu}$ are present they will, in general contribute to the null memory by the simple substitution $N^{AB}N_{AB} \rightarrow N^{AB}N_{AB} + 32\pi\Omega^{-2}T_{\mu\nu}n^{\mu}n^{\nu}$ in eq. (6.15). However, for simplicity, we shall consider only case of vacuum gravitational fields in this section.

The Poisson bracket of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f,X)$ with the local News observable is given by

$$\left\{\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f,X), N(s)\right\} = N(s') \tag{6.16}$$

where $s'_{AB} = (f + \frac{1}{2}v\mathscr{D}_C X^C)\partial_v s_{AB} + \pounds_X s_{AB} - \frac{1}{2}(\mathscr{D}_C X^C)s_{AB}$. We also have

$$\left\{\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f_1), \mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f_2)\right\} = 0, \quad \left\{\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(X_1), \mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(X_2)\right\} = \mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}([X_1, X_2]), \tag{6.17a}$$

$$\left\{\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(X), \mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f)\right\} = \mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(\pounds_X f - \frac{1}{2}(\mathscr{D}_A X^A)f)$$
(6.17b)

where $[X_1, X_2]$ is the Lie bracket of X_1^A and X_2^A . The memory observable has vanishing Poisson brackets with the News and with itself

$$\left\{\Delta^{\text{GR}}(f), N(s)\right\} = 0, \qquad \left\{\Delta^{\text{GR}}(f_1), \Delta^{\text{GR}}(f_2)\right\} = 0.$$
 (6.18)

Finally, we have

$$\left\{\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f_1), \Delta^{\mathrm{GR}}(f_2)\right\} = 0, \qquad \left\{\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(X), \Delta^{\mathrm{GR}}(f)\right\} = \Delta^{\mathrm{GR}}(\pounds_X f - \frac{1}{2}(\mathscr{D}_A X^A)f).$$
(6.19)

Thus, the memory observable is supertranslation-invariant but not Lorentz-invariant.

In exact parallel with massive and massless QED and Yang-Mills theory, we now can extend the algebra, \mathscr{A}_{in}^{GR} , of asymptotic local field observables to an algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in,Q}^{GR}$ by including $\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{GR}(f,X)$ and $\Delta^{GR}(f)$ in the algebra, with commutation relations corresponding to the above Poisson bracket relations. (The Poincaré generators are, of course, already included in the BMS charges $\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{GR}(f,X)$, so there is no need for a further extension of the algebra.) In parallel with eqs. (4.45) and (5.51) we impose on states the condition

$$\omega(\mathbf{\Delta}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f)) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathscr{I}^{-}} dv d\Omega \ \omega(\mathbf{N}_{AB}(v, x^{A})) \mathscr{D}^{A} \mathscr{D}^{B} f.$$
(6.20)

The Fock representations of \mathscr{A}_{in}^{GR} can be constructed in direct analogy to electromagnetic case. The GNS construction based upon the vacuum state ω_0 again yields the standard Fock space, \mathscr{F}_0^{GR} , for which every state is an eigenstate of $\Delta^{GR}(f)$ with vanishing eigenvalue. Again, representations of nonvanishing memory, $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{GR}$, can be constructed in the same manner as discussed in sec. 4.3.2. The representation of \mathscr{A}_{in}^{GR} on the zero-memory Fock space can be extended to a representation of $\mathscr{A}_{in,Q}^{GR}$. The representations of \mathscr{A}_{in}^{GR} on the Fock spaces of nonzero memory can be extended to include representatives of the generators of supertranslations, $\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{GR}(f)$. However, the representations of nonzero memory cannot be extended to include representatives of the generators of infinitesimal Lorentz transformations, $\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{GR}(X)$, on account of the nontrivial commutation relation of $\Delta^{GR}(f)$ with $\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{GR}(X)$. In particular, angular momentum is not well-defined on the Fock spaces of nonzero memory.

3 Faddeev-Kulish representations do not exist in quantum gravity

For solutions of the vacuum Einstein equation that satisfy the Ashtekar-Hansen [61] asymptotic flatness conditions together with an additional null regularity condition at spatial infinity, it was shown in [26, 62] that the charges $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f, X)$ obtained from the limit along past null infinity are matched antipodally to the similarly defined charges obtained from the limit along future null infinity.⁴⁷ In particular the supertranslation charges satisfy

$$\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{\mathrm{GR,in}}(f) = \mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{\mathrm{GR,out}}(f \circ \Upsilon) \tag{6.21}$$

where, as before, Υ is the antipodal map on \mathbb{S}^2 . This is an exact analog of eq. (4.76) in electromagnetism. As previously explained in sec. 4.4, this conservation law provides a potential means of constructing "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces satisfying the desired properties (1)–(5) given in sec. 1. Namely, if we can construct an "in" Hilbert space composed entirely of eigenstates of the supertranslation charges, it will evolve to an "out" Hilbert space composed of eigenvectors of corresponding eigenvalue. In order to have a continuous action of the Lorentz group, we must choose the eigenvalues of all of the charges to vanish. If such "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces of vanishing charges are separable and contain sufficiently many states to account for all "hard" scattering processes, then properties (1)–(5) should hold.

In massive QED, this strategy was successfully implemented by the Faddeev-Kulish construction described in sec. 4.4. In this construction, one "dresses" each momentum eigenstate of the incoming massive charged particles with an electromagnetic state belonging to the memory representation whose memory cancels the large gauge charges of the incoming charged particle state, so as to produce an eigenstate of vanishing eigenvalue of all of the total large gauge charges. As shown in sec. 5.4, in massless QED, the same "dressing" construction

^{47.} For linearized gravity around a Minkowski background, the matching of the supertranslation charges is also shown in [128, 25] (see also [129]).

can be given. However, the required memory in this case is singular — so singular that the "soft photon dressing" has infinite energy flux. As shown in sec. 5.5, the situation is worse in Yang-Mills theory. Not only is a singular "dressing" required, but the "dressing" does not provide eigenstates of charge. Although eigenstates of charge can be constructed by other means, there are insufficiently many of them for scattering theory. We turn now to the analysis of the situation in quantum gravity.

First, as already mentioned above, in order to have a continuous action of the Lorentz group on the Hilbert space, it is necessary to restrict to eigenstates of the charges of vanishing eigenvalue. In massive QED, this required the vanishing of all large gauge charges, including the total ordinary electric charge. The vanishing of large gauge charges for $\ell \geq 1$ is achieved by the "dressing," but the vanishing of the total ordinary electric charge is an unwanted restriction on the scattering states. Nevertheless, arguably, this is not a genuine restriction since one could always put additional particles "behind the moon" to make the total charge vanish. However, in the gravitational case, the corresponding requirement for a continuous action of the Lorentz group is for all of the supertranslation charges $Q_{i0}^{\text{GR}}(f)$ to vanish, include the charges associated with ordinary translations. In other words, the states must be eigenstates of 4-momentum of eigenvalue zero. But the vacuum state is the only such state; one cannot cancel the 4-momentum of a state of interest by putting additional particles "behind the moon." Thus, the Faddeev-Kulish construction fails for this elementary reason at this initial stage.

Nevertheless, one could give up on having a continuous action of the Lorentz group and seek eigenstates of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{\text{GR}}(f)$ of nonzero eigenvalue. It is instructive to see what happens if one attempts to construct such eigenstates by a "dressing" procedure.

First, consider *linearized gravity* with an additional massless quantum field source, where the null memory is due to the massless source rather than to gravitational radiation. As previously noted below eq. (6.15), the massless field will contribute a null memory of the form

$$\mathcal{J}^{\text{GR,source}}(f) = \int_{\mathscr{I}^-} dv d\Omega \ f(\Omega^{-2} T_{\mu\nu} n^{\mu} n^{\nu}) \,. \tag{6.22}$$

In a manner similar to massless QED and Yang-Mills theory, the (improper) plane wave states of the massless source field are formal eigenstates of null memory. In order to produce an eigenstate of $\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{\text{GR}}(f)$ with eigenvalue $\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{\text{GR}}(f)$ for all f in linearized gravity, we must "dress" a source particle momentum eigenstate $|p\rangle$ by choosing a memory representation of the gravitational field such that

$$\mathscr{D}^{A}\mathscr{D}^{B}\Delta_{AB}^{\mathrm{GR}}(x^{A};p) = 8\pi\omega\delta_{\mathbb{S}^{2}}(x^{A},x_{p}^{A}) - 8\pi\mathcal{Q}_{i^{0}}^{\mathrm{GR}}(x^{A})$$

$$(6.23)$$

where ω is the frequency associated with the null momentum $p = (\omega, x_p^A)$. This equation differs from the corresponding equation (5.30) in massless QED in that now there are two angular derivatives of memory rather than one. This difference results in milder angular singularities in the solution, namely, $|\Delta_{AB}^{GR}| \sim |\log(|x^A - x_p^A|)|$ rather than $|\Delta_A| \sim 1/|x^A - x_p^A|$ as in massless QED. In other words, the collinear divergences in quantum gravity are less severe than in massless QED and Yang-Mills theory. Although the required memories are still singular, they are square integrable, and the corresponding "dressed states" — which were previously constructed in [36] — do not have an infinite energy flux. In this respect, the situation in linearized gravity is *better* than in massless QED and Yang-Mills theory, although since we cannot construct eigenstates of vanishing charges, the action of the Lorentz group is undefined and therefore the angular momentum is undefined for all such "dressed" states in linearized gravity.

However, in *nonlinear gravity*, as in Yang-Mills theory, the "dressing" will now contribute to the null memory, so the resulting dressed state is no longer an eigenstate of $\mathcal{J}^{GR}(f)$ and hence is not an eigenstate⁴⁸ of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{GR}(f)$. Thus, the "dressing" construction does not yield the desired eigenstate property that motivated the procedure. In order to implement the strategy for constructing "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces based upon the conservation law eq. (6.21), we must seek eigenstates of the supertranslation charges $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{GR}(f)$ by some other means. In Yang-Mills theory, we were able to find some eigenstates of large gauge charges, but insufficiently many to do scattering theory. However, one of the key results of this chapter is that in gravity, there are no nontrivial eigenstates at all.⁴⁹ This is shown by the following theorem:

Theorem 5. Let f be any smooth function on \mathbb{S}^2 whose support is all of \mathbb{S}^2 , i.e., f does not vanish identically on any open subset of \mathbb{S}^2 . Suppose that the state ω is Hadamard, satisfies our decay conditions, and is an eigenstate of the supertranslation charge $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{GR}(f)$. Then $\omega = \omega_0$, where ω_0 is the BMS-invariant vacuum state.

Proof. Since ω is an eigenstate of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{GR}(f)$, we have

$$\omega(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f)\boldsymbol{N}(s)) = \omega(\boldsymbol{N}(s)\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f)) = \kappa \ \omega(\boldsymbol{N}(s)). \tag{6.24}$$

where κ denotes the eigenvalue, which is real since since $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{GR}(f)$ is self-adjoint. Thus, we have

$$0 = \omega([\mathbf{Q}_{i0}^{\text{GR}}(f), \mathbf{N}(s)]) = i\omega(\mathbf{N}(f\partial_v s))$$
(6.25)

where the commutation relation corresponding to eq. (6.16) was used. Since this holds for all

^{48.} In contrast to the Yang-Mills case, the dressing contribution to the null memory is finite and so the "dressed state" can have a well-defined expected charge. Nevertheless, it cannot be an eigenstate of $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{GR}(f)$.

^{49.} Note that there is no state in any non-zero memory representation that has vanishing null memory eq. (6.15); zero is merely the lower bound of the continuous spectrum of the null memory operator, as emphasized by Ashtekar [3]. Consequently, in contrast to claims in [130], memory vacua are not eigenstates of the charges $\mathcal{Q}_{i^0}^{GR}(f)$ at spatial infinity.
s^{AB} , we have for all $x = (v, x^A)$

$$f(x^A)\frac{\partial}{\partial v}\left[\omega(\mathbf{N}_{AB}(x))\right] = 0 \tag{6.26}$$

Since f does not vanish on open sets, it follows that $\omega(\mathbf{N}_{AB}(x))$ is constant in v. The decay conditions then imply that the 1-point function $\omega(\mathbf{N}_{AB}(x))$ vanishes identically.

By similar arguments starting with

$$\omega(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f)\boldsymbol{N}(s_1)\dots\boldsymbol{N}(s_n)) = \omega(\boldsymbol{N}(s_1)\dots\boldsymbol{N}(s_n)\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}_{i^0}^{\mathrm{GR}}(f)) = \kappa \ \omega(\boldsymbol{N}(s_1)\dots\boldsymbol{N}(s_n))$$
(6.27)

we find that the n-point functions satisfy

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \partial_{v_i} \omega(\mathbf{N}_{A_1 B_1}(x_1) \dots \mathbf{N}_{A_n B_n}(x_n)) = 0.$$
(6.28)

It then follows that S_{ABCD} in eq. (6.7) and the truncated *n*-point functions also satisfy this equation. But S_{ABCD} and the truncated *n*-point functions are required to decay as $O((\sum_i v_i^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}-\epsilon})$. It follows that S_{ABCD} and all truncated *n*-point functions of ω vanish, i.e., $\omega = \omega_0$.

We emphasize that the implications of Theorem 5 are quite strong in that constructions based upon the use of eq. (6.21) require eigenstates of $\mathcal{Q}_{i0}^{\text{GR}}(f)$ for all f. Note that eq. (6.28) is in close parallel to eq. (5.61) in the Yang-Mills case. However, nontrivial solutions to eq. (5.61) do exist, whereas the vacuum state is the only state that satisfies eq. (6.28). Thus, in the gravitational case, the attempt to construct "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces by using charge eigenstates fails in a much more catastrophic manner.

7 Non-Faddeev-Kulish representations

As we have just seen, the Faddeev-Kulish "dressing" procedure cannot be used to construct a Hilbert space of "in" and "out" states in quantum gravity, nor is there any other procedure that can produce eigenstates of the supertranslation charges Q_{i0}^{GR} . Nevertheless, as described at the end of sec. 6.2, there is an ample supply of "in" and "out" states given by the memory Fock spaces $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{\text{GR}}$, with Δ_{AB}^{GR} an arbitrary smooth, symmetric trace free tensor on \mathbb{S}^2 . Is there is some other way of assembling these states into Hilbert spaces in such a way that the desired conditions (1)–(5) given in sec. 1 can be satisfied? In this section, we explore this possibility.

An obvious candidate for the "in" Hilbert space would be the direct sum over all of the "in" memory Fock spaces $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{GR,in}$, i.e.,

$$\mathscr{F}_{\mathrm{DS}}^{\mathrm{in}} = \bigoplus_{\Delta} \mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{\mathrm{GR,in}} \tag{7.1}$$

where Δ_{AB}^{GR} ranges over all (say, smooth) symmetric trace free tensors on S², where the "DS" subscript stands for "direct sum." \mathscr{F}_{DS}^{out} would then be defined similarly. Clearly, \mathscr{F}_{DS}^{in} and \mathscr{F}_{DS}^{out} would then allow all possible memories. However, this choice has many serious deficiencies.⁵⁰ First, since there are uncountably many choices of Δ_{AB}^{GR} , this Hilbert space is clearly nonseparable. Second, although the BMS group acts naturally on \mathscr{F}_{DS}^{in} , Lorentz transformations act nontrivially on memory and a "small" Lorentz transformation will map a vector in the sector $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{GR}$ into an entirely different sector $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta'}^{GR}$. Since all states in different memory sectors are orthogonal to each other, Lorentz transformations do not act in a strongly

^{50.} The first two of these deficiencies are analogous to what would occur if attempted to take the Hilbert space of one-dimensional Schrödinger quantum mechanics to be $\bigoplus_{x \in \mathbb{R}} H_x$ where H_x is a one dimensional Hilbert space representing an eigenstate of the position operator with eigenvalue x. This Hilbert space is nonseparable and does not admit a strongly continuous action of translations — so the momentum operator cannot be defined.

continuous manner on $\mathscr{F}_{\mathrm{DS}}^{\mathrm{in}}$. Thus, infinitesimal generators of Lorentz transformations in particular, angular momentum — cannot be defined. However, by far the most serious deficiency is that it is clear that states in $\mathscr{F}_{\mathrm{DS}}^{\mathrm{in}}$ will not evolve to states in the similarly defined "out" Hilbert space $\mathscr{F}_{\mathrm{DS}}^{\mathrm{out}}$, so condition (2) of the sec. 1 will not be satisfied. To see this, we note that — since the norm of the direct sum is the sum over the norms in each $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{\mathrm{GR,in}}$ and any uncountable sum of strictly positive numbers is infinite — for any vector in $\mathscr{F}_{\mathrm{DS}}^{\mathrm{in}}$ the probability of having a given value of memory can be nonvanishing for only a countable number of memories. Thus, the possible memories of any state in $\mathscr{F}_{\mathrm{DS}}^{\mathrm{in}}$ are discrete. However, it seems clear that most states in $\mathscr{F}_{\mathrm{DS}}^{\mathrm{in}}$ will evolve to "out" states where the memory is continuously distributed. Such states cannot lie in $\mathscr{F}_{\mathrm{DS}}^{\mathrm{out}}$.

A more promising candidate would be to take a direct integral of the Fock spaces $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{\text{GR},\text{in}}$ with respect to a measure that is continuously distributed in Δ_{AB}^{GR} . To do so, we first need to make a precise choice of the space, \mathscr{M} , of memories. Then we need to specify a σ -algebra of measurable subsets of \mathscr{M} . Then, we need to define a measure on \mathscr{M} , i.e., a map, μ , from measurable subsets to nonnegative real numbers such that $\mu(\varnothing) = 0$ and μ is "countably additive", that is, for any countable collection of disjoint measurable sets $\{\mathscr{O}_i\}$ we have that $\mu(\cup_i \mathscr{O}_i) = \sum_i \mu(\mathscr{O}_i)$. Given such a measure, μ , we can construct a direct integral Hilbert space $\mathscr{F}_{\text{DI}}^{\text{in}}(\mu)$ from the memory Fock spaces $\mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{\text{GR},\text{in}}$ as follows: A vector $|\Psi\rangle \in \mathscr{F}_{\text{DI}}^{\text{in}}(\mu)$ consists of the specification of a measurable family of vectors $|\psi(\Delta)\rangle \in \mathscr{F}_{\Delta}^{\text{GR},\text{in}}$ for all Δ_{AB}^{GR} , where $|\Psi\rangle$ and $|\Psi'\rangle$ are considered equivalent if $|\psi(\Delta)\rangle$ and $|\psi'(\Delta)\rangle$ differ only on a set of measure zero. The states in $\mathscr{F}_{\text{DI}}^{\text{in}}(\mu)$ are required to have finite norm

$$\|\Psi\|^{2} = \int_{\mathscr{M}} d\mu \ \|\psi(\Delta)\|^{2} < \infty$$
(7.2)

and the inner product of two states is then defined by

$$\langle \Psi_1 | \Psi_2 \rangle = \int_{\mathscr{M}} d\mu \, \langle \psi_1(\Delta) | \psi_2(\Delta) \rangle \,. \tag{7.3}$$

The direct sum Hilbert space \mathscr{F}_{DS}^{in} is a special case of the direct integral Hilbert space wherein the σ -algebra is taken to be all subsets of \mathscr{M} and μ is taken to be the "discrete measure" that assigns unit measure to any subset consisting of a single point. As already stated above, this yields a Hilbert space that is nonseparable and has other unacceptable properties. However, choices of "continuous measures" can yield a separable Hilbert space and have the possibility of satisfying the other properties desired for scattering theory. If \mathscr{M} were a finite dimensional vector space, there is an essentially unique notion of Lebesgue measure and this would provide a natural choice of measure. However, \mathscr{M} is infinite dimensional, so there is no notion of Lebesgue measure (see sec. A.4 of [131]). Since there is a direct correspondence between memories and supertranslations [20, 1] and the supertranslations comprise a group, one might try to use an "invariant Haar measure" on memories. However, the supertranslation group is not locally compact and therefore the Haar measure does not exist. Nevertheless, there are well-defined notions of Gaussian measures.⁵¹ We can obtain a natural class of Gaussian measures in the following manner (see, e.g., [132, 133, 134] for further details).

We start with the topological vector space of smooth functions f with conformal weight 1 on \mathbb{S}^2 with the nuclear topology. The trace-free part of $\mathscr{D}_A \mathscr{D}_B f$ for such f provides a space of test tensor fields for memory (see eq. (6.12)). We take \mathscr{M} to be the topological

^{51.} In path integral formulations of Euclidean QFT of some field ϕ , it is common to write the measure in the path integral as $D\phi \ e^{-S_0(\phi)}$ where $S_0(\phi)$ is the Euclidean action of a free field and $D\phi$ is a "Lebesgue measure" on the space of fields. However, $D\phi$ does not really exist and it is the full quantity $D\phi \ e^{-S_0(\phi)}$ which is a genuine Gaussian measure; the covariance of this measure is the Euclidean Green's function determined by the action S_0 . This is also true in path integral formulations of quantum mechanics where the measure over the space of paths is the (Gaussian) Wiener measure [131].

dual space. We choose the σ -algebra of subsets to be generated by the "cylindrical sets" (see [132, 134]). By the Bochner-Minlos theorem (see sec. A.6 of [131]), a Gaussian measure on \mathcal{M} (centered at zero) is then determined by specifying any positive, symmetric, bilinear map $K(f_1, f_2)$ (the "covariance matrix") on the space of test functions. A necessary condition for two Gaussian measures with covariance K and K', respectively, to be equivalent (i.e., such that they agree on which subsets of \mathcal{M} have measure zero) is that they define equivalent norms on the space of test functions. In other words, K and K' are equivalent if there is a positive constant c such that

$$c^{-1}K(f,f) \le K'(f,f) \le cK(f,f)$$
(7.4)

for all test functions f. Thus, there exists a very large class of inequivalent Gaussian measures that can be constructed by this procedure.

Thus, the key issue for the construction of a Gaussian measure on the space, \mathscr{M} , of memories — and, thereby, direct integral Hilbert spaces of "in" and "out" states — is the choice of covariance matrix K. A key criterion is that K be Lorentz invariant, since the resulting Gaussian measure μ will then be Lorentz invariant, and the Lorentz group will then act naturally on $\mathscr{F}_{\mathrm{DI}}^{\mathrm{in}}(\mu)$. However, there is a unique choice of Lorentz invariant covariance matrix K (see Ch. III.4 of [135]). This covariance matrix is simply the L^2 inner product on the space of smooth test tensors $\mathscr{D}_A \mathscr{D}_B f$ on \mathbb{S}^2

$$K(f_1, f_2) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2} d\Omega_1 d\Omega_2 \ K_{ABCD}(x_1^A, x_2^B) \mathscr{D}^A \mathscr{D}^B f_1(x_1^A) \mathscr{D}^C \mathscr{D}^D f_2(x_2^B)$$
(7.5)

with integral kernel

$$K_{ABCD}(x_1^A, x_2^B) = \delta_{\mathbb{S}^2}(x_1^A, x_2^B) \left(q_{A(C}q_{D)B} - \frac{1}{2}q_{AB}q_{CD} \right).$$
(7.6)

The direct integral Hilbert space $\mathscr{F}_{\mathrm{DI}}^{\mathrm{in}}(\mu)$ obtained from the Gaussian measure determined by K is a separable Hilbert space.

However, there is a very serious problem with attempting to use this Hilbert space for scattering theory. For any Gaussian measure constructed in the manner described above using a covariance matrix K there is a subset of \mathscr{M} , determined by K, known as the "Cameron-Martin space" on which μ has zero measure (see theorem 2.4.7 in [132]). For the case of a Gaussian measure with covariance given by eq. (7.6), the Cameron-Martin space is the space of square-integrable memories. This means that "almost all" of the memories, Δ_{AB}^{GR} , that contribute to $\mathscr{F}_{DI}^{in}(\mu)$ fail to be square-integrable.⁵² However, as argued in sec. 5.4, states with a non-square-integrable memory that satisfy our fall-off conditions cannot be Hadamard and have divergent expected total energy flux. Thus, all of the states in $\mathscr{F}_{DI}^{in}(\mu)$ are unphysical.

Thus, the direct integral Hilbert space obtained from the Gaussian measure constructed from the Lorentz invariant covariance matrix eq. (7.6) does not yield an acceptable candidate for "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces. One could try instead using a covariance matrix K'corresponding, e.g., to a Sobolev norm, so that the states in $\mathscr{F}_{\mathrm{DI}}^{\mathrm{in}}(\mu')$ would have physically acceptable memories.⁵³ However, one would then have to give up on having a natural Lorentz group action. More significantly, there would be no reason to expect that states in $\mathscr{F}_{\mathrm{DI}}^{\mathrm{in}}(\mu')$ would evolve to states in the similarly constructed $\mathscr{F}_{\mathrm{DI}}^{\mathrm{out}}(\mu')$. Of course, we also could make different choices of the precise specification of \mathscr{M} , different choices of the σ -algebra, and one could also try to use non-Gaussian measures. We certainly have not proven that no such choice could work. But we see no reason to believe that there is any such choice that would

^{52.} This is analogous to the statement that in the case of Wiener measure, the differentiable paths are of measure zero, while in the Euclidean path integral the field configurations with finite action are of measure zero.

^{53.} See [136] for a construction of a direct integral Hilbert space in the electromagnetic case with respect to Gaussian measures defined on square integrable memories. Such representations have a well-defined action of translations, but the action of Lorentz is not well-defined.

work to construct "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces with the desired properties for scattering theory.

8 Algebraic scattering theory

As we have seen in sec. 4.4, the Faddeev-Kulish construction in massive QED gives a basically satisfactory way of defining "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces in such a way that a genuine S-matrix should exist. However, as we found in sec. 5.4, the analogous construction in massless QED does not work, as the required "soft photon dressing" gives all states an infinite expected total energy flux due to collinear divergences. As discussed in sec. 5.5, these problems persist in Yang-Mills theory, but an additional serious difficulty arises in that case due to the fact that the "soft dressing" itself will carry a large gauge charge-current flux, which will spoil the property that the "dressing" is designed to achieve. As we found in sec. 6, in the gravitational case the problems caused by collinear divergences are not as severe, but the problem arising from the fact that any soft graviton dressing will contribute to supertranslation fluxes is much more severe, and we proved in sec. 6.3 that no analog of the Faddeev-Kulish "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces can exist in quantum gravity. Finally, we explored alternatives to the Faddeev-Kulish construction in sec. 7 and found that several natural attempts do not work. It is our strong belief that in the gravitational case, no definition of "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces will satisfy conditions (1)–(5) of sec. 1.

It should be emphasized that there is no difficulty in the construction of "in" and "out" states. As we found, we can construct Fock space representations of \mathscr{A}_{in}^{GR} for the "in" and "out" states with arbitrary choices of memory Δ_{AB}^{GR} . As we have noted in sec. 6.3, the representations with non-vanishing memory cannot be extended as representations of the full algebra $\mathscr{A}_{in,Q}^{GR}$. However, one can obtain "in" states by starting with any choice of smooth memory $\Delta^{GR}(f)$ and considering its "Lorentz orbit" i.e., the space of all memories obtained by acting by Lorentz transformations on chosen memory $\Delta^{\text{GR}}(f)$. This "orbit space" is finite dimensional and can be equipped with a Lorentz invariant measure (see, e.g. a similar analysis for supertranslation charges by McCarthy [137]). A direct integral of the memory Fock spaces over this orbit space yields a representation of $\mathscr{A}_{\text{in,Q}}^{\text{GR}}$. Applying this procedure to all smooth memories yields an enormous supply of physically acceptable states. This supply of states is certainly ample enough to encompass all of the "in" states that one might wish to consider, and we expect that it also would be ample enough to encompass all of the "out" states that arise from the dynamical evolution of these "in" states. Thus, the difficulties that we have elucidated in this chapter do not arise from any problems with constructing "in" and "out" states nor do they arise from any problems with dynamical evolution through the bulk. They arise solely from the attempt to assemble all of the "in" and "out" states of interest into a single (separable) Hilbert space.

However, there is no reason to try to force the "in" and "out" states to live in a single Hilbert space. The algebra of asymptotic observables is entirely well-defined. As reviewed in sec. 3, in the algebraic viewpoint, a state is simply a positive, linear map on the algebra of observables. There is no need to specify a Hilbert space in order to define a state. The regularity conditions that we have imposed upon asymptotic states — namely the Hadamard condition and decay conditions — also do not require the specification of a Hilbert space. However, given a state, the GNS construction allows us to represent that state as a vector in a Hilbert space representation of the algebra. Thus, Hilbert spaces of asymptotic states may be viewed as somewhat analogous to coordinate patches on a manifold.⁵⁴ Given any point of a manifold, one can choose a coordinate patch in which it lies, and it is often very convenient to do so. Similarly, given any state on an algebra, one can choose a Hilbert space

^{54.} However, it should be kept in mind that this analogy is not perfect in that Hilbert space representations are much more rigid than coordinate patches. In particular, it is important that coordinate patches have nontrivial overlap regions, whereas irreducible Hilbert space representations will not overlap unless they coincide.

in which it lies, and it is often very convenient to do so. However, in the case of a manifold of nontrivial topology, it would not be reasonable to demand that a single coordinate patch represent all points of interest in the manifold. Similarly, in the case of scattering theory, it does not appear reasonable to demand that a single Hilbert space represent all scattering states of interest.

What would scattering theory look like in a framework where no "in" and "out" Hilbert spaces are specified at the outset? In the algebraic viewpoint, one would specify an "in" state $\omega_{\rm in}$ as a positive linear map on the "in" algebra of asymptotic observables. This would consist of specifying the correlation functions of all of these observables. Of course, there is nothing stopping one from considering an "in" state that corresponds to a vector in the standard zero memory Fock representation $\mathscr{F}_0^{\text{in}}$ — but one would not be forced to do so in this framework. Similarly, in massive QED, one would be allowed to "dress" the incoming charged particles with incoming electromagnetic states in the corresponding memory representation as in the Faddeev-Kulish construction, but it also would be allowed to consider "bare" incoming charged particles. Given ω_{in} , one then computes the corresponding outgoing state ω_{out} by obtaining all of its correlation functions of the "out" observables. Of course, this is much easier said than done, since one would not have the simplicity of the LSZ reduction, which relies, in particular, on the ability to express any "in" or "out" state in terms of local field operators acting on the Poincaré invariant vacuum state — which would not be the case for states of nonzero memory. Nevertheless, if one wishes to know any particular "out" correlation function, it seems clear that to any finite order in perturbation theory, it must be possible to evolve this correlation function backwards into the past and express it in terms of "in" correlation functions, all of which would have been given in the specification of ω_{in} . In this manner, we should, in principle, be able to determine a convex-linear⁵⁵ superscattering matrix

^{55.} Given two algebraic states ω and ω' any convex linear combination $\lambda \omega + (1 - \lambda)\omega'$ where $0 \le \lambda \le 1$, gives a new state.

\$ such that

$$\omega_{\rm out} = \$\omega_{\rm in}.\tag{8.1}$$

Here, we have adopted the terminology "superscattering matrix" and the notation \$ from Hawking [138] even though there are substantial differences in our motivation and framework from his. Hawking was concerned with generalizing the usual framework of scattering theory to allow pure states to evolve to mixed states ("information loss"), but he was not concerned with infrared issues and he assumed that all states lie in the folium of a single Hilbert space representation containing the Poincaré invariant vacuum. We are not concerned here with information loss but are similarly generalizing the framework so as to allow \$ to map between all regular algebraic states, not necessarily belonging to the folium of a single Hilbert space representation. In this framework, conservation of probability would be expressed by the requirement that if ω_{in} is any normalized "in" state (i.e., $\omega_{in}(1) = 1$), then $\omega_{out} = \$\omega_{in}$ also is normalized. If there is no information loss, then \$ would take any pure algebraic "in" state to a pure algebraic "out" state.

We note that the notion of an algebraic state is, in principal, sufficient to answer all physical questions regarding the field observables. In particular, the specification of a state ω yields the expected value of all powers of N(s). Since the conditions of the Hamburger moment problem (see e.g. [139, 140]) hold for a free field,⁵⁶ these moments determine the probability distribution for observing the values of this field observable. Therefore, despite the absence of a pre-chosen Hilbert space, one can determine the probability distribution of field observables.

Of course, if one is interested only in calculating the types of quantities that might be measured in collider experiments, there is no need to develop a new framework for scattering

^{56.} However, nonlinear observables such as the stress tensor in the bulk do not satisfy the required conditions on moments. Determining the probability distribution for general, nonlinear observables remains an open problem.

theory that properly treats infrared effects, since quantities like inclusive cross-sections surely can be calculated much more efficiently by present means than in a framework in which one takes proper account of the far infrared degrees of freedom. Nevertheless, we believe it would be of interest to further develop the "algebraic scattering" framework that we have sketched above.

APPENDIX A

RELATIONSHIP OF OUR ANSATZ TO SMOOTHNESS AT \mathscr{I}^+ IN D = 4

In this appendix, we address the relationship between our ansatz in chapter 2 for the asymptotic fall-off of the vector potential and metric to their smoothness at \mathscr{I}^+ . As noted in sec. 2.3–2.5, it is easily seen that in d = 4 that smoothness of A_{μ} at \mathscr{I}^+ implies that our ansatz (2.24) holds, and smoothness of $\Omega^2 h_{\mu\nu}$ at \mathscr{I}^+ implies that our ansatz (2.58) holds. However, for d = 4 the ansatz (2.24) implies smoothness of A_{μ} at \mathscr{I}^+ only under the additional condition that $A_r^{(1)} = 0$, and the ansatz (2.58) implies smoothness of $\Omega^2 h_{\mu\nu}$ at \mathscr{I}^+ only under the additional condition that $h_{rr}^{(1)} = 0$. In this Appendix, we investigate the conditions under which these additional restrictions can be imposed as gauge conditions. We show that this is possible in electromagnetism when $j_r^{(3)} = 0$ and in linearized gravity when $T_{ur}^{(3)} = T_{rA}^{(3)} = 0$. However, when these quantities are nonvanishing, there are solutions within our ansatz that are not smooth at \mathscr{I}^+ . Nevertheless, in nonlinear gravity, we show that $h_{rr}^{(1)} = 0$ if the Bondi news is nonvanishing everywhere on one cross-section, in which case our ansatz in d = 4 is equivalent to smoothness at \mathscr{I}^+ .

1 Electromagnetism

The $\ell \neq 0$ part of $A_r^{(1)}$ is gauge invariant within our ansatz, so if it is nonvanishing, it cannot be set to zero by a gauge transformation. By eq. (2.37), we have $\psi^{(1)} = 0$. Equation (2.32) with n = 1 then yields $\partial_u A_r^{(1)} = 0$, so $A_r^{(1)}$ is independent of u. The *r*-component of Maxwell's equations given by eq. (2.29) in four dimensions with n = 3 gives that

$$\mathscr{D}^2 A_r^{(1)} = -4\pi j_r^{(3)}. \tag{0.1}$$

This equation implies that the $\ell = 0$ part of $j_r^{(3)}$ must vanish. It also implies that $\partial_u j_r^{(3)} = 0$, as also can be proven directly from current conservation and $\psi^{(1)} = 0$. However, if the $\ell \neq 0$ part of $j_r^{(3)}$ is nonvanishing, we will obtain solutions within our ansatz such that $A_r^{(1)} \neq 0$. Such solutions are not smooth at \mathscr{I}^+ in any gauge.

Conversely, if $j_r^{(3)} = 0$, then the $\ell \neq 0$ part of $A_r^{(1)}$ vanishes by eq. (0.1). The $\ell = 0$ part of $A_r^{(1)}$ can then be set to zero within our ansatz by a gauge transformation of the form $\phi = c \ln(r)$. Thus, if $j_r^{(3)} = 0$, all solutions within our ansatz are smooth at \mathscr{I}^+ in some gauge.

2 Linearized Gravity

The $\ell > 1$ part of $h_{rr}^{(1)}$ is gauge invariant within our ansatz, so if it is nonvanishing, it cannot be set to zero by a gauge transformation. From $\chi_r^{(1)} = 0$ and eq. (2.69), we obtain $\partial_u h_{rr}^{(1)} = 0$. The *ur* and *rr* components of the linearized Einstein's equation given by eqs. (2.62) and (2.64) with n = 2 yield, respectively,

$$\mathscr{D}^2 \overline{h}_{ur}^{(1)} - \mathscr{D}^A \chi_A^{(2)} = -16\pi T_{ur}^{(3)} \tag{0.2}$$

$$[\mathscr{D}^2 - 2]\overline{h}_{rr}^{(1)} + 2\overline{h}_{ur}^{(1)} - 2\mathscr{D}^A\overline{h}_{Ar}^{(1)} + 2\chi_r^{(2)} = -16\pi T_{rr}^{(3)}.$$
 (0.3)

The angular divergence of the rA component, eq. (2.65), yields

$$\mathscr{D}^{2}\mathscr{D}^{A}\overline{h}_{rA}^{(1)} - 2\mathscr{D}^{2}\overline{h}_{ur}^{(1)} + 2\mathscr{D}^{2}\overline{h}_{rr}^{(1)} - \mathscr{D}^{2}\chi_{r}^{(2)} + \mathscr{D}^{A}\chi_{A}^{(2)} = -16\pi\mathscr{D}^{A}T_{rA}^{(3)}.$$
 (0.4)

Applying \mathscr{D}^2 to eq. (0.3) and taking a linear combination of the above equations, we obtain

$$\mathscr{D}^{2}[\mathscr{D}^{2}+2]h_{rr}^{(1)} = -16\pi(\mathscr{D}^{2}T_{rr}^{(3)}+2\mathscr{D}^{A}T_{rA}^{(3)}+2T_{ur}^{(3)})$$
(0.5)

where we used the fact that $\overline{h}_{rr} = h_{rr}$. The $\ell = 0$ and $\ell = 1$ parts of the right side must therefore vanish, and the right side must be stationary. Indeed, using conservation of stress energy and the dominant energy condition it can be shown that $T_{ur}^{(3)}, T_{rr}^{(3)}$ and $T_{rA}^{(3)}$ are stationary. However, the $\ell > 1$ part of the right side can be nonvanishing, and, if it is, we obtain a solution within our ansatz such that $h_{rr}^{(1)} \neq 0$. Such solutions are not smooth at \mathscr{I}^+ in any gauge.

Conversely, if $T_{ur}^{(3)} = T_{rr}^{(3)} = T_{rA}^{(3)} = 0$, then eq. (0.5) implies that $h_{rr}^{(1)}$ is a linear combination of an l = 0 and an l = 1 spherical harmonic. Let

$$X^{a} = c \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial u}\right)^{a} + f(x^{A}) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial u}\right)^{a} - f(x^{A}) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial r}\right)^{a} - q^{BC} \mathscr{D}_{B} f(x^{A}) \frac{1}{r} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{C}}\right)^{a}$$
(0.6)

where c is a constant and $f(x^A)$ is a linear combination of $\ell = 1$ spherical harmonics, so that X^a is a translational Killing field of the background Minkowski spacetime. By a gauge transformation of the form

$$\xi^a = X^a \ln(r) \tag{0.7}$$

we can set the $\ell = 0, 1$ parts of $h_{rr}^{(1)}$ to zero within our ansatz. Thus, we can set $h_{rr}^{(1)} = 0$ and the solution is smooth at \mathscr{I}^+ .

3 Nonlinear Gravity

Again, we obtain $\partial_u h_{rr}^{(1)} = 0$. But there now is a new, nontrivial equation containing $h_{rr}^{(1)} = 0$. The *AB*-components of the Einstein equation given by eq. (2.66) with n = 1 where the right hand side of eq. (2.66) now picks up an additional nonlinear contribution $\mathcal{G}_{AB}^{(2)}$ given by eq. (2.102) with d = 4. We obtain

$$-q_{AB}\partial_u \chi_r^{(2)} = 2\partial_u (h_{rr}^{(1)} N_{AB}).$$
(0.8)

The right side is traceless whereas the left side is pure trace, so the only way this equation can hold is if both sides vanish. Thus, using $\partial_u h_{rr}^{(1)} = 0$, we obtain

$$h_{rr}^{(1)}\partial_u N_{AB} = 0. \tag{0.9}$$

This equation has no analog in the linearized theory. Since $N_{AB} \to 0$ as $u \to \pm \infty$, it implies that if the Bondi news is nonvanishing at angle x^A at any u, then $h_{rr}^{(1)}(x^A) = 0$ at all u(since $h_{rr}^{(1)}$ is independent of u). Thus, in particular, if the Bondi news is nonvanishing everywhere on one cross-section of \mathscr{I}^+ , then $h_{rr}^{(1)} = 0$, and our ansatz in d = 4 is equivalent to smoothness at \mathscr{I}^+ .

APPENDIX B

APPLYING THE LORENZ GAUGE WITH A SLOWER FALL-OFF ANSATZ FOR D > 4

In our ansatz eqs. (2.24)-(2.25) for A_{μ} and our ansatz eqs. (2.58)-(2.59) for $h_{\mu\nu}$, the slowest fall-off term was assumed to be at radiative order, n = d/2 - 1. However, in even dimensions with d > 4, the conditions of smoothness of A_{μ} and $\Omega^2 h_{\mu\nu} = r^{-2}h_{\mu\nu}$ at \mathscr{I}^+ would, a priori, allow terms with slower fall-off than permitted by our ansatz. This suggests a danger that our ansatz might exclude some solutions of physical interest. In this Appendix, we show that this is not the case by weakening our ansatz to permit slower fall-off, allowing the integer powers in even dimensions to start at order 1/r and allowing the half-integer powers in odd dimensions to start at order $1/\sqrt{r}$ for all d > 4. We will show that the Lorenz gauge can still be imposed within the context of this weaker ansatz. Since the Cartesian components of A_{μ} and $h_{\mu\nu}$ satisfy the scalar wave equation in Lorenz gauge, it follows from Remark 2.1 that the only additional solutions allowed by our weaker fall-off ansatz vanish in Lorenz gauge. Thus, the only new solutions allowed by the weaker ansatz are pure gauge. This justifies our stronger choice of ansatz eqs. (2.24)-(2.25) and eqs. (2.58)-(2.59)

1 Electromagnetism

We take our slower fall-off ansatz for the vector potential A_a for d > 4 to be

$$A_{\mu} \sim \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} A_{\mu}^{(n)}(u, x^A) \qquad \qquad d \text{ even} \qquad (0.1)$$

$$A_{\mu} \sim \sum_{n=1/2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} A_{\mu}^{(n)}(u, x^A) + \sum_{p=d-3}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^p} \tilde{A}_{\mu}^{(p)}(u, x^A) \qquad d \text{ odd.}$$
(0.2)

As discussed in sec. 2.3, in order to impose the Lorenz gauge we must solve the scalar wave equation (2.34) for a gauge scalar field ϕ with source ψ .

Consider, first, the case of d even. We seek to solve eq. (2.34) with the ansatz

$$\phi \sim c \ln r + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} \phi^{(n)}(u, x^A)$$
 (0.3)

where c is a constant, and we require $\partial_u \phi^{(0)} = 0$ in order that $\partial_a \phi = O(1/r)$. The recursion relations for $\phi^{(n)}$ are given by eq. (2.18) with ψ replacing S. Although $S = O(1/r^{d-2})$, a priori we have $\psi = O(1/r)$. However, an analysis similar to the proof of Prop. 2.3 shows that $\psi^{(1)}$ vanishes and

$$\partial_u \psi^{(2)} = -(d-4)\partial_u A_u^{(1)} \tag{0.4}$$

To solve eq. (2.18), we start with the radiative order recursion relation (n = d/2 - 1 in eq. (2.18)), which yields

$$\left[\mathscr{D}^2 - (d/2 - 2)(d/2 - 1)\right]\phi^{(d/2 - 2)} = \psi^{(d/2)}.$$
(0.5)

This angular operator is invertible, so we may uniquely solve for $\phi^{(d/2-2)}$. There is no difficulty in solving the recursion relations at faster fall-off, since we may then specify $\phi^{(d/2-1)}$ arbitrarily and solve for $\phi^{(n)}$ with n > d/2 - 1 as in Prop. 2.1. To obtain $\phi^{(n)}$ with n < d/2 - 2 we proceed iteratively by inverting the angular operators in the slower fall-off recursion relations. This works without any difficulty until we get to eq. (2.18) with n = 1.

$$c + \mathscr{D}^2 \phi^{(0)} = \psi^{(2)} + (d-4)\partial_u \phi^{(1)} \tag{0.6}$$

If the right side of this equation were not stationary, $\phi^{(0)}$ could not be stationary and the desired gauge transformation would not exist. However, we now shall show that the right

side of eq. (0.6) is indeed stationary.

To show this, let

$$\gamma \equiv A_u - \partial_u \phi. \tag{0.7}$$

By Maxwell's equations, when $j_a = 0$, we have

$$\Box A_u = \partial_u \psi. \tag{0.8}$$

Thus, if ϕ satisfies eq. (2.34) and if $j_a = 0$, then γ satisfies $\Box \gamma = 0$. Of course, j_a need not be zero and we have not yet obtained a solution, ϕ , to eq. (2.34). However, we have $j_a^{(n)} = 0$ for all n < d-2, and we have constructed above a solution to the recursion relations eq. (2.18) to solve for $\phi^{(n)}$ for all n > 0. Therefore, we obtain quantities $\gamma^{(n)}$ that satisfy the homogeneous recursion relations eq. (2.13) for all 1 < n < d - 2. In parallel with the argument of the previous paragraph, at radiative order, n = d/2 - 1, these relations imply that $\gamma^{(d/2-2)} = 0$. It then follows that $\gamma^{(n)} = 0$ for all $1 \le n \le d/2 - 2$. For n = 1, we obtain

$$\partial_u \phi^{(1)} = A_u^{(1)}. \tag{0.9}$$

But the Maxwell equation eq. (0.8) yields

$$(d-4)\partial_u A_u^{(1)} = -\partial_u \psi^{(2)}.$$
 (0.10)

Thus the right side of eq. (0.6) is indeed stationary, as we desired to show. In parallel with solving eq. (2.41) when d = 4, we can choose c so as to cancel the l = 0 part of the right side. We may then invert eq. (0.6) to obtain $\phi^{(0)}$. Thus, in even dimensions, the Lorenz gauge can be imposed within the weakened ansatz (0.1).

We now turn to the odd dimensional case. We take the scalar field ϕ to have the following

expansion in powers of 1/r

$$\phi \sim \sum_{n=-1/2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} \phi^{(n)}(u, x^A) + \sum_{p=d-3}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^p} \tilde{\phi}^{(p)}(u, x^A).$$
(0.11)

Note that we allow a term, $\phi^{(-1/2)}$, that grows with r as $r^{1/2}$. In order that $\partial_a \phi$ be consistent with our ansatz (0.2), it is necessary and sufficient that $\partial_u \phi^{(-1/2)} = 0$.

There is no difficulty in solving the recursion relations for $\tilde{\phi}^{(p)}$. There also is no difficulty in solving the recursion relations for $\phi^{(n)}$ for $n \ge 1/2$ in the manner specified in Prop. 2.2. However, there is a potential difficulty that arises when one attempts to solve the recursion relation for $\phi^{(-1/2)}$

$$[\mathscr{D}^2 + \frac{1}{4}(2d-5)]\phi^{(-1/2)} = (d-3)\partial_u\phi^{(1/2)} + \psi^{(3/2)}.$$
 (0.12)

This equation can be uniquely solved for $\phi^{(-1/2)}$, but $\phi^{(-1/2)}$ will be stationary as required if and only if the right side be stationary. However, the stationarity of the right side can be proven in the same manner as done above for the even dimensional case. Thus, in odd dimensions, the Lorenz gauge can be imposed within the weakened ansatz (0.2).

2 Linearized Gravity

We take the slower fall-off ansatz for the metric perturbation $h_{\mu\nu}$ to be

$$h_{\mu\nu} \sim \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}(u, x^A)$$
 d even (0.13)

$$h_{\mu\nu} \sim \sum_{n=1/2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} h_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}(u, x^A) + \sum_{p=d-3}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^p} \tilde{h}_{\mu\nu}^{(p)}(u, x^A) \qquad d \text{ odd.}$$
 (0.14)

We seek a gauge vector field, ξ_{μ} , satisfying eq. (2.78). We take our ansatz for ξ_{μ} to be

$$\xi_{\mu} \sim c(\partial/\partial u)_{\mu} \ln r + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} \xi_{\mu}^{(n)}(u, x^A) \qquad d \text{ even} \qquad (0.15)$$

$$\xi_{\mu} \sim \sum_{n=-1/2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^n} \xi_{\mu}^{(n)}(u, x^A) + \sum_{p=d-3}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^p} \tilde{\xi}_{\mu}^{(p)}(u, x^A) \qquad d \text{ odd} \qquad (0.16)$$

where, in even dimensions, $\partial_u \xi^{(0)}_{\mu} = 0$, and, in odd dimensions, $\partial_u \xi^{(-1/2)}_{\mu} = 0$.

In even dimensions, we can solve the recursion relations in parallel with the electromagnetic case. The only potential difficulty arises showing that $\partial_u \xi^{(0)}_{\mu} = 0$. This requires showing that in the recursion relation for $\xi^{(0)}_u$

$$c + \mathscr{D}^2 \xi_u^{(0)} = -2\chi_u^{(2)} + (d-4)\partial_u \xi_u^{(1)}, \qquad (0.17)$$

the right side must be stationary. However, stationarity can be proven in close parallel with the electromagnetic case by defining

$$\Gamma \equiv -\overline{h}_{uu} + \frac{1}{d-2}\overline{h} - \partial_u \xi_u \tag{0.18}$$

and showing $\Gamma^{(n)} = 0$ for all $1 \le n \le d/2 - 2$, from which it can then can be shown that the right side of eq. (0.17) is stationary. We then can solve eq. (0.17) to obtain a stationary $\xi_u^{(0)}$. The equations for $\xi_r^{(0)}$ and $\xi_A^{(0)}$ can then be solved, and these quantities are stationary. Thus, in even dimensions, the Lorenz gauge can be imposed within the weakened ansatz (0.13).

The odd dimensional case mirrors the analysis of the electromagnetic case in odd dimensions, with the substitution of the argument of the previous paragraph to prove stationarity of $\xi_{\mu}^{(-1/2)} = 0$

REFERENCES

- Gautam Satishchandran and Robert M. Wald. Asymptotic behavior of massless fields and the memory effect. *Phys. Rev. D*, 99(8):084007, 2019.
- [2] Daine L. Danielson, Gautam Satishchandran, and Robert M. Wald. Soft Decoherence at Finite Time. in preparation.
- [3] A. Ashtekar. Asymptotic Quantization: Based On 1984 Naples Lectures. Monographs and Textbooks in Physical Science. Bibliopolis, Naples, Italy, 1987.
- [4] Andrew Strominger and Alexander Zhiboedov. Gravitational Memory, BMS Supertranslations and Soft Theorems. JHEP, 01:086, 2016.
- [5] R. Sachs. Asymptotic symmetries in gravitational theory. *Phys. Rev.*, 128:2851–2864, Dec 1962.
- [6] N. F. Mott. On the influence of radiative forces on the scattering of electrons. Math. Proc. Cambridge, 27(2):255-267, 1931.
- [7] A. Sommerfeld. Über die beugung und bremsung der elektronen. Annalen der Physik, 403(3):257–330, 1931.
- [8] Markus Fierz. Über die künstliche Umwandlung des Protons in ein Neutron. PhD thesis, Basel, 1936.
- [9] F. Bloch and A. Nordsieck. Note on the radiation field of the electron. *Phys. Rev.*, 52:54–59, Jul 1937.
- [10] Y. B. Zel'dovich and A. G. Polnarev. Radiation of gravitational waves by a cluster of superdense stars. Sov. Astron., 18:17, 1974.
- [11] Lydia Bieri and David Garfinkle. An electromagnetic analogue of gravitational wave memory. Class. Quant. Grav., 30:195009, 2013.
- [12] Paul D. Lasky, Eric Thrane, Yuri Levin, Jonathan Blackman, and Yanbei Chen. Detecting gravitational-wave memory with LIGO: implications of GW150914. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 117(6):061102, 2016.
- [13] J. B. Wang et al. Searching for gravitational wave memory bursts with the Parkes Pulsar Timing Array. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 446:1657–1671, 2015.
- [14] Rutger van Haasteren and Yuri Levin. Gravitational-wave memory and pulsar timing arrays. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 401:2372, 2010.
- [15] Andrew Strominger. Lectures on the Infrared Structure of Gravity and Gauge Theory. 3 2017.
- [16] H. Bondi. Gravitational waves in general relativity. *Nature*, 186(4724):535, 1960.
- [17] H. Bondi, M. G. J. van der Burg, and A. W. K. Metzner. Gravitational waves in general relativity. 7. Waves from axisymmetric isolated systems. *Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A*, 269:21–52, 1962.
- [18] R. K. Sachs. Gravitational waves in general relativity. 8. Waves in asymptotically flat space-times. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A, 270:103–126, 1962.

- [19] Demetrios Christodoulou. Nonlinear nature of gravitation and gravitational-wave experiments. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 67:1486–1489, Sep 1991.
- [20] Stefan Hollands, Akihiro Ishibashi, and Robert M. Wald. BMS Supertranslations and Memory in Four and Higher Dimensions. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 34(15):155005, 2017.
- [21] Robert M. Wald and Andreas Zoupas. A general definition of 'conserved quantities' in general relativity and other theories of gravity. *Phys. Rev. D*, 61:084027, 2000.
- [22] Andrew Strominger. On BMS Invariance of Gravitational Scattering. JHEP, 07:152, 2014.
- [23] Miguel Campiglia and Rodrigo Eyheralde. Asymptotic U(1) charges at spatial infinity. *JHEP*, 11:168, 2017.
- [24] Marc Henneaux and Cédric Troessaert. Asymptotic symmetries of electromagnetism at spatial infinity. JHEP, 05:137, 2018.
- [25] Mariem Magdy Ali Mohamed and Juan A. Valiente Kroon. Asymptotic charges for spin-1 and spin-2 fields at the critical sets of null infinity. 12 2021.
- [26] Kartik Prabhu. Conservation of asymptotic charges from past to future null infinity: Supermomentum in general relativity. JHEP, 03:148, 2019.
- [27] Stefan Hollands and Akihiro Ishibashi. Asymptotic flatness and Bondi energy in higher dimensional gravity. J. Math. Phys., 46:022503, 2005.
- [28] S. Weinberg. Infrared photons and gravitons. *Phys. Rev.*, 140:B516–B524, Oct 1965.
- [29] Daniel Carney, Laurent Chaurette, Dominik Neuenfeld, and Gordon Walter Semenoff. Dressed infrared quantum information. *Phys. Rev. D*, 97(2):025007, 2018.
- [30] Gordon W. Semenoff. Entanglement and the Infrared. Springer Proc. Math. Stat., 335:151–166, 2019.
- [31] Daine L. Danielson, Gautam Satishchandran, and Robert M. Wald. Black Holes Decohere Quantum Superpositions. 5 2022.
- [32] P. P. Kulish and L. D. Faddeev. Asymptotic conditions and infrared divergences in quantum electrodynamics. *Theor. Math. Phys.*, 4:745, 1970.
- [33] Kartik Prabhu. Conservation of asymptotic charges from past to future null infinity: Maxwell fields. JHEP, 10:113, 2018.
- [34] J. Fröhlich, G. Morchio, and F. Strocchi. Infrared Problem and Spontaneous Breaking of the Lorentz Group in QED. Phys. Lett. B, 89:61–64, 1979.
- [35] Daniel Carney, Laurent Chaurette, Dominik Neuenfeld, and Gordon Semenoff. On the need for soft dressing. JHEP, 09:121, 2018.
- [36] Ratindranath Akhoury, Ryo Saotome, and George Sterman. Collinear and Soft Divergences in Perturbative Quantum Gravity. *Phys. Rev. D*, 84:104040, 2011.
- [37] Robert M. Wald. *General Relativity*. The University of Chicago Press, 1984.
- [38] Monica Pate, Ana-Maria Raclariu, and Andrew Strominger. Gravitational Memory in Higher Dimensions. JHEP, 06:138, 2018.
- [39] Lydia Bieri and David Garfinkle. Perturbative and gauge invariant treatment of gravitational wave memory. *Phys. Rev. D*, 89(8):084039, 2014.

- [40] Eanna E. Flanagan and David A. Nichols. Conserved charges of the extended Bondi-Metzner-Sachs algebra. Phys. Rev. D, 95(4):044002, 2017.
- [41] Robert Geroch. Asymptotic structure of space-time. In F. Paul Esposito and Louis Witten, editors, Asymptotic structure of space-time. Plenum Press, New York, 1977.
- [42] Roger Penrose. Asymptotic properties of fields and space-times. Phys. Rev. Lett., 10:66–68, 1963.
- [43] Stefan Hollands and Robert M. Wald. Conformal null infinity does not exist for radiating solutions in odd spacetime dimensions. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 21:5139–5146, 2004.
- [44] Andrew Strominger. On BMS Invariance of Gravitational Scattering. JHEP, 07:152, 2014.
- [45] Temple He, Vyacheslav Lysov, Prahar Mitra, and Andrew Strominger. BMS supertranslations and Weinberg's soft graviton theorem. JHEP, 05:151, 2015.
- [46] Daniel Kapec, Vyacheslav Lysov, Sabrina Pasterski, and Andrew Strominger. Higherdimensional supertranslations and Weinberg's soft graviton theorem. Ann. Math. Sci. Appl., 02:69–94, 2017.
- [47] Andrew Strominger. Lectures on the Infrared Structure of Gravity and Gauge Theory. 3 2017.
- [48] Pujian Mao and Hao Ouyang. Note on soft theorems and memories in even dimensions. Phys. Lett. B, 774:715–722, 2017.
- [49] E. T. Newman and R. Penrose. New conservation laws for zero rest-mass fields in asymptotically flat space-time. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A, 305:175–204, 1968.
- [50] Jacek Jezierski. Bondi mass in classical field theory. Acta Phys. Polon. B, 29:667–743, 1998.
- [51] Elizabeth Himwich and Andrew Strominger. Celestial current algebra from Low's subleading soft theorem. *Phys. Rev. D*, 100(6):065001, 2019.
- [52] Stefan Hollands and Alexander Thorne. Bondi mass cannot become negative in higher dimensions. Commun. Math. Phys., 333(2):1037–1059, 2015.
- [53] Robert C. Myers and M. J. Perry. Black Holes in Higher Dimensional Space-Times. Annals Phys., 172:304, 1986.
- [54] V. Fock. Approximate Solutions, Conservation Laws and Some Questions of Principle, Chapter 6. Pergamon, second edition, 1964.
- [55] David Garfinkle, Stefan Hollands, Akihiro Ishibashi, Alexander Tolish, and Robert M. Wald. The Memory Effect for Particle Scattering in Even Spacetime Dimensions. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 34(14):145015, 2017.
- [56] Gautam Satishchandran and Robert M. Wald. Memory effect for particle scattering in odd spacetime dimensions. *Phys. Rev. D*, 97(2):024036, 2018.
- [57] Thomas M\u00e4dler and Jeffrey Winicour. The sky pattern of the linearized gravitational memory effect. Class. Quant. Grav., 33(17):175006, 2016.
- [58] Mahdi Godazgar and Harvey S. Reall. Peeling of the Weyl tensor and gravitational radiation in higher dimensions. *Phys. Rev. D*, 85:084021, 2012.
- [59] Akihiro Ishibashi and Robert M. Wald. Dynamics in nonglobally hyperbolic static space-times.

3. Anti-de Sitter space-time. Class. Quant. Grav., 21:2981–3014, 2004.

- [60] Lydia Bieri. Answering the Parity Question for Gravitational Wave Memory. Phys. Rev. D, 98(12):124038, 2018.
- [61] Abhay Ashtekar and R. O. Hansen. A unified treatment of null and spatial infinity in general relativity. I. Universal structure, asymptotic symmetries, and conserved quantities at spatial infinity. J. Math. Phys., 19(7):1542–1566, 1978.
- [62] Kartik Prabhu and Ibrahim Shehzad. Conservation of asymptotic charges from past to future null infinity: Lorentz charges in general relativity. 10 2021.
- [63] D. Christodoulou and S. Klainerman. The Global nonlinear stability of the Minkowski space. 1993.
- [64] Abhay Ashtekar. Asymptotic quantization of the gravitational field. Phys. Rev. Lett., 46:573–576, Mar 1981.
- [65] Abhay Ashtekar, Miguel Campiglia, and Alok Laddha. Null infinity, the BMS group and infrared issues. *Gen. Rel. Grav.*, 50(11):140–163, 2018.
- [66] Daniel Kapec, Malcolm Perry, Ana-Maria Raclariu, and Andrew Strominger. Infrared Divergences in QED, Revisited. Phys. Rev. D, 96(8):085002, 2017.
- [67] Cesar Gomez and Mischa Panchenko. Asymptotic dynamics, large gauge transformations and infrared symmetries. 8 2016.
- [68] H. Lehmann, K. Symanzik, and W. Zimmermann. Zur Formulierung quantisierter Feldtheorien. Nuovo Cim., 1(1):205–225, January 1955.
- [69] R. Haag. Quantum field theories with composite particles and asymptotic conditions. *Phys. Rev.*, 112:669–673, Oct 1958.
- [70] D. Ruelle. On the asymptotic condition in quantum field theory. Helv. Phys. Acta, 35, 1962.
- [71] D. R. Yennie, Steven C. Frautschi, and H. Suura. The infrared divergence phenomena and high-energy processes. Annals Phys., 13:379–452, 1961.
- [72] Stephen W. Hawking, Malcolm J. Perry, and Andrew Strominger. Soft Hair on Black Holes. Phys. Rev. Lett., 116(23):231301, 2016.
- [73] Holmfridur Hannesdottir and Matthew D. Schwartz. S-Matrix for massless particles. Phys. Rev. D, 101(10):105001, 2020.
- [74] Holmfridur Hannesdottir and Matthew D. Schwartz. A Finite S-Matrix. 6 2019.
- [75] Sangmin Choi and Ratindranath Akhoury. BMS Supertranslation Symmetry Implies Faddeev-Kulish Amplitudes. JHEP, 02:171, 2018.
- [76] T. W. B. Kibble. Coherent Soft-Photon States and Infrared Divergences. I. Classical Currents. J. Math. Phys., 9(2):315–324, 1968.
- [77] T. W. B. Kibble. Coherent Soft-Photon States and Infrared Divergences. II. Mass-Shell Singularities of Green's Functions. *Phys. Rev.*, 173:1527–1535, 1968.
- [78] T. W. B. Kibble. Coherent Soft-Photon States and Infrared Divergences. III. Asymptotic States and Reduction Formulas. *Phys. Rev.*, 174:1882–1901, 1968.
- [79] T. W. B. Kibble. Coherent Soft-Photon States and Infrared Divergences. IV. The Scattering

Operator. Phys. Rev., 175:1624–1640, 1968.

- [80] John D. Dollard. Asymptotic Convergence and the Coulomb Interaction. J. Math. Phys., 5(6):729–738, 1964.
- [81] Victor Chung. Infrared divergence in quantum electrodynamics. *Phys. Rev.*, 140:B1110–B1122, Nov 1965.
- [82] Mario Greco and G. Rossi. A Note on the Infrared Divergence. Nuovo Cim., 50:168, 1967.
- [83] A. Staruszkiewicz. Gauge invariant surface contribution to the number of photons integral. Acta Phys. Polon. B, 12:327–337, 1981.
- [84] Detlev Buchholz. Gauss' law and the infraparticle problem. Phys. Lett. B, 174:331–334, 07 1986.
- [85] J.-L. Gervais and Daniel Zwanziger. Derivation from first principles of the infrared structure of quantum electrodynamics. *Phys. Lett. B*, 94(3):389–393, 1980.
- [86] J. Fröhlich, G. Morchio, and F. Strocchi. Charged Sectors and Scattering States in Quantum Electrodynamics. Annals Phys., 119:241–248, 1979.
- [87] Bert Schroer. Infrateilchen in der quantenfeldtheorie. Fortschr. Phys., 11:1–31, 1963.
- [88] Abhay Ashtekar and K.S. Narain. Infrared Problems and Penrose's Null Infinity. Syracuse University preprint, 1981.
- [89] Barak Gabai and Amit Sever. Large gauge symmetries and asymptotic states in QED. JHEP, 12:095, 2016.
- [90] Paweł Duch. Infrared problem in perturbative quantum field theory. Rev. Math. Phys., 33(10), Jul 2021.
- [91] Thomas Chen, Jürg Fröhlich, and Alessandro Pizzo. Infraparticle scattering states in nonrelativistic quantum electrodynamics. II. Mass shell properties. J. Math. Phys., 50(1):012103, Jan 2009.
- [92] Thomas Chen, Jürg Fröhlich, and Alessandro Pizzo. Infraparticle Scattering States in Non-Relativistic QED: I. The Bloch-Nordsieck Paradigm. Commun. Math. Phys., 294(3):761–825, Dec 2009.
- [93] Jürg Fröhlich. On the infrared problem in a model of scalar electrons and massless, scalar bosons. Annales de l'I.H.P. Physique théorique, 19(1):1–103, 1973.
- [94] Jürg Fröhlich. Existence of dressed one electron states in a class of persistent models. Fortschr. Phys., 22(3):159–198, 1 1974.
- [95] A. Pizzo. One-particle (improper) States in Nelson's Massless Model. Annales Henri Poincaré, 4:439–486, 2003.
- [96] T. Kinoshita. Mass singularities of Feynman amplitudes. J. Math. Phys., 3:650–677, 1962.
- [97] T. D. Lee and M. Nauenberg. Degenerate Systems and Mass Singularities. Phys. Rev., 133:B1549–B1562, 1964.
- [98] Sangmin Choi, Uri Kol, and Ratindranath Akhoury. Asymptotic Dynamics in Perturbative Quantum Gravity and BMS Supertranslations. JHEP, 01:142, 2018.
- [99] A. Ashtekar and M. Streubel. Symplectic Geometry of Radiative Modes and Conserved

Quantities at Null Infinity. Proc. R. Soc. A, 376:585–607, 1981.

- [100] Joohan Lee and Robert M. Wald. Local symmetries and constraints. J. Math. Phys., 31(3):725–743, 1990.
- [101] Vivek Iyer and Robert M. Wald. Some properties of Noether charge and a proposal for dynamical black hole entropy. *Phys. Rev. D*, 50:846–864, 1994.
- [102] Robert M. Wald. Quantum Field Theory in Curved Space-Time and Black Hole Thermodynamics. Chicago Lectures in Physics. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL, 1995.
- [103] Stefan Hollands and Robert M. Wald. Quantum fields in curved spacetime. Phys. Rept., 574:1–35, 2015.
- [104] Edward Witten. Why Does Quantum Field Theory In Curved Spacetime Make Sense? And What Happens To The Algebra of Observables In The Thermodynamic Limit? 12 2021.
- [105] Bernard S. Kay and Robert M. Wald. Theorems on the Uniqueness and Thermal Properties of Stationary, Nonsingular, Quasifree States on Space-Times with a Bifurcate Killing Horizon. *Phys. Rept.*, 207:49–136, 1991.
- [106] Bryce S. DeWitt and Robert W. Brehme. Radiation damping in a gravitational field. Annals Phys., 9:220–259, 1960.
- [107] M. J. Radzikowski. Micro-local approach to the Hadamard condition in quantum field theory on curved space-time. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 179:529–553, 1996.
- [108] Ko Sanders. Equivalence of the (generalised) Hadamard and microlocal spectrum condition for (generalised) free fields in curved spacetime. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 295:485–501, 2010.
- [109] Valter Moretti. Uniqueness theorem for BMS-invariant states of scalar QFT on the null boundary of asymptotically flat spacetimes and bulk-boundary observable algebra correspondence. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 268:727–756, 2006.
- [110] Raphael Bousso, Venkatesa Chandrasekaran, Illan F. Halpern, and Aron Wall. Asymptotic Charges Cannot Be Measured in Finite Time. *Phys. Rev. D*, 97(4):046014, 2018.
- [111] Allen Fang, Qian Wang, and Shiwu Yang. Global solution for Massive Maxwell-Klein-Gordon equations with large Maxwell field. Ann. PDE, 7(1):3, 2021.
- [112] Sergiu Klainerman, Qian Wang, and Shiwu Yang. Global Solution for Massive Maxwell-Klein-Gordon Equations. Commun. Pure Appl. Math., 73(1):63–109, 2020.
- [113] Maria Psarelli. Asymptotic behavior of the solutions of Maxwell-Klein-Gordon field equations in 4-dimensional Minkowski space. Commun. Part. Diff. Eq., 24(1-2):223-272, 1999.
- [114] Maria Psarelli. Time decay of Maxwell-Klein-Gordon equations in 4-dimensional Minkowski space. Commun. Part. Diff. Eq., 24(1-2):273–282, 1999.
- [115] Miguel Campiglia and Alok Laddha. Asymptotic symmetries of QED and Weinberg's soft photon theorem. JHEP, 07:115, 2015.
- [116] J. Porrill. The structure of timelike infinity for isolated systems. Proc. R. Soc. A, 381(1781):323– 344, 1982.
- [117] C Cutler. Properties of spacetimes that are asymptotically flat at timelike infinity. Class. Quant. Grav., 6(8):1075, 1989.

- [118] Leonard I. Schiff. Quantum mechanics. International Series in Pure and Applied Physics. McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York, 1949.
- [119] Miguel Campiglia. Null to time-like infinity Green's functions for asymptotic symmetries in Minkowski spacetime. JHEP, 11:160, 2015.
- [120] Béatrice Bonga, Alexander M. Grant, and Kartik Prabhu. Angular momentum at null infinity in Einstein-Maxwell theory. *Phys. Rev. D*, 101(4):044013, 2020.
- [121] H. Araki. Mathematical theory of quantum fields. Oxford University Press, 1999.
- [122] G. Roepstorff. Coherent photon states and spectral condition. Commun. Math. Phys., 19:301–314, 1970.
- [123] Christian Ferko, Gautam Satishchandran, and Savdeep Sethi. Gravitational memory and compact extra dimensions. *Phys. Rev. D*, 105(2):024072, 2022.
- [124] A. H. Anupam and Athira P. V. Generalized coherent states in QCD from asymptotic symmetries. *Phys. Rev. D*, 101(6):066010, 2020.
- [125] S. Catani and M. Ciafaloni. Generalized Coherent State for Soft Gluon Emission. Nucl. Phys. B, 249:301, 1985.
- [126] Mario Greco, F. Palumbo, G. Pancheri-Srivastava, and Y. Srivastava. Coherent State Approach to the Infrared Behavior of Nonabelian Gauge Theories. *Phys. Lett. B*, 77:282–286, 1978.
- [127] Alexander M. Grant, Kartik Prabhu, and Ibrahim Shehzad. The Wald-Zoupas prescription for asymptotic charges at null infinity in general relativity. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 39(8):085002, 2022.
- [128] Cédric Troessaert. The BMS4 algebra at spatial infinity. Class. Quant. Grav., 35(7):074003, 2018.
- [129] Marc Henneaux and Cédric Troessaert. Hamiltonian structure and asymptotic symmetries of the Einstein-Maxwell system at spatial infinity. JHEP, 07:171, 2018.
- [130] Alok Laddha, Siddharth G. Prabhu, Suvrat Raju, and Pushkal Shrivastava. The Holographic Nature of Null Infinity. SciPost Phys., 10(2):041, 2021.
- [131] J. Glimm and Arthur M. Jaffe. Quantum Physics. A Functional Integral Point of View. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1987.
- [132] Vladimir I. Bogachev. Gaussian Measures, volume 62 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1998.
- [133] Hui-Hsiung Kuo. Gaussian measures in Banach spaces, volume 463 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1975.
- [134] I. M. Gel'fand and N. Ya. Vilenkin. Applications of Harmonic Analysis, volume 4 of Generalized Functions. Academic Press, New York, London, 1964.
- [135] I. M. Gel'fand, M. I. Graev and N. Ya. Vilenkin. Integral Geometry and Representation Theory, volume 5 of Generalized Functions. Academic Press, New York, London, 1966.
- [136] Andrzej Herdegen. Semidirect product of CCR and CAR algebras and asymptotic states in quantum electrodynamics. J. Math. Phys., 39:1788–1817, 1998.
- [137] Patrick J. McCarthy. Representations of the Bondi-Metzner-Sachs group I. Determination of

the representations. Proc. R. Soc. A, 330(1583):517–535, 1972.

- [138] S. W. Hawking. Breakdown of predictability in gravitational collapse. Phys. Rev. D, 14:2460– 2473, Nov 1976.
- [139] M. Reed and B. Simon. Fourier Analysis, Self-Adjointness, volume II of Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics. Academic Press, San Diego, London, 1975.
- [140] N. I. Akhizer. The Classical Moment Problem and Some Related Questions in Analysis. Classics in Applied Mathematics. Oliver and Boyd, Great Britain, 1965.